# Development of vision and larval feeding responses in southern bluefin tuna and yellowtail kingfish

Pollyanna Imelda Hilder

B. App. Sci. Hons Aquaculture

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

University of Tasmania

Hobart, Australia

October 2013

# **Declaration and Authority of Access**

I hereby declare that this thesis contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma at any university, except by way of background information and duly acknowledged in the thesis, and to the best of my knowledge contains no paraphrase or copy of material previously published or written by another person, except where reference is made in the text of the thesis, nor does the thesis contain any material that infringes copyright.

Candidate's signature

Pollyanna Imelda Hilder

This thesis may be made available for loan and limited copying in accordance with the Copyright Act 1968.

Candidate's signature

Pollyanna Imelda Hilder

#### Abstract

Southern bluefin tuna, Thunnus maccoyii and yellowtail kingfish, Seriola lalandi, are marine finfish species currently cultured in Australia. High early mortality and larval malformations have hindered the successful production of quality juveniles. Rearing conditions experienced during early larval culture are critical for the production of high quality seed stock. My study described the visual capacity of T. maccoyii and S. lalandi to feed under a variety of abiotic and biotic conditions and examined retinal morphology and physiology to identify species-specific adaptations to help explain the observed feeding behaviour. The morphological development of the visual apparatus of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* is described by histological analysis and microspectrophotometry (MSP) and the visual ability of larvae is examined through behavioural experimentation. Larvae were visually challenged to feed under a range of conditions in shortduration (4 h) first-feeding experiments. Feeding performance was measured as the proportion of larvae feeding and the intensity of feeding. In *T. maccoyii* the first-feeding performance was positively affected by increasing prey density and lower turbidities and unaffected by light intensity, tank colour, turbulence, prey size and larval density. In contrast, S. lalandi showed greater limitation in terms of feeding performance, and in the number of variables that were conducive to feeding, which indicated a narrower "environmental window" for first-feeding success. Light intensity, tank colour, turbulence, larval density and prey density all significantly affected the feeding response in early-feeding S. lalandi. Feeding experiments on 3, 6 and 9 dph larvae revealed that as T. maccoyii aged, lower light intensities significantly increased feeding performance, indicating increased photopic sensitivity. In contrast, S. lalandi continued to display better feeding performance with increasing light intensity and age. Histological studies revealed significant differences between the retinal indices of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* larvae. *Thunnus* maccovii displayed high cell densities in the ventral region of the eye, possessed a low convergence of cone cells onto ganglion cells, with relatively large cones at first feeding (almost twice the size of S. lalandi

first-feeding larvae) and exhibited retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) pigment migration at an early age (12 dph). Seriola lalandi displayed high cell densities in the dorsal retinal region and on average possessed twice the convergence of cones onto ganglion cells. Retinal pigment epithelium migration in S. lalandi was not seen until the development of rods at 21 dph. MSP and behavioral feeding experiments under coloured lights showed that T. maccoyii displayed peak spectral sensitivity in the blue spectrum, whereas S. lalandi displayed sensitivity in the red and green spectrum. My study has also identified important differences between the species that have culture implications. The strong first-feeding response of T. maccovii across a broad range of abiotic and biotic factors indicates that major mortality during their early life history is not associated with a failure to initiate feeding. Although, T. maccoyii are likely to show decreased feeding and increased surface and sinking mortality, when the larvae are exposed to light intensities commonly encountered in the culture of fish larvae. The use of low-light intensity during larval rearing has the potential to dramatically improve larval survival during the first two weeks of culture. In comparison, while S. lalandi displayed improved feeding with increasing age, the narrow set of parameters that were conducive to first-feeding highlighted the need for strict control of culture parameters during this critical stage.

#### Acknowledgements

Since I first started my PhD and began to experience knowledge, kindness, resourcefulness and camaraderie, I have looked forward to thanking the people who have contributed to my incredible journey.

Firstly my thanks go to my supervisors, Stephen Battaglene and Jenny Cobcroft. Three and a half years ago I walked into Steve's office with a dream of taking my mind further. My professional love has always been marine finfish larvae and I thank Steve and Jenny for developing a PhD program with tuna and kingfish that was challenging, interesting, topical and one that I have enjoyed every day. I thank Steve and Jenny for their insight, pursuit of academic excellence, attention to detail and their endeavour to help me achieve this incredible dream.

I must thank Nathan Hart for sharing his knowledge on the intricacies of microspectrophometery. This was the highlight of my PhD, and I thank Nathan for his willingness to share his knowledge and for the kindness he showed me, it is something I will never forget.

This PhD was not possible without Clean Seas Tuna. Firstly, thank you Hagen Stehr for your belief in Tuna. I thank Craig Foster and all the staff of Clean Seas for their help, support and kindness. Thank you Morten Deichmann, it was such a pleasure to work with you, thank you for allowing me access to your facilities and accommodating me with precious embryos and resources. I can honestly say if it wasn't for Adam Miller and his crew, Nick Elshout and Michael Harrison, I would not have any data for a PhD. Thank you Adam for embryos at every possible chance, even after you'd worked massive days. My comparative study is thanks to you. Thank you Jamie Crawford, Bennan Chen, Wayne Hutchinson, Marcell Boaventura, Konrad Czypionka, Alex Czypionka, Adrian McIntyre, Miles Wise, Mike Thomson and all the staff at CST, you were all so busy but still found time to help, construct and discuss, many, many, thanks. Chris Elson and Bec Arnold thanks so much for chasing consignments, delivering post cards and always having a smile. Thank you Dan Minnucci for all your great technical help. Thank you Belinda and Steve Dunn (and

family) for red wine, hugs, outing with the girls and making us feel local. Thank you Natalie Moltschaniwskyj, Simon Wotherspoon and Tania Mendo for statistical advice and thanks to Ruth Eriksen for help with photomicroscopy. Thank you to all the staff at the Taroona research laboratories for making it such a pleasure to come to work, in particular my old friends Alan Beech and Craig Thomas.

The hardest part of my PhD was leaving my family, but I was welcomed with such warmth in Arno Bay and I thank all the Arno Bay crew. I think the hardest year for me was my last in Arno Bay and it was the only year my girls didn't come. Thank you Pamela Swaffer-Price for your friendship, for looking after me, for the wonderful food and making my time in Arno Bay so much easier. My next thanks go to all the people who have helped Mark and I keep our beautiful girls safe and happy over this three year journey when we couldn't be there. Thank you Imogen Svoboda for coming to Arno Bay and giving Ella and Maya so many memories, we'll treasure the journal forever. You're such a big part of this journey and we thank you. Thank you to my incredible sister Prue and family, Stan, Michaela and Natasha, Australia Day will always have to live up to you, thank you for your love when you were so busy and giving our girls so many wonderful memories. Deb, Michel, Eva and Marcel Bermudes, thank you so much for looking after our girls and keeping them safe and happy and encouraging Ella's surfing, Maya's yoga, thank you for being such great friends.

Thank you Chris Evans for your incredible help with all issues connected to the library for your gentleness and support, it is something I am so grateful for and I hope our friendship continues. Kevin Eaves, thank you on so many levels, your knowledge base and helpfulness with all computer matters was incredible. My thanks also go to Robert Walch for unlimited technical help in photomicrograph capture and image analysis.

While it is easy to put a footnote at the end of acknowledgments thanking the funding bodies, to me this was an incredible opportunity to excel that would not be possible without the funding I have received. I thank the University of Tasmania for letting me indulge in the scientific pursuit of knowledge in marine finfish culture. Every time I see the UTAS advertisement, I am proud to be a student. I also thank the Australian Seafood Cooperative Research Centre who have funded my studies and also provided funding to attend the 8<sup>th</sup> Annual Workshop on Physiology and Aquaculture of Yellowfin Tuna, Thunnus albacores, held at the Achotines Laboratory, Republic of Panama, Central America. This was the most incredible opportunity and I thank Dan Bennetii, Bent Urup, Luke Cheviot and Luke Vanderburg for a memory I will never forget. I would like to particularly thank Emily Mantilla from the Australian Seafood CRC who has provided friendship, encouragement and inspiration. I have also been fortunate to receive grants to attend the Australian National Network in Marine Science (ANNiMS) third annual conference Perth, Western Australia, and received an ANNIMS Springboard grant, co-investigating with Jenny Cobcroft and Nathan Hart, to investigate the spectral sensitivity of Thunnus maccovii and Seriola lalandi larvae and juveniles allowing collaborative work with Nathan Hart. I would like to thank the UTAS Graduate Research Office and Institute for Marine and Antarctic Studies for funding my presentation at Larvi 2013 Ghent, Belgium. Also thank you to my thesis examiners for their valuable feedback.

I have been privileged to work and study with some exceptional people who have helped me throughout my aquaculture career, in particular thank you Steve Nel, Lance Searle, Ned Pankhurst and Tish Pankhurst for sharing your knowledge.

One of the unexpected benefits of my PhD is the friends I have made along the way. I attended my first SIPP retreat 6 days into my PhD and met Erin Bubner and Lindsey Woolley. It was lovely to meet such dynamic, wonderful ladies. I must thank Erin in particular, you made my life so much easier and I learnt so much from you and thank you for the fresh vegetables and herbs that made so many meals edible. Thank you Darcie Hunt and Michelle Tadros for your friendship and help. My beautiful friend Reham Negm, at UTAS, I could not have done this without you, may our paths always cross in the future because I think you are incredible. I know the greatest unexpected joy of my PhD was meeting Melanie Evans. While you gave the most incredible technical help, you provided a friendship I treasure every day, thank you for laughing through the tears and joys, you are family. Thank you my wonderful Leanne Downie for all your, support, love and belief and staying my friend over so many years.

I have been blessed to be born into an incredible family. I thank my mum and dad, Tom Butler and Suzie Peter for always instilling the need for education supported by unquestionable love. I have the most incredible brother (Peter) and four sisters (Penelope, Paula, Prue and Pia) who have helped make me the person I am because they are so bloody incredible, fill me with love and I want to try and live up to them every day. I have been blessed to have a second chance with a father, my wonderful Bob Peter thank you for loving me and thank you for being an incredible grandfather to my girls.

My final thank you is to Ella, Maya and Mark. What an incredible three and a bit years. Thank you for your patience, love, understanding and just simply putting up with me. I had the best techo's in Arno, Ella and Maya you were incredible catching tuna larvae. There have been so many sacrifices as a family and none of you have complained. Thank you for letting me live my dream. You girls are amazing and I love you so much.

My final acknowledgment is to Mark. From the first day I met you, my love and respect continues to grow. I'm so happy I get to grow old with you because you inspire me, fill me with love and joy, and make life a really wonderful place to be.

My sincerest and heartfelt thanks.

Dedicated to my beautiful angels Ella and Maya Hilder



Google images

## Table of contents

Declaration and Authority of Accessii
Abstract iii
Acknowledgementsv
Table of contentsx
Chapter 1. General introduction1
1.1 Background2
1.2 Why a comparative study?3
1.3 Objectives5
1.4 Study site6
1.5 Species description6
1.5.1 Thunnus maccoyii6
1.5.2 Seriola lalandi11
1.6 The sensory organs13
1.7 Development of sensory capability14
1.7.1 Optical receptors14
1.7.2 Mechanoreceptors16
1.7.3 Audioreceptors16
1.7.4 Chemoreceptors17
1.8 First-feeding and the visual environment18
1.9 The underwater light environment21
1.10 The visual pigments22
1.11 Animal ethics23
1.12 Thesis structure23
1.12 References24
Chapter 2. A comparison between the first-feeding response of southern bluefin tuna, <i>Thunnus maccoyii</i> , and yellowtail kingfish,
Seriola lalandi, larvae to prey density, prey size and larval density43
2.1 Abstract
2.2 Introduction45

2.3 Materials and methods47
2.3.1 Embryo supply and rearing47
2.3.2 Stocking of experimental system49
2.3.3 Evaluation of feeding response and mortality51
2.3.4 Feeding experiments51
2.3.4.1 Prey density and first-feeding52
2.3.4.2 Prey size, density and first-feeding52
2.3.4.3 Larval density and first-feeding52
2.3.4.4 Surface oil and first-feeding52
2.3.5 Rotifers52
2.3.6 Assessment of transfer stress from the larviculture source
tank to the experimental system53
2.3.7 Statistics53
2.4 Results
2.4.1 Larval standard length and eye size54
2.4.2 Feeding experiments55
2.4.2.1 Prey density and first-feeding55
2.4.2.2 Prey size, density and first-feeding56
2.4.2.3 Larval density and first-feeding59
2.4.2.4 Surface oil and first-feeding60
2.4.3 Mortality60
2.4.4. Assessment of transfer stress from the larviculture
source tank to the experimental system61
2.5 Discussion61
2.5.1 Feeding response61
2.5.2 Feeding experiments64
2.5.2.1 Prey density and first -feeding64
2.5.2.2 Prey size, density and first-feeding65
2.5.2.3 Larval density and first-feeding66
2.5.3 Mortality68
2.6 Conclusion
2.7 Acknowledgements
2.8 References

Chapter 3. The first-feeding responses of southern bluefin tuna, <i>Thunnus maccoyii</i> , and yellowtail kingfish, <i>Seriola lalandi</i> , indicate different environmental requirements in culture	80
3.1 Abstract	81
3.2. Introduction	82
3.3. Materials and methods	84
3.3.1 Embryo supply and rearing	84
3.3.2 Stocking of experimental system and experimental protocol	85
3.3.2.1 Light intensity and first-feeding	86
3.3.2.2 Turbidity and first-feeding	87
3.3.2.3 Tank colour and first-feeding	87
3.3.2.4 Turbulence and first-feeding	88
3.3.3 Statistics	88
3.4 Results	89
3.4.1 Larval standard length and size	89
3.4.2 Feeding experiments	89
3.4.2.1 Light intensity	89
3.4.2.2 Turbidity	90
3.4.2.3 Tank colour	91
3.4.2.4 Turbulence	92
3.4.3 Larval mortality	93
3.5. Discussion	94
3.5.1 First-feeding experiments	94
3.5.1.1 Light intensity and first-feeding	95
3.5.1.2.Turbidity and first-feeding	97
3.5.1.3 Tank colour and first-feeding	98
3.5.1.4 Turbulence and first-feeding	99
3.5.2 Mortality	100
3.5.3 Prior exposure	102
3.6. Conclusion	102
3.7 Acknowledgements	103
3.8 References	104

Chapter 4. Light intensity and prey density affect the efficiency of	
kinglish. Seriola lalandi, larvae during the rotifer-feeding phase.	
4.1 Abstract	
4.2 Introduction	115
4.3. Materials and methods	116
4.3.1 Embryo supply and rearing	116
4.3.2 Post-hatching embryo rearing and larval rearing	117
4.3.2.1 Thunnus maccoyii	117
4.3.2.2 Seriola lalandi	118
4.3.3 Species-specific larval rearing regimes	118
4.3.4 Short-term feeding experiments	119
4.3.4.1 Light intensity and feeding	119
4.3.4.2 Prey density and feeding	119
4.3.5 Statistical analysis	119
4.4 Results	120
4.4.1 Egg morphometrics	120
4.4.2 Larval morphometrics	120
4.4.3 Light intensity and feeding	121
4.4.4 Prey density and feeding	124
4.5 Discussion	126
4.5.1 Light intensity	126
4.5.2 Prey density	131
4.5.3 Application of short-term feeding experiments	133
4.6 Conclusion	133
4.7 Acknowledgements	134
4.8 References	134
Chapter 5. Ontogeny of the retina and visual pigments in larval and juvenile southern bluefin tuna, <i>Thunnus maccoyii</i> , and yellowtail	Ł
kingfish, Seriola lalandi: Implications for feeding	142
5.1 Abstract	143
5.2 Introduction	145
5.3 Materials and Methods	148
5.3.1 Embryo supply and incubation	148

5.3.2 Larval rearing148
5.3.2.1 Thunnus maccoyii larval rearing148
5.3.2.2. Seriola lalandi larval rearing149
5.3.2.3 Live feeds and turbidity149
5.3.3 Larval retinal histology149
5.3.4 Retinal morphometric measurements150
5.3.4.1 Linear cell density151
5.3.4.2. Angular cell density151
5.3.4.3 Theoretical visual acuity152
5.3.4.4 Convergence of photoreceptors on to ganglion cells152
5.3.4.5 Cone cell diameter152
5.3.4.6 Available photon capture area152
5.3.5 Retinomotor response152
5.3.6 Microspectrophotometry153
5.3.6.1 Retinal preservation for microspectrophotometry analysis
5.3.6.2 Microspectrophotometry analysis154
5.3.7 Short term feeding experiments155
5.3.7 Short term feeding experiments
<ul><li>5.3.7 Short term feeding experiments</li></ul>
5.3.7 Short term feeding experiments1555.3.8 Adult retinae1565.3.9 Statistical analysis1565.4 Results157
5.3.7 Short term feeding experiments1555.3.8 Adult retinae1565.3.9 Statistical analysis1565.4 Results1575.4.1 Larval morphometrics157
5.3.7 Short term feeding experiments1555.3.8 Adult retinae1565.3.9 Statistical analysis1565.4 Results1575.4.1 Larval morphometrics1575.4.2 Retinal development157
5.3.7 Short term feeding experiments 155   5.3.8 Adult retinae 156   5.3.9 Statistical analysis 156   5.4 Results 157   5.4.1 Larval morphometrics 157   5.4.2 Retinal development 157   5.4.3 Retinal morphometrics 160
5.3.7 Short term feeding experiments 155   5.3.8 Adult retinae 156   5.3.9 Statistical analysis 156   5.4 Results 157   5.4.1 Larval morphometrics 157   5.4.2 Retinal development 157   5.4.3 Retinal morphometrics 160   5.4.3.1 Linear cell density 160
5.3.7 Short term feeding experiments 155   5.3.8 Adult retinae 156   5.3.9 Statistical analysis 156   5.4 Results 157   5.4.1 Larval morphometrics 157   5.4.2 Retinal development 157   5.4.3 Retinal morphometrics 160   5.4.3.1 Linear cell density 160   5.4.3.2 Angular cell density 161
5.3.7 Short term feeding experiments 155   5.3.8 Adult retinae 156   5.3.9 Statistical analysis 156   5.4 Results 157   5.4.1 Larval morphometrics 157   5.4.2 Retinal development 157   5.4.3 Retinal morphometrics 160   5.4.3.1 Linear cell density 160   5.4.3.2 Angular cell density 161   5.4.3.3 Theoretical minimum separable angle (MSA) 163
5.3.7 Short term feeding experiments1555.3.8 Adult retinae1565.3.9 Statistical analysis1565.4 Results1575.4.1 Larval morphometrics1575.4.2 Retinal development1575.4.3 Retinal morphometrics1605.4.3.1 Linear cell density1605.4.3.2 Angular cell density1615.4.3.3 Theoretical minimum separable angle (MSA)1635.4.3.4 Light path length and cell layer thickness163
5.3.7 Short term feeding experiments1555.3.8 Adult retinae1565.3.9 Statistical analysis1565.4 Results1575.4.1 Larval morphometrics1575.4.2 Retinal development1575.4.3 Retinal morphometrics1605.4.3.1 Linear cell density1605.4.3.2 Angular cell density1615.4.3.3 Theoretical minimum separable angle (MSA)1635.4.3.4 Light path length and cell layer thickness1635.4.3.5 Convergence of photoreceptors on to ganglion cells164
5.3.7 Short term feeding experiments 155   5.3.8 Adult retinae 156   5.3.9 Statistical analysis 156   5.4 Results 157   5.4.1 Larval morphometrics 157   5.4.2 Retinal development 157   5.4.3 Retinal morphometrics 160   5.4.3.1 Linear cell density 160   5.4.3.2 Angular cell density 161   5.4.3.3 Theoretical minimum separable angle (MSA) 163   5.4.3.4 Light path length and cell layer thickness 163   5.4.3.5 Convergence of photoreceptors on to ganglion cells 164   5.4.3.6 Cone cell diameter 165
5.3.7 Short term feeding experiments1555.3.8 Adult retinae1565.3.9 Statistical analysis1565.4 Results1575.4.1 Larval morphometrics1575.4.2 Retinal development1575.4.3 Retinal morphometrics1605.4.3.1 Linear cell density1605.4.3.2 Angular cell density1615.4.3.3 Theoretical minimum separable angle (MSA)1635.4.3.4 Light path length and cell layer thickness1635.4.3.5 Convergence of photoreceptors on to ganglion cells1645.4.3.7 Relative photon capture area per ganglion cell165
5.3.7 Short term feeding experiments1555.3.8 Adult retinae1565.3.9 Statistical analysis1565.4 Results1575.4.1 Larval morphometrics1575.4.2 Retinal development1575.4.3 Retinal morphometrics1605.4.3.1 Linear cell density1605.4.3.2 Angular cell density1615.4.3.4 Light path length and cell layer thickness1635.4.3.5 Convergence of photoreceptors on to ganglion cells1645.4.3.6 Cone cell diameter1655.4.3.8 Cone mosaics166
5.3.7 Short term feeding experiments 155   5.3.8 Adult retinae 156   5.3.9 Statistical analysis 156   5.4 Results 157   5.4.1 Larval morphometrics 157   5.4.2 Retinal development 157   5.4.3 Retinal morphometrics 160   5.4.3.1 Linear cell density 160   5.4.3.2 Angular cell density 161   5.4.3.3 Theoretical minimum separable angle (MSA) 163   5.4.3.4 Light path length and cell layer thickness 163   5.4.3.5 Convergence of photoreceptors on to ganglion cells 164   5.4.3.7 Relative photon capture area per ganglion cell 165   5.4.3.8 Cone mosaics 166   5.4.3.9 Retinomotor response 170

5.4.5 Microspectrophotometry172
5.5. Discussion174
5.5.1 Morphology174
5.5.2 Linear cell density175
5.5.3 Visual acuity176
5.5.4 Retinomotor response177
5.5.5 Cone mosaics178
5.5.6 Convergence179
5.5.7 Spectral sensitivity180
5.6. Conclusion183
5.7. Acknowledgements183
5.8. References
Chapter 6. General discussion193
6.1 Introductory comments194
6.2 Feeding experiments194
6.2.1 First-feeding experiments194
6.2.2 Feeding experiments with 3, 6 and 9 dph larvae197
6.3 Feeding experimental approach and standard parameters197
6.4 Spectral sensitivity198
6.5 Retinal morphology200
6.6 Culture considerations203
6.7 Ecological considerations207
6.8 Constraints of the study208
6.8.1 Short-term experiments208
6.8.2 Microspectrophotometry210
6.8.3 Relevance to wild ecology210
6.9 Factors requiring testing210
6.10 Conclusion211
6.11 References
Appendices
Appendix 1. Thunnus maccoyii and Seriola lalandi retinal region
cell densities per 100 $\mu$ m transect averaged over time (3 dph to
эо арп)

Appendix 2. Statistical summary of <i>Thunnus maccoyii</i> and <i>Seriola lalandi</i> linear cell densities as affected by retinal region, age and interaction between retinal region and age	222
Appendix 3. The angular cell density of <i>Thunnus maccoyii</i> and <i>Seriola lalandi</i> defined by retinal cell type and larval age	223
Appendix 4. Statistical summary of <i>Thunnus maccoyii</i> and <i>Seriola lalandi</i> angular cell densities as affected by retinal region, age and interaction between retinal region and age	224
Appendix 5. Statistical summary of cell layer thickness measured in <i>Thunnus maccoyii</i> and <i>Seriola lalandi</i> in the ganglion cell layer (GCL), inner nuclear layer (INL), inner plexiform layer (IPL), outer nuclear layer (ONL) and the pigment epithelium and outer segments i.e. light path (PE + OS). The retinal regions are	
abbreviated as dorsal (D), medial (M) and ventral (V)	225

Chapter 1. General introduction

## 1.1 Background

Global demand of fish for human consumption is outstripping wild supply to the extent that 32% of the world's fish stocks are now suffering negative effects from over-fishing, and 50% of the remaining stocks are fully exploited (FAO, 2010). To meet the increasing consumer demand, which cannot be met by the exploitation of wild fish stocks, there has been heavy investment into the development of aquaculture industries. In 2009, aquaculture production reached 55 million tonnes and production is predicted to outstrip wild supply in the future (FAO, 2010).

Southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii*, in Australia, and yellowtail, *Seriola quinqueradiata*, in Japan, are both economically important aquaculture industries based on the capture of wild juveniles that are fattened for market (Nakada, 2002; Thomson et al., 2010) In 2004, the Japanese *Seriola* sp. industry was valued at US \$1.2 billion (Nakabo, 1993; Nakada, 2000) and in 2009, the *T. maccoyii* industry in Australia was valued at AUD \$157.8 million (ABARE, 2010). The culture technology for on-growing of *T. maccoyii* and *S. quinqueradiata* is well established and both species domesticate well, have rapid growth rates, excellent flesh quality and a high market demand, highlighting the suitability of these species for aquaculture production (Benetti et al., 2005; Kolkovski and Sakakura, 2004; Thomson et al., 2010).

The reliance on wild caught juveniles for aquaculture production, however, has a number of limitations when compared to closed life cycle rearing in captivity. The culture of domestically spawned embryos allows stock improvement through selective breeding and extension of the production season through reproductive manipulation. Economic viability is directly increased through higher production outputs, increased hatchery utilisation and faster response time to market demands.

In Australia and New Zealand, intense scientific research has been invested into the control of reproduction in *T. maccoyii* and yellowtail kingfish, *Seriola lalandi* (Elizur et al., 2009; Gillanders et al., 1999; Moran et al., 2007b; Poortenaar et al., 2001; Thomson et al., 2010). Adult *T.*  *maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* broodstock have responded well in captivity and produced viable embryos over a number of spawning seasons (Cobcroft, 2013; Cobcroft et al., 2012b).

Development of a *T. maccoyii* aquaculture industry in Australia, from spawned embryos, has been constrained by a bottleneck in the production of larvae beyond 14 days post-hatching (dph) (Cobcroft et al., 2012b; Hutchinson, 2009). In contrast, *S. lalandi* juveniles are cultured in large numbers, with production expected to reach 5000 tonnes per annum by 2020. Even with this success, however, major problems with malformation and swimbladder inflation are thought to be costing the industry AUD \$1 million per annum, constraining the development of the industry (Battaglene and Cobcroft, 2007; Cobcroft, 2013).

The major bottlenecks experienced in the culture of *T. maccoyii*, and *S. lalandi* are problems that are not only faced in Australia. While the life cycle of the closely related Pacific bluefin tuna, *Thunnus orientalis*, in Japan is closed and the industry is capable of producing tens of thousands of ex-hatchery juveniles, mortality is still a major problem during larviculture (Masuma et al., 2011). Cultured larval and juvenile *Seriola* sp. in Japan and New Zealand, also exhibit high deformity rates and low swim bladder inflation (Benetti et al., 2005; Kolkovski and Sakakura, 2004; Woolley et al., 2012a).

Evidence from larval rearing trials in Australia would indicate that the causative factors leading to high mortality in *T. maccoyii*, and malformation and lack of swimbladder inflation in *S. lalandi*, occur during the first two weeks of culture (Cobcroft, 2013; Cobcroft et al., 2012b). A greater understanding of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* early larval development and definition of optimum early rearing parameters are required in order to solve the major bottlenecks in quality seed production.

#### 1.2 Why a comparative study?

While differences between *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* become evident with increasing size, in particular the explosive growth observed in post-larval

T. maccovii, they share a very similar early life history (Cobcroft et al., 2012b; Fielder et al., 2010; Fujioka et al., 2010). Both are progeny of pelagic broadcast spawners that hatch in an early stage of ontogeny reliant on endogenous energy reserves until 3 dph when first-feeding commences (Cobcroft et al., 2012b; Fielder et al., 2010; Fujioka et al., 2010). The species also share similar larval growth and morphological development during the first week post-hatching (Hutchinson, 2009; Woolley and Qin, 2013; Woolley et al., 2013). Thunnus maccoyii and S. lalandi both develop rapidly and reach the juvenile stage with the development of sensory, digestive, structural systems (including ossification of bone) and fins and musculature being completed within 30 dph (Battaglene and Cobcroft, 2007; Chen et al., 2007; Cobcroft and Pankhurst, 2006; Cobcroft et al., 2012a; Houde and Schekter, 1980; Woolley and Qin, 2013; Woolley et al., 2013). While the larvae undergo this rapid development, the physiological and structural changes that the larvae experience are affected by the aquatic environment, particularly during the early stages of development (Battaglene and Cobcroft, 2007; Cobcroft et al., 2012b; Hutchinson, 2009). The behavioural responses and mortality of T. maccoyii and S. lalandi displayed in culture do not reflect similar patterns, indicating a difference in culture requirements. In general, a species' physiological and morphological make-up reflects the environment in which they live, thereby increasing the odds of survival in that given environment (Guthrie and Muntz, 1993). As larvae display species-specific needs, exposure to sub-optimal conditions can result in detrimental physiological and/or behavioural outcomes that, in culture, lead to malformation, poor growth, lack of swimbladder inflation, disease and mortality (Bristow et al., 1996; Chen et al., 2007; Cobcroft et al., 2012b; Downing and Litvak, 2001; Woolley et al., 2012a). Optimal rearing conditions experienced during larval culture are critical for the production of high quality seed stock. The different behavioural responses and mortality of the larvae observed in T. maccoyii and S. lalandi culture, highlight the need for a greater understanding of larval requirements in order to improve larviculture protocols and the subsequent success of their respective aquaculture industries (Battaglene and Cobcroft, 2007;

Cobcroft, 2013; Cobcroft et al., 2012b; Woolley et al., 2013). As vision is the primary sense for feeding in marine fish larvae (Blaxter, 1986), understanding visual ontogeny and factors that affect the visual environment are critical in understanding larval requirements and furthering the larviculture of both species.

## 1.3 Objectives

The overall aim of my study was to compare and contrast the visual development and visual capacity of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* during larval ontogeny. This information can then be used to explain and inform the best rearing conditions to produce high quality seed stock. The specific aims of the study were:

- To determine the effect that the visual environment has on the firstfeeding of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* larvae, by testing the effect of light intensity, turbidity, turbulence, tank colour, prey density, larval density and prey size on the feeding response.
- To determine how light intensity and prey density affect the feeding response of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* as the visual system of the larvae develops.
- To compare the visual ontogeny of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* in order to identify the developmental sequences and the species-specific retinal adaptations.

To achieve my aims I undertook a multidisciplinary experimental approach. This included histological examination of retinal anatomy in order to map retinal ontogeny and identify species-specific retinal adaptations, microspectrophotometry of retinal photoreceptors to identify spectral sensitivity, and behavioural analysis of feeding performance over a broad range of environmental variables to identify conditions that are conducive to early feeding. To my knowledge, this is the first study to investigate *Thunnus* sp. and *Seriola* sp. using a comparative approach.

# 1.4 Study site

*Thunnus maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* larval rearing and behavioural feeding experiments were conducted at Clean Seas Tuna Ltd, Arno Bay, South Australia (Fig. 1) between 2010 and 2012. Preserved samples for histological analysis were processed at the Institute for Marine and Antarctic Studies (IMAS), University of Tasmania, with microspectrophotometry being completed at the University of Western Australia.



Figure 1. Map of Australia showing the location of Clean Seas Tuna Ltd, Arno Bay, South Australia, IMAS, Tasmania and the University of Western Australia.

# 1.5 Species description

# 1.5.1 Thunnus maccoyii

*Thunnus maccoyii* (Fig. 2) are large (up to 200 cm and 200 kg) migratory fish with a circum-global distribution in the southern regions of the western -Atlantic, western-Pacific and Indian oceans (Caton, 1994; Davis et al., 1991). Mature fish are known to travel in excess of 8000 km during migration to their spawning grounds (Davis and Farley, 2001; Patterson et al., 2008) in the northeastern Indian Ocean south of Java (Fig.3), between September and April (Itoh and Tsuji, 1996). There is limited information available regarding larval *T. maccoyii* in the wild, as larvae are only observed irregularly, in low density and with patchy distribution (Davis et al., 1991). It is thought that larvae complete their larval cycle in the spawning grounds in warm waters where initial growth is relatively slow and similar to temperate species (Jenkins and Davis, 1990).



Figure 2. A large adult southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii* (photo courtesy of Adam Miller, Clean Seas Tuna Ltd).

The consumption of prey by *T. maccoyii* larvae in the wild has been positively correlated with mouth gape, thereby displaying improved feeding energetics with increasing larval size, with the main prey items being copepod nauplii, calanoids, cyclopoids and cladocerans (Young and Davis, 1990). The growth rate of larval *T. maccoyii* is positively correlated with feeding rate but not temperature (Jenkins et al., 1991). Rapid growth in young tuna does not occur during the early larval stages and is thought to occur during the late larval and early juvenile stages (Jenkins and Davis, 1990). Juvenile fish depart the spawning grounds and commence a southerly migration along the western and southern coast of Australia prior to dispersal throughout the southern oceans as mature fish (Jenkins et al., 1991).

*Thunnus maccoyii* can live to 40 years of age and do not reach sexual maturity until their tenth year, which leaves them particularly vulnerable to

over-fishing (Caton, 1994; CCSBT, 2011; Patterson et al., 2008). Since commercial fishing for *T. maccoyii* commenced in the 1950's (Caton, 1994) the population has been reduced by 92%, with current spawning biomass at a fraction of its original biomass (CCSBT, 2011). This has resulted in the placement of *T. maccoyii* on the critically endangered list by the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN, 2012) and the *T. maccoyii* fishery being subject to management quotas. The introduction of the quota system has resulted in a reduction in the total reported global catch of *T. maccoyii* and it is expected that stocks will begin to increase if current catch levels are maintained (CCSBT, 2011).



Figure 3. Distribution map of southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii*, indicating spawning and feeding grounds (Illustration provide by N. Kirchhoff, Australian Maritime College).

Aquaculture of *T. maccoyii* in Australia was established in 1991 (CRC, 2013) based on the capture of wild juveniles for on-growing and fattening for market. The culture of fattened *T. maccoyii* accounts for 12% of all Australian aquaculture production (ABARE, 2010). As the Australian *T. maccoyii* industry is restricted by total allowable catch quotas, expansion of the industry through the culture of *T. maccoyii* from embryos is being

investigated (Thomson et al., 2010). *Thunnus maccoyii* were successfully spawned in captivity in 2008 with subsequent larviculture trials commencing in 2009 (Hutchinson, 2009; Thomson et al., 2010). To date, the development of a *T. maccoyii* aquaculture industry based on culture from embryo has been unsuccessful, predominantly due to the high larval mortality (Cobcroft et al., 2012b; Hutchinson, 2009). Mortality is often observed as surface mortality or sinking mortality during the first two weeks of culture and generally 95% of the cohort is lost by 20 dph (Table 1) (Hutchinson, 2009).

Larval age	Development stage	Mortality (days post-hatching)
0 dph 1 mm	Hatch	Surface (0 – 3)
3 dph 1 mm	First-feeding swimbladder inflation	Surface (3 – 6)
9 dph 1 mm	Early exogenous feeding	Sinking (3 – 12)
20 dph 5 mm	Post - flexion	Cannibalism (>15)
35 dph 5 mm	Juvenile	Collision (> 30)

Table 1. Thunnus maccoyii developmental stage and associated mortality.

Photos by P. Hilder. Information obtained from Hutchinson, 2009 and Cobcroft, et al., 2012b.

There is little documented information on the culture requirements of *T. maccoyii*, although intense scientific interest has concentrated on closely related tuna species, *T. orientalis*, yellowfin tuna, *Thunnus albacores*, and the northern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus thynnus* (Table 2).

Author	Species	Study
Cobcroft, et al., 2012b	Т. тассоуіі	Larval rearing
Fielder et al., 2009	T. maccoyii	Embryo disinfection
Hutchinson, 2009	T. maccoyii	Larval rearing advances
Thomson, et al., 2010	T. maccoyii	Larval rearing
Woolley et al., 2009	T. maccoyii	Larval hatching
Woolley et al., 2013	T. maccoyii	Swim bladder
Fukuda et al., 2010	T. orientalis	Retinomotor response
Ishibashi et al., 2009	T. orientalis	Night-time mortality
Ishibashi, 2010	T. orientalis	Seedling production
Kaji et al., 1996	T. orientalis	Digestive development
Kato et al., 2008	T. orientalis	Effect of turbulence
Kawamura et al., 2003	T. orientalis	Development of vision
Kurata et al., 2012	T. orientalis	Swimbladder inflation
Masuma et al., 2001	T. orientalis	Retinomotor response
Masuma et al., 2011	T. orientalis	Review larviculture
Matsuura et al., 2010	T. orientalis	Visual cell development
Miyashita et al., 2001	T. orientalis	Morphological development
Miyashita, 2002	T. orientalis	Seed production
Nakagawa et al., 2011	T. orientalis	Aeration and survival
Nakamura et al., 2013	T. orientalis	Visual pigments
Sabate et al., 2010	T. orientalis	Schooling and cannibalism
Sakamoto and	T. orientalis	Turbulence control
Nakagawa, 2009		
Sawada et al., 2005	T. orientalis	Closing the life cycle
Tanaka et al., 2009	T. orientalis	Sinking mortality
Tanaka et al., 2012	T. orientalis	Prey utilisation
Torisawa et al., 2007	T. orientalis	Retinomotor response
Torisawa et al., 2011	T. orientalis	Schooling behaviour
Kimura et al., 2004	T. albacares	Effect of turbulence
Loew et al., 2002	T. albacares	Visual pigments
Margulies, 1997	T. albacares	Visual development
Margulies et al., 2007a	T. albacares	Review early life history
Margulies et al., 2007b	T. albacares	Early development
Partridge et al., 2011	T. albacares	24 h photoperiod
Wexler et al., 2011	T. albacares	Temperature and oxygen
Zink et al., 2011	T. albacares	Larval transport
Caggiano et al., 2009	T. thynnus	Larval rearing
Masuma et al., 2011	T. thynnus	Broodstock and larvae
Miyashita et al., 2000	T. thynnus	Collision mortality

Table 2. Literature investigating the culture of larval *Thunnus maccoyii, Thunnus orientalis, Thunnus albacores and Thunnus thynnus* (sorted by genus).

### 1.5.2 Seriola lalandi

Seriola lalandi (Fig. 4) is a circum-global species occurring in tropicaltemperate waters of the northern and southern hemisphere, but not around the equator (Kolkovski and Sakakura, 2004; Smith, 1987).



Figure 4. Yellowtail kingfish, *Seriola lalandi* (photo courtesy of Adam Miller, Clean Seas Tuna Ltd.).

Fish can reach a total length of 150 cm and weigh up to 50 kg (Benetti et al., 2005). Sexual maturity is attained between 75 – 92.5 cm in males and 77.5 – 127.5 cm in females (Poortenaar et al., 2001). Adult fish inhabit coastal areas associated with rocky reefs and islands, with repeated spawning occurring during the spring and summer months (Gillanders et al., 1999; Moran et al., 2007b; Smith, 1987). Larval *S. lalandi* are generally associated with coastal waters, however, they can also be found up to 320 km offshore, and juveniles (< 30 cm) are commonly found near or beyond the continental shelf aggregated beneath floating debris (Kolkovski and Sakakura, 2004; Smith, 1987; Sumida et al., 1985).

Seriola sp. is a global aquaculture genus cultured in Asia, South America and Australasia (Nakada, 2002; Poortenaar et al., 2001). In Japan, the culture of *S. quinqueradiata* accounts for over 90% of the total aquaculture industry, although this is primarily based on the on-growing of wild caught juveniles (Nakabo, 1993; Nakada, 2008). In contrast, aquaculture production of *S. lalandi* in Australia and New Zealand is based on the rearing of embryos produced from domestic broodstock (Kolkovski and Sakakura, 2004; Poortenaar et al., 2001). *Seriola lalandi* culture commenced in Australia in the 1990's with early success in the control of regular spawning events resulting in the establishment of *S. lalandi* hatcheries in Western Australia, South Australia and New South Wales (Benetti et al., 2005). A number of studies have investigated larval development and culture (Table 3).

Author	Study
Battaglene and Cobcroft, 2007 Benetti, et al., 2005 Carton, 2005 Carton and Vaughan, 2010 Chen et al., 2006b Chen et al., 2006a Chen, et al., 2007 Cobcroft, et al., 2004 Cobcroft, 2013 Hilton et al., 2008 Kolkovski and Sakakura, 2004 Ma and Qin, 2012 Miyagi et al., 2001 Moran et al., 2007a Moran et al., 2007b Nakada, 2002 Poortenaar et al., 2000 Stuart et al., 2010 Stuart and Drawbridge, 2011 Stuart and Drawbridge, 2012a Stuart and Drawbridge, 2012b Woolley et al., 2012b	Juvenile quality Culture review Light intensity and turbidity on larvae Visual acuity Digestive development Digestive development Deleterious food restrictions Jaw malformation Improved larval production Embryogenesis Culture review Rotifer enrichment for larval rearing Visual acuity in 15 mm to 390 mm fish Energetics and metabolism of eggs Reproduction and early development Culture review Kingfish culture in NZ Egg disinfection Light intensity and turbidity on larval fish Larval culture Photoperiod Swimbladder inflation and growth <i>Artemia</i> sp. feeding and mortality
Woolley et al., 2012b Woolley et al., 2012b Woolley and Qin, 2013	Swimbladder inflation and growth Artemia sp. feeding and mortality Body density

Table 3. Selected studies investigating the culture of larval Seriola lalandi.

While *S. lalandi* larvae can be produced in relatively high numbers, poor swimbladder inflation and high deformity rates significantly affect quality seed production restricting the commercial success of this species (Table 4) (Kolkovski and Sakakura, 2004; Woolley et al., 2012a).

Larval age	Development stage	Complication (days post- hatching)
0 dph 1 mm	Hatch	Hatching mortality (0)
3dph 1mm	First-feeding	First-feeding mortality (> 3)
6 dph Swimbladder	Swimbladder inflation	No inflation (> 3)
43-47 dph 5 mm 5 mm	Juvenile	Jaw and spinal deformity (> 10)

Table 4. *Seriola lalandi* developmental stage and associated culture problems.

Photos by P. Hilder. Information supplied from Battaglene and Cobcroft, 2007 and Cobcroft, 2013.

## 1.6 The sensory organs

The sensory organs in fish include optical receptors, mechanoreceptors, audioreceptors and chemoreceptors (Kjørsvik et al., 2004) The receptors allow larval fish to identify prey and predators from the surrounding environment through the detection of physical and chemical cues (Blaxter, 1986). Sensory development in larval fish is progressive, with different rates of development observed in larvae with direct, indirect or intermediate development (Kjørsvik et al., 2004). Regardless of the rate of sensory development, larvae become equipped with the necessary sensory function for the detection of prey and predators. Sensory morphology often correlates to the habitat of the fish and the timing of sensory development has been suggested to coincide with species-specific habitat shifts e.g., metamorphosis when some species make the transition from a pelagic to benthic lifestyle (Batty and Hoyt, 1995; Higgs

and Fuiman, 1998; Kawamura et al., 2003). Fish may be categorised as either sensory specialists (reliant on a predominant sense), or sensory generalists (larval response is dependent upon the available sense) (Higgs and Fuiman, 1998; Poling and Fuiman, 1998). While sensory specialists do rely on a predominant sense e.g., vision, they often use a combination of the senses for feeding which may include the visual detection of prey (optical reception), olfaction of prey (distance chemoreception), movement of prey (mechanoreception), sound (audioreception) and gustation (direct chemoreception) (Batty and Hoyt, 1995). For many fish, particularly pelagic species, vision is the predominant sense for feeding (Blaxter, 1986). For species that feed at depth or at night, in the absence of light, feeding is reliant on the nonvisual senses (Jones and Janssen, 1992). For example, sole, Solea solea, a nocturnal species, is totally reliant on chemoreception and mechanoreception for feeding, whereas larval red drum, Sciaenops ocellatus, which lives in a number of microhabitats, display equal responsiveness regardless of which sensory system is available (Batty and Hoyt, 1995; Poling and Fuiman, 1999).

#### 1.7 Development of sensory capability

#### 1.7.1 Optical receptors

Marine fish larvae generally hatch in an undeveloped state with nonfunctional eyes incapable of image formation (Blaxter, 1975). In order for first-feeding larvae to make the transition from endogenous to exogenous feeding, rapid morphological development of the visual system is required (Blaxter, 1986). The first-feeding larva possesses a small eye which constrains the amount and type of retinal tissue present (Kotrschal et al., 1990). The small eye generally contains a single type of photoreceptor i.e., cones (a simplex retina). This restricts feeding to conditions of relatively high light intensity but does provide photopic acuity (Evans and Fernald, 1990; Kotrschal et al., 1990; Sandy and Blaxter, 1980). Visual acuity is the amount of detail that can be resolved by the eye (Fernald, 1989; Fritsches et al., 2003; Neave, 1984), and is of primary importance to larval fish in order to detect and capture live prey, as failure to do so results in mortality due to starvation (Hjort, 1914; May, 1974). While larvae possess photopic acuity at first-feeding, the ability to forage under low light intensities (scotopic sensitivity) is restricted as the small eye cannot accommodate parallel development of photopic and scotopic visual apparatus (Blaxter, 1986; Kotrschal, et al., 1990). As the larval eye increases in size, stretching of the retinal tissue provides more room for retinal development (Johns, 1981). Generally, visual ontogeny commences with the enlargement of single cones increasing photon capture and visual acuity (Vandermeer, 1994). The recruitment of new photoreceptor classes increases the sensitivity of the eye as the addition of double cones provides improved resolution at lower light levels and the development of rods (duplex retina) is associated with movement perception and scotopic vision (Blaxter, 1986; Blaxter and Staines, 1970; Evans and Fernald, 1990; Pankhurst and Hilder, 1998). The rearrangement of cones to form cone mosaics results in increased colour resolution, contrast, visual acuity and improved motion perception, which is of primary importance in predatory fish (Ahlbert, 1973; Fernald, 1989). The development of the retinomotor response, generally coinciding with the development of a duplex retina, allows control of the amount of light that reaches the retina (Blaxter and Jones, 1967; Jobling, 1995). As ontogeny proceeds the visual capacity improves, consequently much of the larval life is spent with a visual system inferior to that of the adult (Kotrschal, et al., 1990).

The timing of the overall sequence of photoreceptor development is species-specific and correlates to intra-specific physiological and behavioural changes (Branchek and Bremiller, 1984). For this reason it is critical to gain a thorough knowledge of retinal development in order to understand factors that affect visually mediated behaviour, such as feeding success, throughout larval development.

## 1.7.2 Mechanoreceptors

Newly hatched marine fish larvae generally have free neuromasts prevalent in the head region that increase in number with ontogeny and develop along the side of the larvae prior to the encasement in the lateral line at metamorphosis (Kawamura et al., 2003; Kjørsvik et al., 2004). Improved motion detection has been identified in larval fish which possess a higher number of free neuromasts and larger cupulae, and in general, pelagic fish larvae exhibit a greater number of free neuromasts than demersal fish larvae (Kawamura et al., 2003). Well-developed mechanoreceptors have been reported in the pelagic larva *T. orientalis*, which would provide increased motion detection (Kawamura et al., 2003). In culture, the highly developed mechanoreception may cause undue stress with excessive handling, vibrations, aeration and turbulence Kawamura et al., 2003).

## 1.7.3 Audioreceptors

The inner ear facilitates the detection of vibration by sensitivity to acoustic stimuli, while also providing the fish with equilibrium (Kawamura et al., 2003; Lagler et al., 1962). At hatch, the otoliths are present in the inner ear of larvae (Lagler et al., 1962). However, it is not until the development of cilia on the hair cells, and the subsequent detection of differential movement between the cilia and otoliths, that the inner ear is thought to be functional (Kawamura and Ishida, 1985; Lagler et al., 1962). The timing of inner ear functionality varies between species, and can be present at hatching as reported in T. orientalis, or develop during the larva's early life history generally prior to first feeding as seen in the striped trumpeter, Latris lineata and the Japanese flounder, Paralichthys olivaceus (Cobcroft and Pankhurst, 2003; Kawamura and Ishida, 1985; Kawamura et al., 2003). The degree of auditory function is thought to be influenced by the number and density of hair cells, as seen in the zebrafish, Danio rerio, which display a direct correlation between increased auditory function and hair cell number during the first week of development post hatching (Lu and DeSmidt, 2013). Larvae with swimbladders in close proximity or

mechanically connected to the inner ear have also been shown to have an increase in acoustic ability (Lagler et al., 1962). The swimbladder changes in volume in response to sound pressure waves and it is the movement of the swimbladder wall that is transmitted to the inner ear via proximity, or by the Weberian ossicles (Kawamura et al., 2003; Lagler et al., 1962).

## 1.7.4 Chemoreceptors

Chemoreception in fish is provided through the olfactory and taste systems. The development of the olfactory organ is reviewed in Kasumyan (2011) and is described as the proliferation of olfactory receptor cells located at the base of the olfactory pits to form the primordium of the olfactory organ. As this organ increases in size, folds arise and eventually form the olfactory rosettes. The olfactory organs, or nares, are initially flat structures and with development the organ descends and skin flaps rise laterally and fuse together to form a channel above the organ, allowing detection of chemostimuli from the direction water enters the channel (Kjørsvik et al., 2004; Pankhurst and Butler, 1996).

Olfactory detection of zooplankton by fish larvae is thought to drive chemotactic behaviour, due to the release of metabolites by the zooplankton that are high in amino acids (Corner and Davies, 1971; Døving et al., 1994). Chemoreception is not only used in the detection of prey, but also to enable the larvae to stay in the vicinity of the prey (Knutsen, 1992). This is particularly important in the wild, where zooplankton often occurs in patchy distribution, and mortality is commonly associated with a failure of the fish larvae to capture sufficient and/or appropriate prey items (Houde, 1978; May, 1974). Tanaka et al. (1991) suggest yolk sac larvae of the red sea bream, Pagrus major, use chemoreception to actively associate with areas of high prey density in order to minimise energy consumption locating prey at first-feeding. Habitat type is closely associated with presence of olfactory receptors, and in general demersal fish larvae hatch with olfactory receptors present, whereas receptors in pelagic larvae develop later and are commonly observed post-hatching (Kjørsvik et al., 2004). Demersal fish often inhabit

low-light environments where feeding is more reliant on the non-visual senses (Jones and Janssen, 1992; Kasumyan, 2011). While larvae of different species display varying timing in olfactory development, it has been shown that in many species the olfactory response to predators matures earlier than the olfactory response to prey, indicating the importance of chemoreception in predator avoidance (Kasumyan, 2011). In most fish the gustatory system is more sensitive than the olfactory system (Kasumyan and Døving, 2003), with food search behaviour driven by the olfactory system and completed by the gustatory system (Hara, 2006). The taste buds are composed of elongated sensory cells that appear like the segments of an orange and are generally first observed just prior to first-feeding (Kasumyan, 2011; Lagler et al., 1962). Taste buds may be classed as intraoral or extraoral, with the extraoral system developing earlier and having greater sensitivity and response to a wider range of stimuli than the intraoral system (Kasumyan, 2011).

#### 1.8 First-feeding and the visual environment

Broadcast spawning fish produce large numbers of small eggs that hatch as small larvae (Bone et al., 1995). These larvae are in an undeveloped state, have eyes incapable of image formation, possess poor locomotory ability and are reliant on endogenous yolk reserves for their energy requirements (Bone et al., 1995; Werner, 2002). Fuiman (1988), cited in Kotrschal et al. (1990), suggest that the high mortality of broadcast spawning progeny is associated with insufficient sensory capability of the undeveloped larvae, which limits the detection of prey and predators. As most fish larvae are visual feeders, the transition from endogenous to exogenous feeding requires rapid morphological development of the sensory apparatus so that the larvae have the ability to locate and capture prey (Batty and Hoyt, 1995; Blaxter, 1986). This is a critical phase in larval development where the consequence of failing to capture sufficient prey, as a result of limited visual ability, is mortality due to starvation (Blaxter, 1986; Kotrschal, et al., 1990; Hjort, 1914; May, 1974). Fish live in diverse aquatic habitats characterised by differences in a number of factors, including light intensity, spectral quality, concentration of primary productivity and turbulence induced by currents and winds (Costello, 2009; Jerlov, 1976). As larvae display visual adaptations that reflect their specific visual habitat (Guthrie and Muntz, 1993), abiotic and biotic factors can greatly affect the ability of larvae to perceive prey. The aquaculture environment allows the manipulation of abiotic and biotic factors such as light intensity, turbidity, tank colour, turbulence, prey density, prey size and larval density, consequently, the culture conditions that promote best feeding can be provided once the larval requirements are defined. The provision of optimum first-feeding parameters in culture leads to reduction in early mortality and improvement in health, growth and viability of larvae during their early life history (Downing and Litvak, 2001; Naas et al., 1992; Parra and Yufera, 2000).

Light is the environmental factor which has the greatest impact on feeding in most marine fish, with the threshold intensity for feeding being speciesspecific (Blaxter, 1986; Carton, 2005; Cobcroft, 2001; Downing and Litvak, 2001; Pankhurst and Hilder, 1998; Villamizar et al., 2011b). While larvae are capable of feeding within a given light intensity range, identification of the optimum light level significantly improves larval performance in terms of growth and survival. On the other hand, sub-optimal light levels have been linked with malformation incidence and poor swimbladder inflation (Blaxter, 1968; Downing and Litvak, 1999; Stuart and Drawbridge, 2011; Woolley et al., 2012a). The use of algae (green water) in larviculture has been documented to improve larval performance in a number of ways including enhanced nutrition of live prey, diffuse scattering of light reducing walling behaviour, increased prey detection by providing a greater prey contrast against the background, and water conditioning (Cobcroft and Battaglene, 2009; Miner and Stein, 1993; Naas et al., 1992; Shaw, 2006; Utne-Palm, 2002). Tank colour provides contrast of prey against background colour, but it also affects the distribution of light within the culture environment through reflection and scattering. It may also match the spectral sensitivity of the larvae (Cobcroft and Battaglene,

2009; Monk et al., 2008; Naas et al., 1996; Strand et al., 2007; Tamazouzt et al., 2000). Higher turbulence levels in culture have the potential to increase the rate of predator-prey interactions providing the larvae with a greater opportunity for successful feeding (Stiansen and Sundby, 2001), although turbulence levels should not exceed the ability of the larvae to detect, pursue and capture prey. Increasing prey density also has the ability to improve larval feeding by providing an increase in predatory encounter rate, although, feeding to excess has the potential to pollute the aquaculture environment and waste economic resources (Houde and Schekter, 1980; Robert et al., 2009; Shoji and Tanaka, 2004). The relationship between prey density and feeding response is known to vary among species and developmental stage (Dou et al., 2000; Parra and Yufera, 2000; Shaw, 2006). In addition to prey density, the size of the prey must be ingestible by the larvae as they are gape-limited predators (Puvanendran et al., 2004). Larvae are known to consume zooplankton prey items as large as their mouth gape will allow, which benefits the larvae in terms of enhanced energy intake, increasing the probability of survival (Anto et al., 2009; Graham and Sprules, 1992). Correct larval stocking density should provide the highest yield from the culture tank in terms of the number and quality of seed, while also encompassing the fastest rate of production (Hitzfelder et al., 2006; King et al., 2000). Plasticity in the aquaculture environment allows the manipulation of culture variables in order to meet species-specific requirements.

Recent studies have documented the importance of high light intensity and turbidity in the culture of *S. lalandi* larvae (Carton, 2005; Stuart & Drawbridge, 2011; Woolley, et al., 2012a), although information regarding the requirements of *T. maccoyii* larvae is much more limited (Hutchinson, 2009; Cobcroft, et al., 2012b). Many of the culture parameters for *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* implemented at Clean Seas Tuna Ltd have been determined through empirical evidence (Table 5). The novel nature of *T. maccoyii* larviculture, in addition to high larval mortality, has restricted the identification of optimum larviculture conditions and consequently requires further elucidation.
Culture parameter	Thunnus maccoyii	Seriola lalandi	
Temperature Salinity Dissolved oxygen pH Light Intensity Turbidity Photoperiod Turbulence Rotifers <i>Artemia</i> Newly hatched larvae	26 <sup>0</sup> C 36 ‰ > 100% 8.0 50 µmol s <sup>-1</sup> m <sup>-2</sup> * 1 to 2 NTU 14 :10 (h L: D) Water induced up-welling 10 mL <sup>-1</sup> first feeding 0.1 mL <sup>-1</sup> > 11 dph 0.5 L <sup>-1</sup> > 15 dph	24 <sup>0</sup> C 36 ‰ > 100% 7.8 126 to 203 $\mu$ mol s <sup>-1</sup> m <sup>-2</sup> ** 1 to 1.5 NTU 14 :10 (h L: D) Air induced up-welling 5 mL <sup>-1</sup> first feeding 0.1 mL <sup>-1</sup> > 10 dph Nil	

Table 5. Culture parameters used at Clean Seas Tuna Ltd Arno Bay SA.

\*Large variation in ambient sunlight levels (natural sunlight recorded levels >766  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> entering the larviculture tanks). \*\*Converted from lx using Thimijan and Heins (1982). Information obtained from Cobcroft, et al., 2012b; Cobcroft, 2013 and B. Chen pers. comm. at CST Ltd.

## **1.9 The underwater light environment**

Fish eyes are adapted to the aquatic environment in response to the physics of light (Brett, 1957; Job and Bellwood, 2000). Sunlight is comprised of photons in the visible wavelengths (380 to 780 nm) as well as the spectrum including the infrared (> 700 nm) and ultraviolet (< 380 nm) wavelengths (Jobling, 1995). As light passes through water, the liquid media acts like a chromatic filter selectively absorbing different spectra (colours) (Villamizar et al., 2009). Spectral bandwidth and intensity are rapidly reduced with increasing depth (Jerlov, 1976). Short wavelengths less than 390 nm (violet light) and long wavelengths greater than 600 nm (red light) are rapidly absorbed compared to wavelengths of 450 nm (blue light) (Villamizar et al., 2011a). Apart from shallow or turbid conditions, the predominant spectral transmission of light in water is in the blue spectrum. Due to the diversity of the aquatic environment, changes in spectral composition and intensity are not only observed vertically but also horizontally (Jerlov, 1976). Eutrophic waters with high particulate loads exhibit rapid scatter and absorption of light and are characterised by maximum light transmission in the green-yellow spectrum (Job and

Shand, 2001). In contrast, oligotrophic waters with a low particulate load are typified by maximum light transmission in the blue spectrum (Jerlov, 1976).

## 1.10 The visual pigments

The ability of fish to see is ultimately dependent on the capture of photons by the visual pigments located in the photoreceptors. Visual pigments are characterised by having a maximum absorption at a specific wavelength ( $\lambda_{max}$ ) which determine the wavelength ('colour') of light to which a fish is most sensitive (Utne-Palm and Bowmaker, 2006). The spectral sensitivity of the visual pigments is dependent on the amino acid sequence of the opsin protein and whether this is linked to a chromophore derived from vitamin A1 (rhodopsin) or vitamin A2 (prophyropsin) (Bowmaker, 1995). Photoreceptors in fish exhibit a number of morphological differences including single, twin, triple and quadruple cones, and exhibit a broad range of spectral sensitivities. The two photoreceptors forming the twin cones may display differences as they may be morphometrically identical and express the same visual pigment or morphometrically identical and express different visual pigments, or be different in form and visual pigment.

The different spectral peak sensitivities ( $\lambda_{max}$ ) expressed by the photoreceptors allow 'spectral adjustment' by the fish in response to light conditions (Bowmaker, 1995). Studies have shown species-specific visual pigment  $\lambda_{max}$  (particularly twin cones) reflecting the spectral transmission of light in the fish's natural environment (Bowmaker, 1990; Loew and Lythgoe, 1978; Loew et al., 2002; Shand, 1993; Shand et al., 2002). For example, deep-sea fish possess a narrow spectral range between 470-480 nm that corresponds with the transmission of light found in deep oceanic water (Bone et al., 1995; Shand, 1993), whereas fish inhabiting shallow coastal waters exposed to a relatively broad spectral bandwidth, predominantly have a peak transmission in the green range (Jerlov, 1976), and a spectral sensitivity ranging from 490 to 575 nm (Bone et al., 1995; Britt et al., 2001). Plasticity in the ability to alter spectral sensitivity has

been observed in fish at different developmental ages, as fish move from one optical environment to another (Bone et al., 1995; Shand et al., 2002). Changes in spectral sensitivity have been recorded in surface dwelling black bream, *Acanthopagrus butcheri* larvae settling in deeper waters during and after metamorphosis, and in migratory salmonids moving between freshwater and seawater, (Bone et al., 1995; Shand et al., 2002).

The visual performance of larval fish can be optimized in optical environments that best match their particular ecological niche (Downing and Litvak, 2001). Identification of visual pigment  $\lambda_{max}$  for species under culture investigation is therefore a significant tool in understanding the visual adaptations of larvae in the wild, which may in turn have significant culture implications (Miyazaki et al., 2008).

## 1.11 Animal ethics

My study was conducted with approval from the University of Tasmania Animal Ethics Committee, approval number A0010990, complying with the Australian Code of Practice for the Care and Use of Animals for Scientific Purposes –  $7^{\text{th}}$  edition, 2004.

## 1.12 Thesis structure

The thesis is structured with a general introduction, four research chapters and a final discussion. All data chapters (2, 3, 4 and 5) are presented in journal format and have been submitted or are being submitted for publication in Aquaculture and Aquaculture Research. There is some unavoidable repetition in the introduction, materials and methods, results, discussion and reference sections.

Chapter 1 provides a general background on concepts discussed throughout the thesis while introducing the scope of the study and outlining the aims. Chapters 2 and 3 investigate the effect the visual environment has on the first-feeding response of *T. maccoyii* and *S. Ialandi*. Larvae were studied in short-term, small scale experiments where their feeding was tested in response to a range of factors including; light intensity, turbidity, tank colour, turbulence, prey density, prey size and larval density. The intention was to identify parameters, both positive and negative, that significantly affected first-feeding. Chapter 4 investigates the effect of light intensity and prey density (factors identified in Chapters 2 and 3 as important and requiring further research) with increasing larval age, 3, 6 and 9 dph, in similar behavioural feeding experiments to Chapters 2 and 3. The evaluation of feeding response with age was identified as important due to the rapid morphological changes larvae display with increased growth. Chapter 5 investigates the retinal morphology and sensitivity of both species in order to identify developmental sequences and species-specific retinal adaptations. These were used to help explain the observed feeding responses and better elucidate larval requirements during early culture. In Chapter 6 the key findings from Chapter 2 through to Chapter 5 are discussed in relation to the requirements for culture and possible ecological considerations.

#### 1.13 References

ABARE, 2010, accessed 20 October 2012,

<<u>http://www.environment.gov.au/coasts/fisheries/commonwealth/ea</u> <u>stern-tuna-billfish/pubs/att3-fisheries-statistics.pdf</u>>.

- Ahlbert, I.B., 1973. Ontogeny of double cones in the retina of perch fry (*Perca fluviatilis*, Teleostei). Acta Zoologica. 54, 241-254.
- Anto, J., Majoris, J., Turingan, R.G., 2009. Prey selection and functional morphology through ontogeny of *Amphiprion clarkii* with a congeneric comparison. Journal of Fish Biology. 75, 575-590.
- Battaglene, S., Cobcroft, J.M., 2007. Yellowtail kingfish juvenile quality:
   Identify timing and nature of jaw deformities in yellowtail kingfish
   and scope the likely causes of this condition. Australian Seafood
   Cooperative Research Centre. Tasmanian Aquaculture and
   Fisheries Institute, Hobart. Project N<sup>o</sup>. 2007/ 718, pp. 114.
- Batty, R.S., Hoyt, R.D., 1995. The role of sense organs in the feeding behaviour of juvenile sole and plaice. Journal of Fish Biology. 47, 931-939.

- Benetti, D.D., Nakada, M., Shotton, S., Poortenaar, C., Tracy, P.L.,
  Hutchinson, W., 2005. Aquaculture of three species of yellowtail
  jacks. In: A. Kelly and J. Silverstein (Eds). Aquaculture in the 21st
  Century. American Fisheries Society, Phoenix, AZ, USA, pp. 491-515.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., 1968. Visual thresholds and spectral sensitivity of herring larvae. Journal of Experimental Biology. 48, 39-43.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., 1975. The eyes of larval fish. In: M.A. Ali (Ed.). Vision in fishes. New York, Plenum Press, pp. 427-444.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., 1986. Development of sense-organs and behavior of teleost larvae with special reference to feeding and predator avoidance. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society. 115, 98-114.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., Jones, M.P., 1967. The development of the retina and retinomotor responses in the herring. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom. 47, 677-697.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., Staines, M., 1970. Pure-cone retinae and retinomotor responses in larval teleosts. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom. 50, 449-464.
- Bone, Q., Marshall, N.B., Blaxter, J.H.S., 1995. Sensory systems and communication. In: Q, Bone, N. B. Marshall and J. H. S. Blaxter (Eds). The biology of fishes. Chapman and Hall, London, pp. 233-247.
- Bowmaker, J.K., 1990. Visual pigments of fishes. In: R. H. Douglas and M.B. A. Djamgoz (Eds). The visual system of fish. Chapman and Hall, London, pp. 82-107.
- Bowmaker, J.K., 1995. The visual pigments of fish. Progress in Retinal and Eye Research. 15, 1-31.
- Branchek, T., Bremiller, R., 1984. The development of photoreceptors in the zebrafish, *Brachydanio rerio*. 1. Structure. Journal of Comparative Neurology. 224, 107-115.
- Brett, J.R., 1957. The sense organs: The eye. In: M. E. Brown (Ed.). The physiology of fishes. Academic Press, New York, pp. 121-150.

- Bristow, B.T., Summerfelt, R.C., Clayton, R.D., 1996. Comparative performance of intensively cultured larval walleye in clear, turbid, and colored water. Progressive Fish Culturist. 58, 1-10.
- Britt, L.L., Loew, E.R., McFarland, W.N., 2001. Visual pigments in the early life stages of Pacific northwest marine fishes. Journal of Experimental Biology. 204, 2581-2587.
- Caggiano, M., Campana, M., Moscato, M., Corriero, A., Deflorio, M., Grilli, G., Intini, A., Valenza, M., De Metrio, G., 2009. Recent developments in larval and juvenile rearing of Atlantic bluefin tuna *Thunnus thynnus*. The 2nd global COE program symposium of Kinki University, 2009. "Sustainable aquaculture of the bluefin and yellowfin tuna Closing the life cycle for commercial production" Proceedings, pp. 25-30.
- Carton, A.G., 2005. The impact of light intensity and algal-induced turbidity on first-feeding *Seriola lalandi* larvae. Aquaculture Research. 36, 1588-1594.
- Carton, A.G., Vaughan, M.R., 2010. Behavioural and anatomical measures of visual acuity in first-feeding yellowtail kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*) larvae. Environmental Biology of Fishes. 89, 3-10.
- Caton, A.E., 1994. Review of aspects of southern bluefin tuna biology, population, and fisheries. In: R.S. Shomura, J. Majokowski, S. Langi (Eds). Interactions of Pacific tuna fisheries, Volume 2, papers on biology and fisheries. Proceedings of the first Fisheries and Agriculture Organisation expert consultation on interactions of Pacific tuna fisheries, 3-11 December 1991, Noumea, New Caledonia, FAO Technical paper AN 346165, pp. 296-343.
- CCSBT, 2011. Commission for the conservation of southern bluefin tuna. Report of the sixteenth meeting of the scientific committee, 19-28 July 2011, Bali, Indonesia, viewed 15 December 2011 <<u>http://www.ccsbt.org/userfiles/file/docs\_english/meetings/meeting</u> <u>reports/ccsbt\_18/report\_of\_SC16.pdf></u>.
- Chen, B.N., Qin, J.G., Kumar, M.S., Hutchinson, W.G., Clarke, S.M.,
  2006a. Ontogenetic development of digestive enzymes in yellowtail kingfish *Seriola lalandi* larvae. Aquaculture. 260, 264-271.

- Chen, B.N., Qin, J.G., Kumar, M.S., Hutchinson, W., Clarke, S., 2006b. Ontogenetic development of the digestive system in yellowtail kingfish *Seriola lalandi* larvae. Aquaculture. 256, 489-501.
- Chen, B.N., Qin, J.G., Carragher, J.F., Clarke, S.M., Kumar, M.S., Hutchinson, W.G., 2007. Deleterious effects of food restrictions in yellowtail kingfish *Seriola lalandi* during early development. Aquaculture. 271, 326-335.
- Cobcroft, J.M., 2001. Aspects of the morphological development and feeding performance of larval striped trumpeter (*Latris lineata*) in culture. Thesis, (PhD) School of Aquaculture, University of Tasmania, pp. 189.
- Cobcroft, J.M., 2013. Improving hatchery production of yellowtail kingfish larvae and fingerlings. Australian Seafood Cooperative Research Centre. Institute for Marine and Antarctic Studies, Hobart. Project N<sup>o</sup>. 2010/ 753, pp. 97.
- Cobcroft, J.M., Pankhurst, P.M., 2003. Sensory organ development in cultured striped trumpeter larvae *Latris lineata*: implications for feeding behaviour. Marine and Freshwater Research. 54, 669-682.
- Cobcroft, J.M., Pankhurst, P.M., 2006. Visual field of cultured striped trumpeter *Latris lineata* (Teleostei) larvae feeding on rotifer prey. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. 39, 193-208.
- Cobcroft, J.M., Battaglene, S.C., 2009. Jaw malformation in striped trumpeter *Latris lineata* larvae linked to walling behaviour and tank colour. Aquaculture. 289, 274-282.
- Cobcroft, J.M., Pankhurst, P.M., Poortenaar, C., Hickman, B., Tait, M., 2004. Jaw malformation in cultured yellowtail kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*) larvae. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research. 38, 67-71.
- Cobcroft, J.M., Shu-Chien, A.C., Kuah, M.K., Jaya-Ram, A., Battaglene, S.C., 2012a. The effects of tank colour, live food enrichment and greenwater on the early onset of jaw malformation in striped trumpeter larvae. Aquaculture. 356, 61-72.
- Cobcroft, J.M., Battaglene, S., Boaventura, M., Chen, B., Deichmann, M., Elizur, A., Fielder, S.D., Hilder, P.I., Hutchinson, W., Knuckey, R.,

Qin, J.G., Schipp, G., Thomson, M., 2012b. Investigating the larval culture requirements of southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii*, for aquaculture in Australia. GCOE Symposium, Kinki University 23-24 November, Kushimoto City, Japan, pp. 43-49.

Corner, E.D.S., Davies, A.G., 1971. Plankton as a factor in nitrogen and phosphorus cycles in sea. Advances in Marine Biology. 9, 101-204.

Costello, M.J., 2009. Distinguishing marine habitat classification concepts for ecological data management. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 397, 253-268.

CRC, 2013. http://www.seafoodcrc.com/home.html, viewed 16 April 2013.

- Davis, T.L.O., Farley, J.H., 2001. Size distribution of southern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus maccoyii*) by depth on their spawning ground. Fishery Bulletin. 99, 381-386.
- Davis, T.L.O., Lyne, V., Jenkins, G.P., 1991. Advection, dispersion and mortality of a patch of southern bluefin tuna larvae *Thunnus maccoyii* in the east-Indian Ocean. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 73, 33-45.
- Dou, S., Seikai, T., Tsukamoto, K., 2000. Feeding behaviour of Japanese flounder larvae under laboratory conditions. Journal of Fish Biology. 56, 654-666.
- Døving, K.B., Marstol, M., Andersen, J.R., Knutsen, J.A., 1994. Experimental evidence of chemokinesis in newly hatched cod larvae (*Gadus morhua* L.). Marine Biology. 120, 351-358.
- Downing, G., Litvak, M.K., 1999. The influence of light intensity on growth of larval haddock. North American Journal of Aquaculture. 61, 135-140.
- Downing, G., Litvak, M.K., 2001. The effect of light intensity and spectrum on the incidence of first feeding by larval haddock. Journal of Fish Biology. 59, 1566-1578.
- Elizur, A., Diechmann, M., Wise, M., Zohar, Y., Nocillado, J., Lee, Y.Y.,
  Abraham, E., Bridges, C., Mylonas, C., Biran, J., Sivan, B., Knibb,
  W., Stokoe, R., Bubner, E., Brooks, P., Sullivan, D., Yoshizaki, G.,
  Takeuchi, Y., Thomas, P., Chen, B., Foster, C., 2009. Strategies to

control reproduction in southern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus maccoyii*) in South Australia. The 2nd global COE program symposium of Kinki University, 2009. "Sustainable aquaculture of the bluefin and yellowfin tuna - Closing the life cycle for commercial production" Proceedings, pp. 31-33.

- Evans, B.I., Fernald, R.D., 1990. Metamorphosis and fish vision. Journal of Neurobiology. 21, 1037-1052.
- FAO, 2010. Fisheries and aquaculture department, the state of world fisheries and aquaculture 2010. Food and Agriculture Organizatiion of the United Nations (FAO) 2010, Rome, pp. 3-35.
- Fernald, R.D., 1989. Fish vision. In: B. Finlay and D. Sengelaub (Eds). Development of the vertebrate retina. Plenum Press, New York and London, pp. 247-265.
- Fielder, S., Allan, G., Go, J., Thomson, M., Hardy-Smith, P., 2009.
  Biosecurity protocols for translocation of southern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus maccoyii*) eggs from South Australia to New South Wales, Port Stephens Fisheries Institute. The 2nd global COE program symposium of Kinki University, 2009. "Sustainable aquaculture of the bluefin and yellowfin tuna - Closing the life cycle for commercial production" Proceedings, pp. 79-80.
- Fielder, S.D., Ballagh, D., Booth, M.A., Pankhurst, P.M., Becker, C.E., Allan, G.L., 2010. Effect of fish size and feeding frequency on growth, survival and feeding performance of yellowtail kingfish, *Seriola lalandi*. Aquafin CRC project 1B5: Feed technology for temperate fish species volume 1: Feeding strategies, July 2010, Fisheries Research and Development Corporation, Project N<sup>o</sup>. 2004/ 220, pp. 120-128
- Fritsches, K.A., Marshall, N.J., Warrant, E.J., 2003. Retinal specializations in the blue marlin: eyes designed for sensitivity to low light levels. Marine and Freshwater Research. 54, 333-341.
- Fujioka, K., Hobday, A.J., Kawabe, R., Miyashita, K., Honda, K., Itoh, T., Takao, Y., 2010. Interannual variation in summer habitat utilization by juvenile southern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus maccoyii*) in southern Western Australia. Fisheries Oceanography. 19, 183-195.

- Fukuda, H., Torisawa, S., Sawada, Y., Takagi, T., 2010. Developmental changes in behavioral and retinomotor responses of Pacific bluefin tuna on exposure to sudden changes in illumination. Aquaculture. 305, 73-78.
- Gillanders, B.M., Ferrell, D.J., Andrew, N.L., 1999. Size at maturity and seasonal changes in gonad activity of yellowtail kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*: Carangidae) in New South Wales, Australia. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research. 33, 457-468.
- Graham, D.M., Sprules, W.G., 1992. Size and species selection of zooplankton by larval and juvenile walleye (*Stizostedion vitreum vitreum*) in Oneida Lake, New York. Canadian Journal of Zoology: 70(10): 2059-2067.
- Guthrie, D.M., Muntz, W.R.A., 1993. Role of vision in fish behaviour. In: T.J. Pitcher (Ed.). Behaviour of teleost fishes, Chapman and Hall, London, pp. 89-128.
- Hara, T.J., 2006. Feeding behaviour in some teleosts is triggered by single amino acids primarily through olfaction. Journal of Fish Biology. 68, 810-825.
- Higgs, D.M., Fuiman, L.A., 1998. Associations between sensory development and ecology in three species of clupeoid fish. Copeia, 133-144.
- Hilton, Z., Poortenaar, C.W., Sewell, M.A., 2008. Lipid and protein utilisation during early development of yellowtail kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*). Marine Biology. 154, 855-865.
- Hitzfelder, G.M., Holt, G.J., Fox, J.M., McKee, D.A., 2006. The effect of rearing density on growth and survival of cobia, *Rachycentron canadum*, larvae in a closed recirculating aquaculture system. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society. 37, 204-209.
- Hjort, J., 1914. Fluctuations in the great fisheries of northern Europe viewed in the light of biological research. Rapports et Procesverbaux des Reunions, Conseil International pour l'Exploration de la Mer. 20.1-228.
- Houde, E.D., 1978. Critical food concentrations for larvae of 3 species of sub-tropical marine fishes. Bulletin of Marine Science. 28, 395-411.

- Houde, E.D., Schekter, R.C., 1980. Feeding by marine fish larvae, developmental and functional responses. Environmental Biology of Fishes. 5, 315-334.
- Hutchinson, W., 2009. Southern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus maccoyii*) larval rearing advances at the South Australian Research and Development Institute and Collaborating Institutions. The 2nd global COE program symposium of Kinki University, 2009.
  "Sustainable aquaculture of the bluefin and yellowfin tuna Closing the life cycle for commercial production" Proceedings, pp. 38-42.
- Ishibashi, Y., 2010. Seedling production of Pacific bluefin tuna, *Thunnus orientalis* at Kinki University. Proceedings of the Joint International Symposium of Kinki University and Setouchi Town on the 40th Anniversary of Pacific bluefin tuna aquaculture. Kinki University Press, pp 71-78.
- Ishibashi, Y., Honryo, T., Saida, K., Hagiwara, A., Miyashita, S., Sawada, Y., Okada, T., Kurata, M., 2009. Artificial lighting prevents high night-time mortality of juvenile Pacific bluefin tuna, *Thunnus orientalis*, caused by poor scotopic vision. Aquaculture. 293, 157-163.
- Itoh, T., Tsuji, S., 1996. Age and growth of juvenile southern bluefin tuna *Thunnus maccoyii* based on otolith microstructure. Fisheries Science. 62, 892-896.
- IUCN, 2012. The IUCN red list of threatened species. Viewed 20 May 2012 <www.iucnredlist.org>.
- Jenkins, G.P., Davis, T.L.O., 1990. Age growth-rate and growth trajectory determined from otolith microstructure of southern bluefin tuna *Thunnus maccoyii* larvae. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 63, 93-104.
- Jenkins, G.P., Young, J.W., Davis, T.L.O., 1991. Density dependence of larval growth of a marine fish, the southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii.* Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 48, 1358-1363.
- Jerlov, N.G., 1976. Marine optics, 2nd ed. Oceanography series 14, Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 231.

- Job, S.D., Bellwood, D.R., 2000. Light sensitivity in larval fishes: Implications for vertical zonation in the pelagic zone. Limnology and Oceanography. 45, 362-371.
- Job, S.D., Shand, J., 2001. Spectral sensitivity of larval and juvenile coral reef fishes: Implications for feeding in a variable light environment. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 214, 267-277.
- Jobling, M., 1995. Environmental links sensory systems. In: M. Jobling (Ed.). Environmental biology of fishes, Chapman and Hall, London, pp. 11-21
- Johns, P.R., 1981. Growth of fish retinas. American Zoologist. 21, 447-458.
- Jones, W.R., Janssen, J., 1992. Lateral line development and feeding behavior in the mottled sculpin, *Cottus bairdi* (Scorpaeniformes, cottidae). Copeia, 485-492.
- Kaji, T., Tanaka, M., Takahashi, Y., Oka, M., Ishibashi, N., 1996.
  Preliminary observations on development of Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus thynnus* (Scombridae) larvae reared in the laboratory, with special reference to the digestive system. Marine and Freshwater Research. 47, 261-269.
- Kasumyan, A.O., 2011. Functional development of chemosensory systems in the fish ontogeny. Russian Journal of Developmental Biology. 42, 173-179.
- Kasumyan, A.O., Døving, K.B., 2003. Taste preferences in fishes. Fish and Fisheries. 4, 289-347.
- Kato, Y., Takebe, T., Masuma, S., Kitagawa, T., Kimura, S., 2008.
  Turbulence effect on survival and feeding of Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis* larvae, on the basis of a rearing experiment. Fisheries Science. 74, 48-53.
- Kawamura, G., Ishida, K., 1985. Changes in sense organ morphology and behavior with growth in the flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus*. Bulletin of the Japanese Society of Scientific Fisheries. 51, 155-165.
- Kawamura, G., Masuma, S., Tezuka, N., Koiso, M., Jinbo, T., Namba, K., 2003. Morphogenesis of sense organs in the bluefin tuna *Thunnus*

*orientalis*. In: H.I. Browman, A.B. Skiftesvik (Eds). 36th Annual larval conference, Bergen, Norway, pp. 123-135.

- Kimura, S., Nakata, H., Margulies, D., Suter, J.M., Hunt, S.L., 2004. Effect of oceanic turbulence on the survival of yellowfin tuna larvae.Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi. 70, 175-178.
- King, N.J., Howell, W.H., Huber, M., Bengtson, D.A., 2000. Effects of larval stocking density on laboratory-scale and commercial-scale production of summer flounder *Paralichthys dentatus*. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society. 31, 436-445.
- Kjørsvik, E., Pittman, K., Pavlov, D., 2004. From fetilisation to the end of metamorphosis-functional development. In: E. Moksness, E.
  Kjørsvik and Y. Olsen (Eds). Culture of cold-water marine fish.
  Blackwell publishing, Oxford, UK, pp 204 - 277.
- Knutsen, J.A., 1992. Feeding behavior of the North Sea turbot (Scophthalums maximus) and dover sole (Solea solea) larvae elicted by chemical stimuli Marine Biology. 113, 543-548.
- Kolkovski, S., Sakakura, Y., 2004. Yellowtail kingfish, from larvae to mature fish — problems and opportunities. In: L.E. Cruz Suárez, D. Ricque Marie, M.G. Nieto López, D. Villareal, U. Scholz,M.
  González (Eds). Avances en Nutrición AcuicolaVII. Memorias del VII Simposium Internacional de Nutrición Acuicola, 16–19 Noviembre, 2004, Hermosillo, Sonora, México, pp. 109–125.
- Kotrschal, K., Adam, H., Brandstatter, R., Junger, H., Zaunreiter, M.,
  Goldschmid, A., 1990. Larval size constraints determine directional ontogenic shifts in the visual system of teleosts - a mini review.
  Zeitschrift für Zoologische Systematik und Evolutionsforschung. 28, 166-182.
- Kurata, M., Seoka, M., Nakagawa, Y., Ishibashi, Y., Kumai, H., Sawada,
  Y., 2012. Promotion of initial swimbladder inflation in Pacific bluefin tuna, *Thunnus orientalis* (Temminck et Schlegel), larvae.
  Aquaculture Research. 43, 1296-1305.
- Lagler, K.F., Baradach, J.E., Miller, R.E., 1962. Ichthyology. Wiley, New York, NY, 545 pp.

- Loew, E.R., Lythgoe, J.N., 1978. Ecology of cone pigments in teleost fishes. Vision Research. 18, 715-722.
- Loew, E.R., McFarland, W.N., Margulies, D., 2002. Developmental changes in the visual pigments of the yellowfin tuna, *Thunnus albacares*. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. 35, 235-246.
- Lu, Z.M., DeSmidt, A.A., 2013. Early development of hearing in zebrafish. Jaro-Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology. 14, 509-521.
- Ma, Z., Qin, J.G., 2012. Replacement of fresh algae with commercial formulas to enrich rotifers in larval rearing of yellowtail kingfish *Seriola lalandi* (Valenciennes, 1833). Aquaculture Research. 43, 1-12.
- Margulies, D., 1997. Development of the visual system and inferred performance capabilities of larval and early juvenile scombrids. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. 30, 75-98.
- Margulies, D., Scholey, V.P., Wexler, J.B., Olson, R.J., Suter, J.M., Hunt, S., L., 2007a. A review of IATTC research on the early life history and reproductive biology of scombrids conducted at the Achotines laboratory from 1985 to 2005. Inter-American Tropical Tuna Commission. Special report 16, pp. 67.
- Margulies, D., Suter, J.M., Hunt, S.L., Olson, R.J., Scholey, V.P., Wexler, J.B., Nakazawa, A., 2007b. Spawning and early development of captive yellowfin tuna (*Thunnus albacares*). Fishery Bulletin. 105, 249-265.
- Masuma, S., Takebe, T., Sakakura, Y., 2011. A review of the broodstock management and larviculture of the Pacific northern bluefin tuna in Japan. Aquaculture. 315, 2-8.
- Masuma, S., Kawamura, G., Tezuka, N., Koiso, M., Namba, K., 2001. Retinomotor responses of juvenile bluefin tuna *Thunnus thynnus*. Fisheries Science. 67, 228-231.
- Matsuura, R., Sawada, Y., Ishibashi, Y., 2010. Development of visual cells in the Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis*. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry. 36, 391-402.

- May, R.C., 1974. Larval mortality in marine fishes and the critical period concept. In: J. H.S Blaxter (Ed.). The early life history of fishes, Springer Verlag, Berlin, pp. 3-20.
- Miner, J.G., Stein, R.A., 1993. Interactive influence of turbidity and light on the larval bluegill (*Lepomis macrochirus*) foraging. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 50, 781-788.
- Miyagi, M., Akiyama, S., Arimoto, T., 2001. The development of visual acuity in yellowtail *Seriola quinqueradiata*. Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi. 67, 455-459.
- Miyashita, S., 2002. Studies on the seedling production of the Pacific bluefin tuna, *Thunnus thynnus orientalis*. Bulletin of Fisheries Laboratory, Kinki University, 8, 1-171.
- Miyashita, S., Sawada, Y., Okada, T., Murata, O., Kumai, H., 2001.
  Morphological development and growth of laboratory-reared larval and juvenile *Thunnus thynnus* (Pisces: Scombridae). Fishery Bulletin. 99, 601-616.
- Miyashita, S., Sawada, Y., Hattori, N., Nakatsukasa, H., Okada, T., Murata, O., Kumai, H., 2000. Mortality of northern bluefin tuna *Thunnus thynnus* due to trauma caused by collision during growout culture. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society. 31, 632-639.
- Miyazaki, T., Kohbara, J., Takii, K., Ishibashi, Y., Kumai, H., 2008. Three cone opsin genes and cone cell arrangement in retina of juvenile Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis*. Fisheries Science. 74, 314-321.
- Monk, J., Puvanendran, V., Brown, J.A., 2008. Does different tank bottom colour affect the growth, survival and foraging behaviour of Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) larvae? Aquaculture. 277, 197-202.
- Moran, D., Gara, B., Wells, R.M.G., 2007a. Energetics and metabolism of yellowtail kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*, Valenciennes, 1833) during embryogenesis. Aquaculture. 265, 359-369.
- Moran, D., Smith, C.K., Gara, B., Poortenaar, C.W., 2007b. Reproductive behaviour and early development in yellowtail kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*, Valenciennes, 1833). Aquaculture. 262, 95-104.

- Naas, K., Huse, I., Iglesias, J., 1996. Illumination in first feeding tanks for marine fish larvae. Aquacultural Engineering. 15, 291-300.
- Naas, K.E., Naess, T., Harboe, T., 1992. Enhanced 1st feeding of halibut larvae (*Hippoglossus hippoglossus* L.) in green water. Aquaculture. 105, 143-156.
- Nakabo, T., 1993. Fishes of Japan with pictorial keys to the species. Tokai University Press, Tokyo. pp. 1474.
- Nakada, M., 2000. Yellowtail and related species culture. In: R.R Stickney (Ed.). 2000. Encyclopedia of aquaculture. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, NY, pp. 1007-1036.
- Nakada, M., 2002. Yellowtail culture development and solutions for the future. Reviews in Fisheries Science. 10, 559-575.
- Nakada, M., 2008. Capture-based aquaculture of yellowtail. In: A. Lovatelli; P.F.Holthus (Eds). Capture-based aquaculture. Global overview. Food and Agriculture Organisation, Fisheries Technical Paper, N<sup>o</sup>. 508, Rome, pp. 199–215.
- Nakagawa, Y., Kurata, M., Sawada, Y., Sakamoto, W., Miyashita, S.,
  2011. Enhancement of survival rate of Pacific bluefin tuna (*Thunnus orientalis*) larvae by aeration control in rearing tank.
  Aquatic Living Resources. 24, 403-410.
- Nakamura Y, Mori K, Saitoh K, Oshima K, Mekuchi M, Sugaya T,
  Shigenobu Y, Ojima N, Muta S, Fujiwara A, Yasuike M, Oohara I,
  Hirakawa H, Chowdhury VS, Kobayashi T, Nakajima K, Sano M,
  Wada T, Tashiro K, Ikeo K, Hattori M, Kuhara S, Gojobori T, Inouye
  K., 2013. Evolutionary changes of multiple visual pigment genes in
  the complete genome of Pacific bluefin tuna. Proceedings of the
  National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America,
  110, 11061-11066.
- Neave, D.A., 1984. The development of visual acuity in larval plaice (*Pleuronectes platessa L.*) and turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus L.*) Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology. 78, 167-175.
- Pankhurst, P.M., Butler, P., 1996. Development of the sensory organs in the greenback flounder, *Rhombosolea tapirina*. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. 28, 55-73.

- Pankhurst, P.M., Hilder, P.E., 1998. Effect of light intensity on feeding of striped trumpeter *Latris lineata* larvae. Marine and Freshwater Research. 49, 363-368.
- Parra, G., Yufera, M., 2000. Feeding, physiology and growth responses in first-feeding gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata* L.) larvae in relation to prey density. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology. 243, 1-15.
- Partridge, G.J., Benetti, D.D., Stieglitz, J.D., Hutapea, J., McIntyre, A., Chen, B., Hutchinson, W., Scholey, V.P., 2011. The effect of a 24hour photoperiod on the survival, growth and swim bladder inflation of pre-flexion yellowfin tuna (*Thunnus albacares*) larvae. Aquaculture. 318, 471-474.
- Patterson, T.A., Evans, K., Carter, T.I., Gunn, J.S., 2008. Movement and behaviour of large southern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus maccoyii*) in the Australian region determined using pop-up satellite archival tags. Fisheries Oceanography. 17, 352-367.
- Poling, K.R., Fuiman, L.A., 1998. Sensory development and its relation to habitat change in three species of sciaenids. Brain Behavior and Evolution. 52, 270-284.
- Poling, K.R., Fuiman, L.A., 1999. Behavioral specialization in developing sciaenids and its relationship to morphology and habitat. Environmental Biology of Fishes. 54, 119-133
- Poortenaar, C., Hooker, S., Sharp, N., 2000. Kingfish aquaculture research in New Zealand. Austasia Aquaculture Dec. 1999/ Jan. 2000 pp. 45-46.
- Poortenaar, C.W., Hooker, S.H., Sharp, N., 2001. Assessment of yellowtail kingfish (*Seriola lalandi lalandi*) reproductive physiology, as a basis for aquaculture development. Aquaculture. 201, 271-286.
- Puvanendran, V., Salies, K., Laurel, B., Brown, J.A., 2004. Sizedependent foraging of larval Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*).Canadian Journal of Zoology. 82, 1380-1389.
- Robert, D., Castonguay, M., Fortier, L., 2009. Effects of preferred prey density and temperature on feeding success and recent growth in

larval mackerel of the southern Gulf of St. Lawrence. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 377, 227-237.

- Sabate, F.D., Sakakura, Y., Tanaka, Y., Kumon, K., Nikaido, H., Eba, T., Nishi, A., Shiozawa, S., Hagiwara, A., Masuma, S., 2010. Onset and development of cannibalistic and schooling behavior in the early life stages of Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis*. Aquaculture. 301, 16-21.
- Sakamoto, W., Nakagawa, Y., 2009. Enhancement of survival rate of Pacific bluefin tuna (*Thunnus orientalis*) larvae by flow control in rearing tanks. The 2nd global COE program symposium of Kinki University, 2009. "Sustainable aquaculture of the bluefin and yellowfin tuna - Closing the life cycle for commercial production" Proceedings, pp. 55-58.
- Sandy, J.M., Blaxter, J.H.S., 1980. Study of retinal development in larval herring and sole. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom. 60, 59-71.
- Sawada, Y., Okada, T., Miyashita, S., Murata, O., Kumai, H., 2005.
  Completion of the Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis* (Temminck et Schlegel) life cycle. Aquaculture Research. 36, 413-421.
- Shand, J., 1993. Changes in the spectral absorption of cone visual pigments during the settlement of the goatfish *Upeneus tragula*.
  The loss of red sensitivity as a benthic existence begins. Journal of Comparative Physiology A Sensory Neural and Behavioral Physiology. 173, 115-121.
- Shand, J., Hart, N.S., Thomas, N., Partridge, J.C., 2002. Developmental changes in the cone visual pigments of black bream *Acanthopagrus butcheri*. Journal of Experimental Biology. 205, 3661-3667.
- Shaw, G.W., 2006. Feeding behaviour of greenback flounder and striped trumpeter in green water culture. Thesis, (PhD) University of Tasmania, pp. 209.
- Shoji, J., Tanaka, M., 2004. Effect of prey concentration on growth of piscivorous Japanese Spanish mackerel *Scomberomorus*

*niphonius* larvae in the Seto Inland Sea, Japan. Journal of Applied Ichthyology. 20, 271-275.

- Smith, A.E., 1987. Genetic variation and dispersal of the yellowtail kingfish, Seriola lalandi from New South Wales waters. Thesis, (Hons) University of New South Wales, pp. 35.
- Stiansen, J.E., Sundby, S., 2001. Improved methods for generating and estimating turbulence in tanks suitable for fish larvae experiments. Scientia Marina. 65, 151-167.
- Strand, A., Alanara, A., Staffan, F., Magnhagen, C., 2007. Effects of tank colour and light intensity on feed intake, growth rate and energy expenditure of juvenile Eurasian perch, *Perca fluviatilis* L. Aquaculture. 272, 312-318.
- Stuart, K.R., Drawbridge, M., 2011. The effect of light intensity and green water on survival and growth of cultured larval California yellowtail (*Seriola lalandi*). Aquaculture. 321, 152-156.
- Stuart, K.R., Drawbridge, M., 2012a. Spawning and larval rearing of California yellowtail (*Seriola lalandi*) in southern California. Bulletin of Fisheries Research Agency. N<sup>o</sup>. 36, 15-21.
- Stuart, K.R., Drawbridge, M., 2012b. The effect of photoperiod on larval culture performance of two marine finfish species. Aquaculture. 360, 54-57.
- Stuart, K.R., Keller, M., Drawbridge, M., 2010. Efficacy of formalin and povidone-iodine disinfection techniques on the eggs of three marine finfish species. Aquaculture Research. 41, 838-843.
- Sumida, B.Y., Moser, H.G., Ahlstrom, E.H., 1985. Descriptions of larvae of California yellowtail Seriola lalandi, and three other carangids from the eastern tropical Pacific: Chlorosconbrus orquets, Caranx caballus, and Caranx sexfasciatus. California Cooperative Oceanic Fisheries Investigations, 26, 139-159.
- Tamazouzt, L., Chatain, B., Fontaine, P., 2000. Tank wall colour and light level affect growth and survival of Eurasian perch larvae (*Perca fluviatilis L*.). Aquaculture. 182, 85-90.
- Tanaka, S., Minami, H., Ishihi, Y., Kumon, K., Higuchi, K., Eba, T., Nishi, A., Nikaido, H., Shiozawa, S., 2012. Relationship between prey

utilization and growth variation in hatchery-reared Pacific bluefin tuna, *Thunnus orientalis* (Temminck et Schlegel), larvae estimated using nitrogen stable isotope analysis. Aquaculture Research. DOI:10.1111/j.1365-2109.2012.03258.x.

- Tanaka, Y., Kumon, K., Nishi, A., Eba, T., Nikaido, H., Shiozawa, S., 2009. Status of the sinking of hatchery-reared larval Pacific bluefin tuna on the bottom of the mass culture tank with different aeration design. Aquaculture Science. 57, 587-593.
- Tanaka, Y., Mukai, Y., Takii, K., Kumai, H., 1991. Chemoreception and vertical movement in plantonic yolk sac larvae of the red sea bream *Pagrus major*. Journal of Applied Ichthyology, 7, 129-135.
- Thimijan, R., Heins, R., 1982. Photometric, radiometric, and quantum light units of measure: A review of procedures for interconversion. Hortscience. 18, 818-822.
- Thomson, M., Deichmann, M., Czypionka, K., Czypionka, A., Crawford, J., Miller, A., Hutchinson, W., Chen, B.N., 2010. Recent developments in southern bluefin tuna larval and juvenile rearing. Proceedings of the Joint International Symposium of Kinki University and Setouchi Town on the 40th Anniversary of Pacific bluefin tuna aquaculture. Kinki University Press, pp. 53-58.
- Torisawa, S., Fukuda, H., Suzuki, K., Takagi, T., 2011. Schooling behaviour of juvenile Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis* depends on their vision development. Journal of Fish Biology. 79, 1291-1303.
- Torisawa, S., Takagi, T., Fukuda, H., Ishibashi, Y., Sawada, Y., Okada, T.,
  Miyashita, S., Suzuki, K., Yamane, T., 2007. Schooling behaviour and retinomotor response of juvenile Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis* under different light intensities. Journal of Fish Biology. 71, 411-420.
- Utne-Palm, A.C., 2002. Visual feeding of fish in a turbid environment: Physical and behavioural aspects. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. 35, 111-128.
- Utne-Palm, A.C., Bowmaker, J.K., 2006. Spectral sensitivity of the twospotted goby *Gobiusculus flavescens* (Fabricius): A physiological

and behavioural study. Journal of Experimental Biology. 209, 2034-2041.

- Vandermeer, H.J., 1994. Ontogenic change of visual thresholds in the cichlid fish *Haplochromis sauvagei*. Brain Behavior and Evolution. 44, 40-49.
- Villamizar, N., Garcia-Alcazar, A., Sanchez-Vazquez, F.J., 2009. Effect of light spectrum and photoperiod on the growth, development and survival of European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) larvae. Aquaculture. 292, 80-86.
- Villamizar, N., Garcia-Mateos, G., Sanchez-Vazquez, F.J., 2011a.
  Behavioral responses of European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) larvae and *Artemia* sp. exposed to constant light or darkness v light/dark cycles of white, red or blue wavelengths. Aquaculture.
  317, 197-202.
- Villamizar, N., Blanco-Vives, B., Migaud, H., Davie, A., Carboni, S., Sanchez-Vazquez, F.J., 2011b. Effects of light during early larval development of some aquacultured teleosts: A review. Aquaculture. 315, 86-94.
- Werner, R.G., 2002. Habitat requirements. In: L. A. Fuiman and R. GWerner (Eds). Fishery science, the unique contributions of early lifestages. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford, pp. 161-182.
- Wexler, J.B., Margulies, D., Scholey, V.P., 2011. Temperature and dissolved oxygen requirements for survival of yellowfin tuna, *Thunnus albacares*, larvae. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology. 404, 63-72.
- Woolley, L.D., Qin, J.G., 2013. Ontogeny of body density and the swimbladder in yellowtail kingfish Seriola lalandi larvae. Journal of Fish Biology. 82, 658-670.
- Woolley, L.D., Fielder, S.D., Qin, J.G., 2012a. Swimbladder inflation, growth and survival of yellowtail kingfish *Seriola lalandi* (Valenciennes, 1833) larvae under different temperature, light and oxygen conditions. Aquaculture Research. DOI: 10.1111/are.12097.

- Woolley, L.D., Partridge, G.J., Qin, J.G., 2012b. Mortality reduction in yellowtail kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*) larval rearing by optimising Artemia feeding regimes. Aquaculture. 344, 161-167.
- Woolley, L.D., Fielder, S., Qin, J.G., 2013. Swimbladder inflation associated with body density change and larval survival in southern bluefin tuna *Thunnus maccoyii*. Aquaculture International. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10499-013-9626-9.
- Woolley, L.D., Qin, J.G., Thomson, M., Czypionka, A., 2009. Hatching success and early larval developments of southern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus maccoyii*). The 2nd global COE program symposium of Kinki University, 2009. "Sustainable aquaculture of the bluefin and yellowfin tuna Closing the life cycle for commercial production" Proceedings, pp. 88-92.
- Young, J.W., Davis, T.L.O., 1990. Feeding ecology of larvae of southern bluefin, albacore and skipjack tunas (Pisces: Scombridae) in the eastern Indian Ocean. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 61, 17-29.
- Zink, I.C., Benetti, D.D., Douillet, P.A., Margulies, D., Scholey, V.P., 2011. Improvement of water chemistry with *Bacillus* probiotics inclusion during simulated transport of yellowfin tuna yolk sac larvae. North American Journal of Aquaculture. 73, 42-48.

Chapter 2. A comparison between the first-feeding response of southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii*, and yellowtail kingfish, *Seriola lalandi*, larvae to prey density, prey size and larval density

## 2.1 Abstract

Initiation of first-feeding is critical to the survival of marine finfish larvae. I investigated the first-feeding success of two species: southern bluefin tuna, Thunnus maccoyii, and yellowtail kingfish, Seriola lalandi. I examined feeding performance (proportion and intensity) in three shortduration (4 h) experiments i.e., prey density (0.5 to 25 rotifers mL<sup>-1</sup>), prey size (small and large rotifers at densities of 2, 5 and 25 rotifers mL<sup>-1</sup>), and larval density (2 to 75 larvae L<sup>-1</sup>). Increasing prey density significantly increased the proportion of larvae feeding but not feeding intensity in both species. Prey size alone did not significantly affect the proportion or intensity of feeding for either species. Seriola lalandi exhibited a significant decrease in the proportion of larvae feeding with increasing larval density concurrent with a significant increase in feeding intensity. In T. maccoyii, larval density had a significant effect on the proportion of larvae feeding. The overall feeding performance amongst all experiments was higher in T. *maccoyii* (maximum feeding response 83% and 0.032 rotifers larva<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup> <sup>1</sup>) than S. *lalandi* (23% and 0.022 rotifers larva<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup>). The results from my study have identified important biotic factors that affect the first-feeding ability of T. maccoyii and S. lalandi larvae. This information has the potential to improve the first-feeding success with subsequent improvement in the culture of both species.

## 2.2 Introduction

Southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii*, produced from domestically held broodstock is under investigation as a new species to aquaculture in Australia (Thomson et al., 2010). Due to the early stage of industry development, culture requirements for this species are not yet fully understood and high early larval mortalities have slowed commercialisation. Research is constrained by the relatively short spawning season of *T. maccoyii*, which is approximately 10 weeks in duration (Cobcroft et al., 2012). Major mortality is commonly seen in larval culture among the tuna species (Davis et al., 1991; Fukuda et al., 2010; Ishibashi et al., 2009; Kaji et al., 1996; Margulies, 1997; Sawada et al., 2005). As a result, there is a limited understanding of the basic larval physiological requirements of many tuna species (Fukuda et al., 2010; Kawamura et al., 2003; Matsumoto et al., 2009), which limits the transfer of successful culture technology within the genus.

My study of the first-feeding capacities of *T. maccoyii* and yellowtail kingfish, *Seriola lalandi*, investigated the feeding performance of both species in order to compare their similarities and differences with a view to gaining a greater understanding of larval requirements and contribute to the future larviculture of both species. *Thunnus maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* are broadcast spawners; their larvae are oceanic and planktonic with similar larval morphology, and exhibit fast growth. Several studies have described rearing conditions for *S. lalandi* (Benetti et al., 2005; Carton and Vaughan, 2010; Chen et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2007; Cobcroft, 2013; Hilton et al., 2008; Moran et al., 2011; Woolley et al., 2012) and there are established aquaculture industries in Australia, Japan and New Zealand (Benetti et al., 2005; Kolkovski and Sakakura, 2004; Nakabo, 1993; Nakada, 2000; Poortenaar et al., 2000).

In order to successfully culture fish, it is pivotal to gain a thorough understanding of early-larval development and larval requirements. Firstfeeding is a critical phase in the larviculture of marine finfish, with the transition from endogenous to exogenous feeding often resulting in high mortality (Blaxter, 1988). Mortality is commonly associated with a failure of the larvae to capture sufficient and/or appropriate prey items (May, 1974). Fish possess a number of senses that allow the detection and palatability of prey including vision, mechanoreception, olfaction and gustation, however, vision is considered the primary sense required for successful feeding of many marine finfish larvae (Batty and Hoyt, 1995; Blaxter, 1986). Since many larvae initiate feeding with developing visual apparatus (Blaxter and Jones, 1967; Cobcroft and Pankhurst, 2003), several biotic factors in the visual environment, such as prey density, prey size and larval density, can impact on the ability of first-feeding larvae to identify and capture prey items (Hecht et al., 1996; Houde, 1975; 1978; Hunter, 1980; Shaw et al., 2003). The density of prey is critically important, affecting the first-feeding success of larvae of a number of species, as it directly influences the likelihood of prey encounter, which is restricted by a visual limit of around one larval body length (Blaxter, 1986; Houde and Schekter, 1980; Robert et al., 2009; Shoji and Tanaka, 2004; Slembrouck et al., 2009). With developing visual apparatus and limited swimming and feeding ability, an increase in the prey encounter rate increases the chance for prey capture (Shoji and Tanaka, 2004). In addition to prey density, the prey size offered is also important as larval fish are gapelimited predators and prey size must permit physical ingestion (Puvanendran et al., 2004). Optimal larval densities should provide the highest yield from culture tanks at the fastest rate of production, while also providing the best economic returns (King et al., 2000). In a controlled environment, such as a larval-rearing system, many of these factors can be manipulated to maximise first-feeding success and minimise mortality associated with inadequate early feeding.

My study investigated the feeding performance of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* exposed to different visual predator-prey conditions such as prey density, prey size and larval density. My aim was to test the species over a wide range of conditions, in order to identify selected biotic factors commonly encountered during the culture of fish larvae that influence the

first-feeding success for both species, leading to a better understanding of their larval rearing requirements.

## 2.3 Materials and methods

# 2.3.1 Embryo supply and rearing

*Thunnus maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* embryos were supplied by Clean Seas Tuna Ltd from their hatchery facility in Arno Bay, South Australia. *Thunnus maccoyii* embryos were collected from four spawning events during February 2010, and *S. lalandi* embryos were collected from three spawning events during February and March 2011. Immediately after spawning the embryos were collected from the broodstock tank and assessed for viability. Fertilisation was greater than 80% for all cohorts.

Significant demand for *T. maccoyii* embryos during the relatively short spawning season, to conduct research and commercial-scale trials, resulted in a restricted number of viable *T. maccoyii* embryos for feeding experiments. As such, *T. maccoyii* embryos were unavailable for direct experimental comparison with *S. lalandi* in 2011, and consequently experiments were conducted in 2010 for *T. maccoyii* and 2011 for *S. lalandi*. Culture parameters for *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* embryos, prior to hatch, are summarised in Table 1A. Each embryo cohort was reared in an individual tank.

At hatch, *T. maccoyii* embryos remained in the same rearing tank due to the relatively low larval density of 0.5 larvae  $L^{-1}$ . The tank base colour differed in one of the three cohorts of embryos reared (i.e., one white-based and two green-based), although as the embryos had non-functional eyes until the beginning of day 3, it is highly unlikely to have affected the larvae.

At hatch, *S. lalandi* embryos were transferred to a different 2500 L green fibreglass, cylindro-conical larviculture tank (Table 1B). The transfer protocol involved removing the air from the incubator tank to concentrate the positively buoyant larvae at the surface. Larvae were then collected in

3 L beakers and transferred into larviculture tanks until a stocking density of  $10 \pm 2$  larvae L<sup>-1</sup> was achieved.

Table 1. Culture parameters for *Thunnus maccoyii* and *Seriola lalandi* embryos A) prior to hatching and B) post-hatching.

A)

Culture parameter	Thunnus maccoyii	Seriola lalandi	
Embryo disinfection Time to hatch	0.53 ppm ozone (1 min) 26 h @ 25 <sup>0</sup> C	Nil 50 h @ 20 <sup>0</sup> C	
Fibreglass tank Tank colour	2500 L cylindro-conical Green only or green with white base	2500 L cylindro-conical White	
System Water treatment Salinity Water temperature pH	Flow-through 1 $\mu$ m filtered, UV treated 36 $\pm$ 0.2 ‰ 26.0 $\pm$ 1.0 <sup>o</sup> C 8.2 $\pm$ 0.1	Flow-through 1 $\mu$ m filtered, UV treated 36 $\pm$ 0.2 ‰ 24.0 $\pm$ 0.7 <sup>0</sup> C 7.8 $\pm$ 0.3	
Dissolved oxygen Flow rate	98.0 $\pm$ 1.0% 416 L h <sup>-1</sup> (i.e., 400% exchange per day)	97.5 ± 1.7% 1800 L h <sup>-1</sup> (i.e., 1800% exchange per day	
Photoperiod Light intensity (max) Stocking density Water current	12:12 (h L: D) $0.38 \mu mol s^{-1} m^{-2}$ $10 \pm 2 \text{ eggs L}^{-1}$ Upwelling water or single open-ended air line	14:10 ( $\mathring{h}$ L: D) 12 µmol s <sup>-1</sup> m <sup>-2</sup> 170 ± 46 eggs L <sup>-1</sup> Single open-ended air line	

# B)

Thunnus maccoyii	Seriola lalandi	
As above As above As above As above As above	As above Green As above As above As above	
26.0 ± 0.5 °C	23.8±1.0 °C	
$95.8 \pm 1.2\%$	$97.2 \pm 1.6\%$	
625 L h <sup>-1</sup> (i.e., 600% exchange per day)	416 L h <sup>-1</sup> (i.e., 400% exchange per day)	
As above As above $10 \pm 2$ larvae L <sup>-1</sup> As above	As above $0.38 \ \mu \text{mol s}^{-1} \text{ m}^{-2}$ $10 \pm 2 \ \text{larvae L}^{-1}$ As above	
	Thunnus maccoyiiAs aboveAs aboveAs aboveAs aboveAs above26.0 $\pm$ 0.5 $^{0}$ C8.1 $\pm$ 0.195.8 $\pm$ 1.2%625 L h <sup>-1</sup> (i.e., 600%exchange per day)As aboveAs above10 $\pm$ 2 larvae L <sup>-1</sup> As above	

Seriola lalandi larval behaviour late on 2 dph indicated a proportion of larvae were ready to commence feeding. Feeding experiments were attempted on 2 dph although poor or nil feeding was observed. The low feeding response in the experimental system and a proportion of larvae not feeding in the larval source tank indicated the cohort as a whole were not ready to commence feeding. In order to not disadvantage the proportion of larvae that were ready to feed, rotifers were added to the larval source tank on 2 dph at 10 mL<sup>-1</sup> (enriched with Spresso<sup>®</sup> INVE, Belgium), a turbidity of 3 nephelometric turbidity units (NTU) was induced by algal paste (Nanno 3600<sup>®</sup>, Reed Mariculture, California) and a light intensity of 24 µmol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> (at the tank surface in the centre of the tank) was provided by a metal halide light (Phillips 400 W). While a proportion of larvae initiated feeding on 2 dph, first-feeding was defined as 3 dph.

## 2.3.2 Stocking of experimental system

Feeding experiments were conducted on *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* on the first day of feeding (3 dph) (Fig. 1). To enable the capture of larvae from the larviculture source tank, the light level was increased to 24  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> (Phillips 400 W, metal halide). Approximately 30 larvae were siphoned via a 10 mm Ø plastic tube into a 250 mL beaker and transferred to each 3 L aquaria. A white circular disc (20 cm Ø) attached to an extension arm was submerged in the larviculture tank to aid in capture by providing a background to highlight the larvae.

The experimental set-up consisted of 24 individual, 3 L black, hemispherical, plastic aquaria. The aquaria were randomly allocated to one of six treatments with each treatment having four replicates. Light was provided by a single fluorescent tube (NEC tri-phosphor 18 watt, FL20SSBR/ 18-HG, T8) suspended above each treatment group of aquaria, providing a light intensity of  $30 \pm 2 \mu mol s^{-1} m^{-2} (n = 6)$ , range 28 -33 µmol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>. The aquaria were maintained as static systems, with no aeration and no water flow.



Larvae removed from tank



# **Measured response**



© Clean Seas Tuna Ltd

Full gut



Low and high extremes

Figure 1. Schematic diagram showing an overview of the feeding experiments. Larvae were caught from the larviculture source tank, designated to a treatment and left to feed for 4 hours prior to evaluation as feeding or not feeding.

Each feeding experiment was run over a 4 h feeding period. At least 30 minutes was allowed for acclimation prior to the addition of rotifers, initiating the start of the experiment, and the lights were on during acclimation. A rotifer density of 2 mL<sup>-1</sup> for each aquaria was chosen (unless otherwise stated) in order to challenge the larvae to feed. It was important to provide a rotifer density that allowed significant feeding differences to be observed between the treatments, while not allowing feeding to satiation or totally inhibiting feeding.

In order to provide the same feeding period (4 h) to each aquarium throughout the experiment, rotifers were added to one aquarium at a time, with a 3 minute interval between each addition. This allowed a 3 minute time frame to collect larvae from each aquarium prior to sampling the following aquarium (24 aquaria in total) (Cobcroft et al., 2001). Larvae were euthanised by anaesthetic (0.06% AQUI-S  $\mathbb{B}$ , New Zealand Ltd) at the end of each experiment. Standard length (SL) ± standard deviation (sd) (here and throughout), and eye diameter ± sd (n = 20) were recorded for all sampled larvae on the day of the experiment.

## 2.3.3 Evaluation of feeding response and mortality

Assessment of feeding response involved "squashing" the euthanised larvae with a cover slip on a microscope slide resulting in the rupture of the stomach wall enabling the presence/absence of rotifers to be determined. Prior examination revealed *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* larvae did not regurgitate food upon euthanasia. Individual rotifer mastax were counted to record the number of rotifers consumed per larva. The proportion of feeding, intensity of feeding (rotifers larva<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup>) and mortality was recorded as mean  $\pm$  sd (n = 4).

The proportion (%) of larvae feeding was calculated from the following equation:

Feeding intensity was expressed as rotifers larva<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup> and was calculated as:

Feeding intensity = rotifers ingested per feeding larva / 240 min

Where 240 min represents the experimental feeding time.

The mortality (%) was calculated as:

Mortality = dead larvae / total number of larvae x 100

The 4 h feeding duration was too short for total decomposition of dead larvae to occur, so an accurate assessment of mortality was obtained.

## 2.3.4 Feeding experiments

The response of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* to prey density, prey size and larval density was investigated. The range of variables tested within each treatment extended above and below standard culture parameters

commonly used in aquaculture. This allowed standard culture parameters to be tested, while also evaluating larval feeding response against the lower and higher ranges of culture increasing the potential to define optimum rearing conditions.

# 2.3.4.1 Prey density and first-feeding

Six different prey densities were tested which included; 0.5, 1, 2, 5, 15 and 25 rotifers  $mL^{-1}$ .

# 2.3.4.2 Prey size, density and first-feeding

This multi-factorial experiment tested prey density in conjunction with rotifer size. Large or small rotifers were fed at densities of 0.5, 2 and 25 mL<sup>-1</sup>. Rotifer sizes are reported in section 2.3.5.

# 2.3.4.3 Larval density and first-feeding

*Thunnus maccoyii* were stocked at 2, 5, 7, 20, 40 and 65 larvae  $L^{-1}$  and *S. lalandi* were stocked at 2, 5, 10, 25, 50 and 75 larvae  $L^{-1}$ . Rotifer density was maintained at 2 mL<sup>-1</sup> for all larval density treatments.

# 2.3.4.4 Surface oil and first-feeding

This experiment tested the response of *T. maccoyii* (n = 30) in four aquaria with and four without, the addition of a drop of squid oil, at a light intensity of 30  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> in order to reduce surface tension and test coincident effects on feeding and mortality.

# 2.3.5 Rotifers

Large-strain (L-S) rotifers (*Brachionus plicatilis*) and small-strain (S-S) rotifers (*Brachionus rotundiformis*) were used in the 2010 season (N.B. S-S rotifers were only used in the prey size feeding experiments). L-S rotifers had a length of 240 ± 21  $\mu$ m (n = 30) compared to S-S rotifers with a length of 150 ± 10  $\mu$ m (n = 30). Rotifer length was significantly different (F<sub>1, 58</sub> = 310.718, P < 0.001).

Rotifer volume was calculated using the equation for an ellipsoid:

Rotifer volume =  $4/3 \pi ab^2$ 

Where *b* (rotifer width) is assumed to be half of *a* (rotifer length).

Rotifer volume of L-S was 14.4 x  $10^6 \mu m^3$ , and S-S rotifers had a volume of  $3.5 \times 10^6 \mu m^3$ . Small-strain rotifers were unavailable in the 2011 season, so L-S rotifers were screened twice through a 120 µm bag screen to collect rotifers classed as large (244 ± 26.6 µm length, n = 30) and small (190 ± 24.4 µm length, n = 30). Rotifer lengths were significantly less in small rotifers than large rotifers (F<sub>1, 58</sub> = 66.996, P < 0.001). The volume of large rotifers was 15.2 x  $10^6 \mu m^3$ , while small rotifers had a volume of 7.1 x  $10^6 \mu m^3$ .

# 2.3.6 Assessment of transfer stress from the larviculture source tank to the experimental system

The feeding response of larvae in the larviculture source tank and larvae that had been transferred into the experimental system was compared to evaluate the effect of transfer stress. Similar feeding conditions were provided to the larviculture source tank as the experimental system, which consisted of a turbidity of 3 NTU achieved through the addition of Nanno 3600<sup>®</sup>, rotifers added at a density of 2 mL<sup>-1</sup> and a light intensity of 24 µmol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> at the tank surface in the centre of the tank. Rotifers were enriched with Spirit<sup>®</sup> INVE, Belgium and Nanno 3600<sup>®</sup> for *T. maccoyii* and Spresso<sup>®</sup> for *S. lalandi.* Larvae were left undisturbed for the same 4 h feeding period as the experimental aquaria. The proportion of larvae feeding was recorded for 20 larvae per larviculture source tank.

#### 2.3.7 Statistics

The one-factorial prey density and larval density experiments, on the proportion of fish feeding and mortality, were analysed using chi-square analysis (SPSS statistics 19, IBM) as the data were dichotomous (i.e., feeding or not feeding and either dead or alive). Standardised residuals  $\geq$  2 and  $\leq$  -2 identified significant differences within the treatments and the

observed results were reported as more than expected or less than expected (chi-square tests the difference between the observed results and the hypothetical distribution that may be expected due to chance or probability). Graphs were depicted as proportion (%) to allow easy interpretation. The data were presented as mean + sd (four replicates per treatment). Intensity of feeding was analysed by a nested one-way ANOVA. A binomial logistic regression analysis was conducted in R studio 0.97.246 - Windows xp/Vista/7 (R Development Core Team (2011) R A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. ISBN 3-900051-07-0, URL *http://www.R-project.org/.*) to determine the effect of prey size and prey density on the proportion of larvae feeding. Analyses of deviance validated the model fit. To improve model fit, non-significant variables were removed from the analysis and the model re-fitted. Feeding intensity in the prey size and prey density experiment was analysed by two-way ANOVA. Data were evaluated for homogeneity of variance using Levene's test. Tukey's post hoc test was used to describe differences between means when the ANOVA was significant. Statistical significance accepted at  $P \le 0.05$ .

#### 2.4 Results

#### 2.4.1 Larval standard length and eye size

On the day of the feeding experiment (3 dph) the standard length of *T*. *maccoyii* was  $3.13 \pm 0.10$  mm and eye diameter was  $0.241 \pm 0.010$  mm. Larvae had a relative eye size of 7.8% of standard length and no difference in standard length or eye diameter was observed between cohorts (F<sub>2,57</sub> = 0.580, P = 0.563 and F<sub>2,57</sub> = 1.641, P = 0.203, respectively). In comparison, 3 dph *S. lalandi* larvae had a standard length of 4.54 ± 0.08 mm and eye diameter of 0.343 ± 0.003 mm. The relative eye size of *S. lalandi* was 7.6% and no significant difference in standard length or eye diameter was observed between cohorts (F<sub>2,57</sub> = 1.773, P = 0.179 and F<sub>2,57</sub> = 0.523, P = 0.881, respectively).

## 2.4.2 Feeding experiments

## 2.4.2.1 Prey density and first-feeding

Increasing prey density significantly increased the proportion of *T*. *maccoyii* larvae feeding ( $\chi^2 = 29.280$ , df 5, P < 0.001) with fewer feeding responses occurring at the lowest prey density (0.5 mL<sup>-1</sup>) and more feeding responses occurring at the highest prey density (25 mL<sup>-1</sup>) (Fig. 2A). In contrast, there was no significant difference in the proportion of *S*. *lalandi* larvae feeding ( $\chi^2 = 7.016$ , df 5, P = 0.219) with changing prey density, although a gradual increase was observed as prey density increased (6.4 ± 4.6% increasing to 14.1 ± 4.7%) (Fig. 2C). The proportion of *T. maccoyii* feeding was five times higher than *S. lalandi* (Table 2).

The feeding intensity with increasing prey density was not significantly different for either *T. maccoyii* ( $F_{5, 18} = 1.234$ , P = 0.33) (0.013 ± 0.005 rotifers larva<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup>, Fig. 2B) or *S. lalandi* ( $F_{5, 18} = 1.632$ , P = 0.202) (0.006 ± 0.002 rotifers larva<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup>, Fig. 2D) although the feeding intensity was three times greater in *T. maccoyii* than *S. lalandi*.

Mortality of *T. maccoyii* was high, ranging from 33 to 58%, and was significantly affected by prey density, with greater than expected survival in the 2 rotifers mL<sup>-1</sup> treatment ( $\chi^2 = 12.651$ , df 5, P = 0.027). Larvae in the remaining prey density treatments all recorded similar mortalities. *Seriola lalandi* showed no significant difference in mortality among prey density treatments ( $\chi^2 = 1.315$ , df 5, P = 0.933).



Figure 2. First-feeding response of fish larvae fed different prey densities, in *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT) (A) the proportion feeding and (B) feeding intensity, and in *Seriola lalandi* (YTK) (C) the proportion feeding and (D) feeding intensity. The arrows indicate treatments in which there were significantly more ( $\uparrow$ ) or less ( $\downarrow$ ) larvae feeding than expected (chi-square; P ≤ 0.05). Mean + sd, n = 4.

Table 2. Summary of the proportion feeding (%), feeding intensity (rotifers larva<sup>-1</sup>min<sup>-1</sup>) and mortality data (%) for *Thunnus maccoyii* and *Seriola lalandi*.

Experiment	Parameter	Treatment range	
		T. maccoyii	S. lalandi
Prey density	Proportion feeding	18 - 77	6 - 14
	Feeding intensity	0.007 - 0.020	0.002 - 0.007
	Mortality	33 - 58	3 - 20
Prey size and	Proportion feeding	45 - 90	10 - 23
density	Feeding intensity	0.013 - 0.027	0.0002 - 0.001
•	Mortality	32 - 49	0 - 13
Larval density	Proportion feeding	63 - 82	13 - 34
	Feeding intensity	0.035 - 0.049	0.001 - 0.060
	Mortality	0 - 17	0 - 20

2.4.2.2 Prey size, density and first-feeding

Based on the logistic regression analysis (Table 3), prey density had a significant effect on the proportion of *T. maccoyii* feeding (Fig. 3A), although prey size, and any interaction between prey size and density was not significant. The likelihood of *T. maccoyii* feeding in the 25 mL<sup>-1</sup>
treatment was 2.07 to 6.23 times higher than feeding in the 0.5 mL<sup>-1</sup> and 2 mL<sup>-1</sup> treatment. The proportion of *S. lalandi* larvae feeding also significantly improved with increasing prey density (Table 3). The likelihood of feeding in the 2 mL<sup>-1</sup> and 25 mL<sup>-1</sup> treatments was 1.15 to 3.39 and 1.30 and 3.76 times higher respectively, than feeding in the 0.5 mL<sup>-1</sup> treatment (Fig. 3C). The proportion of *T. maccoyii* feeding was four times higher than *S. lalandi*.

No effect of prey size or any interaction between prey size and prey density was observed in the proportion of *S. lalandi* larvae feeding. *Thunnus maccoyii* feeding intensity (analysed by two-way ANOVA) significantly improved with increasing prey density and an interaction between high prey density (25 mL<sup>-1</sup>) and S-S rotifers significantly increased feeding intensity (Table 4). The feeding intensity of *T. maccoyii* was 27 times higher than *S. lalandi*.



Figure 3. First-feeding response of fish larvae fed rotifer prey of two different sizes (small and large) and three different prey densities. In *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT) larvae (A) the proportion feeding and (B) feeding intensity, and in *Seriola lalandi* (YTK) larvae (C) the proportion feeding and (D) feeding intensity. The arrows indicate those categories in which there were more ( $\uparrow$ ) or less ( $\downarrow$ ) larvae feeding than expected (chi-square; P ≤ 0.05). Means sharing a common letter are not significantly different. Mean + sd, n = 4.

Table 3. Statistical summary for the multi-factorial prey size and prey density experiment, showing proportion feeding and mortality data (binomial logistic regression analysis) for *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT) and *Seriola lalandi* (YTK).

	Full model		Re-fitted model	
	Proportion feeding	Mortality	Proportion feeding	Odds 2.5% - 97.5%
SBT prey density 2 mL <sup>-1</sup> SBT prey density 25 mL <sup>-1</sup> SBT prey size small SBT 2 mL <sup>-1</sup> x small SBT 25 mL <sup>-1</sup> x small YTK prey density 2 mL <sup>-1</sup> YTK prey density 25 mL <sup>-1</sup> YTK prey size small YTK 2 mL <sup>-1</sup> x small YTK 25 mL <sup>-1</sup> x small	P = 0.038 $P = 0.005$ $P = 0.373$ $P = 0.095$ $P = 0.121$ $P = 0.337$ $P = 0.052$ $P = 0.667$ $P = 0.287$ $P = 0.806$	P = 0.259 P = 0.826 P = 0.531 P = 0.802 P = 0.065 P = 0.758 P = 1.000 P = 0.776 P = 0.474 P = 0.624	P = 0.201 P < 0.001 P = 0.013 P = 0.003 - -	2.1 to 6.2 1.1 to 3.4 1.3 to 3.7

Table 4. *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT) and *Seriola lalandi* (YTK) summary for the multi-factorial prey size and prey density experiment. Intensity of feeding (two-way ANOVA).

Experiment	Feeding intensity	Analysis
SBT prey size and density	Prey size * prey density	F <sub>2, 24</sub> = 5.760, P = 0.012
	Prey size	F <sub>1, 24</sub> = 1.888, P = 0.186
	Prey density	F <sub>2, 24</sub> = 8.460, P = 0.003
YTK prey size and density	Prey size * prey density	F <sub>2, 24</sub> = 2.618, P = 0.100
	Prey size	F <sub>1, 24</sub> = 0.575, P = 0.573
	Prey density	F <sub>2, 24</sub> = 0.941, P = 0.345

Prey size alone had no effect on the intensity of feeding in *T. maccoyii* (Fig. 3B). In comparison, feeding intensity in *S. lalandi* was not affected by prey size, prey density or the interaction of prey size and prey density (Table 4, Fig. 3D). The mortality of both *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* was not affected by prey size, prey density or the interaction between prey size and prey density.

## 2.4.2.3 Larval density and first-feeding

The proportion of *T. maccoyii* larvae feeding was significantly different between treatments, with a lower proportion feeding than expected at 40 larvae L<sup>-1</sup> ( $\chi^2 = 20.934$ , df 5, P = 0.001), however, graphical representation of the data indicated that this result was not biologically important as the feeding incidence at a density of 40 larvae L<sup>-1</sup> was within the range of all other treatments, some of which had higher variance (Fig. 4A). *Seriola lalandi* also showed a significant difference in the proportion of larvae feeding ( $\chi^2 = 29.986$ , df 5, P < 0.001), with higher than expected feeding responses at larval densities of 2 and 5 larvae L<sup>-1</sup> and a lower than expected feeding response at 50 larvae L<sup>-1</sup> (Fig. 4C).



Figure 4. First-feeding response of fish larvae at different larval densities. In *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT) (A) the proportion feeding and (B) feeding intensity, and in *Seriola lalandi* (YTK) (C) the proportion feeding and (D) feeding intensity. The arrows indicate treatments in which there were more  $(\uparrow)$  or less  $(\downarrow)$  larvae feeding than expected (chi-square; P ≤ 0.05). Means sharing a common letter are not significantly different. Mean + sd, n = 4.

There was no significant difference ( $F_{5, 24} = 0.417$ , P = 0.831) in feeding intensity by *T. maccoyii* across the larval densities tested ( $0.046 \pm 0.005$ rotifers larva<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup>, Fig. 4B),whereas feeding intensity in *S. lalandi* was significantly affected by larval density ( $F_{5, 24} = 69.551$ , P < 0.001) and increased incrementally from 2 to 75 larvae L<sup>-1</sup> (Fig. 4D). The proportion of *T. maccoyii* feeding was twice as high as *S. lalandi*, although *S. lalandi*  had up to double the feeding intensity when exposed to a higher larval density.

Mortality, in contrast to the other two experiments (prey density and prey size), was low for *T. maccoyii* (range 0 to 17%) and *S. lalandi* (range 0 to 20%). There was no significant difference in the mortality of *T. maccoyii* among treatments ( $\chi^2 = 2.016$ , df 5, P = 0.847), whereas *S. lalandi* had a higher than expected mortality at a density of 5 larvae L<sup>-1</sup> ( $\chi^2 = 12.118$ , df 5, P = 0.033).

## 2.4.2.4 Surface oil and first-feeding

The mortality of *T. maccoyii* was significantly reduced in the oil treatment (1%, mean ± sd of four aquaria) compared to the no oil treatment (17%, mean ± sd of four aquaria) ( $\chi^2$  = 12.416, df 1, P < 0.001). No difference in the proportion of fish feeding ( $\chi^2$  = 0.001, df 1, P = 0.971) or feeding intensity (F <sub>5, 18</sub> = 0.204, P = 0.957) was observed.

## 2.4.3 Mortality

Mortality recorded in prey density, and prey size and density experiments, was three times higher for *T. maccoyii* than *S. lalandi*. Mortality recorded for the larval density experiment was similar for *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* (Table 2). *Thunnus maccoyii* mortalities were evident on the surface directly after transfer, and microscopic inspection at the end of each short-term feeding experiment revealed that dead larvae were in a state of decomposition, which suggested the larvae died at or soon after transfer. Surface mortality was observed in all *T. maccoyii* experiments. The high surface mortality observed in *T. maccoyii* had the potential to compromise the study if the feeding ability of the surviving larvae was affected. The short-term feeding experiment, which assessed the effect of the addition of oil on feeding and mortality, revealed oil addition significantly reduced mortality, but no difference was observed in feeding response.

# 2.4.4. Assessment of transfer stress from the larviculture source tank to the experimental system.

Assessment of feeding response in *T. maccoyii* was obtained from empirical evidence of three cohorts of first-feeding larvae exposed to similar conditions as described for the three *T. maccoyii* cohorts in my study. *Thunnus maccoyii* larvae were sampled from each larviculture source tank four hours after the addition of rotifers. The average proportion of *T. maccoyii* larvae feeding in the source larviculture tank was 90% with an intensity of 0.04 rotifers larva<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup>, reflecting the values obtained in the experimental aquaria. In comparison, *S. lalandi* larvae were sampled from each source larviculture tank on the experimental day, four hours after the addition of rotifers. *S. lalandi* displayed a reduction in feeding in the experimental aquaria, two to four times lower, than the larviculture source tank (i.e., proportion feeding 50%, 70% and 90% with an intensity of 0.01, 0.02 and 0.03 rotifers larva<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup> for the prey density, larval density and prey size experiments, respectively).

## 2.5 Discussion

#### 2.5.1 Feeding response

The 4 h experiments used in my study highlighted a number of differences between *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* first-feeding larvae. While both species fed in the experimental unit, *T. maccoyii* had a consistently higher proportion of larvae feeding and generally fed with greater intensity compared to *S. lalandi*. The maximum first-feeding response for *T. maccoyii* was 83% and 0.032 rotifers larva<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup> compared to 23% and 0.022 rotifers larva<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup> for *S. lalandi*.

First-feeding ability varies greatly among species (Houde and Schekter, 1980; Hunter, 1980). Comparing the results of first-feeding studies is complicated due to disparities between experimental conditions, which significantly affect the first-feeding response. A limited number of similar small-scale, short-duration experiments on other marine fish species confirm the relatively higher feeding ability of *T. maccoyii* over other

species. For example, striped trumpeter, *Latris lineata*, show lower first-feeding responses similar to *S. lalandi* (Cobcroft et al., 2001; Shaw, 2006), and Carton (2005) found the first-feeding response of *S. lalandi* to be comparable to the present study (proportion feeding 15 to 35% and feeding intensity 0.001 to 0.008 rotifers ingested min<sup>-1</sup>).

There are a number of possible explanations for the higher feeding response of *T. maccoyii* that may be a result of visual and non-visual sensory feeding. Larger eye size improves visual ability due to an increased visual field (Job and Bellwood, 2000; Johns and Easter, 1977), however, it is unlikely that this was the cause as both species had similar relative eye sizes and the absolute eye size of S. lalandi was larger than T. maccovii. The increased feeding response of T. maccovii may be a factor of retinal morphology. Adults of tuna species possess extremely high visual acuity (Kawamura et al., 1981), which is reliant on the solid angle viewed by the eye (Fernald, 1989), the photoreceptor spacing in the retina, the proportion of cones to ganglion cells, and the focal length of the lens (Pankhurst et al., 1993). If larval *T. maccoyii* also have high visual acuity it may explain the increase in prey detection and subsequent predatory ability, although the comparative retinal morphology of earlyfeeding *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* is currently unknown. Physical detection of prey may also be a result of mechanoreception, as the cupula of the free neuromasts slightly bend in response to prey movement (Blaxter, 1987; Kjørsvik et al., 2004; Mukai et al., 1994). Larvae with large and/or numerous free neuromasts has been shown to have increased motion detection (Mukai et al., 1994). Examination of mechanosensory development in the Pacific bluefin tuna, Thunnus orientalis, and the northern bluefin tuna, Thunnus thynnus revealed many well developed neuromasts at an early stage of development (Amoroso, 2011; Kawamura et al., 2003). This would suggest that the closely related *T. maccoyii* may also have acute mechanosensory function at an early age, contributing to increased feeding performance.

An additional theory to sensory feeding being responsible for a higher feeding response in *T. maccoyii* may be that *T. maccoyii* are faster to

learn successful feeding strategies compared to *S. lalandi*. In addition, the higher feed intake may indicate a higher metabolism and requirement for more immediate feeding by *T. maccoyii*.

The effect transfer had on the larvae revealed that while first-feeding T. maccovii experienced high transfer mortality due to entrapment on the surface, the surviving larvae appeared unaffected by capture and feeding in a novel environment. In fact, feeding rates were similar in the short-term feeding experiments and larviculture source tanks, which confirms that the feeding performance of surviving *T. maccoyii* larvae was unaffected by transfer, or they recovered quickly, and that the observed feeding ability of T. maccoyii was relatively high. While a proportion of the S. lalandi cohorts consumed rotifers on 2 dph, it is well documented that first-feeding occurs on 3 dph (Carton, 2005; Chen et al., 2006; Ma and Qin, 2012). Feeding experiments were initiated on 3 dph for both species as the larvae possessed fully pigmented eyes and had fully consumed their endogenous yolk indicating the need to commence feeding, which agrees with studies reported by Woolley et al. (2009) and Chen et al. (2006). The reduced feeding response of *S. lalandi* may be attributed to greater stress levels associated with transfer than in T. maccoyii, a reduced need to initiate feeding and/or a reduced ability to successfully feed in a novel environment, as seen with *L. lineata* and greenback flounder, Rhombosolea tapirina (Cobcroft et al., 2001; Shaw, 2006). Shaw (2006) suggested that some larvae develop a search image which leads to selection for prey in a previously experienced visual environment. Transfer from a known to an unknown visual environment, where larvae have no prior experience, may disrupt the learned search pattern.

A confounding factor in the present study was that feeding experiments occurred on the first day of feeding for *T. maccoyii* (with no prior exposure to live-feed) and the second day of feeding for some *S. lalandi* larvae (with prior exposure to live-feed). Prior exposure to live prey has been shown to improve feeding performance in larvae of some marine fish (Cobcroft et al., 2001; Cox and Pankhurst, 2000; Salgado and Hoyt, 1996), however, I suggest that prior exposure did not compromise my study, as Carton

(2005) achieved similar feeding results on naïve first-feeding 3 dph *S. lalandi*. Moreover, the feeding performance of 3 dph *S. lalandi* may be expected to be higher compared to first-feeding 2 dph *S. lalandi* larvae which would potentially make them even poorer at first-feeding compared to *T. maccoyii*.

#### 2.5.2 Feeding experiments

#### 2.5.2.1 Prey density and first-feeding

*Thunnus maccoyii* had a significant fourfold increase in the proportion of larvae feeding with increasing prey density. In contrast, prey density did not significantly affect the feeding response of *S. lalandi* although the proportion of larvae feeding did double between the lowest and highest prey density. Increasing prey density has been shown to be an important factor for feeding success in the majority of early larval feeding studies (Dou et al., 2000; Houde and Schekter, 1980; Robert et al., 2009; Seljeset et al., 2010; Shoji and Tanaka, 2004; Slembrouck et al., 2009) with studies conducted on the yellowfin tuna, *Thunnus albacores*, showing increasing survival with increasing prey density (Wexler et al., 2011).

The strong positive relationship between prey density and feeding success is thought to be a reflection of higher encounter rates between predator and prey (Shoji and Tanaka, 2004), increasing the likelihood of successful capture by larvae that are equipped with rudimentary sensory, feeding and swimming apparatus (Blaxter, 1986; Cobcroft and Pankhurst, 2003; Pankhurst and Hilder, 1998). Generally, an increase in prey density results in the feeding rate increasing until a point of satiation is reached (Houde and Schekter, 1980; Temple et al., 2004). This point was not determined in the study with *T. maccoyii*, as the feeding response was still increasing at the highest prey density offered. The results demonstrate *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* have different predatory capabilities, which may have been exaggerated due to the limited time frame (4 h) available for successful feeding. Capture success at first-feeding clearly varies among species and is dependent on the ability of the larvae to detect, capture and ingest prey. *Thunnus maccoyii* are reared at higher temperatures (26 <sup>o</sup>C) compared to

*S. lalandi* (24 <sup>o</sup>C) and most likely have higher metabolic demands. The fact that *T. maccoyii* larvae show an increasing ability to capture rotifers with increasing prey densities, compared to *S. lalandi*, suggests that this species has greater predation capacity at first-feeding, which is most likely due to greater sensory capacity, higher requirement for feeding or less energy reserves.

#### 2.5.2.2 Prey size, density and first-feeding

First-feeding T. maccovii and S. lalandi larvae exposed to different combinations of prey size and prey density showed that prey size alone did not alter the feeding response. Both T. maccoyii and S. lalandi showed an increase in the proportion of larvae feeding with increasing prev density. While prey size alone had no effect on feeding rate, there was a significant increase in the number of small-strain rotifers consumed by T. *maccoyii* at the highest prey density. A possible explanation may be the ingested volume. Small rotifers had 25% of the volume of the large rotifers, requiring *T. maccoyii* to consume a greater number of rotifers in order to reach the same level of stomach fullness. Although if this was the case, it would be expected that the same response would be seen in all the small rotifer treatments. It is more likely that the high density treatment provided a sensory input that drove the feeding T. maccoyii larvae to continue consuming prey. While feeding can be driven by visual stimuli, it may also occur due to mechanoreception, olfaction and gustation (Blaxter, 1986). It is unlikely that the increased feeding of *T. maccoyii* in response to the smaller *B. rotundiformis* at high density, compared to the larger *B.* plicatilis, is a result of visual or mechanoreception input as it would be expected that larger rotifers would be visually more obvious and presumably produce greater movements. Olfaction and gustation stimulus, although, may explain the preference for high density small strain rotifers. Phytoplankton and zooplankton is known to exude amino acids that may induce chemotactic behaviour in larval fish (Corner and Davies, 1971; Døving et al., 1994; Olsen et al., 2004). Chromatographic analyses have shown that different zooplankton populations emit different assemblages of individual amino acids (Johannes and Webb, 1965). Feeding

65

experiments on turbot, *Scophthalrnus maximus* and sole, *Solea solea*, larvae exposed to chemical stimuli revealed a species-specific attraction to chemical stimulants (Knutsen, 1992). It is possible that *B. rotundiformis*, at high density, produce a significant amount of chemoattractants that increase the attractiveness of the rotifer compared to *B. plicatilis* in *T. maccoyii*. Investigation of sensory development in *T. orientalis* revealed olfactory pits open 2 dph, well before the appearance of tastebuds at 8 (Kawamura et al., 2003). While olfactory development has not been studied for *S. lalandi*, taste bud development has been reported at 8 dph (Chen et al., 2006). As the feeding experiments in this study focused on first-feeding (3 dph), it is unlikely that the taste buds of either species played a role in feeding, although olfaction, particularly in *T. maccoyii*, may have contributed to the feeding response.

Seriola lalandi had prior exposure to large rotifers which may have biased the feeding response to favour prey that the larvae were experienced with, as has been found in other studies with different species (Cobcroft et al., 2001; Cox and Pankhurst, 2000; Salgado and Hoyt, 1996). However, this did not appear to be the case as S. lalandi fed equally well on small and large rotifers. Larval fish actively consume zooplankton as large as their mouth-gape will allow (Graham and Sprules, 1992). Both species ingested large rotifers at first-feeding, which indicates that their mouth gape was sufficient for this prey size and did not apparently limit prey ingestion. The consumption of larger prey increases the net rate of energy gain per predatory strike, consequently the selection of the most energetically profitable prey type has the potential to increase growth rates and decrease mortality (von Herbing et al., 2001). The use of large rotifers instead of small rotifers in the culture of T. maccovii and S. lalandi, therefore, will maximise the energy gains of the larvae theoretically improving the larviculture of the species.

#### 2.5.2.3 Larval density and first-feeding

The feeding response of *T. maccoyii* larvae was independent of larval density and the larvae showed neither feeding inhibition, nor feeding

advantage due to crowding from conspecifics. In contrast, there was a significant decline in the proportion of S. lalandi larvae feeding with increasing larval density. While my study did not investigate the effect of growth and larval density, decreased growth has been recorded at high larval densities and it has been postulated that the decline in growth may be due to stress associated with space availability (Hitzfelder et al., 2006; King et al., 2000). The stress response in fish exposed to identical conditions is species-specific in terms of magnitude, timing and duration (Fanouraki et al., 2011). Appetite reduction or the inability to initiate feeding (King et al., 2000; Wendelaar-Bonga, 1997) has also been associated with high larval densities. Deterioration of water quality associated with the metabolic outputs within the larval culture environment is thought to be a major cause of decreased growth (Baskerville-Bridges and Kling, 2000; King et al., 2000; Roo et al., 2010; Szkudlarek and Zakes, 2007). Due to the short duration of the experiment this factor is unlikely to have played a role in the current study. Despite the proportion of S. lalandi larvae feeding declining with larval density, feeding intensity increased significantly in those larvae that did start feeding. Contrary to reports of feeding inhibition at high larval densities, individual S. lalandi appeared to benefit in terms of prey capture success (Hecht et al., 1996). One explanation may be that at higher densities the larvae interfered with or distracted each other resulting in a smaller number of larvae feeding in a positive feed-back loop. The larvae that were feeding were likely to be the stronger or more capable (faster to learn and succeed at feeding behaviour) and consequently could out-compete the non-feeding larvae. Hence, once the fish had initiated feeding they continued to feed more effectively driven on by the competition or success in prey capture despite the distraction of conspecifics. Large variation in fish size has been recorded in a juvenile S. maximus, associated with high stocking density (Irwin et al., 1999). The authors concluded that high stocking densities of juvenile S. maximus suppressed the growth of some individuals and to achieve fish size homogeneity lower stocking densities were required. High larval density has been shown to improve feeding in snapper, Pagrus *auratus*, although increased larval aggression is associated with high

larval density (Hecht, et al., 1996). The observed divergence in feeding success in *S. lalandi* with increasing larval density may explain why large variations in size are often seen in commercial production of *S. lalandi* during the larval stage, with initial stocking densities ~100 larvae L<sup>-1</sup>. Significant size variation in larval cohorts in *S. lalandi* has been linked to later aggression, cannibalism, and walling associated with jaw malformations (Cobcroft, et al., 2004; Cobcroft and Battaglene, 2009; Cobcroft, 2013).

#### 2.5.3 Mortality

Mortality was three times higher for T. maccoyii in the prey density, and prey size and density experiments compared to S. lalandi. It appeared that the high mortality of T. maccovii larvae was due to the larvae "sticking" on the water surface. Surface mortality (or "floating death") is common in T. thynnus, culture and is thought to occur when larvae are trapped by surface tension (Miyashita, 2002). Yamaoka et al. (2000) suggest that mucus excreted by larval fish may act as glue when larvae are exposed to the water surface. The relatively small size of first-feeding T. maccoyii larvae (3 mm) may result in an inability of the larvae to break free from the surface tension. Surface mortality of other small ( $\leq 3 \text{ mm}$ ) first-feeding marine larvae has often been recorded including, red spotted grouper, Epinephelus akaara (Yamaoka et al., 2000), Japanese flounder, Paralichthys olivaceus (Tagawa et al., 2004), striped bonito, Sarda orientalis (Kaji et al., 2003), and T. orientalis (Sawada et al., 2005). Seriola *lalandi* may have survived better from a combination of being larger and more capable of breaking the surface tension, being less attracted to the water surface or being less likely to possess the proposed physiological mucus response resulting in surface adhesion.

The experiment examining the effect of oil addition on larval mortality revealed that surface mortality of *T. maccoyii* larvae was significantly reduced with the addition of oil. There was no correlation between transfer mortality (observed as surface mortality), and the feeding performance of surviving larvae in the aquaria, indicating that high and variable mortality

among treatments did not affect feeding rates of *T. maccoyii*, and was unlikely to have affected the original feeding experiments.

Mortality was comparable between *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* in the larval density experiment, with *T. maccoyii* experiencing a threefold reduction in mortality compared to the other two *T. maccoyii* feeding experiments. An explanation for the reduced mortality may be that the collection of higher larval numbers in a single collection beaker accumulated more oil from the larviculture source tank and reduced the surface tension in the experiment aquaria. The addition of oil has been used to reduce surface mortality in other marine species (Kaji et al., 2003; Yamaoka et al., 2000) including *T. orientalis* (Ishibashi, 2010).

#### 2.6 Conclusion

Similarities in the early larval feeding capacities of *T. maccoyii* and *S.* lalandi might be expected based on their shared biological attributes, including their small size and fast-growing, oceanic nature. My study showed this was not the case and substantial differences exist between the species around first-feeding. The consistently higher proportion and intensity of *T. maccoyii* larvae feeding compared to *S. lalandi* clearly showed *T. maccoyii* has greater predation capacity which may be a factor of sensory ability or the need to meet higher energy requirements. High initial rotifer density (25 mL<sup>-1</sup>) increased the proportion of feeding in both T. maccovii and S. lalandi larvae. Large rotifers were a suitable sized prev for both species and ingestion of larger prey should increase energy intake. There was no effect of larval density on the feeding response of T. maccoyii suggesting that if water quality can be maintained, early larval rearing at densities up to and possibly above 65 larvae L<sup>-1</sup> may be achievable. The situation for S. lalandi was different and more complicated. Increasing larval density decreased the proportion of larvae feeding but increased the intensity of feeding. The relationship between how many larvae can feed versus the average feed intake is a challenge for larviculturists and possibly explains the large variation in larval size seen at an early stage in S. lalandi commercial production. The smallscale, short duration feeding experiments in my study provided useful feeding response data, although they may not be directly applicable to larval performance in a larviculture tank, and consequently experimental results should be used to select important parameters for testing in longer-term rearing trials.

#### 2.7 Acknowledgements

I thank the staff of Clean Seas Tuna Ltd including Morten Deichmann, Mike Thomson, Adam Miller, Adrian McIntyre, Jamie Crawford, and Miles Wise and all of the technical staff for provision of facilities, eggs and live feeds. Excellent technical assistance was provided by Melanie Evans and Dan Minnucci of IMAS, FACC. I also thank Dr Natalie Moltschaniwskyj, Dr Simon Wotherspoon and Tania Mendo for statistical advice. Experiments were conducted in accordance with University of Tasmania Animal Ethics Committee approval number A0010990. I thank the Australian Seafood CRC for funding the study. The Australian Seafood CRC is established and supported under the Australian Government's Cooperative Research Centres Programme. Other investors in the CRC are the Fisheries Research and Development Corporation, Seafood CRC company members, and supporting participants.

#### 2.8 References

- Amoroso, G., 2011. Morfogenesi degli organi sensoriali in larve e post larve di *Thunnus thynnus* L. 1758 (*Actinopterygii, Perciformes*) da riproduzione controllata. Thesis, (Masters) Universita' Degli Studi Di Roma Tor Vergata, pp 74.
- Baskerville-Bridges, B., Kling, L.J., 2000. Larval culture of Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) at high stocking densities. Aquaculture. 181, 61-69.
- Batty, R.S., Hoyt, R.D., 1995. The role of sense organs in the feeding behaviour of juvenile sole and plaice. Journal of Fish Biology. 47, 931-939.

- Benetti, D.D., Nakada, M., Shotton, S., Poortenaar, C., Tracy, P.L.,
  Hutchinson, W., 2005. Aquaculture of three species of yellowtail
  jacks. In: A. Kelly and J.Silverstein (Eds). Aquaculture in the 21st
  Century. American Fisheries Society, Phoenix, AZ, USA, pp. 491-515.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., 1986. Development of sense-organs and behavior of teleost larvae with special reference to feeding and predator avoidance. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society. 115, 98-114.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., 1987. Structure and development of the lateral line.Biological Reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society. 62, 471-514.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., 1988. Pattern and variety in development. In: W.S. Hoar,D.J. Randall and E.M. Donaldson (Eds). Fish Physiology, Part A.Academic Press, New York, NY, USA, pp. 1-48.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., Jones, M.P., 1967. The development of the retina and retinomotor responses in the herring. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom. 47, 677-697.
- Carton, A.G., 2005. The impact of light intensity and algal-induced turbidity on first-feeding *Seriola lalandi* larvae. Aquaculture Research. 36, 1588-1594.
- Carton, A.G., Vaughan, M.R., 2010. Behavioural and anatomical measures of visual acuity in first-feeding yellowtail kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*) larvae. Environmental Biology of Fishes. 89, 3-10.
- Chen, B.N., Qin, J.G., Kumar, M.S., Hutchinson, W., Clarke, S., 2006. Ontogenetic development of the digestive system in yellowtail kingfish Seriola lalandi larvae. Aquaculture. 256, 489-501.
- Chen, B.N., Qin, J.G., Carragher, J.F., Clarke, S.M., Kumar, M.S., Hutchinson, W.G., 2007. Deleterious effects of food restrictions in yellowtail kingfish *Seriola lalandi* during early development. Aquaculture. 271, 326-335.
- Cobcroft, J.M., 2013. Improving hatchery production of yellowtail kingfish larvae and fingerlings. Australian Seafood Cooperative Research

Centre. Institute for Marine and Antartic Studies, Hobart. Project N°. 2010/ 753, pp. 97.

Cobcroft, J.M., Pankhurst, P.M., 2003. Sensory organ development in cultured striped trumpeter larvae *Latris lineata*: implications for feeding behaviour. Marine and Freshwater Research. 54, 669-682.

- Cobcroft, J.M., Pankhurst, P.M., Hart, P.R., Battaglene, S.C., 2001. The effects of light intensity and algae-induced turbidity on feeding behaviour of larval striped trumpeter. Journal of Fish Biology. 59, 1181-1197.
- Cobcroft, J.M., Battaglene, S.C., 2009. Jaw malformation in striped trumpeter *Latris lineata* larvae linked to walling behaviour and tank colour. Aquaculture. 289, 274-282.
- Cobcroft, J.M., Battaglene, S., Boaventura, M., Chen, B., Deichmann, M., Elizur, A., Fielder, S.D., Hilder, P.I., Hutchinson, W., Knuckey, R., Qin, J.G., Schipp, G., Thomson, M., 2012. Investigating the larval culture requirements of southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii*, for aquaculture in Australia. GCOE Symposium, Kinki University 23-24 November, Kushimoto City, Japan, pp. 43-49.
- Cobcroft, J.M., Pankhurst, P.M., Poortenaar, C., Hickman, B., Tait, M., 2004. Jaw malformation in cultured yellowtail kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*) larvae. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research. 38, 67-71.
- Corner, E.D.S., Davies, A.G., 1971. Plankton as a factor in nitrogen and phosphorus cycles in sea. Advances in Marine Biology. 9, 101-204.
- Cox, E.S., Pankhurst, P.M., 2000. Feeding behaviour of greenback flounder larvae, *Rhombosolea tapirina* (Günther) with differing exposure histories to live prey. Aquaculture. 183, 285-297.
- Davis, T.L.O., Lyne, V., Jenkins, G.P., 1991. Advection, dispersion and mortality of a patch of southern bluefin tuna larvae *Thunnus maccoyii* in the east-Indian Ocean. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 73, 33-45.
- Dou, S., Seikai, T., Tsukamoto, K., 2000. Feeding behaviour of Japanese flounder larvae under laboratory conditions. Journal of Fish Biology. 56, 654-666.

Døving, K.B., Marstol, M., Andersen, J.R., Knutsen, J.A., 1994. Experimental evidence of chemokinesis in newly hatched cod larvae (*Gadus morhua* L.). Marine Biology. 120, 351-358.

- Fanouraki, E., Mylonas, C.C., Papandroulakis, N., Pavlidis, M., 2011. Species specificity in the magnitude and duration of the acute stress response in Mediterranean marine fish in culture. General and Comparative Endocrinology. 173, 313-322.
- Fernald, R.D., 1989. Fish vision. In: B. Finlay and D. Sengelaub (Eds). Development of the vertebrate retina. Plenum Press, New York and London, pp. 247-265.
- Fukuda, H., Torisawa, S., Sawada, Y., Takagi, T., 2010. Developmental changes in behavioral and retinomotor responses of Pacific bluefin tuna on exposure to sudden changes in illumination. Aquaculture. 305, 73-78.
- Graham, D.M., Sprules, W.G., 1992. Size and species selection of zooplankton by larval and juvenile walleye (*Stizostedion vitreum vitreum*) in Oneida Lake, New York. Canadian Journal of Zoology: 70(10):2059-2067.
- Hecht, T., Battaglene, S., Talbot, B., 1996. Effect of larval density and food availability on the behaviour of pre-metamorphosis snapper, *Pagrus auratus* (Sparidae). Marine and Freshwater Research. 47, 223-231.
- Hilton, Z., Poortenaar, C.W., Sewell, M.A., 2008. Lipid and protein utilisation during early development of yellowtail kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*). Marine Biology. 154, 855-865.
- Hitzfelder, G.M., Holt, G.J., Fox, J.M., McKee, D.A., 2006. The effect of rearing density on growth and survival of cobia, *Rachycentron canadum*, larvae in a closed recirculating aquaculture system. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society. 37, 204-209.
- Houde, E.D., 1975. Effects of stocking density and food density on survival, growth and yeild of laboratory-reared larvae of sea bream *Archosargus rhomboidalis* (L.) (Sparidae). Journal of Fish Biology. 7, 115-127.

- Houde, E.D., 1978. Critical food concentrations for larvae of 3 species of sub-tropical marine fishes. Bulletin of Marine Science. 28, 395-411.
- Houde, E.D., Schekter, R.C., 1980. Feeding by marine fish larvae developmental and functional responses. Environmental Biology of Fishes. 5, 315-334.
- Hunter, J.R., 1980. The feeding behavior and ecology of marine fish larvae. In: J.E. Barach, J. J. Magnuson, R.C. May and J.M.
  Reinhard (Eds). Fish behavior and its use in capture and culture of fishes. ICLARM Conference Proceedings 5, International Center for Living Aquatic Resources Management, Manila, Philipines, pp. 287-330.
- Irwin, S., O'Halloran, J., FitzGerald, R.D., 1999. Stocking density, growth and growth variation in juvenile turbot, *Scophthalmus maximus* (Rafinesque). Aquaculture. 178, 77-88.
- Ishibashi, Y., 2010. Seedling production of Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis* at Kinki University. Proceedings of the Joint International Symposium of Kinki University and Setouchi Town on the 40th Anniversary of Pacific bluefin tuna aquaculture. Kinki University Press, pp 71-78.
- Ishibashi, Y., Honryo, T., Saida, K., Hagiwara, A., Miyashita, S., Sawada, Y., Okada, T., Kurata, M., 2009. Artificial lighting prevents high night-time mortality of juvenile Pacific bluefin tuna, *Thunnus orientalis*, caused by poor scotopic vision. Aquaculture. 293, 157-163.
- Job, S.D., Bellwood, D.R., 2000. Light sensitivity in larval fishes: Implications for vertical zonation in the pelagic zone. Limnology and Oceanography. 45, 362-371.
- Johannes, R.E., Webb, K.L., 1965. Release of dissolved amino acids by marine zooplankton. Science. 150, 76-77.
- Johns, P.R., Easter, S.S., 1977. Growth of the adult goldfish eye. 2. Increase in retinal cell number. Journal of Comparative Neurology. 176, 331-341.
- Kaji, T., Tanaka, M., Takahashi, Y., Oka, M., Ishibashi, N., 1996. Preliminary observations on development of Pacific bluefin tuna

*Thunnus thynnus* (Scombridae) larvae reared in the laboratory, with special reference to the digestive system. Marine and Freshwater Research. 47, 261-269.

- Kaji, T., Kodama, M., Arai, H., Tanaka, M., Tagawa, M., 2003. Prevention of surface death of marine fish larvae by the addition of egg white into rearing water. Aquaculture. 224, 313-322.
- Kawamura, G., Nishimura, W., Ueda, S., Nishi, T., 1981. Colour-vision and spectral sensitivity in tunas and marlins. Bulletin of the Japanese Society of Scientific Fisheries. 47, 481-485.
- Kawamura, G., Masuma, S., Tezuka, N., Koiso, M., Jinbo, T., Namba, K., 2003. Morphogenesis of sense organs in the bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis*. In: H.I. Browman and A.B. Skiftesvik, A.B. (Eds). 36th Annual larval conference, Bergen, Norway, pp. 123-135.
- King, N.J., Howell, W.H., Huber, M., Bengtson, D.A., 2000. Effects of larval stocking density on laboratory-scale and commercial-scale production of summer flounder *Paralichthys dentatus*. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society. 31, 436-445.
- Kjørsvik, E., Pittman, K., Pavlov, D., 2004. From fetilisation to the end of metamorphosis-functional development. In: E. Moksness, E.
  Kjørsvik and Y. Olsen (Eds). Culture of cold-water marine fish.
  Blackwell publishing, Oxford, UK, pp 204 277.
- Knutsen, J.A., 1992. Feeding behavior of the North Sea turbot (Scophthalums maximus) and dover sole (Solea solea) larvae elicted by chemical stimuli. Marine Biology. 113, 543-548.
- Kolkovski, S., Sakakura, Y., 2004. Yellowtail kingfish, from larvae to mature fish — problems and opportunities. In: L.E. Cruz Suárez, D. Ricque Marie, M.G. Nieto López, D. Villareal, U. Scholz,M.
  González (Eds). Avances en Nutrición AcuicolaVII. Memorias del VII Simposium Internacional de Nutrición Acuicola, 16–19 Noviembre, 2004, Hermosillo, Sonora, México, pp. 109–125.
- Ma, Z., Qin, J.G., 2012. Replacement of fresh algae with commercial formulas to enrich rotifers in larval rearing of yellowtail kingfish *Seriola lalandi* (Valenciennes, 1833). Aquaculture Research. 43,1-12.

- Margulies, D., 1997. Development of the visual system and inferred performance capabilities of larval and early juvenile scombrids. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. 30, 75-98.
- Matsumoto, T., Ihara, H., Ishida, Y., Okada, T., Kurata, M., Sawada, Y.,
  Ishibashi, Y., 2009. Electroretinographic analysis of night vision in juvenile Pacific bluefin tuna (*Thunnus orientalis*). Biological Bulletin. 217, 142-150.
- May, R.C., 1974. Larval mortality in marine fishes and the critical period concept. In: J. H.S Blaxter (Ed.).The early life history of fishes, Springer Verlag, Berlin, pp. 3-20.
- Miyashita, S., 2002. Studies on the seedling production of the Pacific bluefin tuna, *Thunnus thynnus orientalis*. Bulletin of Fisheries Laboratory, Kinki University, 8, 1-171.
- Mukai, Y., Yoshikawa, H., Kobayashi, H., 1994. The relationship between the length of the cupulae of free neuuromasts and feeding ability in larvae of the willow shiner *Gnathopogon elongatus caerulescens* (Teleostei, Cyprinidae). Journal of Experimental Biology. 197, 399-403.
- Moran, D., Smith, C.K., Lee, P.S., Pether, S.J., 2011. Mortality structures population size characteristics of juvenile yellowtail kingfish *Seriola lalandi* reared at different densities. Aquatic Biology. 11, 229-238.
- Nakabo, T., 1993. Fishes of Japan with pictorial keys to the species. Tokai University Press, Tokyo, pp. 1474.
- Nakada, M., 2000. Yellowtail and related species culture. In: R.R. Stickney (Ed.). 2000. Encyclopedia of aquaculture. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, NY, pp. 1007-1036.
- Olsen, Y., Van der Meeren, T., Reitan, K.I., 2004. First feeding technology. In: E. Moksness, E. KjØrsvik and Y. Olsen (Eds).
  Culture of cold-water marine fish. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford, UK pp 279-336.
- Pankhurst, P.M., Hilder, P.E., 1998. Effect of light intensity on feeding of striped trumpeter *Latris lineata* larvae. Marine and Freshwater Research. 49, 363-368.

- Pankhurst, P.M., Pankhurst, N.W., Montogomery, J.C., 1993. comparison of behavioural and morphological measures of visual acuity in a teleost fish, *Forsterygion varium*, Tripterygiidae (Forster, 1801).
   Brain Behaviour and Evolution. 42, 178-188.
- Poortenaar, C., Hooker, S., Sharp, N., 2000. Kingfish aquaculture research in New Zealand. Austasia Aquaculture Dec. 1999/Jan. 2000, pp. 45-46.
- Puvanendran, V., Salies, K., Laurel, B., Brown, J.A., 2004. Sizedependent foraging of larval Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*).Canadian Journal of Zoology. 82, 1380-1389.
- Robert, D., Castonguay, M., Fortier, L., 2009. Effects of preferred prey density and temperature on feeding success and recent growth in larval mackerel of the southern Gulf of St. Lawrence. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 377, 227-237.
- Roo, J., Hernandez-Cruz, C.M., Borrero, C., Schuchardt, D., Fernandez-Palacios, H., 2010. Effect of larval density and feeding sequence on meagre (*Argyrosomus regius*; Asso, 1801) larval rearing.
   Aquaculture. 302, 82-88.
- Salgado, S.D., Hoyt, R.D., 1996. Early behavior formation in fathead minnow larvae, *Pimephales promelas*: Implications for sensory function. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. 28, 91-106.
- Sawada, Y., Okada, T., Miyashita, S., Murata, O., Kumai, H., 2005. Completion of the Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis* (Temminck et Schlegel) life cycle. Aquaculture Research. 36, 413-421.
- Seljeset, O., Vollset, K.W., Folkvord, A., Geffen, A.J., 2010. The role of prey concentration and size range in the growth and survival of larval cod. Marine Biology Research. 6, 251-262.
- Shaw, G.W., 2006. Feeding behaviour of greenback flounder and striped trumpeter larvae in green water culture. Thesis, (PhD) University of Tasmania, pp. 209.

- Shaw, G.W., Pankhurst, P.M., Purser, G.J., 2003. Prey selection by greenback flounder *Rhombosolea tapirina* (Günther) larvae. Aquaculture. 228, 249-265.
- Shoji, J., Tanaka, M., 2004. Effect of prey concentration on growth of piscivorous Japanese Spanish mackerel Scomberomorus niphonius larvae in the Seto Inland Sea, Japan. Journal of Applied Ichthyology. 20, 271-275.
- Slembrouck, J., Baras, E., Subagja, J., Hung, L.T., Legendre, M., 2009. Survival, growth and food conversion of cultured larvae of *Pangasianodon hypophthalmus*, depending on feeding level, prey density and fish density. Aquaculture. 294, 52-59.
- Szkudlarek, M., Zakes, Z., 2007. Effect of stocking density on survival and growth performance of pikeperch, *Sander lucioperca* (L.), larvae under controlled conditions. Aquaculture International. 15, 67-81.
- Tagawa, M., Kaji, T., Kinoshita, M., Tanaka, M., 2004. Effect of stocking density and addition of proteins on larval survival in Japanese flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus*. Aquaculture. 230, 517-525.
- Temple, S., Cerqueira, V.R., Brown, J.A., 2004. The effects of lowering prey density on the growth, survival and foraging behaviour of larval fat snook (*Centropomus parallelus*, Poey 1860). Aquaculture. 233, 205-217.
- Thomson, M., Deichmann, M., Czypionka, K., Czypionka, A., Crawford, J., Miller, A., Hutchinson, W., Chen, B.N., 2010. Recent developments in southern bluefin tuna larval and juvenile rearing. Proceedings of the Joint International Symposium of Kinki University and Setouchi Town on the 40th Anniversary of Pacific bluefin tuna aquaculture. Kinki University Press, pp. 53-58.
- von Herbing, I.H., Gallager, S.M., Halteman, W., 2001. Metabolic costs of pursuit and attack in early larval Atlantic cod. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 216, 201-212.
- Wendelaar-Bonga, S.E., 1997. The stress response in fish. Physiological Reviews 77, 591-625.
- Wexler, J.B., Margulies, D., Scholey, V.P., 2011. Temperature and dissolved oxygen requirements for survival of yellowfin tuna,

*Thunnus albacares*, larvae. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology. 404, 63-72.

- Woolley, L.D., Fielder, S.D., Qin, J.G., 2012. Swimbladder inflation, growth and survival of yellowtail kingfish *Seriola lalandi* (Valenciennes, 1833) larvae under different temperature, light and oxygen conditions. Aquaculture Research. DOI: 10.1111/are.12097.
- Woolley, L.D., Qin, J.G., Thomson, M., Czypionka, A., 2009. Hatching success and early larval developments of southern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus maccoyii*). The 2nd global COE program symposium of Kinki University, 2009. "Sustainable aquaculture of the bluefin and yellowfin tuna Closing the life cycle for commercial production" Proceedings, pp. 88-92.
- Yamaoka, K., Nanbu, T., Miyagawa, M., Isshiki, T., Kusaka, A., 2000. Water surface tension-related deaths in prelarval red-spotted grouper. Aquaculture. 189, 165-176.

Chapter 3. The first-feeding responses of southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii*, and yellowtail kingfish, *Seriola lalandi*, indicate different environmental requirements in culture

#### 3.1 Abstract

Southern bluefin tuna, Thunnus maccoyii, and yellowtail kingfish, Seriola lalandi, both have pelagic larvae, which inhabit different nutrient zones (oligotrophic and eutrophic, respectively). This study examined their visual capacity under laboratory manipulation of abiotic factors. First-feeding larvae were challenged via short-duration (4 h) feeding experiments against light intensity, turbidity, tank colour and turbulence. Visual capacity was defined by feeding performance measured as proportion and intensity of feeding. Thunnus maccoyii feeding performance was unaffected by light intensity (0.4 to 26.2  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>), tank colour and turbulence (below the lethal limit). Feeding performance was significantly higher in clear water than turbid water, and increased turbidity > 25 nephelometric turbidity units reduced feeding. In contrast, S. lalandi did not possess the same feeding ability across a broad range of abiotic factors, indicating a narrower "environmental window" for feeding success. Increasing light intensity (0.1  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> to 30.0  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>) improved the proportion of larvae feeding. Seriola lalandi feeding intensity was significantly higher in dark blue tanks compared to green tanks and the proportion feeding higher in pink or tan tanks. Turbulence also affected feeding performance, which was significantly higher in low turbulence. Under laboratory conditions T. maccoyii were more efficient predators (two to three times greater), possibly reflecting a greater visual/predatory efficiency and high metabolic requirement.

#### 3.2. Introduction

First-feeding is a critical window in the development of marine finfish larvae and is often associated with high mortality (May, 1974). The ability to detect, capture and ingest sufficient prey is crucial in making the successful transition from endogenous to exogenous feeding. The consequence of the failure to feed is mortality due to starvation (Hjort, 1914; May, 1974). Progeny of broadcast spawners typically possess limited visual ability at the time of first-feeding, with improving acuity and sensitivity concurrent with growth (Blaxter, 1986). As most fish larvae are visual feeders and require light to feed, prey detection is reliant upon the ability of the eye to collect sufficient light to form a focused image for analysis (Fernald, 1989). Consequently, the visual environment can have a significant impact on the feeding ability of first-feeding larvae (Blaxter and Jones, 1967). The marine environment has many habitats that display great optical variability. Within relatively small spatial zones, increasing depth profiles can affect a number of factors including light intensity, spectral quality, concentration of primary productivity and the speed of currents (Costello, 2009; Jerlov, 1976). Optical differences are also seen in larger spatial zones. Oligotrophic zones are characterised by the low attenuation of light due to low particulate loads whereas eutrophic zones with high particulate load exhibit rapid scatter and absorption of light (Job and Shand, 2001). Larval fish inhabit a niche within these localised environments best suited to their physiological requirements (Davis et al., 1990; Job and Bellwood, 2000).

First-feeding ability in marine fish larvae is known to vary among species with environmental variables such as light intensity, turbidity, background colour and turbulence significantly affecting the feeding response (Kimura et al., 2004; Martin-Robichaud and Peterson, 1998; Pankhurst and Hilder, 1998; Stuart and Drawbridge, 2011). Under laboratory conditions the manipulation of abiotic factors can potentially optimise visual conditions for prey detection and prey capture in larval fishes.

The southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii*, aquaculture industry is currently based on fattening wild-caught juveniles but is constrained by quotas (CCSBT, 2011). The first successful spawning of captive *T. maccoyii* broodstock occurred in 2008 (Thomson et al., 2010). Early-rearing trials identified significant larval mortality from first-feeding to 14 days post-hatching (dph). In comparison, while yellowtail, *Seriola quinqueradiata*, culture is also based mainly on the on-growing of wild-caught juveniles (Nakabo, 1993; Nakada, 2008), established larviculture protocols for the yellowtail kingfish, *Seriola lalandi*, have been developed in Japan, Australia and New Zealand (Benetti et al., 2005; Kolkovski and Sakakura, 2004; Poortenaar et al., 2000). However, the production of high quality *S. lalandi* juveniles is still significantly affected by poor swimbladder inflation success and high deformity rates (Kolkovski and Sakakura, 2004; Woolley et al., 2012).

Both *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* larvae appear similar; they are the progeny of broadcast spawners, have oceanic planktonic larval stages, display similar larval morphology, grow quickly and are highly cannibalistic (Kolkovski and Sakakura, 2004; Thomson et al., 2010). While there is limited information available about larvae in the wild, it would appear that *T. maccoyii and S. lalandi* may occupy different ecological niches. *Thunnus maccoyii* larvae are found in oligotrophic waters of the northeastern Indian Ocean, south of Java, characterised by poor or patchy prey distribution (Davis et al., 1990; Jenkins et al., 1991; Young and Davis, 1990). While *S. lalandi* larvae have been reported to occur in surface coastal waters off New South Wales, Australia (Smith, 1987) and in near shore waters ranging to 320 km offshore, in California, USA, (Stuart and Drawbridge, 2012; Sumida et al., 1985) possibly indicating a larval life associated with prey-rich surface eutrophic conditions which are typical of coastal waters.

My study challenged *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* larvae, making the transition from endogenous to exogenous feeding, to feed under varying light intensity, turbidity, background colour and turbulence treatments. Experiments were designed to expose larvae to a broad range of

conditions, within each abiotic factor, in order to determine differences in visual capacity and identify criteria which promote early-feeding success. This information is of value in highlighting areas most requiring further investigation and designing future long-term larval rearing experiments in order to improve the larviculture of both species.

#### 3.3. Materials and methods

#### 3.3.1 Embryo supply and rearing

*Thunnus maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* embryos were provided by Clean Seas Tuna Ltd, Arno Bay, South Australia. *Thunnus maccoyii* have a relatively short-spawning season, which resulted in limited embryo availability. For this reason *T. maccoyii* experiments were conducted in 2010. *Seriola lalandi* experiments were conducted in 2011. Embryos were collected from four spawning events in February 2010 for *T. maccoyii* (> 70% fertilisation) and from four spawning events in February and March 2011 for *S. lalandi* (> 80% fertilisation). Embryo rearing protocols were similar to those reported in Chapter 2 for *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi*. In brief, each cohort of embryos (eight in total) was reared in individual 2500 L fibreglass cylindro-conical tanks. Culture parameters and water quality followed those reported in Chapter 2, Table 1.

*Thunnus maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* larval rearing protocols differed slightly due to logistical and resource constraints, this included tank base colour (green or white) and turbulence source (air generated vs. water generated). Although as larvae did not have functional eyes while in these tanks until the morning of the experiment (where they were kept in relative darkness until the commencement of the experiment), it is highly unlikely that these differences affected the larvae in any way. As seen in Chapter 2, *S. lalandi* larvae were fed live prey at 2 dph in the larviculture source tank.

# 3.3.2 Stocking of experimental system and experimental protocol

Approximately 30 first-feeding larvae (3 dph) (Fig. 1) were siphoned from the larviculture source tank into a 250 mL collection vessel, transferred into the 3 L aquaria and then positioned in the experimental system, as described in Chapter 2. The experimental system comprised 24 individual 3 L hemispherical, plastic aquaria with black surfaces (except in the tank colour experiment). The 3 L aquaria were randomly allocated to six treatments with four replicate test aquaria, except for the turbulence feeding experiment, which consisted of four treatments and six replicates. A single fluorescent tube (NEC tri-phosphor 18 watt, FL20SSBR/ 18-HG, T8) suspended above each treatment, provided a light intensity of 30 ± 2 µmol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> (n = 6, mean ± standard deviation here and throughout), which was modified for the light intensity experiments. This reading was measured with a Li-Cor LI-250 light meter with an underwater flat quantum sensor LI-1925A calibrated to air. The 3 L test aquaria were left static with no aeration or water flow.





The larvae were added to each aquarium and allowed 30 minutes to acclimate with the lights on. The experiment commenced with the addition of rotifers at a density of 2 mL<sup>-1</sup> to the aquaria. Rotifers were added to one aquarium at a time with a 3 minute interval between each addition. This

allowed a 3 minute window to sample each tank at the end of the experiment, so that each tank had a precise four hour feeding period.

At the completion of the experiment, larvae were euthanised and assessed for feeding response by microscopic examination of a larval "squash". The feeding response and mortality was recorded for each treatment as the mean  $\pm$  sd and determined from the following equations:

The proportion (%) of larvae feeding from the equation:

Proportion feeding = feeding larvae / live larvae x 100

Feeding intensity was expressed as rotifers larva<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup> and calculated as:

Feeding intensity = rotifers ingested per feeding larva / 240 min

Where 240 min represents the experiment feeding time.

The mortality (%) was calculated from:

Mortality = dead larvae / total number of larvae x 100

On the day of the experiment, the standard lengths (taken from the tip of the upper jaw to the end of the notochord) and eye diameters (measured dorso-ventrally) were recorded for both species (n = 20). The relative eye size was determined from the following equation:

Relative eye size % = eye diameter / standard length x 100

#### 3.3.2.1 Light intensity and first-feeding

Under clear-water conditions, *T. maccoyii* were tested at 0.0, 0.4, 1.6, 4.5, 9.9 and 26.2 µmol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> and *S lalandi* were tested at 0.0, 0.1, 4.0, 10.0, 30.0 and 110.0 µmol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>. The difference in the highest light intensity tested between the species (i.e., 26.2 µmol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> for *T. maccoyii* and 110.0 µmol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> for *S. lalandi*) was a result of the maximum light intensity achievable in the experimental system for each species in the given year. Variations in light intensity were achieved by covering aquaria with shade-cloth and/or altering the distance of the aquaria from the light

source (no change in water temperature was observed). The treatment receiving 0.0  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> was surrounded by black plastic sheeting to eliminate all light, while the treatments receiving 26.2  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> and 110.0  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> were left uncovered. The addition of shade-cloth did not alter the spectral range of the light source (Cobcroft et al., 2001).

# 3.3.2.2 Turbidity and first-feeding

Turbidity of 0, 1, 2, 8, 25 and 50 nephelometric turbidity units (NTU) was used for *T. maccoyii* and 0, 1, 3, 9, 24 and 56 NTU for *S. lalandi*. The estimated equivalent cell density was approximately 0,  $1.9 \times 10^{6}$ ,  $3.8 \times 10^{6}$ ,  $12.4 \times 10^{6}$ ,  $32.2 \times 10^{6}$  and  $62.5 \times 10^{6}$ , respectively. The desired level of turbidity was achieved by the addition of a microalgal paste Nanno  $3600^{\text{@}}$ , Reed Mariculture, California (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. Photograph of turbidity levels used in turbidity and first-feeding experiments.

# 3.3.2.3 Tank colour and first-feeding

Six different tank colours were tested; pink, green, light blue, dark blue, tan and black (Fig. 3) (described by RGB colour separation model, Red: Blue: Green: pink (255:153:153), green (0:255:128), Light blue (0:128:255), dark blue (0:51:102) tan (255:178:102), and black (0:0:0).



Figure 3. Photograph of tank colours used in tank colour and first-feeding experiments.

# 3.3.2.4 Turbulence and first-feeding

Turbulence was induced by the addition of air via an airline attached to a pipette positioned at the centre of the base of the aquaria. Turbulence for *T. maccoyii* was tested at air flow levels of nil, low (19 mL min<sup>-1</sup>), medium (112 mL min<sup>-1</sup>) and high (396 mL min<sup>-1</sup>), and nil, low (19 mL min<sup>-1</sup>), medium (116 mL min<sup>-1</sup>) and high (425 mL min<sup>-1</sup>) for *S. lalandi*.

# 3.3.3 Statistics

Statistical analyses were conducted using the statistics package SPSS (SPSS statistics 19, IBM). The proportion feeding and mortality data was analysed by chi-square. Standardised residuals  $\geq 2$  and  $\leq -2$  identified significant categories in which there were more or less observed responses than expected. Intensity of feeding was analysed by one-way ANOVA. Data were evaluated for homogeneity of variance with the use of Levene's test. Tukey's post hoc test was used to describe differences between means when the ANOVA was significant. All data were presented as mean + standard deviation (four replicates per treatment unless otherwise stated). Graphs were depicted as proportion (%) to provide easy interpretation and statistical significance was accepted at P  $\leq$  0.05.

#### 3.4 Results

#### 3.4.1 Larval standard length and size

At 3 dph, the relative eye size of *T. maccoyii* was 7.6%; the larval standard length was  $3.14 \pm 0.05$  mm and the eye diameter was  $0.240 \pm 0.010$  mm. While for *S. lalandi* the relative eye size was 7.5 %, the average larval standard length was  $4.58 \pm 0.09$  mm and the eye diameter was  $0.345 \pm 0.003$  mm. No significant difference in standard length was observed within *T. maccoyii* cohorts (F <sub>4, 95</sub> = 0.367, P = 0.832) or *S. lalandi* cohorts (F <sub>4, 95</sub> = 2.371, P = 0.067).

#### 3.4.2 Feeding experiments

#### 3.4.2.1 Light intensity

*Thunnus maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* were visual feeders and no feeding occurred in the dark (Fig. 4).



Figure 4. First-feeding response of fish larvae at different light intensities in clear-water in *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT) (A) the proportion of larvae feeding, (B) intensity of feeding, and in *Seriola lalandi* (YTK) (C) the proportion of larvae feeding, (D) intensity of feeding. The arrows indicate treatments in which there were significantly more ( $\uparrow$ ) or less ( $\downarrow$ ) larvae feeding than expected (chi-square; P ≤ 0.05). Mean + sd, n = 4.

The proportion of *T. maccoyii* feeding was not affected by the five light intensity levels tested ( $\chi^2 = 2.124$ , df 4, P = 0.713) (Fig. 4A). In contrast, *S. lalandi* showed a significantly increased proportion of larvae feeding with increasing light intensity, where the lower light intensities had significantly less feeding responses than the higher light intensities ( $\chi^2 = 27.234$ , df 4, P < 0.001) (Fig. 4C).

Feeding intensity in *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* was not significantly different across the range of intensities tested (F<sub>4, 15</sub> = 0.768, P = 0.563 and F<sub>4, 15</sub> = 1.705, P = 0.201, respectively) (Figs 4B and 4D). Overall the number of *T. maccoyii* feeding was three times higher than *S. lalandi*.

#### 3.4.2.2 Turbidity

The proportion of *T. maccoyii* larvae feeding was dependent upon turbidity level ( $\chi^2 = 44.338$ , df 5, P < 0.001) (Fig. 5A). The highest proportion of larvae feeding occurred in the lowest turbidity treatments (0 to 2 NTU) with increasing turbidity resulting in a decreased proportion of larvae feeding.



Figure 5. First-feeding response of fish larvae, with  $30 \pm 3 \mu \text{mol s}^{-1} \text{ m}^{-2}$  light intensity, at different turbidity levels in *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT) (A) the proportion of larvae feeding, (B) intensity of feeding, and in *Seriola lalandi*, (YTK) (C) the proportion of larvae feeding, (D) intensity of feeding. The arrow ( $\downarrow$ ) indicates treatments in which there were significantly less larvae feeding than expected (chi-square; P ≤ 0.05). Means sharing a common letter are not significantly different. Mean + sd, n = 4.

The highest turbidity level (50 NTU) had a significantly lower proportion of larvae feeding. *Seriola lalandi* showed no significant difference in the proportion of larvae feeding at any turbidity level ( $\chi^2 = 10.966$ , df 5, P = 0.052) (Fig. 5C).

Feeding intensity of *T. maccoyii* (Fig. 5B) decreased as turbidity increased above 2 NTU (F <sub>5, 18</sub> = 6.984, P = 0.001), whereas the feeding intensity of *S. lalandi* was not significantly different at any turbidity level (F <sub>5, 18</sub> = 0.556, P = 0.732) (Fig. 5D). Overall the proportion of *T. maccoyii* feeding was three times higher than *S. lalandi*.

### 3.4.2.3 Tank colour

Tank colour had no significant effect on the proportion of *T. maccoyii* larvae feeding ( $\chi^2$  = 9.250, df 5, P = 0.100) (Fig. 6A) but had a significant effect on the proportion of *S. lalandi* larvae feeding ( $\chi^2$  = 38.877, df 5, P < 0.001) (Fig. 6C). A significantly greater proportion of *S. lalandi* larvae were observed feeding in pink and tan tanks compared to black tanks.



Figure 6. First-feeding response of fish larvae in six different tank colours in *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT), (A) the proportion larvae feeding, (B) intensity of feeding, and in *Seriola lalandi* (YTK) (C) the proportion of larvae feeding, (D) intensity of feeding. The arrows indicates treatments in which there were significantly less ( $\downarrow$ ) or more ( $\uparrow$ ) larvae feeding than expected (chi-square; P ≤ 0.05). Means sharing a common letter are not significantly different. Mean + sd, n = 4.

Feeding intensity of *T. maccoyii* was unaffected by tank colour (F <sub>5, 18</sub> = 0.678, P = 0.645) (Fig. 6B) but was significantly different for *S. lalandi* with green tanks producing the lowest feeding intensity and dark blue tanks. producing the highest feeding intensity (F <sub>5, 18</sub>, 3.116, P = 0.034) (Fig. 6D). In this experiment, the proportion feeding and intensity of feeding of *T. maccoyii* was approximately two times higher than *S. lalandi*.

## 3.4.2.4 Turbulence

*Thunnus maccoyii* fed in all turbulence treatments (below the lethal limit) with a similar proportion of larvae feeding at the each tested level ( $\chi^2$  = 1.632, df 2, P = 0.442) (Fig. 7A). In contrast, *S. lalandi* had a significantly higher proportion of larvae feeding in the no air or low air treatments with the highest turbulence treatment producing a significantly lower feeding response ( $\chi^2$  = 25.605, df 3, P < 0.001) (Fig. 7C).



Figure 7. First-feeding response of fish larvae in different turbulence treatments in *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT), (A) the proportion of larvae feeding, (B) intensity of feeding, and in *Seriola lalandi* (YTK) (C) the proportion of larvae feeding, (D) intensity of feeding. The arrow indicates treatments in which there were significantly less ( $\downarrow$ ) or more ( $\uparrow$ ) larvae feeding than expected (chi-square; P ≤ 0.05). Means sharing a common letter are not significantly different. Mean + sd, n = 6.

Feeding intensity was unaffected by turbulence in *T. maccoyii* (F  $_{2,7}$  = 0.160, P = 0.855) (below the lethal limit, Fig. 7B), whereas increasing turbulence (medium and high levels) significantly decreased the feeding
intensity of *S. lalandi* compared to the low turbulence level (F  $_{3, 20} = 8.311$ , P = 0.001) (Fig. 7D). Overall, the proportion feeding was approximately three times higher for *T. maccoyii* than *S. lalandi*, and feeding intensity was four and five times higher for *T. maccoyii*.

#### 3.4.3 Larval mortality

Larval mortality was consistently higher for T. maccoyii across all experiments (44.0 ± 24.7%, n = 3) than S. lalandi (21.6 ± 12.2%, n = 4). Mortality in T. maccovii could be classified as immediate (mortality observed immediately after transfer), or treatment induced (mortality due to a treatment effect). Thunnus maccoyii mortality was commonly observed as dead larvae on the water surface, whereas S. lalandi mortality was not observed on the surface and was only evident by microscopic examination at the completion of the experiment. Significant differences in mortality among treatments were observed for both T. maccoyii and S. lalandi. The highest light intensity produced significantly higher mortality in *T. maccoyii* compared to the remaining five treatment levels ( $\chi^2$  = 11.576, df 5, P = 0.041) (53 %). In contrast, light intensity had no significant effect on mortality in *S. lalandi* ( $\chi^2$  = 2.802, df 5, P = 0.730). Strong, air-induced turbulence significantly increased mortality for both T. maccovii and S. lalandi. Mortality of T. maccovii steadily increased from 12% at low turbulence to 83% in the highest turbulence treatment (the highest turbulence treatment was determined as the lethal limit in T. *maccoyii* and not included in analyses of feeding) ( $\chi^2 = 74.921$ , df 3, P < 0.001). In comparison, mortality in S. lalandi ranged between 0 and 43%, with significant mortality observed in the medium and high turbulence treatments ( $\chi^2$  = 32.519, df 3, P < 0.001). No significant effect of mortality was observed in *T. maccoyii* or *S. lalandi* for tank colour ( $\chi^2 = 4.190$ , df 5, P = 0.522 and  $\chi^2$  = 3.828, df 5, P = 0.574, respectively) or turbidity ( $\chi^2$  = 4.371, df 5, P = 0.497 and  $\chi^2$  = 2.902, df 5, P = 0.715, respectively).

#### 3.5. Discussion

#### 3.5.1 First-feeding experiments

My study showed that T. maccoyii and S. lalandi can feed over a broad range of abiotic factors. Both species had pigmented eyes and had consumed their yolk reserves by 3 dph, although the oil droplet was still visible, indicating the need to initiate feeding (Chen et al., 2006; Woolley et al., 2009). However, the feeding response of S. lalandi showed greater limitations both in terms of the proportion and intensity of feeding and the number of variables that were conducive to feeding, indicating a narrower environmental window for first-feeding success. The ability of T. maccoyii to feed over a broad range of abiotic conditions, in addition to a greater overall feeding success (two to three time higher) indicate a proficiency and need to actively engage quickly in first-feeding. A low first-feeding incidence in S. lalandi has been reported in previous studies (Carton, 2005: Stuart and Drawbridge, 2011) and the low prey density (2 rotifers mL<sup>-1</sup>) selected for the feeding experiments in my study, had the potential to contribute to the low observed feeding response. However, the use of higher prey densities tested in my study (Chapter 2, 25 rotifers mL<sup>-1</sup>), by Carton (2005) (6 rotifers mL<sup>-1</sup>) and Stuart and Drawbridge (2011) (30 rotifers mL<sup>-1</sup>) also revealed a poor feeding response supporting the argument that S. lalandi were not food limited in my experiment and did not show the same proficiency to commence feeding as T. maccoyii. Given the proven ability of *T. maccoyii* to initiate successful first-feeding, across a broad range on conditions, this would indicate that the high mortality observed during the first two weeks of commercial culture is not a failure by a high percentage of the population to initiate feeding, but more likely, attributed to environmental conditions and/or nutritional profiles of the offered prey items.

The difference in feeding ability between *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* is unlikely to be due to an increased swimming ability in *T. maccoyii*, as in general, first-feeding larvae have limited locomotory ability and the smaller *T. maccoyii* would be expected to be poorer swimmers than the larger *S*.

lalandi larvae. A possible explanation for the observed difference in feeding may be adaptation of the small T. maccoyii for survival in a tropical oligotrophic environment typified by low or patchy prey availability. The amount of time larvae can go without food is dependent on their metabolic rate and the quantity of energy stored in the larval tissues (Fuiman, 2002). Smaller larvae have less energy reserves and a higher weight-specific metabolic energy requirement than larger larvae, and must therefore rapidly commence exogenous feeding in order to avoid starvation. A higher metabolism in *T. maccoyii* due to warmer water temperature, with increased yolk utilization, would also shorten the available "feeding window" prior to mortality due to starvation. The problem however, is that growth efficiency does not increase with higher temperatures, so larvae require increased prey consumption (Houde, 1989) which is challenging in oligotrophic waters. As such, starvation is more probable for first-feeding, small larvae in tropical waters. In contrast, S. lalandi larvae occur in slightly cooler water, where larger endogenous reserves may reduce the urgency to successfully initiate first-feeding. It is therefore likely that the greater predatory ability displayed by T. maccoyii compared to S. lalandi is a larval adaptation to meet their high energetic demands.

A limitation associated with short-term larval feeding experiments is transfer stress and the commencement of feeding in a novel environment. It is possible that *S. lalandi* were disadvantaged in short-term experiments because they may have required a longer acclimation period. *Thunnus maccoyii* may be more "hard-wired" to feed instantly in order to meet their energetic demands.

## 3.5.1.1 Light intensity and first-feeding

A major difference between the two species was the ability of *T. maccoyii* to feed equally well across all light intensities indicating greater photopic sensitivity than *S. lalandi.* The ability to feed well across a range of light intensities is uncommon among first-feeding marine finfish larvae. In general, fish larvae show increased feeding performance with increasing

light intensity (Blaxter, 1968; Carton, 2005; Cobcroft et al., 2001; Job and Bellwood, 2000; Pankhurst and Hilder, 1998). The larval eye in the majority of fish species is limited, by size constraints, to a pure cone retina (Blaxter and Staines, 1970; Cobcroft and Pankhurst, 2003; Fernald, 1989; Kotrschal et al., 1990; Margulies, 1997). This limits feeding to conditions of relatively high light intensities (photopic vision), as increased visual sensitivity to conditions of very low light (scotopic sensitivity) is associated with twin cones (Pankhurst and Butler, 1996) and rods which develop later (Kotrschal et al., 1990). In general, tuna are known to possess high visual acuity both as larvae (Margulies, 1997) and as adults (Kawamura et al., 1981; Loew et al., 2002). The advanced visual development in larval scombrids has been suggested to improve predatory performance (Margulies, 1997). Improved visual sensitivity is generally associated with larger eyes and larger retinal area for photon capture (Job and Bellwood, 2000; Johns and Easter, 1977) .The relative eye size of T. maccoyii and S. lalandi was similar, so it would appear unlikely that eye size alone was the cause of greater sensitivity. The benefit of greater visual sensitivity in first-feeding T. maccoyii may maximise the hours available for feeding (i.e., dawn and dusk), allow deeper vertical migration or feeding on smaller and more active prey, possibly maximising feeding opportunities while also minimising potential predation (Job and Bellwood, 2000). Photopic sensitivity observed in T. maccoyii has major culture implications. Benthic vertical migration is commonly observed in T. maccoyii (Cobcroft et al., 2012). Benthic migration may be associated with active movement away from high light intensity conditions and reduced if light intensities are lowered more than is common in other cultured marine larvae. Cultured larval tuna species are often documented to "sink" to the tank base where the subsequent exposure to high detritus and bacterial loads and hard surfaces are thought to result in major mortality (Tanaka et al., 2009). Successful culture strategies to minimise benthic migration in T. maccoyii larvae may include periods of low light intensity during early larval rearing. Another strategy used with oceanic larvae to minimise benthic migration has been the implementation of constant periods of light (Battaglene and Cobcroft, 2007; Partridge et al., 2011).

#### 3.5.1.2. Turbidity and first-feeding

My results support studies that demonstrate that the effect of turbidity on feeding success is highly species-specific (Carton, 2005; Cobcroft et al., 2001: Naas et al., 1992: Stuart and Drawbridge, 2011). I showed that high turbidity (25 NTU) significantly reduced the first-feeding performance of T. maccoyii, although this high level of turbidity would be very uncommon in standard culture practices, whereas feeding performance of S. lalandi was unaffected. A similar first-feeding S. lalandi study by Carton (2005), while using lower turbidities (0 to  $32 \times 10^4$  cells mL<sup>-1</sup> live *Chaetoceros muelleri*). also found no significant difference in feeding performance, although significant differences were observed with increasing age. Likewise, Stuart and Drawbridge (2011), found no significant difference in 3 dph S. lalandi feeding response under similar light conditions to my study (1675 lx approximately equivalent to 30  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>), although increased feeding intensity was observed under higher light intensity (14,850 lx approximately equivalent to 265 µmol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>) in green water compared to clear water (30 to 50 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells mL<sup>-1</sup> algal paste, Reed Mariculture). Stuart and Drawbridge (2011) also found that while S. lalandi fed in both clear water and green water (0 to 5.0 x  $10^5$  cells mL<sup>-1</sup>, algal paste, Reed Mariculture) the visual predatory ability of *S. lalandi* developed with age, so the use of green water becomes increasingly important.

The means by which turbidity improves feeding in some species is thought to occur through greater prey contrast against the background, increasing visual detection by the larvae (Miner and Stein, 1993; Naas et al., 1992; Stuart and Drawbridge, 2011; Utne-Palm, 2002). Lythgoe and Partridge (1989 and 1991) have shown that the majority of diurnal teleost fish have optical apparatus (i.e., short wavelength-absorbing cones) present in their retina that enhance contrast detection between objects and their background. Turbidity may also act by the enhancement of prey in scattering light surrounding the prey (the "halo effect"), resulting in 3dimensional illumination of the prey (Cobcroft et al., 2001; Naas et al., 1996).

## 3.5.1.3 Tank colour and first-feeding

The effect of background tank colour on feeding success is species specific, due in part to a greater visual contrast of the prey against the background colour (Monk et al., 2008; Strand et al., 2007; Tamazouzt et al., 2000). While tank colour had no significant effect on the first-feeding ability of T. maccoyii larvae, S. lalandi did display significant sensitivity with increased feeding in pink and tan coloured tanks. Seriola lalandi have also displayed feeding preference in relation to prey colour, as Ma and Qin (2012) found brown-coloured prey significantly increased feeding intensity in the larvae compared to other coloured prey tested. As S. lalandi juveniles are commonly associated with floating seaweed beds where brown would be the dominant background colour (Kolkovski and Sakakura, 2004), perhaps larvae and juveniles have visual adaptations that promote feeding when animals are presented with brown backgrounds. Tank colour also affects the behaviour of light within a culture tank with darker tanks producing less reflection and back-scatter than lighter tanks (Cobcroft and Battaglene, 2009; Naas et al., 1996). It is likely that the pink and tan tanks used in my study have a high incidence of reflection and scatter possibly presenting similar conditions to wild S. lalandi larvae associated with eutrophic coastal waters (Smith, 1987; Sumida et al., 1985).

It would therefore appear that the increased visual detection and consumption of prey by first-feeding *S. lalandi* in pink or tan coloured tanks is likely due to a combination of background contrast and spectral sensitivity conditions, in addition to the behaviour of light in the tank environment, which appear to match those commonly associated with their wild environment. Consequently, the colour of the larviculture tank for *S. lalandi* rearing will directly affect feeding performance, where the use of pink or brown coloured tanks is likely to enable the best feeding performance, unlike *T. maccoyii* where feeding larvae are neither advantaged nor disadvantaged by the choice of tank colour.

#### 3.5.1.4 Turbulence and first-feeding

Theoretically, increasing turbulence has the advantage of increasing the rate of predator-prey interactions (Stiansen and Sundby, 2001), provided the level of turbulence does not exceed the ability of the larvae to detect, pursue and capture prey (Kato et al., 2008). Grouper larvae ,*Epinephelus coioides*, reared in 40 L aquaria fed best at low turbulence levels 0.62 mL min<sup>-1</sup> and 1.25 mL min<sup>-1</sup> (Toledo et al., 2002) and studies by Shaw (2006) found turbulence levels greater than 200 mL min<sup>-1</sup> significantly reduced feeding in striped trumpeter, *Latris lineata*, reared in 300 L tanks.

The difference in feeding ability observed between T. maccoyii and S. lalandi is unlikely due to increased swimming ability or speed, as suggested earlier in the discussion of feeding response, given T. maccoyii larvae are smaller than S. lalandi larvae and display proficient feeding across all turbulence levels below the lethal limit. It may be that S. lalandi larvae do not possess the same degree of sensory perception to allow the identification and ingestion of prey under turbulent conditions. Larval fish are equipped with a suite of senses that include vision, mechanoreception and chemoreception (Batty and Hoyt, 1995). Under turbulent conditions larvae are presented with a faster moving prey item. This challenges visual identification of the prey as well as providing greater mechanical stimulation through the movement of prey and water. While this may increase prey recognition it could also overload the sensitive neuromasts (Kawamura et al., 2003). The northern bluefin tuna, Thunnus thynnus, and T. orientalis have well developed mechanoreception at an early stage of larval development (Amoroso, 2011; Ghysen et al., 2012; Kawamura et al., 2003) and superficial neuromasts have been identified in the head and trunk region for S. lalandi that increase in number with early development (Carton, 2005). In addition, the importance of the lateral line in swimming performance in juvenile S. lalandi has been reported (Yanase et al., 2012). Larvae with well developed neuromasts have the potential to suffer undue stress in culture when exposed to excessive handling, aeration, vibration or turbulence (Kawamura et al., 2003). It is likely that larval T. maccoyii also possess well developed mechanoreception and while T. maccovii

larvae experience high mortality when exposed to aeration (personal observation), high water-induced turbulence did not reduce feeding performance indicating that the mechanosensory system was not overstimulated. Larval tuna also display high visual ability at an early age which has been suggested to increase predatory ability (Margulies, 1997). Consequently, *T. maccoyii* may employ both vision and mechanoreception when feeding in turbulent waters to enhance feeding success. In comparison, S. lalandi had reduced feeding at the higher turbulence levels. This suggests that the speed of the prey may have been beyond their visual ability and/or the mechanoreceptor system was over stimulated. The lower proportion of first-feeding S. lalandi larvae feeding at higher larval densities reported in Chapter 2 may also indicate S. lalandi are sensitive to mechanosensory over stimulation. This has important culture implications and *S. lalandi* may do better in culture in an environment with low mechanosensory stimulation in terms of handling, vibration, con-specific densities and turbulence.

Additional studies of tuna species in the wild show wind-induced currents significantly affect feeding response (Kato et al., 2008). The authors found the effect of turbulence on larval *T. orientalis*, revealed a constant relationship between improved rotifer ingestion and increased turbulence level (up to  $12 \text{ m s}^{-1}$ ) until a point where larvae could no longer feed (turbulence levels >  $15 \text{ m s}^{-1}$ ). While turbulence velocity was not measured in my study, due to the limited space in the aquaria, *T. maccoyii* displayed a similar pattern to *T. orientalis* in the ability to feed well at relatively high turbulence levels. However, feeding was also proficient at low turbulence indicating a broader ability to feed across a range of turbulence levels than *T. orientalis*.

## 3.5.2 Mortality

Surface mortality has previously been reported in *T. thynnus* (Miyashita et al., 2000). It is commonly associated with relatively small marine fish larvae (≤ 3mm) (Kaji et al., 2003; Sawada et al., 2005; Tagawa et al., 2004; Yamaoka et al., 2000). Smaller larvae may have an inability to

break free from the surface tension and become entrapped on the surface. It is highly probable that transfer of *T. maccoyii* larvae induced significant mortality as a result of exposure of larvae to the air/water interface. In Chapter 2, surface mortality of *T. maccoyii* larvae was significantly reduced by the use of oil to break the surface tension, and feeding responses were comparable to larvae in aquaria without the addition of oil. This indicates that mortality among treatments did not affect feeding rates of T. maccoyii. Thus, mortality was unlikely to have affected the feeding response of larvae in the feeding experiments. In addition to transfer mortality, specific abiotic factors induced mortality in both T. maccoyii and S. lalandi. High light intensity induced significant mortality in T. maccoyii. This was unexpected as, in general, high light intensity is associated with a positive larval response i.e., increased feeding performance (Blaxter, 1968; Carton, 2005; Cobcroft et al., 2001; Pankhurst and Hilder, 1998; Yoseda et al., 2008). High light intensity (>2000 lx approximately equivalent to 35 µmol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>) has been associated with a higher incidence of surface mortality in red-spotted grouper, Epinephelus akaara (Setiadi et al., 2002; Yamaoka et al., 2000), and *T. orientalis* (Matsuura et al., 2010). Floating death, as it is referred to in Japan, is thought to be associated with positive phototaxis and increased exposure of larvae to the air/water interface. It appears unlikely that positive phototaxis is the cause of mortality in *T. maccoyii* due to the high photopic sensitivity displayed. Surface mortality in *T. maccoyii* may therefore not only be associated with exposure to the air/water interface but may also be associated with stress. It may be that high light intensity is a stressor to larval *T. maccoyii*. Larval fish have been reported to produce mucus under stressful conditions (Blackstock and Pickering, 1982). Yamaoka et al. (2000) suggested that mucus excreted by larval fish may act as a glue when larvae are exposed to the water surface. This agrees with finding by Kaji et al. (1995) who documented a high degree of mucous cell development in larval E. akaara between the ages of two and four days post hatching and found a correlation between mucous cell development and surface death.

Significant mortality was also experienced in the high turbulence treatment for *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi*, likely due to the direct contact of the larvae with air and/or physical damage from impact against the aquaria and/or air bubbles. Larval exposure to the water surface by upwelling currents has also been documented to cause surface mortality in the kelp grouper, *Epinephelus bruneus* (Fui Fui et al., 2012).

#### 3.5.3 Prior exposure

Prior exposure of larvae to culture conditions has resulted in improved feeding performance in a number of marine species including *L. lineata* (Cobcroft et al., 2001), greenback flounder, *Rhombosolea tapirina* (Cox and Pankhurst, 2000), and fathead minnow, *Pimephales promelas* (Salgado and Hoyt, 1996). The exposure of 2 dph *S. lalandi* to prey the day prior to the feeding experiment had the potential to confound the experiment by falsely increasing the feeding response. This appears highly unlikely as a similar study conducted by Carton (2005) with naïve 3 dph *S. lalandi*, recorded a comparable feeding performance to my study (15 – 35% and 0.001 – 0.008 rotifers larva<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup>). Prior exposure to background colour has been shown to increase the feeding performance of fish larvae (Shaw, 2006) and while my larvae were raised in green walled tanks, no feeding preference in green tanks was observed. This indicates plasticity in early larval feeding behaviour as prior experience in a specific culture environment did not constrain larval feeding.

## 3.6. Conclusion

The trophic environment of larval marine fish may be an indicator of the first-feeding ability of the larvae. *Thunnus maccoyii* displayed a strong feeding response to a suite of abiotic conditions highlighting a well-developed predatory capacity, possibly due to larvae in the wild being associated with oligotrophic waters. In comparison, while *S. lalandi* fed over a broad range of abiotic factors, feeding ability was restricted under a number of conditions indicating a lower predatory ability than *T. maccoyii*.

This may relate to larval life in prey rich eutrophic waters and an association with floating seaweed.

My study showed that provision of a suitable culture environment for successful feeding and survival can be achieved through the manipulation of abiotic factors and provided new information on the visual capacity of T. maccovii, showing that T. maccovii have a high level of photopic sensitivity at first-feeding, which is unusual among marine fish. The ability of T. maccoyii to feed well at low light intensity in conjunction with mortality at high light intensity would suggest that relatively low light intensities should be used at first-feeding  $(0.4 - 9.9 \mu \text{mol s}^{-1} \text{m}^{-2})$ . In addition, improved early-feeding in T. maccoyii was observed under conditions of low turbidity, with tank colour and turbulence appearing to have little effect on feeding performance. In contrast, culture requirements to maximise firstfeeding in S. lalandi included high light intensities  $\geq$  30 µmol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>, low or no turbulence (aeration), low mechanosensory stimulation and culture in lightly coloured tanks (tan and pink). The short-term feeding experiments provided an indication of abiotic factors that affect early-feeding success and warrant further investigation in long-term, large-scale trials.

## 3.7 Acknowledgements

I thank the staff of Clean Seas Tuna Ltd including Morten Deichmann, Mike Thomson, Adrian McIntyre, Jamie Crawford, Miles Wise, Adam Miller, and all of the technical staff. Melanie Evans and Dan Minnucci of IMAS, FACC are thanked for technical assistance. Thank you Dr Natalie Moltschaniwskyj, Dr Simon Wotherspoon and Tania Mendo for statistical advice. Experiments were conducted in accordance with University of Tasmania Animal Ethics Committee approval number A0010990. I thank the Australian Seafood CRC for funding the study. The Australian Seafood CRC is established and supported under the Australian Government's Cooperative Research Centres Programme. Other investors in the CRC are the Fisheries Research and Development Corporation, Seafood CRC company members, and supporting participants.

#### 3.8 References

- Amoroso, G., 2011. Morfogenesi degli organi sensoriali in larve e post larve di *Thunnus thynnus* L. 1758 (Actinopterygii, Perciformes) da riproduzione controllata. Thesis, (Masters) Universita' Degli Studi Di Roma Tor Vergata, pp 74.
- Battaglene, S.C., Cobcroft, J.M., 2007. Advances in the culture of striped trumpeter larvae: A review. Aquaculture. 268, 195-208.
- Batty, R.S., Hoyt, R.D., 1995. The role of sense organs in the feeding behaviour of juvenile sole and plaice. Journal of Fish Biology. 47, 931-939.
- Benetti, D.D., Nakada, M., Shotton, S., Poortenaar, C., Tracy, P.L., Hutchinson, W., 2005. Aquaculture of three species of yellowtail jacks. In: A. Kelly and J. Silverstein(Eds). Aquaculture in the 21st Century. American Fisheries Society, Phoenix, AZ, USA, pp. 491-515.
- Blackstock, N., Pickering, A.D., 1982. Changes in the concentration and histochemistry of epidermal mucous cells during the alevin and fry stages of the brown trout *Salmo trutta*. Journal of Zoology. 197, 463–471.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., 1968. Visual thresholds and spectral sensitivity of herring larvae. Journal of Experimental Biology. 48, 39-43.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., 1986. Development of sense-organs and behavior of teleost larvae with special reference to feeding and predator avoidance. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society. 115, 98-114.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., Jones, M.P., 1967. The development of the retina and retinomotor responses in the herring. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom. 47, 677-697.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., Staines, M., 1970. Pure-cone retinae and retinomotor responses in larval teleosts. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom. 50, 449-464.

- Carton, A.G., 2005. The impact of light intensity and algal-induced turbidity on first-feeding *Seriola lalandi* larvae. Aquaculture Research. 36, 1588-1594.
- CCSBT, 2011. Commission for the conservation of southern bluefin tuna. Report of the sixteenth meeting of the scientific committee, 19-28 July 2011 Bali, Indonesia, viewed 15 December 2011 <<u>http://www.ccsbt.org/userfiles/file/docs\_english/meetings/meeting</u> \_reports/ccsbt\_18/report\_of\_SC16.pdf>.
- Chen, B.N., Qin, J.G., Kumar, M.S., Hutchinson, W., Clarke, S., 2006. Ontogenetic development of the digestive system in yellowtail kingfish Seriola lalandi larvae. Aquaculture. 256, 489-501.
- Cobcroft, J.M., Pankhurst, P.M., 2003. Sensory organ development in cultured striped trumpeter larvae *Latris lineata*: Implications for feeding behaviour. Marine and Freshwater Research. 54, 669-682.
- Cobcroft, J.M., Battaglene, S.C., 2009. Jaw malformation in striped trumpeter *Latris lineata* larvae linked to walling behaviour and tank colour. Aquaculture. 289, 274-282.
- Cobcroft, J.M., Pankhurst, P.M., Hart, P.R., Battaglene, S.C., 2001. The effects of light intensity and algae-induced turbidity on feeding behaviour of larval striped trumpeter. Journal of Fish Biology. 59, 1181-1197.
- Cobcroft, J.M., Battaglene, S., Boaventura, M., Chen, B., Deichmann, M., Elizur, A., Fielder, S.D., Hilder, P.I., Hutchinson, W., Knuckey, R., Qin, J.G., Schipp, G., Thomson, M., 2012. Investigating the larval culture requirements of southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii*, for aquaculture in Australia. GCOE Symposium, Kinki University 23-24 November, Kushimoto City, Japan, pp. 43-49.
- Costello, M.J., 2009. Distinguishing marine habitat classification concepts for ecological data management. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 397, 253-268.
- Cox, E.S., Pankhurst, P.M., 2000. Feeding behaviour of greenback flounder larvae, *Rhombosolea tapirina* (Günther) with differing exposure histories to live prey. Aquaculture. 183, 285-297.

- Davis, T.L.O., Jenkins, G.P., Young, J.W., 1990. Diel patterns of vertical distribution in larvae of southern bluefin tuna *Thunnus maccoyii*, and other tuna in the east-Indian Ocean. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 59, 63-74.
- Fernald, R.D., 1989. Fish vision. In: B. Finlay and D. Sengelaub (Eds). Development of the vertebrate retina. Plenum Press, New York and London, pp. 247-265.
- Fui Fui, C., Miura, A., Nakagawa, Y., Kato, K., Senoo, S., Sakamoto, W., Takii, K., Miyashita, S., 2012. Flow field control via aeration adjustment for the enhancement of larval survival of the kelp grouper *Epinephelus bruneus* (Perciformes:Serranidae). Aquaculture Research, 1–8.
- Fuiman, L.A., 2002. Special considerations of fish eggs and larvae. In: L. A. Furiman and R. G Werner (Eds). Fishery science, the unique contributions of early life stages. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford, pp. 161-182.
- Ghysen, A., Dambly-Chaudiere, C., Coves, D., de la Gandara, F., Ortega,
  A., 2012. Developmental origin of a major difference in sensory
  patterning between zebrafish and bluefin tuna. Evolution &
  Development. 14, 204-211.
- Hjort, J., 1914. Fluctuations in the great fisheries of northern Europe viewed in the light of biological reserach. Rapports et Procesverbaux des Reunions, Conseil International pour l'Exploration de la Mer. 20, 1-228.
- Houde, E.D., 1989. Comparative growth, mortality and energetics of marine fish larvae - temperature and implied latitudinal effects Fishery Bulletin. 87, 471-495.
- Jenkins, G.P., Young, J.W., Davis, T.L.O., 1991. Density dependence of larval growth of a marine fish, the southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnusmaccoyii.* Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 48, 1358-1363.
- Jerlov, N.G., 1976. Marine optics, 2nd ed. Oceanography series 14, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 231.

- Job, S.D., Bellwood, D.R., 2000. Light sensitivity in larval fishes: Implications for vertical zonation in the pelagic zone. Limnology and Oceanography. 45, 362-371.
- Job, S.D., Shand, J., 2001. Spectral sensitivity of larval and juvenile coral reef fishes: implications for feeding in a variable light environment. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 214, 267-277.
- Johns, P.R., Easter, S.S., 1977. Growth of adult goldfish eye .2. increase in retinal cell number. Journal of Comparative Neurology. 176, 331-341.
- Kaji, T., Yamaoka, K., Isshiki, T., Yamada, T., 1995. Mucous cell development on the body surface in larvae of the red-spotted grouper, *Epinephelus akaara*. Bulletin of Marine Sciences and Fisheries, Kochi University, 15, 117–120.
- Kaji, T., Kodama, M., Arai, H., Tanaka, M., Tagawa, M., 2003. Prevention of surface death of marine fish larvae by the addition of egg white into rearing water. Aquaculture. 224, 313-322.
- Kato, Y., Takebe, T., Masuma, S., Kitagawa, T., Kimura, S., 2008.
  Turbulence effect on survival and feeding of Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis* larvae, on the basis of a rearing experiment.
  Fisheries Science. 74, 48-53.
- Kawamura, G., Masuma, S., Tezuka, N., Koiso, M., Jinbo, T., Namba, K., 2003. Morphogenesis of sense organs in the bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis*. in: Browman, H.I., Skiftesvik, A.B. (Eds). 36th Annual larval conference, Bergen Norway, pp. 123-135.
- Kawamura, G., Nishimura, W., Ueda, S., Nishi, T., 1981. Colour vision and spectral sensitivity in tunas and marlins. Bulletin of the Japanese Society of Scientific Fisheries. 47, 481-485.
- Kimura, S., Nakata, H., Margulies, D., Suter, J.M., Hunt, S.L., 2004. Effect of oceanic turbulence on the survival of yellowfin tuna larvae.Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi. 70, 175-178.
- Kolkovski, S., Sakakura, Y., 2004. Yellowtail kingfish, from larvae to mature fish — problems and opportunities. In: L.E. Cruz Suárez, D.
  Ricque Marie, M.G. Nieto López, D. Villareal, U. Scholz,M.
  González (Eds). Avances en Nutrición AcuicolaVII. Memorias del

VII Simposium Internacional de Nutrición Acuicola, 16–19 Noviembre, 2004, Hermosillo, Sonora, México, pp. 109–125.

- Kotrschal, K., Adam, H., Brandstatter, R., Junger, H., Zaunreiter, M.,
  Goldschmid, A., 1990. Larval size constraints determine directional ontogenic shifts in the visual-system of teleosts - a mini review.
  Zeitschrift für Zoologische Systematik und Evolutionsforschung. 28, 166-182.
- Loew, E.R., McFarland, W.N., Margulies, D., 2002. Developmental changes in the visual pigments of the yellowfin tuna, *Thunnus albacares*. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. 35, 235-246.
- Lythgoe, J.N., Partridge, J.C., 1989. Visual pigments and the acquistion of visual information. Journal of Experimental Biology. 146, 1-20.
- Lythgoe, J.N., Partridge, J.C., 1991. The modeling of optimal visual pigments of dichromatic teleosts in green coastal waters. Vision Research. 31, 361-371.
- Ma, Z., Qin, J.G., 2012. Replacement of fresh algae with commercial formulas to enrich rotifers in larval rearing of yellowtail kingfish *Seriola lalandi* (Valenciennes, 1833). Aquaculture Research. 43, 1-12.
- Margulies, D., 1997. Development of the visual system and inferred performance capabilities of larval and early juvenile scombrids. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. 30, 75-98.
- Martin-Robichaud, D.J., Peterson, R.H., 1998. Effects of light intensity, tank colour and photoperiod on swimbladder inflation success in larval striped bass, *Morone saxatilis* (Walbaum). Aquaculture Research. 29, 539-547.
- Matsuura, R., Sawada, Y., Ishibashi, Y., 2010. Development of visual cells in the Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis*. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry. 36, 391-402.
- May, R.C., 1974. Larval mortality in marine fishes and the critical period concept. In: J. H.S Blaxter (Ed.). The early life history of fishes, Springer Verlag, Berlin, pp. 3-20.

- Miner, J.G., Stein, R.A., 1993. Interactive influence of turbidity and light on the larval bluegill (*Lepomis macrochirus*) foraging. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 50, 781-788.
- Miyashita, S., Sawada, Y., Hattori, N., Nakatsukasa, H., Okada, T.,
  Murata, O., Kumai, H., 2000. Mortality of northern bluefin tuna *Thunnus thynnus* due to trauma caused by collision during growout
  culture. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society. 31, 632-639.
- Monk, J., Puvanendran, V., Brown, J.A., 2008. Does different tank bottom colour affect the growth, survival and foraging behaviour of Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) larvae? Aquaculture. 277, 197-202.
- Naas, K., Huse, I., Iglesias, J., 1996. Illumination in first feeding tanks for marine fish larvae. Aquacultural Engineering. 15, 291-300.
- Naas, K.E., Naess, T., Harboe, T., 1992. Enhanced 1st feeding of halibut larvae (*Hippoglossus hippoglossus* L.) in green water Aquaculture. 105, 143-156.
- Nakabo, T., 1993. Fishes of Japan with pictorial keys to the species. Tokai University Press, Tokyo, pp. 1474.
- Nakada, M., 2008. Capture-based aquaculture of yellowtail. In: A. Lovatelli and P.F.Holthus (Eds). Capture-based aquaculture. Global overview. Food and Agriculture Organisation, Fisheries Technical Paper. N<sup>o</sup>. 508. Rome, pp. 199–215.
- Pankhurst, P.M., Butler, P., 1996. Development of the sensory organs in the greenback flounder, *Rhombosolea tapirina*. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. 28, 55-73.
- Pankhurst, P.M., Hilder, P.E., 1998. Effect of light intensity on feeding of striped trumpeter *Latris lineata* larvae. Marine and Freshwater Research. 49, 363-368.
- Partridge, G.J., Benetti, D.D., Stieglitz, J.D., Hutapea, J., McIntyre, A., Chen, B., Hutchinson, W., Scholey, V.P., 2011. The effect of a 24hour photoperiod on the survival, growth and swim bladder inflation of pre-flexion yellowfin tuna (*Thunnus albacares*) larvae. Aquaculture. 318, 471-474.

- Poortenaar, C., Hooker, S., Sharp, N., 2000. Kingfish aquaculture research in New Zealand. Austasia Aquaculture Dec. 1999/ Jan. 2000, pp. 45-46.
- Salgado, S.D., Hoyt, R.D., 1996. Early behavior formation in fathead minnow larvae, *Pimephales promelas*: Implications for sensory function. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. 28, 91-106.
- Sawada, Y., Okada, T., Miyashita, S., Murata, O., Kumai, H., 2005.
  Completion of the Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis* (Temminck et Schlegel) life cycle. Aquaculture Research. 36, 413-421.
- Setiadi, E., Tsumra, S., Yamamoto, K., 2002. Effects of water color and light intensity on water surface tension-related deaths in larval stage of the red-spotted grouper, *Epinephelus akaara*. Suisan Zoshoku, 51, 81-85.
- Sharp, G.D., Dizon, H.E., 1978. The physiological ecology of tunas. Academic Press, New York, pp.485 pp.
- Shaw, G.W., 2006. Feeding behaviour of greenback flounder and striped trumpeter in green water culture. Thesis, (PhD) University of Tasmania, pp. 209.
- Smith, A.E., 1987. Genetic variation and dispersal of the yellowtail kingfish, Seriola lalandi from New South Wales waters. Thesis, (Hons), University of New South Wales, pp. 35.
- Stiansen, J.E., Sundby, S., 2001. Improved methods for generating and estimating turbulence in tanks suitable for fish larvae experiments. Scientia Marina. 65, 151-167.
- Strand, A., Alanara, A., Staffan, F., Magnhagen, C., 2007. Effects of tank colour and light intensity on feed intake, growth rate and energy expenditure of juvenile Eurasian perch, *Perca fluviatilis* L. Aquaculture. 272, 312-318.
- Stuart, K.R., Drawbridge, M., 2011. The effect of light intensity and green water on survival and growth of cultured larval California yellowtail (*Seriola lalandi*). Aquaculture. 321, 152-156.

- Stuart, K.R., Drawbridge, M., 2012. Spawning and larval rearing of California yellowtail (*Seriola lalandi*) in southern California. Bulletin of Fisheries Research Agency, N<sup>o</sup>. 36, 15-21.
- Sumida, B.Y., Moser, H.G., Ahlstrom, E.H., 1985. Descriptions of larvae of California yellowtail Seriola lalandi, and three other carangids from the eastern tropical Pacific: Chlorosconbrus orquets, Caranx caballus, and Caranx sexfasciatus. California Cooperative Oceanic Fisheries Investigations, 26, 139-159.
- Tagawa, M., Kaji, T., Kinoshita, M., Tanaka, M., 2004. Effect of stocking density and addition of proteins on larval survival in Japanese flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus*. Aquaculture. 230, 517-525.
- Tamazouzt, L., Chatain, B., Fontaine, P., 2000. Tank wall colour and light level affect growth and survival of Eurasian perch larvae (*Perca fluviatilis L*.). Aquaculture. 182, 85-90.
- Tanaka, Y., Kumon, K., Nishi, A., Eba, T., Nikaido, H., Shiozawa, S., 2009. Status of the sinking of hatchery-reared larval Pacific bluefin tuna on the bottom of the mass culture tank with different aeration design. Aquaculture Science. 57, 587-593.
- Thomson, M., Deichmann, M., Czypionka, K., Czypionka, A., Crawford, J., Miller, A., Hutchinson, W., Chen, B.N., 2010. Recent developments in southern bluefin tuna larval and juvenile rearing. Proceedings of the Joint International Symposium of Kinki University and Setouchi Town on the 40th Anniversary of Pacific bluefin tuna aquaculture. Kinki University Press, pp. 53-58.
- Toledo, J.D., Caberoy, N.B., Quinitio, G.F., Choresca, C.H., Nakagawa,
  H., 2002. Effects of salinity, aeration and light intensity on oil
  globule absorption, feeding incidence, growth and survival of earlystage grouper *Epinephelus coioides* larvae. Fisheries Science. 68, 478-483.
- Utne-Palm, A.C., 2002. Visual feeding of fish in a turbid environment: Physical and behavioural aspects. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. 35, 111-128.
- Woolley, L.D., Fielder, S.D., Qin, J.G., 2012. Swimbladder inflation, growth and survival of yellowtail kingfish *Seriola lalandi* (Valenciennes,

1833) larvae under different temperature, light and oxygen conditions. Aquaculture Research. DOI: 10.1111/are.12097.

- Woolley, L.D., Qin, J.G., Thomson, M., Czypionka, A., 2009. Hatching success and early larval developments of southern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus maccoyii*). The 2nd global COE program symposium of Kinki University, 2009. "Sustainable aquaculture of the bluefin and yellowfin tuna Closing the life cycle for commercial production" Proceedings, pp. 88-92.
- Yamaoka, K., Nanbu, T., Miyagawa, M., Isshiki, T., Kusaka, A., 2000. Water surface tension-related deaths in prelarval red-spotted grouper. Aquaculture. 189, 165-176.
- Yanase, K., Herbert, N.A., Montgomery, J.C., 2012. Disrupted flow sensing impairs hydrodynamic performance and increases the metabolic cost of swimming in the yellowtail kingfish, Seriola lalandi. Journal of Experimental Biology. 215, 3944-3954.
- Yoseda, K., Yamamoto, K., Asami, K., Chimura, M., Hashimoto, K., Kosaka, S., 2008. Influence of light intensity on feeding, growth, and early survival of leopard coral grouper (*Plectropomus leopardus*) larvae under mass-scale rearing conditions. Aquaculture. 279, 55-62.
- Young, J.W., Davis, T.L.O., 1990. Feeding ecology of larvae of southern bluefin, albacore and skipjack tunas (Pisces: Scombridae) in the eastern Indian Ocean. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 61, 17-29.

Chapter 4. Light intensity and prey density affect the efficiency of feeding in southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii*, and yellowtail kingfish, *Seriola lalandi*, larvae during the rotifer-feeding phase

# 4.1 Abstract

I investigated the effects of light intensity and prey density on the feeding response of larval southern bluefin tuna, Thunnus maccoyii, and yellowtail kingfish, Seriola lalandi, to improve rearing conditions during rotifer feeding. The proportion of feeding and feeding intensity of T. maccovii and S. lalandi larvae exposed to varying light intensity (0 to 100 µmol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>) and prey density (0.5, 1, 2, 5, 15 and 25 rotifers mL<sup>-1</sup>) was tested in shortduration (4 h) experiments on 3, 6 and 9 days post hatching (dph) larvae. As light intensity increased, there was a significant improvement in feeding efficiency in S. lalandi at all ages. In contrast, the feeding response of T. maccovii did not increase with light intensity at first feeding, and was significantly higher in older larvae at low light intensities. High light intensity induced significant mortality, associated with surface adhesion, in T. maccoyii but not in S. lalandi. Increased prey density improved feeding performance with increasing age in both species during the rotifer-feeding phase. The results show fundamental differences between the species in their light requirements, which changed over time as larval development progressed. These differences may reflect species-specific adaptations to feeding environments in the wild i.e., T. maccoyii larvae are associated with low or patchy prey distribution in oligotrophic waters, whereas S. *lalandi* are associated with coastal waters typified by prey-rich eutrophic conditions. The results have important implications for improving production efficiency in the hatchery.

# 4.2 Introduction

The progeny of broadcast spawning fish hatch in an undeveloped state and undergo rapid morphological and physiological development during their early ontogeny (Kjørsvik et al., 2004). The ability to catch sufficient prey is critical to larval survival, both in the wild and in culture, as young larvae have limited energy reserves and therefore must initiate successful feeding to avoid starvation (Hjort, 1914; May, 1974). Consequently, it is essential to optimise the early larval culture conditions to maximise feeding potential and promote larval health and survival, during the developmental phase of young larvae.

The primary sense for feeding in marine finfish larvae is vision, and light is critical to fish vision (Blaxter, 1986; Gimenez and Estevez, 2008; Kawamura et al., 1981). First-feeding larvae make the transition from endogenous to exogenous feeding equipped with only a rudimentary visual apparatus (Blaxter, 1975). As larvae develop retinal morphology changes and visual ability improves, with a subsequent improvement in prey capture success (Johns, 1982; Kotrschal et al., 1990). Historically, environmental conditions are kept constant during larval rearing, however, there is strong evidence that optimal conditions for feeding change with larval ontogeny (Carton, 2005; Cobcroft et al., 2001; Pankhurst and Hilder, 1998).

In Chapters 2 and 3, I investigated the first-feeding response of southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii*, and yellowtail kingfish, *Seriola lalandi*, and found that light intensity and prey density had significant effects on larval feeding and there were differences between the two species in terms of optimal conditions. Like the majority of marine fish larvae, the feeding response of *S. lalandi* improved as light intensity increased (Chapter 3) (Blaxter, 1986; Carton, 2005; Cobcroft et al., 2001; Stuart and Drawbridge, 2011; Yoseda et al., 2008). In contrast, *T. maccoyii* exhibited uniform feeding over all light intensities, indicating a high level of photopic sensitivity at first-feeding (Chapter 3). Given first-feeding *T. maccoyii* do not display the typical visual ability of marine fish larvae, as shown by *S.* 

*lalandi*, more study was warranted to investigate the difference in the visually-mediated feeding ability of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi*, and their concomitant culture requirements. Prey capture success of marine finfish at first-feeding varies among species and is dependent on the ability of the larvae to detect, capture and ingest prey (Blaxter and Staines, 1971; Houde and Schekter, 1980). While high prey densities increased the first-feeding response in *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* (Chapter 2), improved visual ability with age may result in greater prey detection, thus increasing feeding at lower prey densities. Reduction in prey density would be of economic benefit and may lead to improvements in water quality and larval health through the reduction of biological and microbial load in the larval rearing system (Campbell and Buswell, 1983; Muroga et al., 1987).

The aim of this chapter was to test whether the optimal conditions for light intensity and prey density change for *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* with increasing age, and to compare differences between species. The rotifer feeding stage is a critical period in larval development for *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* and is often associated with high mortality, increasing the cost of seed production (Cobcroft, 2013; Cobcroft et al., 2012). My study provides a better understanding of the requirements for visually-mediated feeding efficiency of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* during their early life history, which if implemented should improve growth and survival during early culture.

# 4.3. Materials and methods

# 4.3.1 Embryo supply and rearing

*Thunnus maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* embryos were collected during January 2012 at the Clean Seas Tuna Ltd (CST) hatchery situated at Arno Bay, South Australia. Incubation parameters are summarised in Table 1. Egg and oil droplet diameters were recorded for each batch of embryos (n = 20).

Thunnus maccoyii	Seriola lalandi
450	380
White	Green
200 eggs	120 eggs
14: 10	13: 11
15.0 ± 2.0	0.8 ± 0.1
25.2 ± 0.6	22.6 ± 0.4
97.5 ± 1.3	96.5 ± 0.2
7.8 ± 0.1	8.1 ± 0.1
37.2 ± 0.1	38.0 ± 0.0
200	20
	Thunnus maccoyii 450 White 200 eggs 14: 10 15.0 $\pm$ 2.0 25.2 $\pm$ 0.6 97.5 $\pm$ 1.3 7.8 $\pm$ 0.1 37.2 $\pm$ 0.1 200

Table 1. Incubation parameters for *Thunnus maccoyii* and *Seriola lalandi* reared in cylindro-conical fibreglass tanks. Values are mean  $\pm$  sd.

## 4.3.2 Post-hatching embryo rearing and larval rearing

*Thunnus maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* larvae were transferred into larviculture tanks on the day of hatch (0 dph). A turbidity of  $3.0 \pm 1.0$  nephelometric turbidity units (NTU) was achieved through the addition of an algal paste (Nanno  $3600^{\text{®}}$  Reed Mariculture, California). Rotifers (*Brachionus plicatilis*) enriched with Spresso<sup>®</sup> INVE, Belgium were offered twice daily from 3 dph for *T. maccoyii* and 2 dph for *S. lalandi*, at a density of 10 mL<sup>-1</sup>. Larval standard length (SL)  $\pm$  standard deviation (sd) and eye diameter  $\pm$  sd (n = 20) were recorded for both species on 0, 3, 6, and 9 dph. Duplication of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* larval rearing systems could not be achieved due to limited access to facilities in the commercial hatchery during the spawning season.

## 4.3.2.1 Thunnus maccoyii

Due to logistical constraints associated with conducting research trials in a commercial facility, larval rearing for the light intensity and prey density experiments were subjected to slightly different culture regimes.

Larval rearing for the light intensity experiments was conducted in a 2,000 L white, cylindro-conical fibreglass tank. Larvae were stocked at a density of  $10 \pm 1$  larvae L<sup>-1</sup>. Water quality parameters were maintained at 25.0  $\pm$  0.5  $^{\circ}$ C (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation here and throughout), dissolved oxygen 96.0  $\pm$  2.5%, salinity 38.0  $\pm$  0.5 ‰ and pH 8.0  $\pm$  0.1. Water flow

was generated by an upwelling current with an exchange rate of 18% h<sup>-1</sup>. Ambient light provided a photoperiod of 14: 10 (h L: D) with an average surface light intensity of 8 µmol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>. Larvae used in the light intensity experiments were sourced from a single larviculture tank.

Larvae used in the prey density experiments were cultured in greenwalled13, 500 L cylindrical flat-bottomed fibreglass tanks. Water quality parameters were maintained at  $25.0 \pm 0.5$  <sup>0</sup>C, dissolved oxygen was added  $108.0 \pm 6.5\%$ , salinity  $37.0. \pm 0.2\%$  and pH  $8.0 \pm 0.1$ . Water flow was generated by an upwelling current with an exchange rate of 22% h<sup>-1</sup>. Fluorescent, halogen lights and ambient sunlight from skylights in the hatchery, provided a photoperiod of 14: 10 (h L: D) with an average light intensity of 60 µmol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> at the water surface. Larvae for each shortterm feeding experiment (i.e., 3, 6 and 9 dph) were sourced from three different larviculture source tanks, all in the same recirculation system.

# 4.3.2.2 Seriola lalandi

Larvae were reared in 380 L green-walled cylindro-conical fibreglass tanks, stocked at a density of  $15 \pm 1$  larvae L<sup>-1</sup>. Water quality parameters were maintained at 23.0  $\pm$  1.0 <sup>o</sup>C, dissolved oxygen 91.0  $\pm$  10%, salinity 38.0  $\pm$  0.3 ‰ and pH 8.1  $\pm$  0.2. Water current was generated using a single air-stone and the water exchange was 20% h<sup>-1</sup>. Fluorescent tubes provided a photoperiod of 13: 11 (h L: D) with an intensity of 50  $\pm$  3 µmol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> at the water surface. A single larviculture tank was designated for each experimental factor.

## 4.3.3 Species-specific larval rearing regimes

Larval rearing procedures differed between *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* due to species-specific requirements and availability of infrastructure. Differences in water temperature and tank hydrodynamics were necessary as *T. maccoyii* required a higher culture temperature than *S. lalandi* and air-generated turbulence resulted in significant *T. maccoyii* mortality. *Thunnus maccoyii* larvae reared for the light intensity experiments were cultured in a white tank under lower light conditions. *Thunnus maccoyii*  larvae could not be cultured under high light intensity in a white tank due to significant mortality (P. Hilder, unpublished data). *Thunnus maccoyii* larvae used in the prey density experiments were reared in green culture tanks and positioned themselves in the bottom two thirds of the tank which had an equivalent maximum light intensity to the white tank (0.5 to 10.0  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> and 6.0 to 8.0  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>, respectively).

# 4.3.4 Short-term feeding experiments

Short-term feeding experiments followed protocols as reported in Chapters 2 and 3, except the number of *T. maccoyii* larvae tested on 6 and 9 dph was reduced to 20 larvae per replicate due to larval availability.

# 4.3.4.1 Light intensity and feeding

Experiments were conducted on 3, 6 and 9 dph for *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi. Thunnus maccoyii* were tested at light intensities of 0.0, 0.1, 1.0, 10.0, 30.0 and 100.0  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> and *S. lalandi* were tested at 0.0, 0.1, 4.0, 10.0, 31.0 and 101.0  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>. Light treatments were isolated with black plastic to eliminate incident light. A single fluorescent tube (NEC triphosphor 18 watt, FL20SSBR/ 18-HG, T8) provided light for each treatment, with varying intensities achieved through altering the distance of the aquaria from the light source and/or the addition of shade cloth over the light source. Spectral quality and water temperature were not affected by the addition of shade cloth or positioning of aquaria in relation to the light source.

# 4.3.4.2 Prey density and feeding

Experiments were conducted on 4, 6 and 9 dph for *T. maccoyii* and 3, 6 and 9 dph for *S. lalandi*. Prey densities were tested at 0.5, 1, 2, 5, 15 and 25 rotifers mL<sup>-1</sup>.

# 4.3.5 Statistical analysis

Proportion feeding and mortality data were dichotomous (i.e., feeding or not feeding, and dead or alive). Consequently, the binomial data did not have a normal distribution and required chi-square analysis. Standardised residuals  $\geq$  or  $\leq$  2 denoted a significant difference (P  $\leq$  0.05). Graphs are presented as percentage data for easier interpretation. Feeding intensity data were analysed using one-way ANOVA. Data were evaluated for homogeneity of variance by Levene's test and Tukey's post hoc test was used to identify differences between the means when ANOVA was significant. Statistical significance was accepted at P  $\leq$  0.05. All statistics were carried out using the statistics package SPSS (19, IBM SPSS statistics).

# 4.4 Results

# 4.4.1 Egg morphometrics

The diameter of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* embryos was  $0.95 \pm 0.03$  mm and  $1.41 \pm 0.03$  mm, respectively. Oil droplet diameter of *T. maccoyii* larvae was  $0.22 \pm 0.01$  mm and  $0.30 \pm 0.02$  mm for *S. lalandi*. There was no significant difference in egg size within species among the batches used (*T. maccoyii* F <sub>2, 57</sub> = 3.07, P = 0.064 and *S. lalandi* F <sub>2, 57</sub> = 1.751, P = 0.202).

# 4.4.2 Larval morphometrics

*Thunnus maccoyii* had smaller larvae than *S. lalandi* (Table 2). Growth in larval length and eye diameter significantly increased with age (*T. maccoyii*: standard length F <sub>3,76</sub> = 185.746, P < 0.001, eye diameter F <sub>3,76</sub> = 222.838, P < 0.001; and *S. lalandi*: standard length F <sub>3,76</sub> = 222.838, P < 0.001, eye diameter F <sub>3,76</sub> = 124.015, P < 0.001).

Table 2. Standard length (SL) and eye diameter (ED) in mm at 0, 3, 6 and 9 days post-hatching (dph) <i>Thunnus maccoyii</i> and <i>Seriola lalandi</i> . Values
are mean $\pm$ sd, n = 20.

Age	Thunnus macco	oyii	Seriola lalandi	ED
(dph)	SL	ED	SL	
0	$3.26 \pm 0.10$	$0.24 \pm 0.01$	$4.27 \pm 0.11$	$0.30 \pm 0.02$
3	$3.69 \pm 0.07$	$0.25 \pm 0.01$	$4.33 \pm 0.28$	$0.35 \pm 0.01$
6	$3.98 \pm 0.27$	$0.34 \pm 0.01$	$4.95 \pm 0.25$	$0.41 \pm 0.04$
9	$4.59 \pm 0.21$	$0.41 \pm 0.03$	$5.23 \pm 0.33$	$0.48 \pm 0.03$

# 4.4.3 Light intensity and feeding

*Thunnus maccoyii* larvae did not feed in the dark and the data point was excluded from the statistical analysis. The proportion of 3 dph larvae feeding was low and unaffected by light intensity ( $\chi^2 = 6.518$ , df 4, P = 0.164) (Fig. 1A), however, 6 dph and 9 dph larvae showed a significant decrease in the proportion feeding with increasing light intensity ( $\chi^2 = 19.934$ , df 4, P = 0.001 and  $\chi^2 = 10.641$ , df 4, P = 0.031, respectively) (Figs 1B and 1C).



Figure 1. The proportion of larvae feeding at different light intensities in *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT) on (A) 3 dph, (B) 6 dph, (C) 9 dph, and in *Seriola lalandi* (YTK) on (D) 3 dph, (E) 6 dph, and (F) 9 dph. The arrows indicate treatments in which there were significantly more ( $\uparrow$ ) or less ( $\downarrow$ ) larvae feeding than expected (chi-square; P ≤ 0.05). Mean + sd, n = 4.

The overall proportion of *T. maccoyii* larvae feeding increased between 3 and 6 dph from 15% to 78% and then declined to 50% on 9 dph. *Seriola lalandi* did not feed in the dark on 3 dph, although a small amount of feeding was observed on 6 dph and 9 dph. The proportion of *S. lalandi* 

larvae feeding at all ages significantly increased with increasing light intensity (3 dph,  $\chi^2 = 11.193$ , df 4, P = 0.024, 6 dph,  $\chi^2 = 28.410$ , df 5, P < 0.001 and 9 dph,  $\chi^2 = 34.908$ , df 5, P < 0.001) (Figs 1D-1F). The proportion of *S. lalandi* feeding was generally lower than *T. maccoyii* up to 6 dph, and increased with age from 11% at 3 dph to 71% at 9 dph.

Increasing light intensity had no significant effect on the feeding intensity of *T. maccoyii* at 3 dph ( $F_{4, 15} = 0.158$ , P = 0.956) and 9 dph ( $F_{4, 15} = 1.504$ , P = 0.251) (Figs 2A and 2C).



Figure 2. The feeding intensity of larvae fed at different light intensities in *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT) on (A) 3 dph, (B) 6 dph, (C) 9 dph, and in *Seriola lalandi* (YTK) on (D) 3 dph, (E) 6 dph, (F) 9 dph. Means sharing a common letter are not significantly different. Mean + sd, n = 4.

There was significantly higher feeding intensity at 1.0 than at 100.0 µmol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> in 6 dph larvae ( $F_{4, 15} = 3.529$ , P > 0.001) (Fig. 2B). There was no significant change in *S. lalandi* feeding intensity on 3 dph ( $F_{4, 15} = 0.917$ , P = 0.160), although a trend towards increasing feeding intensity with increasing light (Fig. 2D) was observed, and a significant increase in the

same direction occurred in both 6 and 9 dph larvae (F  $_{5, 18}$  = 5.103, P = 0.004 and F  $_{5, 18}$  = 13.099, P > 0.001, respectively) (Figs 2E and 2F).

*Thunnus maccoyii* mortality ranged from 13% to 51% and was consistently higher than *S. lalandi* mortality which ranged from 2% to 17% and which was not significantly different among the treatments with age (3 dph,  $\chi^2$  = 0.835, df 5, P = 0.975, 6 dph,  $\chi^2$  = 1.189, df 5, P = 0.946 and 9 dph,  $\chi^2$  = 4.800, df 5, P = 0.441 (Figs 3D-3F).



Figure 3. The mortality of larvae at different light intensities in *Thunnus* maccoyii (SBT) on (A) 3 dph, (B) 6 dph, (C) 9 dph, and in Seriola lalandi (YTK) on (D) 3 dph, (E) 6 dph, (F) 9 dph. The arrows indicate treatments in which there was significantly more ( $\uparrow$ ) or less ( $\downarrow$ ) mortality than expected (chi-square; P ≤ 0.05). Mean + sd, n = 4.

Mortality of *T. maccoyii* significantly increased with higher light intensity in 3 dph larvae ( $\chi^2 = 18.706$ , df 5, P = 0.002) and 6 dph larvae ( $\chi^2 = 26.074$ , df 5, P > 0.001) with the greatest mortality occurring in the highest light intensity treatment (Figs 3A and 3B). By 9 dph, chi-square analysis showed mortality was no longer induced by high light intensity (Fig. 3C),

instead better than expected survival was observed in the 10  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> treatment ( $\chi^2$  = 16.735, df 5, P = 0.005).

## 4.4.4 Prey density and feeding

Increasing prey density significantly increased the proportion of *T.* maccoyii feeding across all ages tested (3 dph,  $\chi^2$  = 38.279, df 5, P > 0.001, 6 dph,  $\chi^2$  = 33.719, df 5, P > 0.001 and 9 dph,  $\chi^2$  = 36.914, df 5, P > 0.001, respectively) (Figs 4A-4C).



Figure 4. The proportion of larvae feeding at different prey densities in *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT) on (A) 4 dph, (B) 6 dph, (C) 9 dph, and in *Seriola lalandi* (YTK) on (D) 3 dph, (E) 6 dph, (F) 9 dph. The arrows indicate treatments in which there were significantly more ( $\uparrow$ ) or less ( $\downarrow$ ) larvae feeding than expected (chi-square; P ≤ 0.05). Mean + sd, n = 4.

While 3 dph *S. lalandi* showed no significant relationship between prey density and the proportion of larvae feeding ( $\chi^2 = 3.056$ , df 5, P = 0.691), 6 dph and 9 dph larvae had a significant increase in the proportion of larvae

feeding with increasing prey density ( $\chi^2 = 23.641$ , df 5, P > 0.001 and  $\chi^2 = 42.350$ , df 5, P > 0.001, respectively) (Figs 4D-4F).

Feeding intensity was not affected by prey density for either 4 dph *T. maccoyii* (F <sub>5, 18</sub> = 0.982, P = 0.455) (Fig. 5A) or 3 dph and 6 dph *S. lalandi* larvae (F <sub>5, 18</sub> = 0.656, P = 0.691 and F <sub>5, 18</sub> = 0.956, P = 0.470, respectively) (Figs 5D and 5E). At 6 dph and 9 dph, *T. maccoyii* larvae significantly increased feeding intensity with increasing prey density (F <sub>5, 18</sub> = 2.852, P = 0.046 and F <sub>5 18</sub> = 5.746, P = 0.003, respectively) (Figs 5B and 5C), with a similar effect for 9 dph *S. lalandi* larvae (F <sub>5, 18</sub> = 3.233, P = 0.030), although Tukeys post-hoc test did not distinguish significantly different groups (Fig. 5F).



Figure 5. The feeding intensity of larvae fed at different prey densities in *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT) on (A) 4 dph, (B) 6 dph, (C) 9 dph, and in *Seriola lalandi* (YTK) on (D) 3 dph, (E) 6 dph, (F) 9 dph. Means sharing a common letter are not significantly different. Mean + sd, n = 4.

Prey density had no significant effect on larval mortality for either *T.* maccoyii (4 dph,  $\chi^2$  = 10.381, df 5, P = 0.065, 6 dph,  $\chi^2$  = 7.338, df 5, P = 0.197 and 9 dph,  $\chi^2 = 0.875$ , df 5, P = 0.972) or *S. lalandi* (3 dph  $\chi^2 =$  7.518, df 5, P = 0.185 and 6 dph  $\chi^2 =$  3.248, df 5, P = 0.662). Analysis of 9 dph *S. lalandi* mortality data failed the assumptions of chi-square as 50% of the frequency categories had expected counts less than five; however mortality was low ranging between 1% and 5%. Overall mortality for both species was low, ranging from 3% to 14% for *T. maccoyii* and from 1% to 10% for *S. lalandi*. The acquisition of *T. maccoyii* larvae for the prey density experiments from three separate tanks did not confound the study as larval performance, determined from feeding, mortality and growth patterns in the three larviculture source tanks, were similar.

## 4.5 Discussion

## 4.5.1 Light intensity

The results clearly demonstrate changes in feeding performance of both species with age. The different feeding response of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* to light intensity highlights a fundamental difference between the species, which increases in magnitude with age. First-feeding *S. lalandi* larvae, like the majority of marine finfish larvae, exhibit improved feeding performance as light intensity increases (Cobcroft et al., 2001; Downing and Litvak, 2001; Pankhurst and Hilder, 1998; Stuart and Drawbridge, 2011). This is most likely explained by the eyes of first-feeding larval fish consisting of a pure cone retina (simplex retina), that restricts feeding to conditions of relatively high light intensity (Blaxter and Staines, 1970; Kotrschal et al., 1990). The improved feeding of *S. lalandi* larvae, in response to higher light intensities, may represent larval adaptations to natural conditions as wild *S. lalandi* larvae are associated with surface coastal waters (Smith, 1987; Sumida et al., 1985) where light intensity is generally higher.

The overall proportion of *S. lalandi* larvae feeding and the intensity of feeding improved with age. It is likely that the increased feeding ability of *S. lalandi* with age was associated with increasing eye size, cone diameters, visual acuity, and improved locomotory ability associated with

developing musculature and fins. The capacity of first-feeding *T. maccoyii* larvae to feed equally well across a broad range of light intensities at first-feeding, and then display increasing photopic sensitivity with larval development, indicates rapid morphological development of their visual system. This suggests that *T. maccoyii* larvae possess specific visual adaptations for feeding in lower light intensities which differs fundamentally to *S. lalandi*.

The importance of chemoreception and mechanoreception in the feeding response of T. maccoyii and S. lalandi has been discussed in Chapters 2 and 3. The apparent overstimulation of the mechanoreceptors in high turbulence treatments in S. lalandi, and olfactory preference for small strain rotifers at high density by *T. maccoyii*, suggests the importance of the non-visual senses for feeding in both species. No feeding was observed in the dark for T. maccoyii, and S. lalandi displayed a small amount of feeding on 6 and 9 dph, suggesting both species are visual feeders and that the sole use of the other senses (mechanoreception and chemoreception) is unlikely. However, the other senses may be used in conjunction with vision, particularly in S. lalandi where feeding in the dark was observed. Carton (2005) also reported non-visual feeding in S. lalandi larvae (3 to 7 dph) and suggested feeding was most likely due to mechanoreception. Taste bud development in S. lalandi does not occur until 8 dph, so it is highly likely that mechanoreception plays a major role in early non-visual feeding, although chemoreception due to olfaction may also contribute (Chen et al., 2006).

While the visual mechanics of photopic sensitivity in *T. maccoyii* were previously unknown, the visual sensitivity shown by *T. maccoyii* indicates that they are capable of efficiently feeding in very low light intensity. This would increase the feeding opportunities when light intensity is low, i.e., at dawn and dusk and also in deeper water. Vertical stratification of larval fish species has been well documented (Boehlert and Mundy, 1994; Davis et al., 1990). The limit of vertical migration is determined by the depth at which the minimum light intensity available allows prey capture (Job and Bellwood, 2000). Feeding at depth has the potential benefit of maximising feeding on zooplankton which also changes their distribution, being generally deeper during the day and feeding in surface waters at night (Gerking, 1994). A further benefit would be to minimise predation by animals with higher visual feeding thresholds (Job and Bellwood, 2000). Studies by Young and Davis (1990) on wild tuna larvae reported spatial separation in the water column of *T. maccoyii*, albacore, *Thunnus alalunga*, and skipjack tuna, *Katsuwonus pelamis. Thunnus alalunga* were generally associated with surface waters (0 to 2 m), while only a small number of *T. maccoyii* and no *K. pelamis* were found in the surface waters. The authors suggest the differences observed in their diets reflect separation in their feeding habits, which has been shown to be an adaptation to conditions of low prey availability (Govoni et al., 1983).

Ontogenetic changes in feeding behaviour observed in *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* with age have important culture implications. If *T. maccoyii* are visually adapted to feed under low light and *S. lalandi* are visually adapted for feeding under high light, different culture parameters are required to reflect these needs, and may explain previously reported aberrant behaviours and development in both species (Cobcroft, 2013; Cobcroft et al., 2012; Hutchinson, 2009; Woolley et al., 2012a). Sinking mortality commonly described in *T. maccoyii* may be a physiological response to avoid high light and my study has shown feeding will be significantly reduced at higher light intensity.

In *S. lalandi* larvae, low light intensity significantly reduces growth, survival and swimbladder inflation (Cobcroft, 2013; Stuart and Drawbridge, 2011; Woolley et al., 2012). Swimbladder inflation is affected by a number of abiotic and biotic factors including light intensity, salinity, temperature and water currents (Battaglene et al., 1994; Divanach et al., 1997; Johnson and Katavic, 1984; Saillant et al., 2003; Trotter et al., 2003), although genetic influence, both paternal and maternal, has been shown to also affect inflation (Peruzzi et al., 2007). High light intensity has been proven to significantly increase swimbladder inflation in *S. lalandi*, with the greatest swimbladder inflation rates observed at the highest light intensity
tested in a number of studies, e.g., 590  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> (Woolley et al., 2012) and 275 µmol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> (Stuart and Drawbridge, 2011). While high light intensity has been associated with swimbladder hyperinflation in sea bass larvae, Dicentrarchus labrax (Johnson and Katavic, 1984), no hyperinflation was reported in the present study. Lack of swimbladder inflation, or hyperinflation in larval fish has major culture implications including higher mortality (Trotter et al., 2003), malformation (Chatain, 1994; Cobcroft, 2013), increased energetic requirements (Marty et al., 1995) and slower growth (Battaglene and Talbot, 1992). Definitive factors that affect swimbladder inflation in T. maccoyii have not been identified (Woolley et al., 2013). Light intensity (24 and 49  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>) does not appear to have a significant effect on swimbladder inflation (Cobcroft et al., 2012). In the closely related Pacific bluefin tuna, *Thunnus orientalis*, initial swimbladder inflation could be improved if oil film removal occurred at 3 dph and if this window was missed by a day poorer swimbladder inflation occurred (Kurata et al., 2012).

In my study swimbladder inflation rates for the larvae in the larviculture source tanks were first recorded at 4 dph for *T. maccoyii* and 3 dph for *S. lalandi*. Woolley et al. (2013) reported swimbladder inflation for *T. maccoyii* in the evening 3 dph and for *S. lalandi* on 3 dph. My study did not investigate the relationship between initial swimbladder inflation and abiotic factors because the duration of the experiments was short. It is important to note the feeding experiments conducted on 3 dph generally occurred prior to swimbladder inflation and optimal conditions for feeding may not be the same for swimbladder inflation. As feeding experiments at 6 dph and 9 dph generally occur post swimbladder inflation the recommendations for abiotic factors would not be confounded by factors impacting on swimbladder inflation. Manipulation of light intensity to provide optimum rearing conditions in *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* is of critical importance in the production of quality seed stock.

In addition to the feeding behaviour of larvae in response to light intensity, the mortality experienced was also significantly different between the two species. While mortality in *S. lalandi* larvae was unaffected by light

intensity, the effect on *T. maccovii* was rapid and significant. *Thunnus* maccovii mortalities in high light intensity, presented as dead floating larvae, which was consistent with findings from previous short-term firstfeeding experiments (Chapter 3). Cultured tuna species commonly experience high mortality, particularly during early larval rearing (Davis et al., 1991; Fukuda et al., 2010; Ishibashi et al., 2009; Kaji et al., 1996; Margulies, 1997; Sawada et al., 2005). Matsuura et al. (2010) suggest that the primary problem in the production of Pacific bluefin tuna, Thunnus orientalis is related to their vision and may explain the floating, sinking and collision deaths. Thunnus maccoyii light-induced mortality was more apparent during the early life history (i.e., 3 dph and 6 dph) with no significant mortality evident in 9 dph larvae. A possible explanation for the change in the observed mortality with increasing age is given by Kaji et al. (1995). The authors hypothesised that there is a strong correlation between surface death and mucous cell development in red-spotted grouper, Ephinephelus akaara, larvae. Mucus production induced by stress or physical factors is thought to act as an adhesive "sticking" larvae to surface waters (Blackstock and Pickering, 1982; Kaji et al., 1995; Yamaoka et al., 2000). Surface mortality in *T. maccoyii* larvae may be mitigated at 9 dph if mucous cell development diminishes during the early larval history as observed in the *E. akaara* (Kaji et al., 1995) or it may be a result of increased swimming ability and or body density of the larger larvae (Woolley et al., 2013). Although significant mortality was not observed in 9 dph larvae, it appeared that high light intensity was still a significant stressor, as the proportion of 9 dph larvae feeding was significantly less at higher light intensities. Identification of decreased feeding and high mortality in *T. maccoyii* larvae exposed to high light intensity, during the rotifer feeding period indicates that improved culture of the species may be achieved through the use of lower light conditions.

The high surface mortality observed in *T. maccoyii* may also be associated with swimbladder inflation. Mueller & Neuhauss (2010) discuss how larval fish, with simple nervous systems, are required to detect and react to stimuli, and for visual animals the attraction or aversion to light is of paramount importance. In general, fish larvae exhibit positive phototaxis in response to light (Ishida, 1987 cited in Kawamura et al., 2003). Surface mortality in *T. maccoyii* may be associated with positive phototactic behaviour and attempts by larvae to gulp air from the surface for swimbladder inflation increasing the exposure of the larvae to the air/surface interface resulting in mortality.

# 4.5.2 Prey density

Thunnus maccoyii and S. lalandi larvae, like many marine fish larvae, exhibit the same relationship between increasing prey density and improved feeding (Dou et al., 2000; Houde and Schekter, 1980; Robert et al., 2009; Seljeset et al., 2010; Shoji and Tanaka, 2004; Slembrouck et al., 2009), whereby higher prey density increases the likelihood of prey encounter by larval fish and ensuing feeding success (Houde and Schekter, 1980). With increasing age, the predatory ability of T. maccoyii, at low prey densities, increased potentially towards feeding being independent of prey density, while throughout the experimental period S. lalandi required high prey density to maximise feeding success. This indicated that S. lalandi do not show the same ability as T. maccoyii in the detection and ingestion of prey and it is likely that with increasing age. lower prey densities in long-term rearing trials would not restrict T. maccoyii larval feeding, whereas low prey density may restrict S. lalandi feeding. A number of species exhibit initial density-dependent feeding. although with increasing age and larval development feeding shifts to density-independent feeding as seen in *T. maccoyii* (Dou et al., 2000; Shaw, 2006). A possible explanation in the shift from density-dependent to density-independent feeding may be that with increased larval development the visual capacity of the larvae improves. Consequently, the visual field of the larvae contains a greater number of prey items increasing the detection and potential capture of prey (Shaw, 2006). Houde and Schekter's (1980) investigation of prey capture success in relation to prey density and development in three marine larval fishes (bay anchovy, Anchoa mitchilli, sea bream, Archosargus rhomboidalis, and lined sole, Achirus lineatus), also revealed different feeding strategies in

the utilisation of available prey sources. While A. rhomboidalis displayed better growth under normal prey conditions, A. mitchilli exhibited opportunistic behavior with greater predatory ability at higher prey density increasing prey consumption. In comparison, A. lineatus had the poorest predatory ability, however, exhibited flexibility in prey choice during low prey density conditions. The authors concluded that while the early life history of larval fish in the wild is probably under the control of prey availability, species-specific feeding strategies are an important determinant in recruitment success. It appears that *T. maccoyii* and *S.* lalandi also exhibit species-specific feeding strategies. The proficient feeding of *T. maccoyii* may be a larval adaptation to survival in tropical oligotrophic waters where rapid yolk utilization at first-feeding and low or patchy prey availability increases the likelihood of starvation (Jenkins et al., 1991; Rochford, 1962). A strong relationship between prey density and feeding success has been reported in wild T. maccoyii larvae supporting this theory (Young and Davis, 1990). In contrast, the larger first-feeding S. lalandi larvae, which possess a greater endogenous reserve and develop in tropical-temperate eutrophic waters, do not display the same larval predatory ability (Chapters 2 and 3). The consumption of prey has been linked to mortality in cultured larval S. lalandi, as satiated larvae exhibit increased larval body density prior to dusk which is thought to lead to the larvae sinking at night and subsequent mortality (Woolley et al., 2012b). The authors evaluated larval body density to determine the latest time in the day feed could be added and still maintain larval neutral buoyancy at dusk, which significantly reduced larval mortality.

As feeding in larval fish is a learned behaviour, prior feeding experience has the potential to bias first-feeding experiments (Cobcroft et al., 2001; Cox and Pankhurst, 2000; Salgado and Hoyt, 1996; Shaw, 2006). The experiment conducted on 4 dph *T. maccoyii* had the potential to confound the study as experimental animals had prior feeding experience. The results from comparable short-term feeding experiment evaluating *T. maccoyii* feeding response and prey density reported equivalent feeding responses both in terms of the proportion and intensity of *T. maccoyii* 

feeding (Chapter 2) to the current study, suggesting that the results are not confounded.

## 4.5.3 Application of short-term feeding experiments

First-feeding results in the present experiment correlate closely with previous studies investigating the first-feeding response of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* to abiotic and biotic factors (Chapters 2 and 3). While short-term feeding experiments are only a snap-shot of the feeding experience and have limitations (transfer stress, transfer mortality and surface effects due to vessel size), they do allow the rapid collection of well replicated data that identifies species-specific responses to culture variables that warrant further long-term investigation.

# 4.6 Conclusion

My study identified critical differences in the culture requirements of T. maccoyii and S. lalandi larvae. The divergent response to light intensity, both in terms of feeding and mortality, revealed the necessity for low light conditions for the photopically sensitive T. maccoyii larvae and high light conditions for S. lalandi larvae. These results suggest that culture of larval T. maccoyii at lower light intensity should increase survival and growth by improved feeding performance, while also reducing surface and sinking mortality. In contrast, optimal feeding performance in S. lalandi larvae will most likely be achieved at a relatively higher light intensity. While increasing prey density significantly increased prey intake, the greater detection and consumption of prey by T. maccoyii at lower densities indicates the potential to reduce prey densities more rapidly in culture than for S. lalandi. This would allow a reduction in the biological load of the culture system and potentially improve culture economics. My study highlights the importance of elucidating species-specific requirements through larval ontogeny and the need to adapt larval protocols to meet the demands of the rapidly developing larvae.

# 4.7 Acknowledgements

I thank the staff of Clean Seas Tuna Ltd including Morten Deichmann, Adam Miller, Marcell Boaventura, Jamie Crawford, Konrad Czypionka and all of the technical staff. I thank Dr Natalie Moltschaniwskyj for statistical advice. Experiments were conducted in accordance with University of Tasmania Animal Ethics Committee approval number A0010990. I thank the Australian Seafood CRC for funding the study. The Australian Seafood CRC is established and supported under the Australian Government's Cooperative Research Centres Programme. Other investors in the CRC are the Fisheries Research and Development Corporation, Seafood CRC company members, and supporting participants.

# 4.8 References

- Blackstock, N., Pickering, A.D., 1982. Changes in the concentration and histochemistry of epidermal mucous cells during the alevin and fry stages of the brown trout *Salmo trutta*. Journal of Zoology. 197, 463–471.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., 1975. The eyes of larval fish. In: M.A. Ali (Ed.). Vision in fishes. New York, Plenum Press, pp. 427-444.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., 1986. Development of sense-organs and behavior of teleost larvae with special reference to feeding and predator avoidance. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society. 115, 98-114.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., Staines, M., 1970. Pure-cone retinae and retinomotor responses in larval teleosts. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom. 50, 449-464.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., Staines, M.E., 1971. Food searching potential in marine fish larvae. D.J. Crisp (Ed.). Fourth European Marine Biology Symposium, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 467-485.
- Boehlert, G.W., Mundy, B.C., 1994. Vertical and onshore-offshore distributional patterns of tuna larvae in relation to physical habitat features. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 107, 1-13.

- Campbell, A.C., Buswell, J.A., 1983. The intestinal microflora of farmed dover sole (*Solea solea*) at different stages of fish development. Journal of Applied Bacteriology. 55, 215-223.
- Carton, A.G., 2005. The impact of light intensity and algal-induced turbidity on first-feeding *Seriola lalandi* larvae. Aquaculture Research. 36, 1588-1594.
- Chatain, B., 1994. Abnormal swimbladder development and lordosis in sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) and sea bream (*Sparus auratus*) Aquaculture. 119, 371-379.
- Chen, B.N., Qin, J.G., Kumar, M.S., Hutchinson, W., Clarke, S., 2006.
   Ontogenetic development of the digestive system in yellowtail kingfish *Seriola lalandi* larvae. Aquaculture. 256, 489-501.
- Cobcroft, J.M., 2013. Improving hatchery production of yellowtail kingfish larvae and fingerlings. Australian Seafood Cooperative Research Centre. Institute for Marine and Antartic Studies, Hobart. Project N°. 2010/ 753, pp 97.
- Cobcroft, J.M., Pankhurst, P.M., Hart, P.R., Battaglene, S.C., 2001. The effects of light intensity and algae-induced turbidity on feeding behaviour of larval striped trumpeter. Journal of Fish Biology. 59, 1181-1197.
- Cobcroft, J.M., Battaglene, S., Boaventura, M., Chen, B., Deichmann, M., Elizur, A., Fielder, S.D., Hilder, P.I., Hutchinson, W., Knuckey, R., Qin, J.G., Schipp, G., Thomson, M., 2012. Investigating the larval culture requirements of southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii*, for aquaculture in Australia. GCOE Symposium, Kinki University 23-24 November, Kushimoto City, Japan, pp. 43-49.
- Cox, E.S., Pankhurst, P.M., 2000. Feeding behaviour of greenback flounder larvae, *Rhombosolea tapirina* (Günther) with differing exposure histories to live prey. Aquaculture. 183, 285-297.
- Davis, T.L.O., Jenkins, G.P., Young, J.W., 1990. Diel patterns of vertical distribution in larvae of southern bluefin tuna *Thunnus maccoyii*, and other tuna in the east-Indian Ocean. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 59, 63-74.

- Davis, T.L.O., Lyne, V., Jenkins, G.P., 1991. Advection, dispersion and mortality of a patch of southern bluefin tuna larvae *Thunnus maccoyii* in the east-Indian Ocean. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 73, 33-45.
- Divanach, P., Papandroulakis, N., Anastasiadis, P., Koumoundouros, G., Kentouri, M., 1997. Effect of water currents on the development of skeletal deformities in sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax* L.) with functional swimbladder during postlarval and nursery phase. Aquaculture. 156, 145-155.
- Dou, S., Seikai, T., Tsukamoto, K., 2000. Feeding behaviour of Japanese flounder larvae under laboratory conditions. Journal of Fish Biology. 56, 654-666.
- Downing, G., Litvak, M.K., 2001. The effect of light intensity and spectrum on the incidence of first feeding by larval haddock. Journal of Fish Biology. 59, 1566-1578.
- Fernald, R.D., 1989. Fish Vision. In: B. Finlay and D. Sengelaub (Eds). Development of the vertebrate retina, Plenum Press, New York and London, pp. 247-265.
- Gerking, S.D., 1994. Feeding ecology of fish. Academic Press, San Diego, CA., pp. 416.
- Gimenez, G., Estevez, A., 2008. Effect of larval and prey density, prey dose and light conditions on first feeding common dentex (*Dentex dentex* L.) larvae. Aquaculture Research. 39, 77-84.
- Govoni, J.J., Hoss, D.E., Chester, A.J., 1983. Comparative feeding of 3 species of larval fishes in the northern Gulf of Mexico *Brevoortia patronus*, *Leiostomus xanthurus*, and *Micropogonias undulatus*. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 13, 189-199.
- Hjort, J., 1914. Fluctuations in the great fisheries of northern Europe viewed in the light of biological reserach. Rapports et Procesverbaux des Reunions, Conseil International pour l'Exploration de la Mer. 20, pp. 1-228.
- Houde, E.D., Schekter, R.C., 1980. Feeding by marine fish larvae developmental and fuctional responses. Environmental Biology of Fishes. 5, 315-334.

Hutchinson, W., 2009. Southern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus maccoyii*) larval rearing advances at the South Australian Research and Development Institute and Collaborating Institutions. The 2nd global COE program symposium of Kinki University, 2009.
"Sustainable aquaculture of the bluefin and yellowfin tuna - Closing the life cycle for commercial production" Proceedings, pp. 38-42.

Ishibashi, Y., Honryo, T., Saida, K., Hagiwara, A., Miyashita, S., Sawada, Y., Okada, T., Kurata, M., 2009. Artificial lighting prevents high night-time mortality of juvenile Pacific bluefin tuna, *Thunnus orientalis*, caused by poor scotopic vision. Aquaculture. 293, 157-163.

- Jenkins, G.P., Young, J.W., Davis, T.L.O., 1991. Density dependence of larval growth of a marine fish, the southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii.* Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 48, 1358-1363.
- Job, S.D., Bellwood, D.R., 2000. Light sensitivity in larval fishes: Implications for vertical zonation in the pelagic zone. Limnology and Oceanography. 45, 362-371.
- Johns, P.R., 1982. Formation of photoreceptors in larval and adult goldfish. Journal of Neuroscience. 2, 178-198.
- Johnson, D.W., Katavic, I., 1984. Mortality, growth and swimbladder stress syndrome of sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) larvae under varied environmental conditions Aquaculture. 38, 67-78.
- Kaji, T., Yamaoka, K., Isshiki, T., Yamada, T., 1995. Mucous cell development on the body surface in larvae of the red-spotted grouper, *Epinephelus akaara*. Bulletin of Marine Sciences and Fisheries, Kochi University, 15 117–120.
- Kaji, T., Tanaka, M., Takahashi, Y., Oka, M., Ishibashi, N., 1996.
  Preliminary observations on development of Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus thynnus* (Scombridae) larvae reared in the laboratory, with special reference to the digestive system. Marine and Freshwater Research. 47, 261-269.
- Kawamura, G., Masuma, S., Tezuka, N., Koiso, M., Jinbo, T., Namba, K., 2003. Morphogenesis of sense organs in the bluefin tuna *Thunnus*

*orientalis*. In: H.I. Browman and A.B. Skiftesvik, A.B. (Eds). 36th Annual larval conference, Bergen, Norway, pp. 123-135.

- Kawamura, G., Nishimura, W., Ueda, S., Nishi, T., 1981. Colour vision and spectral sensitivity in tunas and marlins. Bulletin of the Japanese Society of Scientific Fisheries. 47, 481-485.
- Kjørsvik, E., Pittman, K., Pavlov, D., 2004. From fertilisation to the end of metamorphosis-functional development. In: E. Moksness, E.
  Kjørsvik and Y. Olsen (Eds). Culture of cold-water marine fish, Blackwell Publishing, Oxford, UK, pp. 204 - 277.
- Kotrschal, K., Adam, H., Brandstatter, R., Junger, H., Zaunreiter, M.,
  Goldschmid, A., 1990. Larval size constraints determine directional ontogenic shifts in the visual-system of teleosts - a mini review.
  Zeitschrift für Zoologische Systematik und Evolutionsforschung. 28, 166-182.
- Kurata M, Seoka M, Nakagawa Y, Ishibashi Y, Kumai H, Sawada Y.,
  2012. Promotion of initial swimbladder inflation in Pacific bluefin tuna, *Thunnus orientalis* (Temminck et Schlegel), larvae.
  Aquaculture Research, 43, 1296-1305.
- Margulies, D., 1997. Development of the visual system and inferred performance capabilities of larval and early juvenile scombrids. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. 30, 75-98.
- Marty, G.D., Hinton, D.E., Cech, J.J., 1995. Oxygen consumption by larval Japanese medaka with inflated or uninflated swimbladders. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society. 124, 623-627.
- Matsuura, R., Sawada, Y., Ishibashi, Y., 2010. Development of visual cells in the Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis*. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry. 36, 391-402.

Mueller, K.P., Neuhauss, S.C.F., 2010. Behavioral neurobiology: How larval fish orient towards the light. Current Biology. 20, R159-R161.

Muroga, K., Higashi, M., Keitoku, H., 1987. The isolation of intestinal microflora of farmed red seabream (*Pagrus major*) and black bream (*Acanthopagrus schlegeli*) at larval and juvenile stages Aquaculture. 65, 79-88.

- Pankhurst, P.M., Hilder, P.E., 1998. Effect of light intensity on feeding of striped trumpeter *Latris lineata* larvae. Marine and Freshwater Research. 49, 363-368.
- Peruzzi, S., Westgaard, J.I., Chatain, B., 2007. Genetic investigation of swimbladder inflation anomalies in the European sea bass, *Dicentrarchus labrax* L. Aquaculture. 265, 102-108.
- Robert, D., Castonguay, M., Fortier, L., 2009. Effects of preferred prey density and temperature on feeding success and recent growth in larval mackerel of the southern Gulf of St. Lawrence. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 377, 227-237.
- Rochford, D.J., 1962. Hydrology of the Indian Ocean. 2. The surface waters of the southeast Indian Ocean and Arafura Sea in the spring and summer. Australian Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research. 13, pp. 226-251.
- Salgado, S.D., Hoyt, R.D., 1996. Early behavior formation in fathead minnow larvae, *Pimephales promelas*: Implications for sensory function. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. 28, 91-106.
- Saillant, E., Fostier, A., Haffray, P., Menu, B., Chatain, B., 2003. Saline preferendum for the European sea bass, *Dicentrarchus labrax*, larvae and juveniles: effect of salinity on early development and sex determination. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology. 287, 103-117.
- Sawada, Y., Okada, T., Miyashita, S., Murata, O., Kumai, H., 2005.
  Completion of the Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis* (Temminck et Schlegel) life cycle. Aquaculture Research. 36, 413-421.
- Seljeset, O., Vollset, K.W., Folkvord, A., Geffen, A.J., 2010. The role of prey concentration and size range in the growth and survival of larval cod. Marine Biology Research. 6, 251-262.
- Shaw, G.W., 2006. Feeding behaviour of greenback flounder and striped trumpeter larvae in green water culture. Thesis, (PhD) University of Tasmania, pp. 209.

- Shoji, J., Tanaka, M., 2004. Effect of prey concentration on growth of piscivorous Japanese Spanish mackerel Scomberomorus niphonius larvae in the Seto Inland Sea, Japan. Journal of Applied Ichthyology. 20, 271-275.
- Slembrouck, J., Baras, E., Subagja, J., Hung, L.T., Legendre, M., 2009. Survival, growth and food conversion of cultured larvae of *Pangasianodon hypophthalmus*, depending on feeding level, prey density and fish density. Aquaculture. 294, 52-59.
- Smith, A.E., 1987. Genetic variation and dispersal of the yellowtail kingfish, Seriola lalandi from New South Wales waters. Thesis, (Hons) University of New South Wales, pp. 35.
- Stuart, K.R., Drawbridge, M., 2011. The effect of light intensity and green water on survival and growth of cultured larval California yellowtail (*Seriola lalandi*). Aquaculture. 321, 152-156.
- Sumida, B.Y., Moser, H.G., Ahlstrom, E.H., 1985. Descriptions of larvae of California yellowtail Seriola lalandi, and three other carangids from the eastern tropical Pacific: Chlorosconbrus orquets, Caranx caballus, and Caranx sexfasciatus. California Cooperative Oceanic Fisheries Investigations, 26, 139-159.
- Trotter, A.J., Pankhurst, P.M., Morehead, D.T., Battaglene, S.C., 2003.
  Effects of temperature on initial swim bladder inflation and related development in cultured striped trumpeter (*Latris lineata*) larvae.
  Aquaculture. 221, 141-156.
- Woolley, L.D., Fielder, S.D., Qin, J.G., 2012. Swimbladder inflation, growth and survival of yellowtail kingfish *Seriola lalandi* (Valenciennes, 1833) larvae under different temperature, light and oxygen conditions. Aquaculture Research. DOI: 10.1111/are.12097.
- Woolley, L.D., Fielder, S., Qin, J.G., 2013. Swimbladder inflation associated with body density change and larval survival in southern bluefin tuna *Thunnus maccoyii*. Aquaculture International. DOI 10.1007/s10499-013-9626-9.
- Yamaoka, K., Nanbu, T., Miyagawa, M., Isshiki, T., Kusaka, A., 2000. Water surface tension-related deaths in prelarval red-spotted grouper. Aquaculture. 189, 165-176.

- Yoseda, K., Yamamoto, K., Asami, K., Chimura, M., Hashimoto, K., Kosaka, S., 2008. Influence of light intensity on feeding, growth, and early survival of leopard coral grouper (*Plectropomus leopardus*) larvae under mass-scale rearing conditions. Aquaculture. 279, 55-62.
- Young, J.W., Davis, T.L.O., 1990. Feeding ecology of larvae of southern bluefin, albacore and skipjack tunas (Pisces: Scombridae) in the eastern Indian Ocean. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 61, 17-29.

Chapter 5. Ontogeny of the retina and visual pigments in larval and juvenile southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii*, and yellowtail kingfish, *Seriola lalandi*: Implications for feeding

#### 5.1 Abstract

The visual development of southern bluefin tuna, Thunnus maccoyii, and yellowtail kingfish, Seriola lalandi, larvae was investigated to identify developmental sequences and any species-specific retinal adaptations that may have implications for understanding both the requirements for culture and larval ecology in the wild. The study included a histological examination of retinal anatomy, microspectrophotometry of retinal photoreceptors and behavioural analysis of feeding performance. Firstfeeding T. maccovii and S. lalandi  $(3.4 \pm 0.2 \text{ mm and } 4.5 \pm 0.1 \text{ mm})$ standard length, respectively) possessed only single cone photoreceptors and, based on the spacing of adjacent photoreceptors and focal length, had similar maximum theoretical visual acuities  $(1.2 \pm 0.1^{\circ})$  and  $1.1 \pm 0.1^{\circ}$ , respectively). Rods and twin cones were present in the retina of T. *maccovii* and *S. lalandi* by 21 days post-hatching (dph)  $(8.3 \pm 0.2 \text{ mm and})$  $10.0 \pm 0.1$  mm larval fork length, respectively) with cone mosaic patterns observed in S. lalandi at 21 dph but not until 30 dph in T. maccoyii (21.0 ± 4.2 mm larval fork length). Intra-retinal variations in the density of photoreceptors and ganglion cells were inferred from transverse sections of the retina. Thunnus maccoyii displayed high cell density in the ventral retinal region (cones, bipolar and horizontal cells), had half the convergence of cone cells on to ganglion cells compared to S. lalandi, double the available photon capture area (at first-feeding), and earlier development of retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) migration, which is associated with the retinomotor response. Microspectrophotometry showed that *T. maccoyii* had twin cone visual pigments maximally sensitive to light in the blue-green part of the spectrum ( $\lambda_{max}$  494 nm, 507 nm and 524 nm), and behavioural experiments showed they fed preferentially at these wavelengths. In contrast, S. lalandi, displayed high cell density in the dorsal retinal region (rod and photoreceptor nuclei) and spectral sensitivity of the twin cones in the green spectral regions ( $\lambda_{max}$ ) 504 nm and 519 nm) with single cones also displaying violet sensitivity  $(\lambda_{max}$  415 nm). Behavioural feeding experiments showed that S. lalandi had improved feeding under red light. High photopic acuity and photopic

sensitivity observed in *T. maccoyii* is hypothesised to be most likely associated with feeding in low light conditions, inferring possible adaptation to life in deeper oceanic waters and the ability to forage in low light intensities during dawn and dusk. In contrast, the *S. lalandi* visual apparatus provided high acuity for feeding under high light conditions in surface waters.

### **5.2 Introduction**

Vision is considered the primary sense required for feeding in many marine finfish larvae, with the ability to see being ultimately dependent upon the capture of photons by the photoreceptors (cones and rods) via visual pigments, irrespective of the visual environment (Batty and Hoyt, 1995; Blaxter, 1986; Lythgoe and Partridge, 1991). Cones restrict feeding to conditions of high light intensity (photopic vision) and provide fish with visual acuity i.e., the detection of visual targets at distance with increasing perception of detail as the target moves closer to the eye (Fernald, 1989; Fritsches et al., 2003a). In contrast, rods increase the sensitivity of vision in low light enabling the detection of visual targets in lower light conditions (scotopic vision), and increase movement detection (Fernald, 1989). The full retinal complement, consisting of both cones and rods, provides fish with concurrent resolving power, acuity and sensitivity (Kotrschal et al., 1990).

In general, the type of photoreceptor present in first-feeding larval fish is restricted to a pure cone retina due to the physical constraints of a small eye (Kotrschal et al., 1990). Consequently, acuity is utilised at the expense of sensitivity. It is likely that visual acuity is of far greater importance to small pelagic larvae for the detection of prey than the ability to see in lower light levels. A small number of species, however, do show a duplex retina at the beginning of exogenous feeding, as seen in the spiny damsel fish, Acanthochromis polyacanthus, and the zebrafish, Danio rerio (Pankhurst et al., 2002; Raymond et al., 1995). However, the larvae of these species generally exhibit direct development, hatching as larger larvae in an advanced stage of morphological development, where the larval pelagic phase is reduced or absent (Balon, 1999). For the majority of fish, increased larval growth and larger eyes provide space for ongoing retinal development, although the visual capacity between species differs due to the retinal complement and the developmental rate (Blaxter, 1986; Johns, 1982; Kawamura et al., 2003; Kotrschal et al., 1990).

Previous behavioural studies investigating the effect of light intensity on the feeding response of larval southern bluefin tuna, Thunnus maccoyii, and yellowtail kingfish, Seriola lalandi, revealed distinct differences in the light intensities that promoted feeding between the two species (Chapters 3 and 4). Soon after first-feeding, high levels of feeding were observed in *T. maccoyii* at lower light intensities indicating either a preference for feeding in low light and/or a physiological sensitivity to low light conditions. This is unusual compared to S. lalandi larvae and many other marine finfish larvae, which display improved feeding response as light intensity increases (Blaxter, 1986; Carton, 2005; Cobcroft et al., 2001; Pankhurst and Hilder, 1998; Stuart and Drawbridge, 2011; Villamizar et al., 2011). This is likely an example of the evolution of the visual system of fishes to match their specific visual habitat among the diversity of aquatic habitats available (Guthrie and Muntz, 1993). As retinal morphology is restricted by size constraints, it would appear that larval fish possess the optimum retinal complement necessary for survival in their environment (Kotrschal et al., 1990). The preference for feeding in lower light conditions by T. maccovii may reflect retinal adaptations that increase photon capture and neural processing necessary for target detection in conditions of low light. Conversely, the preference for feeding in high light environments by S. lalandi most likely reflects a visual adaptation for target detection in conditions where light intensity is not a limiting factor.

Previous histological studies have investigated the theoretical visual acuity in *S. lalandi*, however, photoreceptor development and the measurement of other retinal indices were not included (Carton and Vaughan, 2010; Miyagi et al., 2001). No histological study to my knowledge has examined the visual development in *T. maccoyii*, although the retinal development of the closely related Pacific bluefin tuna, *Thunnus orientalis*, has been investigated (Kawamura et al., 2003; Matsuura et al., 2010).

Bottlenecks in the commercial development and hatchery production of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* aquaculture industries include major mortality in the first two weeks of culture in *T. maccoyii* and high rates of malformation and lack of swimbladder inflation in *S. lalandi* (Battaglene and Cobcroft,

2007; Hutchinson, 2009). It is likely that the bottlenecks in the culture of both species are associated with early larval development, highlighting the need for a greater understanding of this stage (Cobcroft, 2013; Cobcroft et al., 2012; Hutchinson, 2009; Woolley et al., 2012; Woolley et al., 2013).

In order to identify mechanisms responsible for differences in photopic sensitivity between *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* and to gain an understanding of species-specific visual ontogeny and rearing requirements, my study undertook a multidisciplinary approach to assessing visual ability. Investigation of visual capacity using several methods has the advantage of providing insights into retinal mechanisms underlying visual performance (Utne-Palm and Bowmaker, 2006). Histology of the retina reveals eye morphology, photoreceptor complement, photoreceptor diameter and arrangement, theoretical visual acuity and retinomotor response (Kotrschal et al., 1990; Pankhurst and Hilder, 1998). Microspectrophotometry allows measurement of the spectral absorbance of photoreceptor visual pigments (Shand et al., 2002; Ullmann et al., 2011), and behavioural experiments define larval functional visual ability (Carton, 2005; Cobcroft et al., 2001).

In the present study, I describe the development of the visual system in both *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* larvae. Ontogeny of visual morphology is discussed in relation to the sequential development of photoreceptors, while also investigating cellular density, photoreceptor diameter, convergence of photoreceptors on to ganglion cells and the response of the retina to light and dark conditions (expressed as the retinomotor response) (Ali, 1959). Spectral sensitivity of larval visual pigments was measured directly by microspectrophotometry and indirectly through behavioural experiments which visually challenged early-feeding larvae to feed in different light spectra. The aim of the study was to compare the visual ontogeny of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* in order to identify developmental sequences and any species-specific retinal changes that may have implications for understanding larval ecology in the wild and the requirements for culture in the laboratory.

### **5.3 Materials and Methods**

#### 5.3.1 Embryo supply and incubation

*Thunnus maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* embryos were supplied by Clean Seas Tuna Ltd from their hatchery facility in Arno Bay, South Australia during January 2012. *Thunnus maccoyii* embryos were incubated in 450 L tanks at a stocking density of 200 eggs L<sup>-1</sup> under ambient light conditions with water quality parameters maintained at  $25.2 \pm 0.5$  <sup>o</sup>C (mean ± standard deviation here and throughout), dissolved oxygen 97.5 ± 2.3%, pH 7.8 ± 0.3, salinity 37.2 ± 0.1 ‰ and water exchange rate of 200% h<sup>-1</sup>. *Seriola lalandi* embryos were incubated under similar conditions in 380 L tanks at a stocking density of 120 eggs L<sup>-1</sup> under ambient light conditions with water quality parameters maintained at 22.3 ± 1.0 <sup>o</sup>C, dissolved oxygen 96.5 ± 2.0%, pH 8.1 ± 0.5, salinity 38.0 ± 0.1 ‰ with a water exchange rate of 20 % h<sup>-1</sup>.

### 5.3.2 Larval rearing

#### 5.3.2.1 Thunnus maccoyii larval rearing

Newly-hatched embryos were transferred into larviculture tanks immediately after hatching and reared in a green coloured, 13,500 L, cylindrical, flat-bottomed, fibreglass tank at a density of  $3 \pm 1$  larvae L<sup>-1</sup>. Light from a fluorescent light source, halogen source and ambient sunlight provided a photoperiod of 14: 10 (h L: D) with an average intensity of 60 µmol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> at the water surface. Light intensity was measured using a Li-Cor LI-250 light meter with an underwater flat quantum sensor LI-1925A (calibrated to air). Water quality parameters were maintained at 25.0 ± 0.1 <sup>o</sup>C, dissolved oxygen 108.0 ± 6.5%, salinity 37.0 ± 0.5 ‰ and pH of 8.0 ± 0.5. Water was exchanged at 22% h<sup>-1</sup> and introduced at the base of the tank to provide an upwelling current. Larval standard length (SL) measured from the tip of upper jaw to the end of the notochord (n = 4) and eye diameter, measured on a dorso-ventral axis (n = 8), were recorded from hatch (0 days post-hatching (dph)) to 30 dph. Relative eye size (( eye diameter / standard length) x 100) was also recorded.

## 5.3.2.2. Seriola lalandi larval rearing

Newly-hatched embryos were transferred immediately after hatch and reared in a green coloured, 380 L, cylindro-conical fibreglass tank, at a density of  $15 \pm 1$  larvae L<sup>-1</sup>. A single fluorescent tube provided a photoperiod of 14: 10 (h L: D) with an intensity of 58.8 µmol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> at the water surface. Water quality parameters were maintained at 23.0 ± 2.0  $^{0}$ C, dissolved oxygen 95 ± 5%, salinity 38.0 ± 0.3 ‰ and pH of 8.1 ± 0.2. A single air-stone generated upwelling water current and water was exchanged at 20% h<sup>-1</sup>. Larval standard length, eye diameter and relative eye size was recorded as for *T. maccoyii*.

## 5.3.2.3 Live feeds and turbidity

Large-strain rotifers, *Brachionus plicatilis*, enriched with Spirit<sup>®</sup> INVE, were added to the larviculture tanks from 3 dph and 2 dph for *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi*, respectively, at a density of 5 rotifers mL<sup>-1</sup>. A turbidity of 2.5 ± 0.5 nephelometric turbidity units (NTU) from first-feeding was achieved through the addition of algal paste (Nanno 3600<sup>®</sup> Reed Mariculture, California). *Artemia* sp. (enriched with Ori-green<sup>®</sup> Skretting, a.m. feed and Spresso<sup>®</sup> INVE, p.m. feed) were added at a density of 0.1 metanauplii mL<sup>-1</sup> from 8 dph onwards. From 15 dph *T. maccoyii* larvae were fed newly hatched *S. lalandi* larvae at a density of 0.5 larvae L<sup>-1</sup>, increasing to 25 larvae L<sup>-1</sup> by 25 dph.

## 5.3.3 Larval retinal histology

Ontogeny of visual morphology and the retinomotor response was determined through histology. Prior sampling of *T. maccoyii* larvae from commercial culture tanks (under normal light conditions) revealed unusually large quantities of retinal pigmentation when examined by histological analysis, preventing accurate quantification of individual photoreceptors. Consequently, retinal cell morphology for both species was determined from dark-adapted larvae, where larvae were exposed to two hours of total darkness prior to euthanasia by anaesthetic (0.06% 2-phenoxyethanol). Two larvae of each species from an age series (3, 9, 12,

15, 21 and 30 dph) were sampled for histological analysis. Larvae were fixed in 5% glutaraldehyde in phosphate buffer 0.1M, (pH 7.4, containing 20 gL<sup>-1</sup> sucrose) at 4 <sup>0</sup>C for 24 h then washed three times for 10 minutes in 0.1M phosphate buffer solution (pH 7.4) prior to storage in 70% ethanol. Bones were decalcified in larger larvae (>15 dph) by soaking in 10% formic acid solution for 24 h, then washed three times for 10 minutes in a 0.1 M phosphate buffer solution (ph 7.4) prior to storage in 70% ethanol. Samples were then dehydrated through an ascending series of ethanol solutions (i.e., 90% and 100%) with 10 minute in each solution. Larvae were embedded in glycol methacrylate resin (JB4, Agar Scientific Ltd, UK) and serially sectioned at 2.0 µm in the transverse plane using a Microm (Heidelberg HM340) microtome fitted with a glass knife. Sections were airdried and stained with Lee's Methylene Blue- Basic Fuchsin prior to mounting with a coverslip using TBS<sup>®</sup> Toluene-based liquid mounting medium. Sections were examined under light microscopy at a magnification of 400x and 1000x.

## 5.3.4 Retinal morphometric measurements

Retinal measurements were made on histological sections using image analysis software (LAS, EZ Leica applications). Cellular density measurements were taken from both eyes of each larva in the transverse section that had the largest eye diameter. One 50 µm transect was counted in the dorsal, medial and ventral retinal region of each eye. Cell layer thickness measurements were taken from three transects perpendicular to the retinal layers in the dorsal, medial and ventral region for each retina. The available light path was measured from the external limiting membrane to the base of the retinal pigment epithelium as defined by Pankhurst (1987). The inclusion of the retinal pigment epithelium in the calculation allows a truer measurement of the light path, than just the outer segments alone, as the tips of the outer segments can be covered by the retinal pigment epithelium and rod outer segments are known to extend almost to the base of the retinal pigment epithelium (N. Pankhurst pers. comm).

# 5.3.4.1 Linear cell density

Linear cone cell density (cones. 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined by counting the prominent cone ellipsoids in the outer nuclear layer (ONL). Partial cells overlapping the transect on the left side were counted but not those overlapping on the right for consistency in counting. Linear rod cell density (rods. 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined indirectly by counting the photoreceptor nuclei in the ONL and subtracting the number of cone ellipsoids present. Linear ganglion cell density (ganglion cells. 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined indirectly by counting the right for consistency in counting the number of cone ellipsoids present. Linear ganglion cell density (ganglion cells. 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined by counting all cell nuclei present in a 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined by counting all cell nuclei present in a 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined by counting all cell nuclei present in a 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined by counting all cell nuclei present in a 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined by counting all cell nuclei present in a 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined by counting all cell nuclei present in a 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined by counting all cell nuclei present in a 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined by counting all cell nuclei present in a 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined by counting all cell nuclei present in a 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined by counting all cell nuclei present in a 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined by counting all cell nuclei present in a 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined by counting all cell nuclei present in a 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined by counting all cell nuclei present in a 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined by counting all cell nuclei present in a 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined by counting all cell nuclei present in a 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined by counting all cell nuclei present in a 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined by counting all cell nuclei present in a 0.05 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) was determined by counting all cell nuclei pre

# 5.3.4.2. Angular cell density

Angular cell density per ten minutes of visual arc on the retina (cones. 10' visual arc<sup>-1</sup>) was calculated firstly using the formula from Neave (1984):

where  $\emptyset$  is the angle an image subtends on the retinal transect, *h* is the transect length halved, *f* is the focal length calculated as *r* x 2.55 (lens radius multiplied by Matthiessen's ratio 2.55) and *v* is the distance from the external limiting membrane to the ganglion cell layer (*v* was only used for calculation of the angular density of ganglion cells as the ganglion cell layer is distorted in small larval eyes) (Poling and Fuiman, 1998; Vandermeer, 1994). Secondly, calculation of cells per 10' visual arc<sup>-1</sup> was achieved by:

Cells 10'visual arc = ((linear cell density / 
$$(\emptyset \times 57.3))$$
 /60) x 10

Where *linear cell density* is cells per transect length (100  $\mu$ m) Ø is angular cell density per ten minutes of visual arc on the retina, 57.3 is the conversion of radians to degrees, 60 converts to minutes and 10 provides the number of cells per 10 minutes of visual arc.

# 5.3.4.3 Theoretical visual acuity

Theoretical visual acuity (minimum separable angle) (MSA) was calculated as a function of cone density and focal length of the lens using the formula:

where  $\alpha$  is the MSA, f = focal length, d = cone cell density (cells. 0.1 mm<sup>-1</sup> retina) 10 converts the linear density per 100 µm transect to cells/mm and 1.11 accommodates a 10% shrinkage factor during histological preparation (Neave, 1984).

# 5.3.4.4 Convergence of photoreceptors on to ganglion cells

The convergence of photoreceptors on to ganglion cells was determined by dividing the angular density of photoreceptors by the angular density of ganglion cells (due to the small size of the eyes) in the dorsal, medial and ventral retinal regions. A ratio higher than 1:1 indicated more than one photoreceptor converging on to each ganglion cell.

# 5.3.4.5 Cone cell diameter

Cone cell diameter was measured from transverse sections at the point where the largest, non-distorted circular ellipsoid section was encountered (n = 30 ellipsoids measured per species per age).

# 5.3.4.6 Available photon capture area

To determine the possible photon capture area in relation to ganglion cell convergence, the area of the cone (A) was calculated from mean ellipsoid radius (r), (A =  $\pi r^2$ ) and divided by the convergence ratio of the cones on to ganglion cells.

# 5.3.5 Retinomotor response

To examine the development of the retinomotor response, larvae were randomly sampled from the culture tank and either dark-adapted for two hours in total darkness or light-adapted for two hours under a single broad spectrum fluorescent tube (NEC tri-phosphor 18 watt, FL20SSBR/ 18-HG, T8) at a light intensity of  $17 \pm 2 \mu \text{mol s}^{-1} \text{m}^{-2}$ . After light or dark adaption, larvae were euthanised using 0.06% 2- phenoxyethanol prior to fixation, embedding and histological analysis using the methods previously described.

Retinal index (retinomotor response) was measured as a function of:

## p/v and m/v

Where p = the thickness of the retinal pigment epithelium layer, v = the thickness from the outer edge of the retinal pigment epithelium to the external limiting membrane and m = the length of the cone myoid (Ali, 1959; Masuma et al., 2001; Torisawa et al., 2007). Three measurements were made for each retinal region (i.e., dorsal, medial and ventral region) from the left and right eye of each fish.

### 5.3.6 Microspectrophotometry

### 5.3.6.1 Retinal preservation for microspectrophotometry analysis

Larvae were collected from the rearing tank every third day from 3 dph to 30 dph and transferred into a 500 mL container before being placed into a 0.3 m<sup>3</sup> black box which eliminated all light. Larvae were left for two hours before being euthanised using 0.06% 2- phenoxyethanol and then dissected (in the dark) using an 860 nm infrared illuminator LED light source (All things Sales and Service, Western Australia) aided by a Sony HDR-CX500 handy cam operated in night mode with the screen external to the black box. Larvae were dissected in phosphate buffered saline (425 mosmol kg<sup>-1</sup>, Oxoid BROO14G Dulbecco A). Retinal samples for small larvae (3 to 12 dph) were collected by severing the whole head for analysis. Samples for larger larvae (15 dph to 30 dph) were collected by individual eye dissection. The retinal samples were placed on a N°.1 thickness 24 x 60 mm coverslip with the addition of one drop of freezing medium. The freezing medium was adapted from Cummings and Partridge (2001) and consisted of phosphate buffered saline (425 mosmol kg<sup>-1</sup>, Oxoid BROO14G Dulbecco A), 10% Dextran 150,000 MW (SIGMA) and 15% Dextran 9,000 - 11,000 MW (SIGMA). The tissue was

macerated using a scalpel blade and/or teased apart with needles to dislodge individual photoreceptors from the surrounding tissue. The preparation was covered with a smaller coverslip and gentle pressure was applied for three seconds to remove surplus fluid prior to sealing with clear nail polish. Retinal preparations were placed in a light-proof container and then progressively cooled for two hours at 4 <sup>o</sup>C then two hours at -20 <sup>o</sup>C followed by storage at -80 <sup>o</sup>C. MSP samples were transported from Arno Bay, South Australia to the University of Western Australia on dry ice and then stored at -80 <sup>o</sup>C for later microspectrophotometry analysis.

### 5.3.6.2 Microspectrophotometry analysis

The spectral absorbance of photoreceptors was measured using a microspectrophotometer as previously described in Hart (2004) and Hart et al., (2011). In brief, spectral absorbance curves for the outer segments of rods, cones and twin cones were obtained using a single-beam wavelength-scanning microspectrophotometer. A pre-bleach sample scan of the outer segment recorded the amount of transmitted light across the spectrum from 330 nm to 800 nm. A baseline scan was then made in an area free of tissue close to the outer segment. The ratio between the transmission of light for the sample scan and baseline scan was converted to absorbance to create a pre-bleach spectrum. Afterwards, each outer segment was bleached with white light for two minutes and a sample scan and baseline scan were repeated to create a post-bleach spectrum. This provided confirmation that the visual pigments were photoliable. A bleaching difference spectrum was calculated by subtracting the postbleach spectrum from the pre-bleach spectrum. The width and minimum length of each photoreceptor was measured. Definitive classification of photoreceptor type (i.e., single cone, twin cone and rod) was complicated as the freezing process and/or sourcing the photoreceptors from small larval fish meant the classical morphological appearance of rods and cones was not obvious. Twin cones were identified by the appearance of paired, morphologically similar photoreceptors; rods were identified as outer segments greater than 20 µm long and single cones were identified

in younger larval fish possessing a simplex retina. All remaining photoreceptors were categorised as unknown.

Only spectra that satisfied selection criteria as described in Hart et al., (1998) were retained for analysis. Absorbance spectra were analysed according to methods described in Hart (2004) and Hart, et al., (2011). *Thunnus maccoyii* data was fitted to an A1 template. A running average was fitted for *S. lalandi* as data appeared to be a mix of A1 and A2 pigments. In brief, data were smoothed by applying a variable-point unweighted running average and the wavelength of maximum absorbance ( $\lambda_{max}$ ) estimated from a regression line fitted to the long wavelength limb of the data between 70% and 30% normalized maximum.

## 5.3.7 Short term feeding experiments

Short-term feeding experiments were conducted on the second day of feeding for both T. maccovii (4 dph) and S. lalandi (3 dph), as previous S. *lalandi* experiments had revealed poor feeding responses in experimental aquaria on 2 dph. The experimental procedure for the short-term feeding experiments follows that reported in Chapters 2 and 3. In brief, the experimental design consisted of four replicates for each treatment, i.e., blue, white and red light, with 30 larvae placed in each replicate 3 L aguarium. A similar light intensity was provided across all spectral treatments  $(7.0 \pm 1.0 \mu \text{mol s}^{-1} \text{ m}^{-2})$  with an Aquaillumination Sol Super blue module LED (C2 Development Inc., Iowa) providing blue light which emitted wavelengths between 450 nm and 480 nm, a single fluorescent tube (NEC tri-phosphor 18 watt, FL20SSBR/ 18-HG, T8) providing white light that emitted energy of wavelengths between 400 – 500 nm and 600 – 700 nm and a single fluorescent tube (Philips TL-D 18W/15 red) providing red light emitting wavelengths between 600 nm - 680 nm. Rotifers were added at a density of 2 rotifers mL<sup>-1</sup>. Larvae were left undisturbed to feed for four hours then terminally sampled and microscopically examined for the presence of ingested rotifers. The proportion of feeding and intensity of feeding was recorded as mean  $\pm$  sd (n = 4).

The proportion feeding was calculated as percentage of the population feeding:

Proportion feeding = feeding larvae / live larvae x 100

and feeding intensity, expressed as rotifers larva<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup>, was calculated as:

Feeding intensity = rotifers ingested per feeding larva / 240 min

#### 5.3.8 Adult retinae

A single adult retina was collected from a freshly dead *T. maccoyii* broodstock (127.1 kg, 179.7 cm fork length (FL), eye diameter of 50 mm) and a *S. lalandi* broodstock (10.1 kg, 98 cm FL, eye diameter of 28 mm). The fish were originally wild-caught and held in captivity at Clean Seas Tuna Ltd under artificial lighting regimes for at least 12 months. The retina was removed and fixed in 5% glutaraldehyde in phosphate buffer 0.1 M (pH 7.4, containing 20 g L<sup>-1</sup> sucrose) for 24 h at 4 <sup>o</sup>C. After fixation the adult retinae were washed three times for 10 minutes in 0.1M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) baths prior to storage in 70% ethanol. Histological processing followed the same procedure as outlined for larval retinal specimens, although sections were cut on the sagittal plane for the observation of cone mosaic patterns.

#### 5.3.9 Statistical analysis

All statistics were analysed using SPSS statistics 19 (IBM). Statistical analysis on histological counts were analysed by two-way ANOVA (age and retinal region) and square root transformed where necessary to meet the assumptions of ANOVA. Data were evaluated for homogeneity of variance using Levene's test and a residual plot. Behavioural feeding experiments were analysed as either chi-square (proportion feeding) or one-way ANOVA (feeding intensity). Tukey's post hoc test was used to describe differences between means when the ANOVA was significant. Statistical significance accepted at  $P \le 0.05$  for all tests.

### 5.4 Results

### 5.4.1 Larval morphometrics

*Thunnus maccoyii* larvae were  $3.1 \pm 0.2$  mm SL at hatch,  $3.4 \pm 0.2$  mm SL at first-feeding and  $21.0 \pm 2.5$  mm FL at 30 dph. Dorso-ventral eye and lens diameters (Fig. 1A) increased with age from  $0.24 \pm 0.1$  mm and  $0.070 \pm 0.002$  mm (respectively) at hatching,  $0.26 \pm 0.05$  mm and  $0.081 \pm 0.018$  mm at first-feeding and  $2.81 \pm 0.20$  mm and  $1.08 \pm 0.06$  mm at 30 dph (n = 4). Relative eye size increased from 7% at hatching to 12% at 30 dph.

Seriola lalandi larvae were  $4.2 \pm 0.1$  mm SL at hatching,  $4.5 \pm 0.1$  mm SL at first-feeding and  $17.0 \pm 0.1$  mm FL at 30 dph (n = 30). Dorso-ventral eye and lens diameters (Fig. 1B) increased with age from  $0.30 \pm 0.01$  mm and  $0.090 \pm 0.002$  mm (respectively) at hatching to  $0.31 \pm 0.01$  mm and  $0.095 \pm 0.002$  mm at first-feeding and  $2.00 \pm 0.02$  mm and  $0.694 \pm 0.050$  mm at 30 dph (n = 4). Relative eye size increased from 7% at hatching to 11% at 30 dph.



Figure 1. Change in eye and lens diameter of (A) *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT) and (B) *Seriola lalandi* (YTK) with increasing body size. Mean  $\pm$  sd, n = 8 (error bars are present but smaller than symbol size).

#### 5.4.2 Retinal development

At hatch, the eyes of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* were simple hemispherical cups of undifferentiated, neuroepithelial tissue surrounding a central ball of undifferentiated tissue (the presumptive lens). By 1 dph, the retina had commenced differentiation into three distinct developing neural layers: the presumptive outer nuclear layer (ONL), inner nuclear layer (INL) and the ganglion cell layer (GCL). At first-feeding, *T. maccoyii* (Fig. 2A) and *S. lalandi* (Fig. 2B) had a crystalline lens with an outer cortical shell of fibre

cells. A fully differentiated single cone retina was present with pigmentation observed on the sclerad surface of the retina. At this stage the retina was presumed functional.



Figure 2. Photomicrographs of transverse sections through the eye of first-feeding (A) *Thunnus maccoyii* and (B) *Seriola lalandi*. Abbreviations: lens (L), ganglion cell layer (GCL), inner nuclear layer (INL), inner plexiform layer (IPL), outer segments (OS) and retinal pigment epithelium (RPE).

By 21 dph rod precursors were visible in *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* as small, round, dark staining nuclei situated on the vitread border of the ONL. The development of twin cones was observed at 21 dph in both *T. maccoyii* (Fig. 3A) and *S. lalandi* (Fig. 3B) with a cone mosaic pattern obvious at 30 dph in *T. maccoyii* and 21 dph in *S. lalandi*.



Figure 3. Photomicrographs of transverse sections through the eye of 21 dph (A) *Thunnus maccoyii* (B) *Seriola lalandi*. Abbreviations: lens (L), ganglion cell layer (GCL), inner nuclear layer (INL), inner plexiform layer (IPL), outer nuclear layer (ONL), rod nuclei (RN), twin cones (TC), outer segments (OS), external limiting membrane (ELM) and retinal pigment epithelium (RPE).

#### 5.4.3 Retinal morphometrics

#### 5.4.3.1 Linear cell density

Thunnus maccoyii and S. lalandi displayed a significant difference in the linear cell density, in response to retinal region, age and the interaction between retinal region and age (Appendix 1 and 2). Areas of high cell density were identified in the retinal regions of T. maccoyii and S. lalandi. Significantly, higher cone (F  $_{2,54}$  = 15.111, P < 0.001) and horizontal cell density were observed in the ventral retinal region of T. maccoyii (F 2. 54 = 12.202, P < 0.001). The remaining cells (bipolar, ganglion, photoreceptor nuclei and rods) all displayed significant interaction between retinal region and age (Appendix 2). With increasing age, there was a higher density of bipolar cells in the ventral region (F  $_{10,54}$  = 2.584, P = 0.012), a higher density of ganglion (F  $_{10, 54}$  = 6.376, P < 0.001) and photoreceptor nuclei (F  $_{10,54}$  = 2.124, P = 0.038) in the ventral and dorsal region compared to the medial region, and while rods also displayed a significant interaction (F  $_{6.54}$  = 8.064, P = 0.001) a relationship between retinal area and cell density was not identified. In S. lalandi, cones were spread evenly through the retinal regions (F  $_{2.54}$  = 1.484, P = 0.236), a high rod density was observed in the dorsal region (F  $_{2.54}$  = 10.470, P = 0.001) and a significantly greater density of horizontal cells were present in the dorsal and medial region compared to the ventral region (F  $_{2.54}$  = 4.713, P = 0.013). A significant effect of age was observed on photoreceptor nuclei, ganglion and bipolar cell densities. With increasing age a higher density of photoreceptor nuclei cells were observed in the dorsal region, with ganglion cells (at 15 dph, F  $_{10, 54}$  = 2.511, P = 0.015) and bipolar cells (F  $_{10.}$  $_{54}$  = 6.698, P < 0.001) both displaying a significantly higher density of cells in the dorsal and ventral regions compared to the medial region.

Increasing larval age resulted in a decreased cell density as seen in *T*. *maccoyii* (3 to 30 dph), with a decrease in cones ( $45.1 \pm 4.9$  to  $33.8 \pm 5.4$ , cells 100 µm<sup>-1</sup>, Fig. 4A), ganglion cells ( $93.1 \pm 4.7$  to  $26.1 \pm 6.1$ , cells 100 µm<sup>-1</sup>), bipolar cells ( $145.8 \pm 19.5$  to  $136.0 \pm 51.5$ , cells 100 µm<sup>-1</sup>) and horizontal cells ( $18.1 \pm 4.6$  to  $9.5 \pm 2.2$ , cells 100 µm<sup>-1</sup>). This pattern also

occurred in *S. lalandi* (3 to 30 dph) with a decrease in cones  $(43.5 \pm 5.9 \text{ to} 37.2 \pm 5.3, \text{ cells } 100 \,\mu\text{m}^{-1}$ , Fig. 4C), ganglion cells  $(70.0 \pm 11.7 \text{ to } 14.5 \pm 3.2, \text{ cells } 100 \,\mu\text{m}^{-1})$ , bipolar cells  $(126.6 \pm 5.9 \text{ to } 124.8 \pm 5.3, \text{ cells } 100 \,\mu\text{m}^{-1})$  and horizontal cells  $(13.5 \pm 2.2 \text{ to } 8.4 \pm 2.2, \text{ cells } 100 \,\mu\text{m}^{-1})$ .

In contrast, photoreceptor nuclei cell density increased in 21 to 30 dph *T. maccoyii* (46.1 ± 4.1 to 107.3 ± 21.9, cells 100  $\mu$ m<sup>-1</sup>) and *S. lalandi* (44.6 ± 4.2 to 92.0 ± 15.5, cells 100  $\mu$ m<sup>-1</sup>), which would identify the appearance of rods. Rod density increased from 22.9 ± 9.9 cells 100  $\mu$ m<sup>-1</sup> in 21 dph to 73.5 ± 19 cells 100  $\mu$ m<sup>-1</sup> 30 dph *T. maccoyii* larvae (Fig. 4B), and in *S. lalandi* from 26.9 ± 9.1 cells 100  $\mu$ m<sup>-1</sup> in 21 dph larvae to 54.1 ± 8.9 cells 100  $\mu$ m<sup>-1</sup> in 30 dph larvae (Fig. 4D).



Figure 4. Change in the linear cell density of *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT) (A) cones and (B) rods, and *Seriola lalandi* (YTK) (C) cones and (D) rods with increasing size. Values are mean  $\pm$  sd, n = 2 larvae with one transect per eye for each retinal region.

## 5.4.3.2 Angular cell density

Higher angular cell density was observed in the retinal regions of both species that reflected results identified in the linear cell densities. The angular density of cones was significantly higher in the ventral region for *T. maccoyii* (F <sub>2, 53</sub> = 7.316, P = 0.002), and evenly spread across the

retina for *S. lalandi* (F <sub>2, 53</sub> = 1.736, P = 0.186). Rod angular cell density was even across the *T. maccoyii* retina (F <sub>2, 53</sub> = 2.119, P = 0.149) and higher in the dorsal region for *S. lalandi* (F <sub>2, 18</sub> = 10.699, P < 0.001). No high angular cell density area of photoreceptor nuclei was identified in *T. maccoyii* (F <sub>2, 54</sub> = 2.979, P = 0.059), while *S. lalandi* displayed a significant interaction with higher photoreceptor nuclei angular cell density in the dorsal region with age (F <sub>10, 54</sub> = 4.510, P < 0.001). *Thunnus maccoyii* ganglion angular cell density displayed a significant interaction between region and increasing age with two-way ANOVA although Tukey's post-hoc test did not distinguish significantly different groups (F <sub>10, 54</sub> = 2.036, P = 0.047), whereas *S. lalandi* showed a greater angular cell density in the dorsal region compared to the ventral region (F <sub>2, 54</sub> = 14.809, P < 0.001). The increase in eye size, with a corresponding greater focal length, observed with increasing age in both species, resulted in a greater number of photoreceptors per visual angle (Fig. 5).



Figure 5. Change in the angular cell density of *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT) (A) cones and (B) rods and *Seriola lalandi* (YTK) (C) cones and (D) rods with increasing age. Values are mean  $\pm$  sd, n = 2 larvae with one transect per eye for each retinal region.

The angular cell density of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* significantly increased in all quantified retinal regions with greater age, as displayed in

Appendix 3 (angular cell density) and Appendix 4 (statistical summary of angular cell density).

## 5.4.3.3 Theoretical minimum separable angle (MSA)

*Thunnus maccoyii* exhibited significantly greater theoretical visual acuity in the ventral region (F <sub>2, 54</sub> = 9.178, P < 0.001), whereas *S. lalandi* displayed no area of specialisation (F <sub>2, 54</sub> = 0.956, P = 0.391). Greater acuity (i.e., smaller MSA) was observed with increasing larval age in both species (F <sub>5, 54</sub> = 236.962, P < 0.001 for *T. maccoyii* and F <sub>5, 54</sub> = 216.180, P < 0.001 for *S. lalandi*) (Figs 6A and 6B). No significant interaction between retinal region and age was observed.





## 5.4.3.4 Light path length and cell layer thickness

There was a significant interaction between retinal region and increasing age on the distance of the light path for both *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* (F  $_{10, 54} = 3.331$ , P = 0.002 and F  $_{10, 54} = 3.564$ , P = 0.001, respectively). It was apparent that the distance of the light path was dependent on age. In *T. maccoyii* larvae younger than 15 dph the light path distance was similar, with a notable increase in distance observed between 15 dph and 21 dph larvae (more than double). The dorsal and ventral retinal regions had a significantly longer light path at 30 dph than equivalent regions at 21 dph (Figs 7A-7C). In contrast, *S. lalandi* displayed a longer light path in the dorsal and medial retinal regions at 15 dph, although as age increased (21 and 30 dph) only the dorsal region exhibited a significantly longer path. In

general, the overall cell layers were thicker in older larvae and the light path was longest in the dorsal region (Figs 7D-7F) (Appendix 5).



Figure 7. The change in cell layer thickness with increasing age in the retina of *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT) in the (A) dorsal, (B) medial and (C) ventral region, and in *Seriola lalandi* (YTK) in the (D) dorsal, (E) medial and (F) ventral region. Abbreviations: ganglion cell layer (GCL), inner nuclear layer (INL), inner plexiform layer (IPL), outer nuclear layer (ONL) and light path (PE + OS). Values are mean  $\pm$  sd, n = 2 larvae with three transects per eye for each retinal region.

## 5.4.3.5 Convergence of photoreceptors on to ganglion cells

The convergence of photoreceptors (P) on to ganglion cells (GC) was lower in *T. maccoyii* than *S. lalandi. Thunnus maccoyii* consistently displayed a low convergence of cones on to ganglion cells across all larval lengths (average 1.3: 1) with rods gradually increasing with larval size (Table 1). In contrast, the convergence of cones and rods in *S. lalandi* generally increased with greater larval size (Table 1), with a maximum
convergence ratio at 30 dph (P:GC) almost twice that of T. maccoyii (4.5

in T. maccoyii compared to 7.7 in S. lalandi).

Table 1. Convergence of *Thunnus maccoyii* and *Seriola lalandi* photoreceptors (ONL) (cones and presumptive rod nuclei) on to ganglion cells (GC), with increasing larval age. Values are mean ± sd.

Age dph	Thunnus maccoyii			Seriola lalandi		
	P:GC	Cones: GC	Rods: GC	P:GC	Cones: GC	Rods: GC
3 9 12 15 21	$1.1 \pm 0.1 \\ 1.5 \pm 0.3 \\ 1.4 \pm 0.8 \\ 1.3 \pm 0.3 \\ 2.1 \pm 0.6$	$1.1 \pm 0.2 \\ 1.2 \pm 0.2 \\ 1.3 \pm 0.7 \\ 1.3 \pm 0.7 \\ 1.3 \pm 0.4 \\ 0.4$	$     \begin{array}{l}       0 \\       0 \\       0 \\       0.6 \pm 0.3     \end{array} $	$1.6 \pm 0.3$ $2.1 \pm 1.0$ $2.3 \pm 0.4$ $1.9 \pm 0.8$ $4.0 \pm 1.0$	$1.6 \pm 0.4$ 2.1 ± 1.0 2.3 ± 0.4 1.9 ± 0.7 2.4 ± 0.6	0 0 0 1.6 ± 0.5
30	4.5 ± 1.1	$1.4 \pm 0.3$	$3.1 \pm 0.9$	$7.7 \pm 1.9$	$3.1 \pm 1.0$	4.5 ± 1.1

## 5.4.3.6 Cone cell diameter

There was a doubling in the enlargement of cone cell diameter with increasing larval length in *T. maccoyii* from  $1.70 \pm 0.12 \,\mu\text{m}$  at first-feeding to  $3.53 \pm 0.07 \,\mu\text{m}$  at 30 dph (Fig. 8A) and a similar trend in *S. lalandi* from  $1.1 \pm 0.1 \,\mu\text{m}$  at first-feeding to  $2.8 \pm 0.1 \,\mu\text{m}$  at 30 dph (Fig. 8B).



Figure 8. The change in cone cell diameter with increasing age of (A) *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT), and (B) *Seriola lalandi* (YTK). Values are mean  $\pm$  sd, n = 30.

## 5.4.3.7 Relative photon capture area per ganglion cell

The relative photon capture area was consistently higher in *T. maccoyii* compared to *S. lalandi*, most notably at first-feeding and 30 dph when relative photon capture area was three times greater (Fig. 9).





#### 5.4.3.8 Cone mosaics

The photoreceptors of first-feeding *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* were tightly packed single cones in a simple row arrangement (Figs 10A and 10B, respectively). The shift of cones to form a mosaic pattern was identified in 30 dph *T. maccoyii* and 21 dph *S. lalandi*. The temporal region of the retina of *T. maccoyii* displayed two mosaic patterns, a row mosaic and a regular square mosaic that were separated along the dorso-ventral axis. The square mosaic was primarily restricted to the retina closest to the midline of the body (internal), and the row mosaic was observed in the retina toward the external environment (away from the midline) (Fig. 11 A). In *S. lalandi* larvae, a single cone surrounded by four twin cones (a regular square mosaic), was observed distributed throughout the retina (Fig. 11B). Adult *T. maccoyii* did not display dual mosaic patterns, only row mosaics were evident (Fig. 12 A), whereas *S. lalandi* displayed the same regular, square, mosaic pattern as observed in juvenile fish.



Figure 10. Photomicrograph of a transverse section through the eye with photoreceptor arrangement in (A) first-feeding *Thunnus maccoyii* and (B) first-feeding *Seriola lalandi*, both species showing tightly packed single cones in a simple row arrangement. Scale bars are 50 µm.



Figure 11. Mosaic pattern in (A) 30 dph *Thunnus maccoyii* where the retina had mainly a square mosaic on one half of the retina and mainly a row mosaic pattern on the other half of the retina (separated by the dashed line), and (B) the square mosaic pattern found in *Seriola lalandi*.



Figure 12. Photomicrograph of a sagittal section through the retina of (A) an adult *Thunnus maccoyii* showing twin cones present in parallel rows, and (B) adult *Seriola lalandi* with a regular square mosaic pattern. Abbreviations: Single cones (SC) and twin cones (TC).

# 5.4.3.9 Retinomotor response

Retinal pigment epithelium migration in response to light was initially observed in 4.5 mm SL *T. maccoyii* larvae (12 dph) and 10.0 mm SL *S. lalandi* larvae (21 dph) (Figs 13A and 13B, respectively) indicated by the higher p/v index found in light-adapted retinas compared to dark-adapted retinae.



Figure 13. Retinomotor response in (A) *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT) and (B) *Seriola lalandi* (YTK) where p/v and m/v indicate the migration of the retinal pigment epithelium and movement of the myoids (respectively), in light and dark conditions, with increasing larval size. Values are mean  $\pm$  sd. Each measurement represents 9 transects from each eye of one fish.

Contraction and expansion of the retinal pigment epithelium was evident in photomicrographs of dark-adapted (Fig. 14 A) and light-adapted (Fig. 14

B) larvae. No contraction or expansion of cone myoids was observed in either *T. maccoyii* or *S. lalandi*.



Figure 14. Photomicrograph of a transverse section through the retina of a (A) dark-adapted and (B) light-adapted 30 dph *Thunnus maccoyii*. Abbreviations: Retinal pigment epithelium (RPE), distance from the retinal pigment epithelium to the outer limiting membrane (V) and myoid length (M).

# 5.4.4 Behavioural feeding experiments

The proportion and intensity of feeding in *T. maccoyii* was significantly higher under blue light (Figs 15A and 15B) compared to red light ( $\chi^2$  = 24.748, df 2, P < 0.001 for proportion, and F <sub>2,9</sub> = 6.062, P = 0.022, for intensity of feeding). In contrast, *S. lalandi* displayed the opposite result with a significant increase in the proportion and intensity of feeding under red light (Figs 15C and 15D) compared to white light, and no feeding observed under blue light ( $\chi^2$  = 31.135, df 2, P < 0.001 for proportion, and F <sub>2,9</sub> = 12.739, P = 0.002 for intensity of feeding).





# 5.4.5 Microspectrophotometry

The range of  $\lambda_{max}$  values measured for visual pigments in *T. maccoyii* ranged from 478 nm to 546 nm (Fig. 16A, Table 2). Clustering of the spectral pigments was observed concentrated around 493 nm, 507 nm and 522 nm with over 52% of all values falling below  $\lambda_{max}$  500 nm. In contrast, the range of  $\lambda_{max}$  in *S. lalandi* was 415 nm to 539 nm (Fig. 16B).

Clustering of the spectral pigments was observed around 415 nm, 497 nm, 513 nm, and 539 nm with 75% of all reading falling above  $\lambda_{max}$  500 nm. The range of spectral sensitivity in *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* remained constant over the investigated ages.

Wavelength (nm)							
	Rod	Cone	Twin cone	Unidentified			
T. maccoyii T. maccoyii T. maccoyii T. maccoyii T. maccoyii	484 (n=3)	494 (n=4) 518 (n=3) 527 (n=4)	494 (n=5) 507 (n=4) 524 (n=3)	490 (n=8) 506 (n=3) 520 (n=3) 546 (n=1)			
S. lalandi S. lalandi S. lalandi	502 (n=2)	415 (n=1) 509 (n=2) 533 (n=1)	504 (n=3) 519 (n=3)	496 (n=2) 521 (n=3)			

Table 2. Peak spectral absorbance sensitivity ( $\lambda_{max}$ ) of *Thunnus maccoyii* and *Seriola lalandi* photoreceptor classes.



Figure 16. The  $\lambda_{max}$  spectral sensitivity of photoreceptors of (A) *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT) and (B) *Seriola lalandi* (YTK).

#### 5.5. Discussion

My study discovered fundamental differences between the retinal morphology and spectral sensitivity of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* larvae. Notably, the differences were displayed in the area of specialisation in the retina (area of high cone cell density), convergence of photoreceptors on to ganglion cells, available photon capture area, development of the retinomotor response and spectral sensitivity.

#### 5.5.1 Morphology

Cones are associated with photopic acuity allowing the perception of detail, although this is at the expense of visual sensitivity in lower light conditions (scotopic vision) (Kotrschal et al., 1990). Thunnus maccoyii and S. lalandi follow the general template of visual development possessing a pure cone (simplex) retina at first-feeding and it is generally accepted that feeding success is dependent on relatively high light intensities. This is the case in first-feeding S. lalandi, but not in T. maccoyii where larvae fed equally well at lower light intensities and exhibited a decline in feeding performance at high light intensities with increasing age, indicating a basic difference in visual capacity between the species (Chapters 3 and 4). As T. maccoyii and S. lalandi display increased foraging ability, piscivory and the initiation of schooling behaviour at post-metamorphosis, an increase in visual capacity is required in order to complete these more visually complex tasks (Margulies, 1997; Torisawa et al., 2011). This was seen in 30 dph *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* by the development of the full retinal complement (i.e., rods, twin cones and cone mosaics) and the rapid increase in visual acuity. Retinal development of the closely related T. orientalis shows a number of similarities with T. maccoyii (Kawamura et al., 2003; Matsuura et al., 2010). Cone development occurs in T. orientalis 25 to 60 h after hatching and rod development at 19 to 21 dph is associated with metamorphosis (Kawamura et al., 2003; Matsuura et al., 2010). Mosaics are first seen in 33 dph larvae (Kawamura et al., 2003). Thunnus maccoyii and S. lalandi display rapid visual development during

the first thirty days of life which highlights the importance of a highly developed visual system in post-metamorphic fish.

#### 5.5.2 Linear cell density

Thunnus maccovii displayed high cell density in the ventral retinal region with three of the six retinal cell types being present at a higher density. Vision is dependent on photon capture, so high cone density in the ventral region maximises the visual information available to the larvae coming from the dorsal visual axis (Naas et al., 1996). The higher horizontal cell density in the ventral region is associated with horizontal neural processing. This allows perception of movement (Kawamura and Tamura, 1973), which suggests that T. maccoyii larvae have increased detection of fast moving prey and predators in the dorsal visual plane. Consequently, it is not surprising that T. maccovii have a high density of bipolar cells in the ventral region and a greater number of ganglion cells (compared to the medial region) as the amount of neural processing would be greatest in this area to maximise visual information to the brain. Acute visual function in the dorso-nasal plane has also been reported by Kawamura (2003) in T. orientalis and in three larval scombrid species by Margulies (1997). In comparison, high cell density in *S. lalandi* was located in the dorsal retinal region i.e., acute vision in the ventral visual field. Like T. maccovii, the high density of horizontal cells would allow the improved perception of movement in the area of specialisation and the high rod density and subsequent nuclei density would promote enhanced scotopic sensitivity.

The high cell density recorded in the ventral retina of *T. maccoyii* and in the dorsal retina of *S. lalandi* throughout the 30 day developmental period, showed acute visual function in different and opposite visual fields. The upward facing visual field of *T. maccoyii* would most likely result in the detection of prey silhouetted against a brighter background and where the larvae are positioned in deeper waters. In contrast, *S. lalandi* with a downward facing visual field would detect prey, possibly highlighted by the scatter of light (halo effect), against a darker background with the larvae positioned in surface waters. In this case, high intensity, scattered light, as

seen in coastal surface waters, would provide the best illumination of prey for *S. lalandi.* In contrast, a sharp prey silhouette uninterrupted by light scatter, as seen in oligotrophic waters, would allow the greatest prey detection for *T. maccoyii.* If, as suspected, *T. maccoyii* are associated with low light conditions of deeper waters, the low convergence of photoreceptors onto ganglion cells consistently displayed throughout larval development would provide the larvae with greater visual acuity and sensitivity.

#### 5.5.3 Visual acuity

The MSA reported in first-feeding *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* (1.2  $\pm$  0.1<sup>0</sup> and  $1.1 \pm 0.1^{\circ}$ , respectively) agree with other visual acuity studies of firstfeeding tuna and yellowtail kingfish. Investigation into the acuity of three scombrid species revealed visual acuities ranging between 0.8<sup>0</sup> and 1.0<sup>0</sup> (Margulies, 1997) and a study investigating S. lalandi larvae recorded an acuity of 1.4<sup>0</sup> (Carton and Vaughan, 2010). Most larval marine fish generally display a MSA in the range between 1<sup>0</sup> and 2<sup>0</sup> (Blaxter and Jones, 1967; Carton and Vaughan, 2010; Margulies, 1997; Neave, 1984) as acuity is generally restricted by the size of the eye and the available focal length (Fernald, 1989; Margulies, 1997). The reduction in the MSA of T. maccoyii and S. lalandi coincided with increased eye growth and a slight reduction in cell density (due to retinal stretching) revealing that acuity is predominantly reliant on increasing focal length. This agrees with Margulies (1997) who suggests that focal length, not cone density, dominates the acuity relationship. As such, my study supports the principle that small fish will always have a higher MSA than larger fish of the same species as a function of the focal length of the lens. Consequently, smaller fish with a smaller visual field and limited detail perception need to be closer to the prey than larger fish to enable prey detection and subsequent capture. This is displayed behaviourally in marine fish larvae that commonly show a reactive distance of less than or equal to one body length (Blaxter, 1986). With growth the visual distance improves, as displayed in the spinycheek anemonefish, Premnas

*biaculeatus,* where larvae displayed a 63% increase in reactive distance between the ages of 3 dph and 10 dph (Job and Bellwood, 1996).

#### 5.5.4 Retinomotor response

In the present study, the two species investigated exhibited significantly different ability to control the amount of light reaching the retina during the larval stage. The dual role of retinal pigment epithelium migration was evident in *T. maccoyii* larvae. Retinal pigment epithelium migration is generally associated with the development of rods, as these light sensitive photoreceptors require shading from high light conditions (Jobling, 1995; Neave, 1984). As retinal pigment epithelium migration was observed in T. maccoyii well before the development of rods this would suggest pigment migration plays an alternative role in the early life history of T. maccoyii larvae. Hodel et al. (2006) suggest that retinal pigment epithelium migration under photopic conditions may improve visual acuity, particularly during the early larval stages, as the cones are optically isolated by the interdigitating pigment, which prevents the scatter of light. As T. maccoyii have displayed preferential feeding at lower light intensities (Chapter 4) the early development of retinal pigment epithelium migration, may aid in increasing visual acuity in low light conditions. An alternative hypothesis may be that the retinal pigment epithelium migration is a visual adaptation to protect the larvae's light sensitive photoreceptors. The increase in T. maccovii retinomotor index, associated with rod development, may aid in the protection and exposure of the light sensitive outer rod segments. The early pigment migration in *T. maccoyii* prior to the recruitment of rods differs to a number of tuna species where migration has only been observed with the presence of rods (Margulies, 1997). In S. lalandi, movement of retinal pigment epithelium was only observed in older larvae in response to the development of a duplex retina. Since S. lalandi larvae are associated with surface waters (Kolkovski and Sakakura, 2004; Smith, 1987), where relatively high light conditions prevail, the need for retinal pigment epithelium migration to increase photopic acuity is unlikely. Myoid movement was not observed in either species and photoreceptor

movement is reliant on the presence of a fully functional signal from mature rods perhaps not yet apparent in young larvae (Hodel et al., 2006).

My results indicate that T. maccoyii and S. lalandi have a well-adapted retinomotor response representative of their specific needs. The retinomotor response in *T. orientalis* and northern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus* thynnus has received intense investigation as it has been suggested that juveniles display visual disorientation during the transition from scotopic to photopic vision (Fukuda et al., 2010; Masuma et al., 2001; Torisawa et al., 2011; Torisawa et al., 2007). The consequence of this visual disorientation is mortality due to collision, as juvenile fish are unable to control their high power swimming ability in visually poor conditions. Collision mortality is also commonly experienced in juvenile T. maccoyii and is a major bottleneck in the production of hatchery fish entering the nursery. The explosive acceleration observed in tuna species generates sufficient power that impact against the tank wall often results in mortality (Ishibashi et al., 2013). My research indicates that T. maccoyii have well equipped visual apparatus for vision at lower light levels, at least until 30 dph, and tank collisions may be linked to their greater visual sensitivity particularly in a culture environment where visual cues such as torchlights can startle fish and initiate explosive swimming. However, the detection of low contrast solid objects, such as culture tank walls, may be more difficult than the detection of prey in low light, and contrasting grid patterns or lines may also aid in reducing juvenile T. maccoyii collision mortalities, as seen in *T. orientalis* culture (Ishibashi et al., 2013).

#### 5.5.5 Cone mosaics

The development of cone mosaics in *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* occurs at a time when both species develop piscivorous behaviour, which would require an increase in visual ability to detect faster moving prey. While both species exhibited a square mosaic pattern, which is associated with registering movement in all directions (Bathelt, 1970), the retina of *T. maccoyii* also possessed a row mosaic pattern. Row mosaics are characterised by the detection of movement in two directions and are

commonly associated with schooling fish which perceive a horizontal twodimensional plane (Bathelt, 1970; Collin and Collin, 1999). Locket (1992) also suggests that a row mosaic may help in the capture of prey where a two-dimensional binocular axis would aid in the perception of depth. Retinal division characterised by two different mosaic patterns has been previously reported in adult striped marlin, *Tetrapturus audax*, (Fritsches et al., 2003b) and blue marlin, *Makaira nigricans*, (Fritsches et al., 2000) where delineation of the row and square mosaics was observed through the midline of the retina. These studies suggest this would allow the fish to use both mosaic pattern types. It is highly likely that *T. maccoyii* juveniles also utilise the two mosaic patterns to maximise visual information. While *S. lalandi* maintain the same mosaic pattern into adulthood, the shift to an all row mosaic pattern in *T. maccoyii* may imply increased importance in depth perception and peripheral motion detection associated with rapid swimming and spike dives (Willis et al., 2009).

#### 5.5.6 Convergence

The convergence of photoreceptors on to ganglion cells defines the detail of the image that reaches the brain (Fritsches et al., 2003a; Pettigrew et al., 1988). The low convergence ratio observed in first-feeding T. maccoyii (1.1: 1.0), which continued throughout the larval life, would contribute to high visual acuity in T. maccoyii larvae. In comparison, S. lalandi with a convergence ratio of 1.6:1.0, would theoretically not experience the same degree of acuity as T. maccoyii. Both species at first-feeding displayed a relatively low convergence ratio and this has also been observed in firstfeeding striped trumpeter, *Latris lineata* (Cobcroft, 2001). Kotrschal et al. (1990) explain that acuity in small larval eyes is reliant on a low cone to ganglion cell convergence. The large cone diameter of first-feeding T. maccoyii (twice that of S. lalandi), would also potentially double the photon capture area compared to S. lalandi, with a resultant increase in photopic sensitivity (Pankhurst and Butler, 1996; Vandermeer, 1994). The combination of low convergence ratio and high photon capture area increases the amount of visual information available to T. maccovii compared to S. lalandi. However, this does not mean that S. lalandi are

visually inept. *Seriola lalandi* larvae and juveniles exhibit strong visual capacity, as displayed by the ability to feed over a broad range of abiotic and biotic conditions (Chapters 2, 3 and 4), and the development of piscivory and schooling behaviours, which both rely on strong visual capability (Margulies, 1997; Torisawa et al., 2011). What the combination of convergence ratios and photon capture area does show, is the high acuity (as a result of low convergence ratios) and increased sensitivity (due to available photon capture area), exhibited by *T. maccoyii*, particularly at first-feeding and after metamorphosis, highlighting the better visual capability of both *T. maccoyii* larvae and juveniles.

#### 5.5.7 Spectral sensitivity

Thunnus maccovii and S. lalandi larvae exhibit a broad spectral range (478 to 546 nm in *T. maccoyii* and 415 to 539 nm in *S. lalandi*) that is also seen in a number of other larval fish species (Britt et al., 2001; Loew et al., 2002). Studies by Loew et al. (2002), investigating the spectral changes in developing yellowfin tuna, *Thunnus albacares*, revealed a broad spectral range in larval fish that with increasing fish size ( $\geq$  46 mm) condensed to reflect the narrow spectral range of adult fish. No restriction in spectral range was observed in larval T. maccoyii and S. lalandi, although fish were only investigated to 30 dph. It has been hypothesised that the broad spectral range of larval fish provides the opportunity for greater visual capacity over a broader light spectrum in the environment, with subsequent greater prey detection and increased predatory avoidance (Britt et al., 2001; Loew et al., 2002). Many studies have shown speciesspecific visual pigment complements (particularly twin cones) that reflect the ambient environment (Bowmaker, 1990; Loew and Lythgoe, 1978; Loew et al., 2002; Shand, 1993; Shand et al., 2002). The twin cones of T. maccoyii had spectral sensitivities at 494, 507 and 524 nm, with S. lalandi twin cone sensitivity observed at 504 and 519 nm. Thunnus maccoyii displayed spectral sensitivity encompassing the blue and green spectrum, whereas spectral sensitivity of S. lalandi was only observed in the green spectral region. Blue-green spectral sensitivity has also been observed in other juvenile and adult tuna species including *T. orientalis*, measured by

the expression of opsin genes in the retina, (Miyazaki et al., 2008), and by genome sequencing (Nakamura et al., 2013) and in T. albacares, measured by microspectrophotometry (Loew et al., 2002). In addition to the spectral sensitivity displayed in twin cones, the majority of T. maccoyii photoreceptors displayed spectral sensitivity below 500 nm in the blue spectrum (53%), whereas S. lalandi displayed the greatest spectral sensitivity above 500 nm in the green spectrum (82%). The presence of a single photoreceptor expressing pigment absorbing maximally in the violet range was also identified in S. lalandi larvae. The presence of ultra-violet and violet absorbing pigments has been identified in larvae of multiple species, with Britt et al. (2001) identifying 82% of the 22 species investigated possessing pigments absorbing in this range. Violet-sensitive pigments were not detected in *T. maccoyii*, as has been reported in *T.* orientalis (Miyazaki et al., 2008), although, as T. albacares are known to possess violet-sensitive pigments (Loew et al., 2002), it may be the pigments were not detected in my study, particularly if the prevalence of these cells was low. Ultra-violet and violet sensitive pigments are thought to increase the visibility of zooplankton, as violet light is reflected by the plankter increasing detection by larval fish (Lythgoe and Partridge, 1989).

The feeding performance of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* under coloured lights highlighted differences in the spectral sensitivities between the species. *Thunnus maccoyii* displayed significantly more feeding under light in the blue spectrum and *S. lalandi* displayed greater feeding in the red spectrum and no feeding under blue light. Consequently, *S. lalandi* larvae appear to not possess the visual apparatus or display a reduced willingness to feed under blue light. A number of species display greater feeding in red spectral environments including barramundi, *Lates calcarifer*, and *D. rerio* (Spence and Smith, 2008; Ullmann et al., 2011). Many shallow-dwelling species exhibit spectral sensitivity in the red spectrum and many larval fish exhibit an innate response to red coloured prey, as seen in carotenoid-rich zooplankton (Brown and Braithwaite, 2005; Smith et al., 2004; Spence and Smith, 2008). It has been suggested that the nutritional benefit from consuming carotenoid-rich prey may favour

the evolution of preference for red coloured prey (Olson and Owens, 1998). Investigation of visual pigment sensitivity by microspectrophotometry supported feeding preferences identified in the behavioural feeding experiments, although results should be interpreted cautiously due to the relatively small sample sizes.

It is well known that water acts like a chromatic filter as light passes through it, restricting the spectral bandwidth and the intensity with increasing depth (Jerlov, 1976). Light in the visible spectrum (380nm to 780 nm) is differentially absorbed as it enters the aquatic environment. Short wavelengths less than 390 nm (violet light) and wavelengths greater than 700 nm (red light) are rapidly absorbed compared to long wavelengths of 450 nm (blue light) (Villamizar et al., 2011). Coastal eutrophic waters with high particulate load exhibit rapid scatter and absorption of light and are characterised by maximum light transmission in the green-yellow spectrum. In contrast, oceanic oligotrophic waters with a low particulate load are typified by maximum light transmission in the blue spectrum. Spectral sensitivity observed in *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* may be explained by larval adaptations to conditions encountered in the wild. As *T. maccoyii* larvae inhabit oligotrophic waters, where light is typified by maximum light transmission in the blue spectrum, the corresponding visual pigment complement with spectral sensitivity in the blue region would potentially increase the visual capabilities of the larvae (Davis et al., 1990; Davis et al., 1991; Jerlov, 1976; Young and Davis, 1990). Blue spectral light is also associated with light conditions at twilight and with increasing water depth (Munz and McFarlan, 1973). The broad spectral range displayed by *T. maccoyii* would potentially allow larvae, occurring in waters with uncertain prey availability, to forage over a greater range of depths and for longer periods of time (i.e., twilight and dusk) with the direct advantage of increased growth and survival. Increased growth reduces the time until juveniles become piscivorous, where a rapid acceleration in growth occurs, and the vulnerable larvae become top order predators. In contrast, S. lalandi larvae and juveniles take refuge in floating seaweed mats (Kolkovski and Sakakura, 2004; Smith, 1987) and may not require

the same adaption to such a wide range of environmental conditions for feeding and/or predator avoidance. Seriola *lalandi* larvae appear to inhabit upper surface layers occurring in coastal waters off New South Wales, Australia and in surface coastal waters ranging to 320 km offshore from Baja California, USA, where the larvae would most likely encounter light conditions consisting of high intensity, broad spectrum light (Jerlov, 1976; Smith, 1987; Sumida et al., 1985). This would help to explain the increased feeding observed in first-feeding *T. maccoyii* exposed to low light intensity and blue spectral light and the increased feeding observed in *S. lalandi* exposed to high light intensity and red spectral light.

## 5.6. Conclusion

The combination of behavioural feeding experiments and the identification of retinal ontogeny and spectral sensitivities provided a robust understanding of the visual ability of the larvae of *T. maccoyii* and *S. Ialandi*. My study suggests *T. maccoyii*, particularly during their early development, and S. lalandi are adapted for growth in very different light environments. Thunnus maccoyii display retinal adaptations that are conducive to feeding in low light environments possibly associated with depth, whereas S. lalandi reveal adaptations to feeding in high light environments associated with surface, coastal waters. Consequently, light intensities utilised during culture should reflect the visual capacity of the larvae. My study has identified important factors in understanding the visual and subsequent culture requirements of the larvae, while also providing a possible insight into the ecology of the larvae in the wild. Suggested future research could identify the absolute sensitivity for *T*. maccovii and S. lalandi by behavioural or electroretinograms to identify the light intensities where the rods saturate and the cones take over.

# 5.7. Acknowledgements

I thank the staff of Clean Seas Tuna Ltd including Morten Deichmann, Adam Miller, Marcell Boaventura, Jamie Crawford, Bennan Chen, Konrad Czypionka and all of the technical staff. Sincere thanks to Associate Professor Nathan Hart for instruction in sample collection, preparation, analysis and reporting in MSP. I also thank Dr Natalie Moltschaniwskyj for statistical advice. Experiments were conducted in accordance with University of Tasmania Animal Ethics Committee approval number A0010990. I thank the Australian Seafood CRC for funding the study. The Australian Seafood CRC is established and supported under the Australian Government's Cooperative Research Centres Programme. Other investors in the CRC are the Fisheries Research and Development Corporation, Seafood CRC company members, and supporting participants.

#### 5.8. References

- Ali, M.A., 1959. The ocular structure, retinomotor and photo-behavioural responses of juvenile Pacific salmon. Canadian Journal of Zoology. 37, 965-996.
- Balon, E.K., 1999. Alternative ways to become a juvenile or a definitive phenotype (and on some persisting linguistic offences).Environmental Biology of Fishes. 56, 17-38.
- Bathelt, D., 1970. Experimentelle und vergleichend morphologische untersuchungen am visuellen System von Teleostiern. Zoologische Jahrbucher für Anatomie und Ontolgie der Thiere. 87, 402-470.
- Battaglene, S., Cobcroft, J.M., 2007. Yellowtail kingfish juvenile quality:
   Identify timing and nature of jaw deformities in yellowtail kingfish and scope the likely causes of this condition. Australian Seafood Cooperative Research Centre. Tasmanian Aquaculture and Fisheries Institute, Hobart. Project N<sup>o</sup>. 2007/ 718, pp. 114.
- Batty, R.S., Hoyt, R.D., 1995. The role of sense organs in the feeding behaviour of juvenile sole and plaice. Journal of Fish Biology. 47, 931-939.
- Benetti, D.D., Nakada, M., Shotton, S., Poortenaar, C., Tracy, P.L.,Hutchinson, W., 2005. Aquaculture of three species of yellowtail jacks. In: A. Kelly and J. Silverstein (Eds). Aquaculture in the 21st

Century. American Fisheries Society, Phoenix, AZ, USA, pp. 491-515.

- Blaxter, J.H.S., 1986. Development of sense-organs and behavior of teleost larvae with special reference to feeding and predator avoidance. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society. 115, 98-114.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., Jones, M.P., 1967. The development of the retina and retinomotor responses in the herring. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom. 47, 677-697.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., Staines, M., 1970. Pure-cone retinae and retinomotor responses in larval teleosts. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom. 50, 449-464.
- Bowmaker, J.K., 1990. Visual pigments of fishes. In: R. H. Douglas and M.B. A. Djamgoz (Eds). The visual system of fish. Chapman and Hall, London, pp. 82-107
- Britt, L.L., Loew, E.R., McFarland, W.N., 2001. Visual pigments in the early life stages of Pacific northwest marine fishes. Journal of Experimental Biology. 204, 2581-2587.
- Brown, C., Braithwaite, V.A., 2005. Effects of predation pressure on the cognitive ability of the poeciliid *Brachyraphis episcopi*. Behavioral Ecology. 16, 482-487.
- Carton, A.G., 2005. The impact of light intensity and algal-induced turbidity on first-feeding *Seriola lalandi* larvae. Aquaculture Research. 36, 1588-1594.
- Carton, A.G., Vaughan, M.R., 2010. Behavioural and anatomical measures of visual acuity in first-feeding yellowtail kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*) larvae. Environmental Biology of Fishes. 89, 3-10.
- Cobcroft, J.M., 2001. Aspects of the morphological development and feeding performance of larval striped trumpeter (*Latris lineata*) in culture. Thesis, (PhD) School of Aquaculture, University of Tasmania, pp.189.
- Cobcroft, J.M., 2013. Improving hatchery production of yellowtail kingfish larvae and fingerlings. Australian Seafood Cooperative Research

Centre. Institute for Marine and Antartic Studies, Hobart. Project N°. 2010/ 753, pp. 37.

- Cobcroft, J.M., Battaglene, S., Boaventura, M., Chen, B., Deichmann, M., Elizur, A., Fielder, S.D., Hilder, P.I., Hutchinson, W., Knuckey, R., Qin, J.G., Schipp, G., Thomson, M., 2012b. Investigating the larval culture requirements of southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii*, for aquaculture in Australia. GCOE Symposium, Kinki University 23-24 November, Kushimoto City, Japan, pp 43-49.
- Collin, S.P., Collin, H.B., 1999. The foveal photoreceptor mosaic in the pipefish, *Corythoichthyes paxtoni* (Syngnathidae, Teleostei).Histology and Histopathology. 14, 369-382.
- Davis, T.L.O., Jenkins, G.P., Young, J.W., 1990. Diel patterns of vertical distribution in larvae of southern bluefin tuna *Thunnus maccoyii*, and other tuna in the east-Indian Ocean. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 59, 63-74.
- Davis, T.L.O., Lyne, V., Jenkins, G.P., 1991. Advection, dispersion and mortality of a patch of southern bluefin tuna larvae *Thunnus maccoyii* in the east-Indian Ocean. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 73, 33-45.
- Fernald, R.D., 1989. Fish Vision. In: B. Finlay and D. Sengelaub (Eds). Development of the vertebrate retina, Plenum Press, New York and London, pp. 247-265.
- Fritsches, K.A., Marshall, N.J., Warrant, E.J., 2003a. Retinal specializations in the blue marlin: Eyes designed for sensitivity to low light levels. Marine and Freshwater Research. 54, 333-341.
- Fritsches, K.A., Partridge, J.C., Pettigrew, J.D., Marshall, N.J., 2000.Colour vision in billfish. Philosophical Transactions of the RoyalSociety of London. Series B-Biological Sciences. 355, 1253-1256.
- Fritsches, K.A., Litherland, L., Thomas, N., Shand, J., 2003b. Cone visual pigments and retinal mosaics in the striped marlin. Journal of Fish Biology. 63, 1347-1351.
- Fukuda, H., Torisawa, S., Sawada, Y., Takagi, T., 2010. Developmental changes in behavioral and retinomotor responses of Pacific bluefin

tuna on exposure to sudden changes in illumination. Aquaculture. 305, 73-78.

- Guthrie, D.M., Muntz, W.R.A., 1993. Role of vision in fish behaviour. In: T.J. Pitcher (Ed.). Behaviour of teleost fishes, Chapman and Hall, London, pp. 89-128.
- Hart, N.S., 2004. Microspectrophotometry of visual pigments and oil droplets in a marine bird, the wedge-tailed shearwater *Puffinus pacificus*: Topographic variations in photoreceptor spectral characteristics. Journal of Experimental Biology. 207, 1229-1240.
- Hart, N.S., Partridge, J.C., Cuthill, I.C., 1998. Visual pigments, oil droplets and cone photoreceptor distribution in the European starling (*Sturnus vulgaris*). Journal of Experimental Biology. 201, 1433-1446.
- Hart, N.S., Theiss, S.M., Harahush, B.K., Collin, S.P., 2011.
   Microspectrophotometric evidence for cone monochromacy in sharks. Naturwissenschaften. 98, 193-201.
- Hodel, C., Neuhauss, S.C.F., Biehlmaier, O., 2006. Time course and development of light adaptation processes in the outer zebrafish retina. The Anatomical Record. Part A, Discoveries in Molecular Cellular and Evolutionary Biology. 288A, 653-662.
- Hutchinson, W., 2009. Southern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus maccoyii*) larval rearing advances at the South Australian Research and Development Institute and Collaborating Institutions. The 2nd global COE program symposium of Kinki University, 2009.
  "Sustainable aquaculture of the bluefin and yellowfin tuna Closing the life cycle for commercial production" Proceedings, 38-42.
- Ishibashi, Y., Izumi, T., Kurata, M., Okada, T., 2013. Effects of tank wall pattern on survival, bone injury rate, and stress response of juvenile Pacific bluefin tuna, *Thunnus orientalis*. Aquacultural Engineering. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaeng.2013.03.004.
- Jerlov, N.G., 1976. Marine optics, 2nd edition. Oceanography series 14, Elsevier, Amsterdam. 231.
- Job, S.D., Bellwood, D.R., 1996. Visual acuity and feeding in larval *Premnas biaculeatus*. Journal of Fish Biology. 48, 952-963.

- Jobling, M., 1995. Environmental links sensory systems. In: M. Jobling (Ed.). Environmental Biology of Fishes, Chapman and Hall, London, pp. 11-21
- Johns, P.R., 1982. Formation of photoreceptors in larval and adult goldfish. Journal of Neuroscience. 2, 178-198.
- Kawamura, G., Tamura, T., 1973. Morphological studies on retina of two teleosts *Scomber tapinocephalus* and *Halichoeres poecilopterus*.
  Bulletin of the Japanese Society of Scientific Fisheries. 39, 715-726.
- Kawamura, G., Masuma, S., Tezuka, N., Koiso, M., Jinbo, T., Namba, K., 2003. Morphogenesis of sense organs in the bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis*. In: H.I. Browman, A.B. Skiftesvik (Eds). 36th Annual larval conference, Bergen, Norway, pp. 123-135.
- Kolkovski, S., Sakakura, Y., 2004. Yellowtail kingfish, from larvae to mature fish — problems and opportunities. In: L.E. Cruz Suárez, D. Ricque Marie, M.G. Nieto López, D. Villareal, U. Scholz,M.
  González (Eds). Avances en Nutrición AcuicolaVII. Memorias del VII Simposium Internacional de Nutrición Acuicola, pp 16–19 Noviembre, 2004, Hermosillo, Sonora, México, pp. 109–125.
- Kotrschal, K., Adam, H., Brandstatter, R., Junger, H., Zaunreiter, M.,
  Goldschmid, A., 1990. Larval size constraints determine directional ontogenic shifts in the visual-system of teleosts - a mini review.
  Zeitschrift für Zoologische Systematik und Evolutionsforschung. 28, 166-182.
- Locket, N.A., 1992. Problems of deep foveas. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Ophthalmology. 20, 281-295.
- Loew, E.R., Lythgoe, J.N., 1978. Ecology of cone pigments in teleost fishes. Vision Research. 18, 715-722.
- Loew, E.R., McFarland, W.N., Margulies, D., 2002. Developmental changes in the visual pigments of the yellowfin tuna, *Thunnus albacares*. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. 35, 235-246.
- Lythgoe, J.N., Partridge, J.C., 1989. Visual pigments and the acquistion of visual information. Journal of Experimental Biology. 146, 1-20.

- Lythgoe, J.N., Partridge, J.C., 1991. The modelling of optimal visual pigments of dichromatic teleosts in green coastal waters. Vision Research. 31, 361-371.
- Margulies, D., 1997. Development of the visual system and inferred performance capabilities of larval and early juvenile scombrids. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. 30, 75-98.
- Masuma, S., Kawamura, G., Tezuka, N., Koiso, M., Namba, K., 2001. Retinomotor responses of juvenile bluefin tuna *Thunnus thynnus*. Fisheries Science. 67, 228-231.
- Matsuura, R., Sawada, Y., Ishibashi, Y., 2010. Development of visual cells in the Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis*. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry. 36, 391-402.
- Miyagi, M., Akiyama, S., Arimoto, T., 2001. The development of visual acuity in yellowtail *Seriola quinqueradiata*. Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi. 67, 455-459.
- Miyazaki, T., Kohbara, J., Takii, K., Ishibashi, Y., Kumai, H., 2008. Three cone opsin genes and cone cell arrangement in retina of juvenile Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis*. Fisheries Science. 74, 314-321.
- Munz, F.W., McFarlan, W.N., 1973. The significance of spectral position in rhodopsins of tropical marine fishes. Vision Research. 13, 1829-1874.
- Naas, K., Huse, I., Iglesias, J., 1996. Illumination in first feeding tanks for marine fish larvae. Aquacultural Engineering. 15, 291-300.
- Nakamura Y, Mori K, Saitoh K, Oshima K, Mekuchi M, Sugaya T,
  Shigenobu Y, Ojima N, Muta S, Fujiwara A, Yasuike M, Oohara I,
  Hirakawa H, Chowdhury VS, Kobayashi T, Nakajima K, Sano M,
  Wada T, Tashiro K, Ikeo K, Hattori M, Kuhara S, Gojobori T, Inouye
  K., 2013. Evolutionary changes of multiple visual pigment genes in
  the complete genome of Pacific bluefin tuna. Proceedings of the
  National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America,
  110, 11061-11066.

- Neave, D.A., 1984. The development of visual acuity in larval plaice (*Pleuronectes platessa L.*) and turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus L.*). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology. 78, 167-175.
- Olson, V.A., Owens, I.P.F., 1998. Costly sexual signals: are carotenoids rare, risky or required? Trends in Ecology & Evolution. 13, 510-514.
- Pankhurst, N.W., 1987. Intraspecific and interspecific changes in retinal morphology among mesopelagic and demersal teleosts from the slope waters of New Zealand. Environmental Biology of Fishes. 19, 269-280.
- Pankhurst, P.M., Butler, P., 1996. Development of the sensory organs in the greenback flounder, *Rhombosolea tapirina*. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. 28, 55-73.
- Pankhurst, P.M., Hilder, P.E., 1998. Effect of light intensity on feeding of striped trumpeter *Latris lineata* larvae. Marine and Freshwater Research. 49, 363-368.
- Pankhurst, P.M., Pankhurst, N.W., Parks, M.C., 2002. Direct development of the visual system of the coral reef teleost, the spiny damsel, *Acanthochromis polyacanthus*. Environmental Biology of Fishes. 65, 431-440.
- Pettigrew, J.D., Dreher, B., Hopkins, C.S., McCall, M.J., Brown, M., 1988. Peak density and distribution of ganglion-cells in the retinae of microchiropteran bats: Implications for visual acuity. Brain Behavior and Evolution. 32, 39-56.
- Poling, K.R., Fuiman, L.A., 1998. Sensory development and its relation to habitat change in three species of sciaenids. Brain Behavior and Evolution. 52, 270-284.
- Raymond, P.A., Barthel, L.K., Curran, G.A., 1995. Developmental patterning of rod and cone photoreceptors in embryonic zebrafish. Journal of Comparative Neurology. 359, 537-550.
- Shand, J., 1993. Changes in the spectral absorption of cone visual pigments during the settlement of the goatfish *Upeneus tragula*.
  The loss of red sensitivity as a benthic existence begins. Journal of Comparative Physiology A Sensory Neural and Behavioral Physiology. 173, 115-121.

- Shand, J., Hart, N.S., Thomas, N., Partridge, J.C., 2002. Developmental changes in the cone visual pigments of black bream *Acanthopagrus butcheri*. Journal of Experimental Biology. 205, 3661-3667.
- Smith, A.E., 1987. Genetic variation and dispersal of the yellowtail kingfish, Seriola lalandi from New South Wales waters. Thesis, (Hons) University of New South Wales, pp. 35.
- Smith, C., Barber, I., Wootton, R.J., Chittka, L., 2004. A receiver bias in the origin of three-spined stickleback mate choice. Proceedings of the Royal Society B - Biological Sciences. 271, 949-955.
- Spence, R., Smith, C., 2008. Innate and learned colour preference in the zebrafish, *Danio rerio*. Ethology. 114, 582-588.
- Stuart, K.R., Drawbridge, M., 2011. The effect of light intensity and green water on survival and growth of cultured larval California yellowtail (*Seriola lalandi*). Aquaculture. 321, 152-156.
- Sumida, B.Y., Moser, H.G., Ahlstrom, E.H., 1985. Descriptions of larvae of California yellowtail Seriola lalandi, and three other carangids from the eastern tropical Pacific: Chlorosconbrus orquets, Caranx caballus, and Caranx sexfasciatus. California Cooperative Oceanic Fisheries Investigations, 26, 139-159.
- Torisawa, S., Fukuda, H., Suzuki, K., Takagi, T., 2011. Schooling behaviour of juvenile Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis* depends on their vision development. Journal of Fish Biology. 79, 1291-1303.
- Torisawa, S., Takagi, T., Fukuda, H., Ishibashi, Y., Sawada, Y., Okada, T.,
  Miyashita, S., Suzuki, K., Yamane, T., 2007. Schooling behaviour and retinomotor response of juvenile Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis* under different light intensities. Journal of Fish Biology. 71, 411-420.
- Ullmann, J.F.P., Gallagher, T., Hart, N.S., Barnes, A.C., Smullen, R.P., Collin, S.P., Temple, S.E., 2011. Tank color increases growth, and alters color preference and spectral sensitivity, in barramundi (*Lates calcarifer*). Aquaculture. 322-323, 235-240.
- Utne-Palm, A.C., Bowmaker, J.K., 2006. Spectral sensitivity of the twospotted goby *Gobiusculus flavescens* (Fabricius): A physiological

and behavioural study. Journal of Experimental Biology. 209, 2034-2041.

- Vandermeer, H.J., 1994. Ontogenic change of visual thresholds in the cichlid fish *Haplochromis sauvagei*. Brain Behavior and Evolution. 44, 40-49.
- Villamizar, N., Blanco-Vives, B., Migaud, H., Davie, A., Carboni, S., Sanchez-Vazquez, F.J., 2011. Effects of light during early larval development of some aquacultured teleosts: A review. Aquaculture. 315, 86-94.
- Willis, J., Phillips, J., Muheim, R., Diego-Rasilla, F.J., Hobday, A.J., 2009.
   Spike dives of juvenile southern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus maccoyii*): A navigational role? Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology. 64, 57-68.
- Woolley, L.D., Fielder, S.D., Qin, J.G., 2012. Swimbladder inflation, growth and survival of yellowtail kingfish *Seriola lalandi* (Valenciennes, 1833) larvae under different temperature, light and oxygen conditions. Aquaculture Research. DOI: 10.1111/are.12097.
- Woolley, L.D., Fielder, S., Qin, J.G., 2013. Swimbladder inflation associated with body density change and larval survival in southern bluefin tuna *Thunnus maccoyii*. Aquaculture International. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10499-013-9626-9.
- Young, J.W., Davis, T.L.O., 1990. Feeding ecology of larvae of southern bluefin, albacore and skipjack tunas (Pisces: Scombridae) in the eastern Indian Ocean. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 61, 17-29.

Chapter 6. General discussion

## 6.1 Introductory comments

The overall aim of my thesis was to compare the visual development and visual capacity of southern bluefin tuna, Thunnus maccoyii, and yellowtail kingfish, Seriola lalandi, during larval ontogeny and to use this information to describe the best early larval rearing conditions to produce high quality seed stock. Functional visual ability, determined through behavioural experimentation, identified the effect of biotic and abiotic factors on firstfeeding (Chapters 2 and 3). Important parameters identified in Chapters 2 and 3 were further investigated to determine the effect of larval development on feeding responses (Chapter 4). The key findings from the behavioural studies were that T. maccoyii are photopically more sensitive and have a greater overall feeding performance compared to S. lalandi. The importance of low light intensity during larval culture of T. maccovii was highlighted and the necessity to optimise culture conditions during the early-life history of S. lalandi to maximise their feeding success. The basic difference in light intensity requirements between *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi*, identified in Chapter 4, drove the investigation into the spectral sensitivities of the species; that when combined with the examination of retinal ontogeny, identified fundamental visual differences between the species and helped to explain results of the behavioural feeding experiments (Chapter 5). My general discussion chapter explores the research findings from Chapter 2 through to Chapter 5, in the context of expanding the key findings and explaining the visual capacity of T. maccovii and S. lalandi in relation to the requirements for culture. It also notes the potential relevance of the study to better understanding larval ecology in the wild.

## 6.2 Feeding experiments

## 6.2.1 First-feeding experiments

It is apparent that *T. maccoyii* easily made the transition from endogenous to exogenous feeding, in prey-rich waters, and appeared relatively unaffected by the surrounding visual environment. In general, *T. maccoyii* 

displayed an increased ability to convert first-feeding opportunity into successful consumption displayed by the capacity to feed well over a wide range of environmental variables (five of the seven tested) (Fig. 1). Consequently, in a culture environment, successful feeding can be achieved over a broad range of conditions and mortality due to the failure to feed should be relatively low. Culture parameters that were identified to induce surface mortality included very bright light and air-generated turbulence and are important factors to be avoided in *T. maccoyii* culture. In contrast, the culture conditions must be more tightly controlled to initiate first-feeding in *S. lalandi*. While *S. lalandi* fed proficiently, they were restricted in feeding by a number of environmental variables (five of the seven tested) (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Photomicrographs of first feeding *Thunnus maccoyii* (SBT) and *Seriola lalandi* (YTK) and the abiotic and biotic factors that affect first-feeding. Significant factors affecting feeding are coloured green for *T. maccoyii*, yellow for *S. lalandi* and brown for both species. Unshaded factor signifies not significant. Photos by P. Hilder.

The knowledge that many variables affect the first-feeding success of S.

lalandi larvae provides critical information for culture, highlighting the

importance of presenting larvae with optimum first-feeding conditions in order to promote feeding success.

Commercial larval rearing protocols at Clean Seas Tuna Ltd were based on empirical evidence where factors promoting successful larval culture were selectively employed in larviculture tanks. This trial and error approach required time and high investment in labour and capital resources, and limited the number of factors and their combinations that could be tested. The agreement in many factors promoting feeding, seen in both experimental and trial and error approaches highlights the usefulness of the short-term feeding experiments as an effective screening tool (Table 1). While many factors are in general agreement, my experimental approach indicated that low light intensity rearing may be an exciting breakthrough worthy of immediate testing in commercial tanks for *T. maccoyii*. For *S. lalandi,* the use of higher light intensities, as feeding response is improved, and it is likely to also support swimbladder inflation, and the use of tan or pink coloured tanks is also worthy of further consideration in long-term larviculture trials.

Culture	Thunnus maccovii		Seriola lalandi	
narameter	······································			
parameter	00 <b>-</b>		00 <b>-</b>	
	CSI	My study	CSI	My study
Light	50*	0.4 to $9.9$	126 to	30 to 101 or
Ligin	50	0.4 10 9.9		
µmol s ' m <sup>2</sup> *			203***	higher
Turbidity NTU	2 to 3	0 to 2	2 to 3	3 to 24
Tank colour	Green	All tested	Green	Pink or tan
Turbulence	Medium	All tested	Low	Low
Prey density	10 mL⁻¹	25 mL⁻¹	2 to 5 mL <sup>-1</sup>	25 mL <sup>-1</sup>
Rotifer size	Large-strain	Large-strain	Large-strain	Large-strain
Larval density	20 L <sup>-1</sup>	2 - 65 L <sup>-1</sup>	80 - 100 L <sup>-1</sup>	2 - 75 L <sup>-1</sup> **

Table 1. Comparison of *Thunnus maccoyii* and *Seriola lalandi* first-feeding culture parameters used at Clean Seas Tuna Ltd (CST), Arno Bay, during 2010 and those recommended from my study 2012.

\* Large variation in light levels due to natural sunlight with intensities up to 766 µmol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> recorded.\*\* requires additional testing.\*\*\*Converted from lx using Thimijan and Heins (1982). Data sourced from personal communication with CST staff and Cobcroft (2012; 2013).

# 6.2.2 Feeding experiments with 3, 6 and 9 dph larvae

The first-feeding experiments identified light intensity and prey density as factors warranting further investigation in longer-term experiments. While all the biotic and abiotic factors tested have important culture implications with on-going larval development, light intensity and prey density both offer potential long-term biological and economical efficiencies in culture. Comparison of the results from the initial first-feeding experiments of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* (Chapters 2 and 3) and the first-feeding results in the 3, 6 and 9 dph study (Chapter 4), demonstrated the same effects of light intensity and prey density, confirming the repeatability of the short-term feeding experiments.

The feeding performance of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* larvae highlights differences in their predatory ability and in the culture environment necessary to facilitate optimal feeding. While predatory ability in older *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* larvae (i.e., 9 dph) is also a function of swimming ability, learned behaviours and ongoing sensory development (including mechanoreception, olfaction and gustation), the feeding proficiencies displayed are most likely are mainly a result of improved vision due to larval eye development (Chapter 5). The increasing photopic sensitivity, and prey consumption at low prey density, with increasing age in *T. maccoyii* indicates a developing visual system characterised by high sensitivity and acuity at a relatively early age. In comparison it appears that the visual system of *S. lalandi* larvae has evolved to function best in high photopic conditions providing acuity for prey detection but lacking high sensitivity.

## 6.3 Feeding experimental approach and standard parameters.

Short-term experiments provided valuable information into factors that affect feeding and mortality in *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi*. These experiments enabled the assessment of key variables over a relatively short time-frame, with good replication providing statistical power to detect significant differences. Importantly, the experiments allowed rapid identification of significant beneficial and detrimental parameters. This is particularly important in the development of culture technology for new aquaculture species, such as *T. maccoyii*, where access to larvae for experiments is limited and especially if little information is available on larvae in culture or in the wild.

Experiments were designed to visually challenge the larvae and to "tease out" their visual and feeding capacity by testing a wide range of conditions for each experimental factor using a relatively low prey density (2 mL<sup>-1</sup>). It was important to provide conditions that would allow significant feeding differences to be observed among the treatments, while at the same time neither allowing feeding to satiation nor totally inhibiting feeding. The conditions within each factor tested encompassed a range that extended well below, and well above current standard aquaculture practices for marine fish larvae. The experimental time-frame of four hours was determined from a preliminary experiment assessing the effect of feeding at two hours and four hours. A two-hour feeding period was determined to be too short a time frame to allow sufficient feeding, whereas the four-hour period delivered acceptable results. The remaining standard parameters; light intensity at 30  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-1</sup>, no turbulence, clear water and black aquaria were identified from the literature and commercial practice and chosen as variables that would be acceptable for both species. They were selected at the commencement of the study and were maintained throughout the experimental period for consistency and to avoid confounding the results. Experimental results indicated that some of the standard experimental variables chosen may not have been optimal for the feeding performance of the larvae e.g., high light intensity for T. maccovii and black tanks for S. lalandi.

#### 6.4 Spectral sensitivity

*Thunnus maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* are clearly affected by light conditions during larval rearing, both in terms of light intensity and light spectrum. The spectral  $\lambda_{max}$  exhibited in *T. maccoyii and S. lalandi* help explain the findings of the behavioural first-feeding experiments with coloured lights. This was apparent in the increased feeding response of first-feeding *T.* 

maccovii under blue light, while still possessing the ability to feed under broad spectrum white light and red light. A broad spectral sensitivity in T. maccovii would increase available foraging grounds, improving the likelihood of prey detection in oligotrophic waters characterised by low or patchy distribution of prey (Chapter 5). In contrast, S. lalandi displayed increased feeding under red light, feeding in broad spectrum white light, and did not initiate feeding under blue light, which reflects the lack of bluesensitive visual pigments. The complement of larval photopigment sensitivity and the spectral output from artificial light sources rapidly increases the likelihood of prey detection in culture. Villamizar et al. (2009) highlighted the importance of spectral quality, where the use of blue light in larval sea bass, Dicentrarchus labrax, rearing increased growth compared to white or red light and that spectral quality had a direct link to malformation incidence. Given the species-specific spectral sensitivities, the culture of larvae under artificial light sources that match the spectral range of the larvae has the potential to improve visual capacity and subsequent feeding opportunities. The use of blue light and red light, for T. maccoyii and S. lalandi respectively, is likely to improve visual performance and subsequent growth, particularly during their early life history, and is a non-expensive, easy factor to manipulate in culture and should be investigated in long-term culture trials.

Spectral sensitivity may also help to explain why first-feeding *T. maccoyii* had difficulty feeding in a high turbidity environment. Their visual pigment complement appears less sensitive to the dark-green spectrum. In contrast, the increased feeding ability of *S. lalandi* in highly turbid waters may indicate that first-feeding *S. lalandi* possess visually sensitive pigments in the green spectrum and/or *S. lalandi* benefit from improved prey detection against a contrasting background (Lythgoe and Partridge, 1989; Miner and Stein, 1993; Naas et al., 1992).

# 6.5 Retinal morphology

Examining the structure and ontogeny of eye development helped to explain some of the mechanisms behind the different feeding capacities and optimal larval rearing environment settings. While the timing in the sequential recruitment of photoreceptors was similar between T. maccoyii and S. lalandi, the species-specific retinal adaptations displayed by the larvae provided a possible explanation as to why *T. maccoyii* were capable of feeding in relatively low light intensity compared to the high light intensity required by S. lalandi for feeding. The observed photopic sensitivity of first-feeding *T. maccoyii* is likely due to the increased photon capture and visual information transfer as a result of large cones and low convergence of photoreceptors on to ganglion cells increasing the photopic sensitivity and photopic acuity (Lythgoe and Partridge 1991; Pankhurst and Butler 1996). Throughout the larval stage the low convergence ratio exhibited in *T. maccoyii* suggests a theoretically greater capacity to transfer visual information to the brain for image formation than S. lalandi, thereby providing greater visual acuity for the detection of prey as seen in the proficient feeding of *T. maccoyii* across the broad range of tested treatments.

The theoretical visual acuity reported in my study for first-feeding *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi*  $(1.2 \pm 0.1^{\circ} \text{ and } 1.1 \pm 0.1^{\circ}, \text{ respectively})$  agree with other visual acuity studies of first-feeding tuna and yellowtail kingfish (Table 2). In general marine fish larvae display a theoretical visual acuity in the range between  $1^{\circ}$  and  $2^{\circ}$  (Blaxter and Jones, 1967) as acuity is generally restricted by the size of the eye and the available focal length (Fernald, 1989; Margulies, 1997).
Author	Species	Minimum separable angle
Carton and	Seriola lalandi	1.39 <sup>0</sup> in 4 dph larvae and
Vaughan, 2010	larvae	0.97 <sup>0</sup> in 7 dph larvae
Cobcroft, 2001	Latris lineata	No area of specialisation
	first-feeding onwards	1 1 to 1 $6^0$ at first feeding
	mot recarry onwards	decreasing to 0.57 to
		$0.71^{\circ}$ in 28 dph larvao
Houg at al. 2010	Donio rorio	$2.1^{\circ}$ in 5 dph lorupo
⊓aug et al., 2010		3.1 In 5 upri larvae
	early larval period	4 00+
Higgs and Fulman,	Harengula jaguana	1.0**
1998	hatching	0
Higgs and Fuiman,	Anchoa mitchilli	4.0**
1998	hatching	
Higgs and Fuiman,	Brevoortia tyrannus	2.1 <sup>0*</sup>
1998	hatching	
Margulies, 1997	Euthynnus lineatus	Ventro-temporal
5 ,	first-feeding	specialisation
		1 <sup>0</sup>
Margulies 1997	Auxix son	Ventro-temporal
Marganoo, 1001	First-feeding	specialisation
	T list-leeding	
Margulian 1007	Saambaramarua ajarra	I Vantra tamparal
Margulies, 1997	Scomberomorus siena	
	first-feeding	specialisation
		0.8°
Miyagi et al., 2001	Seriola quinqeradiata	$0.41^{\circ}_{n}$ in 15 mm larvae and
	juveniles	$0.07^{\circ}$ for 390 mm fish
My study	Thunnus maccoyii	$1.2^{\circ}$ in 3.4 mm larvae to
	3 to 30 dph	$0.1^{\circ}$ in 21.0 mm larvae
My study	Seriola lalandi	1.1 <sup>0</sup> in 4.2 mm larvae to
	3 to 30 dph	0.2 <sup>0</sup> in 17.0 mm larvae
Pankhurst et al.,	Forstervgion varium	1 <sup>0</sup> 8 min in 1 dph larvae
1993	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	and 54 min at 14 dph
Poling and	Micropogonias	$1.3^{\circ}$ in 3.4 mm larvae and
Fuiman 1997	undulates larvae	$0.4^{\circ}$ in 10 mm larvae*
Poling and	Cynoscion nebulosus	1 3 <sup>0</sup> *
Fuimon 1008	oarly larval period	1.0
Poling and		1 20*
Poling and	wicropogonias	1.3
Fulman, 1998		
	early larval period	
Poling and	Sciaenops ocellatus	0.9**
Fuiman, 1998	early larval period	
Shand, 1997	Apogon doederleine	0.80
	post-settlement	_
Shand, 1997	Pomacentrus	0.8 <sup>0</sup>
	moluccensis	
	pre-settlement	
Shand, 1997	Stethoiulis striaiventer	1.5 <sup>0</sup>

Table 2. Theoretical visual acuity in larval and juvenile fishes expressed as the minimum separable angle (sorted alphabetically by author)

Shand, 1997	post-settlement Upeneus tragula pre- settlement	1 <sup>0</sup>
Torisawa et al., 2007a	Thunnus orientalis	0.3 <sup>0</sup> at 30 dph to 0.04 <sup>0</sup> at 1 year
Torisawa et al., 2011	<i>Thunnus orientalis</i> juveniles	0.4 <sup>0</sup> at 25 dph to 0.09 <sup>0</sup> at 55 dph

\*estimate from graph

While the theoretical acuity has been documented for a number of species, few studies have experimentally tested the significance of retinal region and acuity in larvae as seen in Table 2. The retina in larval striped trumpeter, Latris lineata, displayed a constant acuity across all retinal regions (Cobcroft, 2001) which was similar to S. lalandi (Chapter 5). As larval fish are undeveloped and small, ontogeny of structural and physiological processes is restricted with development progressing first where the need is greatest (Kotrschal et al., 1990). This suggests that either S. lalandi larvae do not require an area of specialisation at this age, or more likely, the visual benefits associated with energy investment in eye growth (increasing eye size) outweigh the benefits of developing an area of high acuity. In contrast, high cone density in the ventro-temporal region was discovered in four scombrid species > 3.5 mm SL (Margulies, 1997; Torisawa et al., 2007). This agrees with the findings from my study for *T. maccoyii*. It appears that acute vision in the dorsal plane is important to *T. maccoyii* and other scombrids, indicating a need for increased prey and predator detection in an upward direction at an early age. Comparison of morphological and behavioural measures of visual acuity were attempted in this study, however, due to the small, transparent nature of the first-feeding larvae video vision could not provide sufficient detail to allow accurate measurement.

Behavioural experimentation revealed high light intensity induced significant mortality in *T. maccoyii* (Chapters 2 and 4); and a notable difference in the retinal development was observed between the species (Chapter 5). *Thunnus maccoyii* displayed pigment migration at 12 dph, whereas migration was not observed in *S. lalandi* until 21 dph. As

significant mortality associated with high light intensity was no longer apparent in 12 dph *T. maccoyii*, it is highly likely that the development of retinal pigment epithelium migration is an important visual adaptation to provide shading and protection of the optically sensitive visual pigments from high light exposure during early larval life. Prior to the development of the retinomotor response, the only mechanism available to control light reaching the retina would be migration to deeper waters with lower light levels, which may possibly help to explain benthic migration observed in *T. maccoyii* (Cobcroft et al., 2012). The need to control the intensity of light reaching the retina in *T. maccoyii* during their early life history most likely indicates a physiological sensitivity to high light conditions from an early age.

### 6.6 Culture considerations

The development of a fully functional visual system in juvenile *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* by 30 dph, not only highlights the importance that vision plays in the larval development of both species but also emphasises the need to match culture requirements of larval and juvenile fish exhibiting rapidly changing retinal morphology. *Thunnus maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* both display a number of culture bottlenecks where the light environment may contribute to aberrant behaviour or mortality (Table 3).

Table 3. Culture bottlenecks in the early life history of *Thunnus maccoyii* and *Seriola lalandi*.

Thunnus maccoyii	Seriola lalandi
Early surface mortality Lack of or malformation of the swimbladder Sinking mortality Collision mortality Collision fractures and malformations	First-feeding mortality Lack of swim bladder inflation Malformation (especially jaws)

Information obtained from Battaglene and Cobcroft, 2007; Cobcroft, 2013; Cobcroft et al., 2012 and Hutchinson, 2009.

My study shows that T. maccoyii and S. lalandi have different responses to light during culture and the elucidation of the correct light level and quality is critical in the production of quality seed fish. Evidence from my study provides potential explanations for the bottlenecks in T. maccoyii and S. lalandi production. I hypothesise that T. maccoyii larvae are actively avoiding high light conditions in culture because their visual apparatus is designed to function in low light conditions. High light conditions encountered by larvae are likely to result in decreased feeding and surface mortality during the early life history and promote benthic migration to the tank base in older larvae, with subsequent mortality. The sensitivity to light displayed by the larvae indicates the paramount importance of providing the correct visual environment for the culture of T. maccoyii, particularly during the early life history prior to the development of retinal pigment epithelium migration. In addition to the feeding experiments, behavioural observations of larvae within the long-term culture tanks used in my study supports the aversion to high light intensity of *T. maccoyii* larvae. Larvae were generally only observed near the tank surface in the top 10 cm of water at dawn and dusk and with increasing light intensity, larvae made a vertical migration towards the base of the culture tank. In early-feeding larvae this was particularly evident after the first addition of prey in the morning when larvae had fed and may have been related to increased body density, as seen in S lalandi where the ingestion of Artemia sp. significantly increases larval body density (Woolley et al., 2012). In older larvae, greater than 12 dph, larvae were observed less often, although, in cohorts exhibiting good larval behaviour and survival, larvae were seen in the late afternoon near the tank surface when there appeared to be a feeding peak.

Sinking mortality is a major problem in *T. maccoyii* and *T. orientalis* culture (Cobcroft et al., 2012; Masuma et al., 2011; Matsuura et al., 2010; Nakagawa et al., 2011; Sawada et al., 2005; Tanaka et al., 2009). Observation of *T. maccoyii* larvae in the culture tanks on a number of occasions revealed larvae situated just above the base of the tank with full guts actively maintaining position in an aggregation facing into the

oncoming water current. The larvae appeared to actively choose their position in the tank. Parameters which change with tank depth are light and pressure. Without discounting pressure, my study would indicate that larvae are making an active visual choice to reside in lower light conditions. The unfortunate side effect of this is that the tank base is associated with high detritus and bacterial loads that compromises larval health, resulting in mortality. In order to minimise larval migration to the tank base, relatively high turbulence was maintained in the culture tank, as is the practice in Japan for *T. orientalis* (Nakagawa et al., 2011; Tanaka et al., 2009). This potentially removes the control larvae have over their exposure to light, as the small larvae have difficulty in breaking free of the water current. It is highly likely that the continual exposure of the larvae to higher light intensities at the surface of the tank would contribute to larval stress, resulting in decreased feeding and/or surface mortality.

While collision mortality in *T. orientalis* is thought to occur due to poor scotopic vision (Ishibashi et al., 2009), the photopic sensitivity exhibited in larval T. maccoyii would indicate fish are not visually limited at low light intensity. While my study did not test the sensitivity of juvenile T. maccoyii in low light intensity conditions, histology results, namely the low convergence ratio of photoreceptors to ganglion cells and increasing cone cell diameter (in addition to the development of a duplex retina), would indicate juvenile T. maccovii maintain increased sensitivity beyond the larval stage. It is more likely that juvenile fish are unable to control their newly acquired explosive swimming ability when "spooked" in a culture environment, although, the detection of a tank wall with minimal contrast in low light levels may be more challenging then detecting prey items in the water column. Collision mortality has been reduced in *T. orientalis* by modification of the visual environment, including the use of lights at night in sea cages and the addition of wall patterning or contrasting colours on the culture tank walls (Ishibashi et al., 2013; Ishibashi et al., 2009). Both methods may be helpful in minimising spooking and collision mortality in T. maccoyii, particularly during early juvenile development, as the young fish become accustomed to on-growing conditions in the culture environment.

In addition to the data collected in my study for S. lalandi, high light intensity has also been shown to significantly improve growth and swimbladder inflation (Carton, 2005; Stuart and Drawbridge, 2011; Woolley et al., 2012). The greatest growth and/or swimbladder inflation has been achieved at the highest tested light intensities indicating that the limit of light intensity may not have been achieved in previous studies (17  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>, 590  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>, and 275  $\mu$ mol s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>, respectively) and warrants further investigation. While high light intensity has been linked with positive growth indices, the use of high light intensity may potentially increase the occurrence of malformation, complicating the role light intensity plays in *S. lalandi* larviculture and suggests light intensity requirements may change with age (Cobcroft, 2013; Cobcroft et al., 2004). Malformation in larval marine fish has been associated with numerous environmental and biological factors and consequently the definitive cause is often difficult to isolate (Cobcroft and Battaglene, 2009; Debruyn et al., 2007; Hamza et al., 2012; Meier et al., 2010). Given the strong relationship of S. lalandi larvae to their surrounding visual environment, it would not be surprising if inappropriate lighting is a contributing factor leading to malformation. Walling behaviour is linked to jaw deformity in L. lineata (Cobcroft and Battaglene, 2009) and is commonly observed in S. *lalandi* larvae, where larvae display incessant swimming against the tank wall (Cobcroft, 2013). It may be that the highly reflective nature of culture tanks, attract the larvae and interrupts normal larval feeding and swimming behaviours, and this phototactic attraction increases with greater light intensity (Naas et al., 1996). In order to provide the light environment necessary to fulfil larval development, in particular swimbladder inflation, and not induce jaw deformity, it may be the use of high intensity diffuse light in conjunction with a suitably coloured tank (possibly pink or tan) provides the optimum rearing environment for S. lalandi larvae.

While vision is the main sensory system used for feeding by *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi*, the feeding experiments highlighted the importance of the non-visual sensory system, particularly *for S. lalandi*. Mechanosensory

stress may be an important culture consideration for *S. lalandi* and culture practices to reduce overstimulation of the mechanoreceptors, such as low turbulence, aeration, vibration and larval densities are likely to reduce larval stress.

#### 6.7 Ecological considerations

At the risk of venturing beyond the immediate implications of my research into the culture of both species, the results of the short-term feeding experiments also provided potential insights into larval ecology. The feeding proficiencies displayed by T. maccoyii and S. lalandi in the behavioural experiments reflected the feeding capacities required for survival in their individual ecological niches. In order for T. maccoyii to survive in tropical oligotrophic waters with low or patchy prey availability (Jenkins et al., 1991; Rochford, 1962), the small larvae must capitalize on every possible feeding opportunity, as seen in the short-term feeding experiments where larvae fed across a broad range of treatments with great success. In contrast, the larger S. lalandi larvae which inhabit tropical-temperate coastal surface waters characterised by cooler waters and higher prey availability (Kolkovski and Sakakura, 2004; Smith, 1987; Sumida et al., 1985) have greater reserves and feeding opportunities. It is likely that Seriola lalandi can be more specialised in feeding adaptations to suit a specific environment, as seen by the restriction in feeding across the tested culture parameters to those which best matched their visual requirements.

The active choice of *T. maccoyii* to position themselves low in the water column may be reflected in the wild. Job and Bellwood (2000) suggest the majority of larvae are constrained in the depth of their vertical migrations due to the limitations of the eye, however, with increasing visual ability, generally associated with development; larvae can forage in deeper waters that contain larger zooplankton and also actively choose strata that contain higher densities of prey to increase feeding opportunities. It appears that photopic sensitivity allows *T. maccoyii* to develop an early visual advantage compared to most marine fish increasing the area

available for foraging. Miyashita et al. (2001) state that the growth strategy of *T. orientalis* is to prioritise the development of morphological structures that facilitate feeding, including the eyes, mouth and fins. Given the visual ability of the larvae it appears this is also the case for *T. maccoyii*. The potential flaw in this argument is that there is little empirical evidence currently linking *T. maccoyii* larvae to deeper, low light intensity waters. Davis et al. (1990) investigated the vertical distribution of *T. maccoyii* larvae in the wild and found that in general higher numbers of larvae were found in surface tows during the day rather than at night, however, larvae were generally associated with waters above the pycnocline ( $\geq$  48 m). Davis et al. (1990) suggest that *T. maccoyii* larvae may feed in surface waters prior to passively dropping down to lower water layers throughout the day.

The spectral sensitivities of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* determined from microspectrophotometry and displayed in feeding experiments with coloured lights, appear to reflect the spectral environment of the larvae in the wild. *Thunnus maccoyii* larvae inhabit oligotrophic waters, where light is typified by maximum light transmission in the blue spectrum and *S. lalandi* occur in near-surface waters exposed to broad spectrum of wavelengths including red light.

### 6.8 Constraints of the study

#### 6.8.1 Short-term experiments

Short-term experiments allow the rapid screening of multiple parameters providing statistically powerful information, although the experiments have three main limitations:

- 1. They provide only a "snap shot" of the larvae response and results must be interpreted cautiously.
- 2. Larvae may experience transfer stress/mortality and this may distort their responses.

3. The small size of the vessel. As the visual field of larval fish is generally one body length, it could be argued that this effect would be relatively minor.

Both species exhibited complications associated with transfer. Surface mortality was observed in *T. maccoyii* and a poor feeding response, possibly associated with stress, was observed in S. lalandi. The overall mortality in T. maccovii was high and it was possible that surviving larvae may not have behaved normally due to the stress of transfer. However, this did not appear to be the case, as supported by three observations. First, the feeding response of the surviving larvae appeared unaffected as reflected in the high percentage of larvae feeding across all experiments. Second, the addition of oil significantly reduced mortality in T. maccovii with no difference observed in the proportion or intensity of feeding, confirming that the surviving larvae were not compromised in their feeding capacity (Chapter 3). Finally, the average feeding rate in the larviculture source tanks were similar to the experimental system (Chapters 2 and 3). In comparison, while S. lalandi did not experience transfer mortality, it appeared that S. lalandi were more affected by transfer stress, took longer to recover, and did not display the same capacity to initiate feeding as T. maccoyii. While a proportion of the S. lalandi cohorts ingested food on 2 dph, it is well documented that first-feeding occurs on 3 dph (Carton, 2005; Chen et al., 2006; Ma and Qin, 2012). Behavioural experiments were initiated on 3 dph for both species as the larvae possessed fully pigmented eyes and had fully consumed their endogenous yolk indicating the need to commence feeding, which agrees with studies reported by Woolley et al. (2009) and Chen et al. (2006). The results based on firstfeeding T. maccoyii and the second day of feeding for some S. lalandi larvae had the potential to confound the experiments as a number of S. lalandi larvae may have had prior experience feeding possibly increasing the likelihood of feeding success. This does not appear to be the case as comparative feeding rates were observed by Carton (2005) in naïve S. lalandi first-feeding 3 dph larvae and my study.

While the short-term experiments have constraints, this experimental approach is novel and allows screening of factors to optimise culture at specific larval developmental stages. In addition, the possible interaction of environmental factors can be identified rapidly and at a relatively low cost (Nicolaisen et al., 2013).

### 6.8.2 Microspectrophotometry

Larvae were collected from the Clean Seas Tuna Ltd hatchery at Arno Bay, South Australia. Due to the remote location, microspectrophotometry could not be conducted on fresh samples, so samples were frozen and shipped to Perth in Western Australia. To my knowledge this is the first time that microspectrophotometry samples have been collected from larval fish of any species and frozen for later analysis. This allowed the acquisition of valuable MSP data. While spectral data was limited, and therefore should be interpreted cautiously, it does provide an indication of the visual sensitivities of both species.

#### 6.8.3 Relevance to wild ecology

As a final caveat and constraint, care needs to be taken in extrapolating the results of larval culture experiments to help elucidate the ecology of wild larvae, especially as the nature of light in the ocean behaves very differently to that in a small land-based container under artificial light (Naas et al., 1996).

#### 6.9 Factors requiring testing

My study has raised a number of questions that warrant further investigation. For *T. maccoyii*:

- The effect of long-term larviculture under low light intensity conditions, addressing the specific question of whether surface mortality and sinking mortality could be reduced at low light intensity.
- 2. The effect of long-term larviculture under blue light.

 Investigation into the absolute sensitivities to determine the threshold where cone-mediated vision takes over from rodmediated vision.

## and for S. lalandi:

- 1. The effect of long-term culture in pink or tan tanks.
- 2. The effect of long-term rearing under red lights.
- 3. Further investigation into the effect larval density has on the disturbance of larval feeding.
- 4. Examination of the effect of high intensity, diffuse light on walling behaviour, feeding and swimbladder inflation.
- Investigation into the absolute sensitivities to determine the threshold where cone-mediated vision takes over from rodmediated vision.

# 6.10 Conclusion

In the pursuit of investigating the comparative visual performance of larval *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi*, my study revealed a number of retinal adaptations and behavioural responses that contribute to our knowledge of feeding capacity and give indications of environmental variables that are conducive and deleterious to larval survival. The light environment is of paramount importance to *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi* larvae, although both species exhibit very different light requirements and visual capabilities. This has important culture implications. *Thunnus maccoyii* display morphometric and behavioural adaptations to life and feeding in low light environments. Evidence of this includes:

- Linear cell density, angular cell density and MSA specialisation in the ventral retinal region suggesting the larvae are visually equipped to feed and avoid predators in the dorsal visual plane i.e., from above them.
- High early photopic sensitivity allowing increased foraging in lower light intensity environments.

- High mortality during early larval history when exposed to high light conditions in culture.
- Early development of the retinomotor response most likely associated with protection of larval eyes from high light environments.
- High relative photon capture area to ganglion cell increasing photopic acuity and sensitivity increasing the capacity for maximum photon capture and visual information processing received from dorsally captured low light conditions, most likely associated with deeper waters.
- Visual pigment sensitivity in the blue region allowing greater feeding at depth and during dawn and dusk.

In contrast, *S. lalandi* larvae display morphometric and behavioural adaptations to life in high light environments. Evidence of this includes:

- Linear cell density and angular cell density specialisation in the dorsal retinal region suggesting the larvae are associated with surface waters and are visually equipped to feed and avoid predators in the ventral visual plane i.e., below them.
- Longer light path in the dorsal retinal region.
- Increased feeding under high light conditions.
- Improved feeding under red spectrum light most likely associated with near-surface water conditions.
- Visual pigment sensitivity in the green spectrum associated with well-lit coastal waters.

The major culture implications taken from my study in order to produce quality seed stock include:

- 1. *Thunnus maccoyii* appear to require a low light environment, particularly during the first two weeks of culture prior to the development of RPE migration.
- The culture environment has profound effects on first-feeding S. lalandi and requires strict control to ensure optimum conditions are presented to the larvae. Seriola lalandi display an ongoing need for high light intensity conditions throughout culture.

My study revealed fundamental differences in the ontogeny and capacity of the visual system in *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi*. While both species were able to feed within a few days of hatching, and this ability increased with age, the feeding response of the larvae to the visual environment was notably different. Species-specific retinal adaptations were identified, highlighting differences between the visual systems of *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi*, which help explain the observed feeding performance of the larvae. The improved understanding of visual capacity in larvae of both species gained from my study provides important information on the culture requirements of the larvae and insight into the larval ecology in the wild.

#### 6.11 References

- Battaglene, S., Cobcroft, J.M., 2007. Yellowtail kingfish juvenile quality:
   Identify timing and nature of jaw deformities in yellowtail kingfish and scope the likely causes of this condition. Australian Seafood Cooperative Research Centre. Tasmanian Aquaculture and Fisheries Institute, Hobart. Project N<sup>o</sup>. 2007/ 718, pp. 114.
- Blaxter, J.H.S., Jones, M.P., 1967. The development of the retina and retinomotor responses in the herring. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom. 47, 677-697.
- Carton, A.G., 2005. The impact of light intensity and algal-induced turbidity on first-feeding *Seriola lalandi* larvae. Aquaculture Research. 36, 1588-1594.
- Carton, A.G., Vaughan, M.R., 2010. Behavioural and anatomical measures of visual acuity in first-feeding yellowtail kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*) larvae. Environmental Biology of Fishes. 89, 3-10.

- Chen, B.N., Qin, J.G., Kumar, M.S., Hutchinson, W., Clarke, S., 2006. Ontogenetic development of the digestive system in yellowtail kingfish Seriola lalandi larvae. Aquaculture. 256, 489-501.
- Cobcroft, J.M., 2001. Aspects of the morphological development and feeding performance of larval striped trumpeter (*Latris lineata*) in culture. Thesis, (PhD) School of Aquaculture, University of Tasmania, pp. 189.
- Cobcroft, J.M., 2013. Improving hatchery production of yellowtail kingfish larvae and fingerlings. Australian Seafood Cooperative Research Centre project N<sup>o</sup>. 2010/ 753, pp. 97.
- Cobcroft, J.M., Battaglene, S.C., 2009. Jaw malformation in striped trumpeter *Latris lineata* larvae linked to walling behaviour and tank colour. Aquaculture. 289, 274-282.
- Cobcroft, J.M., Pankhurst, P.M., Poortenaar, C., Hickman, B., Tait, M., 2004. Jaw malformation in cultured yellowtail kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*) larvae. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research. 38, 67-71.
- Cobcroft, J.M., Battaglene, S., Boaventura, M., Chen, B., Deichmann, M., Elizur, A., Fielder, S.D., Hilder, P.I., Hutchinson, W., Knuckey, R., Qin, J.G., Schipp, G., Thomson, M., 2012. Investigating the larval culture requirements of southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii*, for aquaculture in Australia. GCOE Symposium, Kinki University 23-24 November, Kushimoto City, Japan, pp. 43-49.
- Davis, T.L.O., Jenkins, G.P., Young, J.W., 1990. Diel patterns of vertical distribution in larvae of southern bluefin tuna *Thunnus maccoyii*, and other tuna in the east-Indian Ocean. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 59, 63-74.
- Debruyn, A.M.H., Wernick, B.G., Stefura, C., McDonald, B.G., Rudolph,
  B.L., Patterson, L., Chapmant, P.M., 2007. In situ experimental assessment of lake whitefish development following a freshwater oil spill. Environmental Science and Technology. 41, 6983-6989.
- Fernald, R.D., 1989. Fish vision. In: B. Finlay and D. Sengelaub (Eds). Development of the vertebrate retina. Plenum Press, New York and London, pp. 247-265.

- Hamza, N., Kestemont, P., Khemis, I.B., Mhetli, M., Cahu, C., 2012. Effect of different sources and levels of dietary phospholipids on performances and fatty acid composition of pikeperch (*Sander lucioperca*) larvae. Aquaculture Nutrition. 18, 249-257.
- Haug, M.F., Biehlmaier, O., Mueller, K.P., Neuhauss, S.C.F., 2010. Visual acuity in larval zebrafish: Behavior and histology. Frontiers in Zoology. 7(3):8. DOI: 10.11.1186/1742-9994-7-8.
- Higgs, D.M., Fuiman, L.A., 1998. Associations between sensory development and ecology in three species of clupeoid fish. Copeia, 133-144.
- Hutchinson, W., 2009. Southern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus maccoyii*) larval rearing advances at the South Australian Research and Development Institute and Collaborating Institutions. The 2nd global COE program symposium of Kinki University, 2009.
  "Sustainable aquaculture of the bluefin and yellowfin tuna Closing the life cycle for commercial production" Proceedings, pp. 38-42.
- Ishibashi, Y., Izumi, T., Kurata, M., Okada, T., 2013. Effects of tank wall pattern on survival, bone injury rate, and stress response of juvenile Pacific bluefin tuna, *Thunnus orientalis*. Aquacultural Engineering. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaeng.2013.03.004.
- Ishibashi, Y., Honryo, T., Saida, K., Hagiwara, A., Miyashita, S., Sawada, Y., Okada, T., Kurata, M., 2009. Artificial lighting prevents high night-time mortality of juvenile Pacific bluefin tuna, *Thunnus orientalis*, caused by poor scotopic vision. Aquaculture. 293, 157-163.
- Jenkins, G.P., Young, J.W., Davis, T.L.O., 1991. Density dependence of larval growth of a marine fish, the southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii*. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 48, 1358-1363.
- Job, S.D., Bellwood, D.R., 2000. Light sensitivity in larval fishes: Implications for vertical zonation in the pelagic zone. Limnology and Oceanography. 45, 362-371.
- Kolkovski, S., Sakakura, Y., 2004. Yellowtail kingfish, from larvae to mature fish —problems and opportunities. In: Cruz Suárez, L.E.,

Ricque Marie, D., Nieto López,M.G., Villareal, D., Scholz, U., González, M. (Eds). Avances en Nutrición AcuicolaVII. Memorias del VII Simposium Internacional de Nutrición Acuicola, 16 – 19 Noviembre, 2004, Hermosillo, Sonora, México, pp. 109–125.

- Kotrschal, K., Adam, H., Brandstatter, R., Junger, H., Zaunreiter, M.,
  Goldschmid, A., 1990. Larval size constraints determine directional ontogenic shifts in the visual system of teleosts a mini review.
  Zeitschrift für Zoologische Systematik und Evolutionsforschung. 28, 166-182.
- Lythgoe, J.N., Partridge, J.C., 1989. Visual pigments and the acquistion of visual information. Journal of Experimental Biology. 146, 1-20.
- Lythgoe, J.N., Partridge, J.C., 1991. The modelling of optimal visual pigments of dichromatic teleosts in green coastal waters. Vision Research. 31, 361-371.
- Ma, Z., Qin, J.G., 2012. Replacement of fresh algae with commercial formulas to enrich rotifers in larval rearing of yellowtail kingfish *Seriola lalandi* (Valenciennes, 1833). Aquaculture Research. 43, 1-12.
- Margulies, D., 1997. Development of the visual system and inferred performance capabilities of larval and early juvenile scombrids. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. 30, 75-98.
- Masuma, S., Takebe, T., Sakakura, Y., 2011. A review of the broodstock management and larviculture of the Pacific northern bluefin tuna in Japan. Aquaculture. 315, 2-8.
- Matsuura, R., Sawada, Y., Ishibashi, Y., 2010. Development of visual cells in the Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis*. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry. 36, 391-402.
- Meier, S., Morton, H.C., Nyhammer, G., Grosvik, B.E., Makhotin, V.,
  Geffen, A., Boitsov, S., Kvestad, K.A., Bohne-Kjersem, A., Goksoyr,
  A., Folkvord, A., Klungsoyr, J., Svardal, A., 2010. Development of
  Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) exposed to produced water during
  early life stages. Effects on embryos, larvae, and juvenile fish.
  Marine Environmental Research. 70, 383-394.

- Miner, J.G., Stein, R.A., 1993. Interactive influence of turbidity and light on the larval bluegill (*Lepomis macrochirus*) foraging. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 50, 781-788.
- Miyagi, M., Akiyama, S., Arimoto, T., 2001. The development of visual acuity in yellowtail *Seriola quinqueradiata*. Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi. 67, 455-459.
- Miyashita, S., Sawada, Y., Okada, T., Murata, O., Kumai, H., 2001. Morphological development and growth of laboratory reared larval and juvenile *Thunnus thynnus* (Pisces: Scombridae). Fishery Bulletin. 99, 601-616.
- Naas, K., Huse, I., Iglesias, J., 1996. Illumination in first feeding tanks for marine fish larvae. Aquacultural Engineering. 15, 291-300.
- Naas, K.E., Naess, T., Harboe, T., 1992. Enhanced 1st feeding of halibut larvae (*Hippoglossus hippoglossus* L) in green water. Aquaculture. 105, 143-156.
- Nakagawa, Y., Kurata, M., Sawada, Y., Sakamoto, W., Miyashita, S., 2011. Enhancement of survival rate of Pacific bluefin tuna (*Thunnus orientalis*) larvae by aeration control in rearing tank. Aquatic Living Resources. 24, 403-410.
- Nicolaisen, O., Cuny, M., Bolla, S., 2013. Improving visual environment in cod larval rearing by factorial desings. in: Hendry, C.I. (Ed.). Larvi
  '13 Fish & shellfish larviculture symposium, Laboratory of aquaculture and artemia reference centre, Ghent University, Belgium, 2013, pp 328-329.
- Pankhurst, P.M., Butler, P., 1996. Development of the sensory organs in the greenback flounder, *Rhombosolea tapirina*. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. 28, 55-73.
- Pankhurst, P.M., Pankhurst, N.W., Montgomery, J.C., 1993. Comparison of behavioral and morphological measures of visual acuity during ontogeny in a teleost fish, *Forsterygion varium*, Tripterygiidae (Forster, 1801). Brain Behavior and Evolution. 42, 178-188.
- Poling, K.R., Fuiman, L.A., 1997. Sensory development and concurrent behavioural changes in Atlantic croaker larvae. Journal of Fish Biology. 51, 402-421.

- Poling, K.R., Fuiman, L.A., 1998. Sensory development and its' relation to habitat change in three species of sciaenids. Brain Behavior and Evolution. 52, 270-284.
- Rochford, D.J., 1962. Hydrology of the Indian Ocean. 2. The surface waters of the southeast Indian Ocean and Arafura Sea in the spring and summer. Australian Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research. 13, 226-251.
- Sawada, Y., Okada, T., Miyashit, S., Murata, O., Kumai, H., 2005.
  Completion of the Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis* (Temminck et Schlegel) life cycle. Aquaculture Research. 36, 413-421.
- Shand, J., 1997. Ontogenetic changes in retinal structure and visual acuity:
   A comparative study of coral-reef teleosts with differing postsettlement lifestyles. Environmental Biology of Fishes. 49, 307-322.
- Smith, A.E., 1987. Genetic variation and dispersal of the yellowtail kingfish,
   Seriola lalandi from New South Wales waters. Thesis, (Hons)
   University of New South Wales, Australia, pp. 35.
- Stuart, K.R., Drawbridge, M., 2011. The effect of light intensity and green water on survival and growth of cultured larval California yellowtail (*Seriola lalandi*). Aquaculture. 321, 152-156.
- Sumida, B.Y., Moser, H.G., Ahlstrom, E.H., 1985. Descriptions of larvae of California yellowtail Seriola lalandi, and three other carangids from the eastern tropical Pacific: Chlorosconbrus orquets, Caranx caballus, and Caranx sexfasciatus. California Cooperative Oceanic Fisheries Investigations, 26, 139-159.
- Tanaka, Y., Kumon, K., Nishi, A., Eba, T., Nikaido, H., Shiozawa, S., 2009. Status of the sinking of hatchery-reared larval Pacific bluefin tuna on the bottom of the mass culture tank with different aeration design. Aquaculture Science. 57, 587-593.
- Thimijan, R., Heins, R., 1982. Photometric, radiometric, and quantum light units of measure: A review of procedures for interconversion. Hortscience. 18, 818-822.
- Torisawa, S., Fukuda, H., Suzuki, K., Takagi, T., 2011. Schooling behaviour of juvenile Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis*

depends on their vision development. Journal of Fish Biology. 79, 1291-1303.

Torisawa, S., Takagi, T., Ishibashi, Y., Sawada, Y., Yamane, T., 2007. Changes in the retinal cone density distribution and the retinal resolution during growth of juvenile Pacific bluefin tuna *Thunnus orientalis*. Fisheries Science. 73, 1202-1204.

Villamizar, N., Garcia-Alcazar, A., Sanchez-Vazquez, F.J., 2009. Effect of light spectrum and photoperiod on the growth, development and survival of European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) larvae. Aquaculture. 292, 80-86.

Woolley, L.D., Fielder, S.D., Qin, J.G., 2012. Swimbladder inflation, growth and survival of yellowtail kingfish *Seriola lalandi* (Valenciennes, 1833) larvae under different temperature, light and oxygen conditions. Aquaculture Research. DOI: 10.1111/are.12097.

Woolley, L.D., Qin, J.G., Thomson, M., Czypionka, A., 2009. Hatching success and early larval developments of southern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus maccoyii*). The 2nd global COE program symposium of Kinki University, 2009. "Sustainable aquaculture of the bluefin and yellowfin tuna - Closing the life cycle for commercial production" Proceedings, pp. 88-92.

Appendices

### Retinal counts and statistical summaries

The following tables represent the average retinal cell densities, angular cell densities and statistical summaries of cell density, angular density and cell thickness layers in *T. maccoyii* and *S. lalandi*.

Retina cell	Thunnus maccoyii (µm)	Seriola lalandi (µm)
Cone	Dorsal = 38.82 ± 5.48	Dorsal = 41.00 ± 6.31
	Medial = 39.58 ± 5.98	Medial = 40.38 ± 5.32
	$Ventral = 45.94 \pm 6.12$	$Ventral = 38.71 \pm 4.67$
Rod	$Dorsal = 57.24 \pm 30.92^*$	$Dorsal = 51.00 \pm 19.58$
	Medial = 36.86 ± 23.34*	Medial = 32.86 ± 18.34
	$Ventral = 50.50 \pm 35.02^*$	$Ventral = 38.50 \pm 11.08$
All nuclei	$Dorsal = 58.24 \pm 24.84^*$	$Dorsal = 58.29 \pm 28.04^*$
	Medial = 52.04 ± 18.56*	Medial = 50.38 ± 16.66*
	$Ventral = 64.78 \pm 28.56^*$	Ventral = 52.75 ± 18.02*
Horizontal	$Dorsal = 12.12 \pm 4.80$	$Dorsal = 10.88 \pm 2.92$
	Medial = 11.74 ± 3.14	Medial = 12.38 ± 3.58
	$Ventral = 16.20 \pm 4.76$	Ventral = $13.17 \pm 3.07$
Bipolar	$Dorsal = 133.50 \pm 26.64^*$	Dorsal = 132.21 ± 19.59*
	Medial = 98.24 ± 21.50*	Medial = 111.38 ± 23.86*
	$Ventral = 183.58 \pm 37.56^*$	Ventral = 140.13 ± 25.79*
Ganglion	$Dorsal = 73.12 \pm 33.54^*$	$Dorsal = 46.79 \pm 23.60^*$
	Medial = 48.33 ± 25.69*	Medial = 38.67 ± 22.33*
	Ventral = 67.77 ± 25.54*	Ventral = 47.96 ± 24.91*

Appendix 1. *Thunnus maccoyii* and *Seriola lalandi* retinal region cell densities per 100 µm transect averaged over time (3 dph to 30 dph).

N.B. \* denotes a significant interaction has been shown between retinal region and increasing age.

Retinal cell	Factor	Significance	
		Thunnus maccoyii	Seriola lalandi
Cone	Region	F <sub>2.54</sub> = 15.111,	F <sub>2.54</sub> = 1.484,
	U	P < 0.001	P = 0.236
	Age	F <sub>5,54</sub> = 8.027,	F <sub>5, 54</sub> = 3.670,
		P < 0.001	P = 0.006
	Interaction	$F_{10, 54} = 0.638,$	$F_{10, 54} = 1.889,$
Ded	Decier	P = 0.774	P = 0.067
ROO	Region	$F_{2,12} = 18.191,$	$F_{2,54} = 10.470,$ $P_{-0.001}$
	Age	F < 0.001 $F_{a,1a} = 11/1.20$	F = 0.001 F = 106.48
	Aye	P < 0.001	P < 0.001
	Interaction	$F_{6,12} = 8.064$ .	$F_{10,54} = 2.123.$
		P = 0.001	P = 0.149
Ganglion	Region	F <sub>2,54</sub> = 66.964,	F <sub>2,54</sub> = 8.914,
-	-	P < 0.001	P < 0.001
	Age	F <sub>5, 54</sub> = 32.322,	F <sub>5, 54</sub> = 108.14,
		P < 0.001	P < 0.001
	Interaction	$F_{10, 54} = 6.376,$	$F_{10, 54} = 2.511,$
Dipolor	Degion	P < 0.001	P = 0.015
ыроіаі	Region	$F_{2,54} = 00.922,$	$F_{2,54} = 0.447$ , P < 0.001
	Ane	F < 0.001 $F_{c} = 0.0871$	F < 0.001 $F_{c} = 21.072$
	/ ige	P = 0.507	P < 0.001
	Interaction	$F_{10,54} = 2.584,$	$F_{10,54} = 6.698,$
		P = 0.012	P = 0.015
Horizontal	Region	F <sub>2, 54</sub> = 12,202,	F <sub>2, 54</sub> = 4.713,
		P < 0.001	P = 0.013
	Age	$F_{5,54} = 7.676,$	$F_{5,54} = 7.904,$
		P < 0.001	P < 0.001
	Interaction	$F_{10, 54} = 1.440,$ D - 0.196	$F_{10,54} = 0.821,$ $P_{-0.610}$
Photorecentor	Region	F = 0.100 $F_{0} = 1/132$	F = 0.010 $F_{0.01} = 8.613$
nuclei	Region	P < 0.001	P = 0.001
	Age	$F_{5,54} = 104.60$ .	$F_{5,54} = 119.37$ .
	5	P < 0.001	P < 0.001
	Interaction	$F_{10, 54} = 2.124,$	$F_{10, 54} = 4.369,$
		P = 0.038	P < 0.001

Appendix 2. Statistical summary of *Thunnus maccoyii* and *Seriola lalandi* linear cell densities as affected by retinal region, age and interaction between retinal region and age.

Retinal cell	Age (days	T. maccoyii (10'	S. lalandi (10' visual
	post-hatching)	visual arc)	arc)
Cones	3	0.16 ± 0.01	0.15 ± 0.02
	9	0.16 ± 0.01	0.21 ± 0.02
	12	$0.26 \pm 0.04$	$0.22 \pm 0.02$
	15	$0.24 \pm 0.03$	$0.26 \pm 0.03$
	21	0.54 ± 0.11	$0.56 \pm 0.08$
	30	1.13 ± 0.28	$0.97 \pm 0.20$
Rods	21	0.29 ± 0.13	$0.85 \pm 0.56$
	30	2.52 ± 1.04	$0.96 \pm 0.63$
Photoreceptor nuclei	3	0.16 ± 0.01	0.15 ± 0.01
	9	0.16 ± 0.02	$0.21 \pm 0.02$
	12	$0.28 \pm 0.06$	$0.22 \pm 0.02$
	15	$0.24 \pm 0.02$	$0.26 \pm 0.04$
	21	0.83 ± 0.19	0.95 ± 0.18
	30	3.66 ± 1.25	$2.40 \pm 0.40$
Ganglion cells	3	0.15 ± 0.01	$0.06 \pm 0.08$
	9	$0.10 \pm 0.02$	$0.13 \pm 0.07$
	12	$0.22 \pm 0.05$	$0.17 \pm 0.04$
	15	$0.20 \pm 0.07$	0.15 ±0.05
	21	0.45 ± 0.22	$0.25 \pm 0.09$
	30	0.82 ±0.28	$0.32 \pm 0.07$

Appendix 3. The angular cell density of *Thunnus maccoyii* and *Seriola lalandi* defined by retinal cell type and larval age.

Retinal cell	Factor	Significance	
		Т. тассоуіі	S. lalandi
Cones	Region	F <sub>2, 54</sub> = 7.316, P = 0.002	F <sub>2, 54</sub> = 1.736, P = 0.186
	Age	F <sub>5, 54</sub> = 222.07, P < 0.001	F <sub>5, 54</sub> = 211.512, P < 0.001
	Interaction	F <sub>10, 54</sub> = 1.221, P = 0.299	F <sub>10, 54</sub> = 0.984, P = 0.468
Rods	Region	F <sub>2, 18</sub> = 2.119, P = 0.149	F <sub>2, 54</sub> = 10.699, P = 0.001
	Age	F <sub>1, 18</sub> = 115, P < 0.001	F <sub>5, 54</sub> = 224.046, P < 0.001
	Interaction	F <sub>2, 18</sub> = 8.064, P = 0.001	F <sub>10, 54</sub> = 3.344, P = 0.058
Ganglion cells	Region	F <sub>2, 54</sub> = 1.098, P = 0.341	F <sub>2, 54</sub> = 14.809, P < 0.001
	Age	F <sub>5, 54</sub> = 63.193, P < 0.001	F <sub>5, 54</sub> = 28.012, P < 0.001
	Interaction	F <sub>10, 54</sub> = 2.036, P = 0.047	F <sub>10, 54</sub> = 1.688, P = 0.108
Photoreceptor nuclei	Region	F <sub>2, 54</sub> = 2.841, P = 0.067	F <sub>2, 54</sub> = 9.179, P < 0.001
	Age	F <sub>5, 54</sub> = 218.00, P < 0.001	F <sub>5, 54</sub> = 499.145, P < 0.001
	Interaction	F <sub>10, 54</sub> = 0.927, P = 0.516	F <sub>10, 54</sub> = 4.510, P < 0.001

Appendix 4. Statistical summary of *Thunnus maccoyii* and *Seriola lalandi* angular cell densities as affected by retinal region, age and interaction between retinal region and age.

Appendix 5. Statistical summary of cell layer thickness measured in *Thunnus maccoyii* and *Seriola lalandi* in the ganglion cell layer (GCL), inner nuclear layer (INL), inner plexiform layer (IPL), outer nuclear layer (ONL) and the pigment epithelium and outer segments i.e. light path (PE + OS). The retinal regions are abbreviated as dorsal (D), medial (M) and ventral (V).

Retinal region	Two-way ANOVA: age and area	Observation
<i>T. maccoyii</i> GCL	Interaction F $_{10, 54}$ = 3.755, P = 0.001	General increase with age and V generally greater
<i>T. maccoyii</i> INL	Age F $_{5,54}$ = 9.967, P < 0.001 Area F $_{2,54}$ = 35.584, P < 0.001	General increase with age M < V and D
<i>T. maccoyii</i> IPL	Interaction F $_{10, 54}$ = 2.503, P = 0.015	General increase with age and V generally greater
<i>T. maccoyii</i> ONL	Age F $_{5, 54}$ = 14.028, P < 0.001	Increase with age
<i>T. maccoyii</i> PE + OS	Interaction F $_{10, 54}$ = 3.331, P = 0.002	General increase with age and V and D > M at 30 dph
S. lalandi GCL	Interaction F $_{10, 54}$ = 2.068, P = 0.044	No observed trend
S. lalandi INL	Interaction F $_{10, 54}$ = 2.267, P = 0.027	General increase with age
S. lalandi IPL	Age F $_{5, 54}$ = 12.001, P < 0.001 Area F $_{2, 54}$ = 8.483, P < 0.001	General increase with age M < V and D
S. lalandi ONL S. lalandi PE + OS	Interaction F $_{10, 54}$ = 2.387, P = 0.020 Interaction F $_{10, 54}$ = 3.564, P = 0.001	General increase with age and D > at 30 dph. General increase with age and D > at 21 and 30 dph